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...keep us innovating.



Rogers Wireless

1

2
3

FY2005 Network Revenue:	 $3,613M

1. Postpaid voice 	 86%
2. Prepaid voice	 6%
3. Wireless data 	 8%

Rogers Wireless is the largest Canadian wireless communications service  
provider, serving almost 6.2 million wireless voice and data subscribers at 
December 31, 2005. Rogers Wireless operates Canada’s only GSM/GPRS/EDGE 
network, the global standard in wireless technology, covering 93% of the 
Canadian population. Rogers Wireless is Canada’s leader in innovative wireless 
voice and data services, and provides customers with the best and latest wire-
less devices and applications. Subscribers to our wireless services have access to 
these services across the U.S. and internationally in over 175 countries through 
our roaming agreements with other wireless operators. Rogers sells and mar-
kets its wireless products separately under both the Rogers Wireless and the 
Fido brands.
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FY2005 Revenue:	 $2,068M

1. Core cable 	 63%
2. High-speed Internet 	 21%
3. Video stores 	 16%

Rogers Cable

Rogers Cable is Canada’s largest cable television company, serving approxi-
mately 2.26 million basic subscribers at December 31, 2005, representing an 
estimated 29% of basic cable subscribers in Canada. At December 31, 2005, 
Cable provided digital cable services to approximately 913,200 households, 
Internet service to approximately 1,145,100 subscribers, and voice-over-cable 
telephony services to approximately 47,900 subscribers. Cable’s voice-over-
cable telephony services became commercially available on July 1, 2005 in 
the Toronto market and Cable is currently in the process of expanding the  
availability of this product to more of its markets. 
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FY2005 Revenue: 	 $1,097M

1. Core Media	 85%
2. Sports Entertainment	 15%

Rogers Media

Rogers Media operates a portfolio of broadcasting operations, publishing 
operations and sports entertainment assets. Media’s Broadcasting group  
comprises 46 radio stations across Canada; two multicultural television stations  
in Ontario (OMNI.1 and OMNI.2) and a television station in Vancouver  
(OMNI.10) that is repeated in Victoria; Rogers Sportsnet, a specialty sports 
television service licenced to provide regional sports programming across 
Canada; and The Shopping Channel, Canada’s only nationally televised shop-
ping service. Through Sportsnet, Media also holds 50% ownership in Dome 
Productions, a mobile production and distribution joint venture that is a 
leader in high-definition television (“HDTV”) broadcasting in Canada. Media’s 
Sports Entertainment assets include the Toronto Blue Jays baseball team and 
Rogers Centre, Canada’s largest sports and entertainment facility.
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FY2005 Pro Forma Revenue:	 $857M

1. Business services	 64%
2. Consumer services	 36%

Rogers Telecom

On July 1, 2005, we acquired Call-Net Enterprises and subsequent to 
the acquisition, we changed the name to Rogers Telecom. Telecom is 
an integrated telecommunications solutions provider of facilities-based 
local, long distance and data services to more than 600,000 households  
and businesses across Canada, primarily targeting metropolitan areas. 

On January 9, 2006, management of Telecom was transferred to Cable. This 
will result in changes to our segment reporting in 2006.

Rogers Communications Inc. at December 31, 2005

Rogers Communications Inc. is a diversified Canadian provider of communications, entertainment and information services.

See the 2005 Management’s Discussion and Analysis in this document for a discussion and understanding of the various one-time 
items, pro forma adjustments, reclassifications and non-GAAP measures associated with the 2004 and 2005 financial and operating 
results presented on these two overview pages.

 TSX: RCI	 NYSE: RG
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	 	 2005	 2004	 change
(in mil l ions of dollars,  subscribers in thousands)	 	 (Pro Forma)

Network revenue	 $	 3,612.7 	 $	 3,010.7 	 20% 
Operating profit (excluding integration expenses)		  1,390.7 		  1,015.7 	 37% 
PP&E expenditures		  492.4 		  674.1 	 (27)%

Wireless voice and data subscribers:	 - Postpaid	  4,818.2 	  4,184.1 	 15% 
 		  - Prepaid	  1,349.8 	  1,334.1 	 1% 
 		  - Total	  6,168.0 	  5,158.2 	 12%

Average monthly revenue per user ($):	 - Postpaid	  63.56 	  59.74 	 6% 
 		  - Prepaid	  13.20 	  13.67 	 (3)% 
 		  - Total	  51.99 	  48.01 	 8%

Data revenue as % of network revenue	 8.2%	 5.1%	 61%

Churn (%):	 - Postpaid	  1.61 	  1.93 	 (17)% 
		  - Prepaid	  3.54 	  3.17 	 12% 
 		  - Total	  2.05 	  2.25 	 (9)%
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FY2005 Pro Forma 	
Revenue – $7,910M

1. Wireless	 50%
2. Cable	 26%
3. Telecom	 10%
4. Media	 14%

2
1
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FY2005 Pro Forma Operating Profit 	
(before integration expenses) –  $2,262M

1. Wireless	 59%
2. Cable	 31%
3. Telecom	 5%
4. Media	 5%

	 	 2005	 2004	 change
(in mil l ions of dollars) 	 	 (restated)

Revenue	 $	 1,097.2 	 $	  956.9 	 15% 
Operating profit		  127.8 		   115.4 	 11% 
PP&E expenditures		  39.6 		   20.3 	 95%

( in mil l ions of dollars,  subscribers in thousands)	 2005	 2004	 change

Revenue	 $	 2,067.7 	 $	  1,945.7 	 6% 
Operating profit		   718.6 		   708.7 	 1% 
PP&E expenditures		   676 		   588 	 15%

Homes passed	 3,387.5 	  3,291.1 	 3% 
Customer relationships 	  2,413.0 	  2,355.9 	 2% 
Basic cable subscribers	  2,263.8 	  2,254.6 	 – 
High-speed Internet subscribers	  1,145.1 	  936.6 	 22% 
Digital households / subscribers	  913.2 	  675.4 	 35% 
Digital terminals in service	  1,139.7 	  795.7 	 43% 
Voice-over-cable telephony subscribers	  47.9 	  –   	 –

	 	 2005	 2004	 change
(in mil l ions of dollars) 	 (Pro Forma)	 (Pro Forma)

Revenue	 $	 857.1 	 $	  818.6	 4.7% 
Operating profit (excluding integration expenses)	 	 115.7 		  98.9	 17% 
PP&E expenditures		   65.8 		   56.6 	 16.3%
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Core Media (excluding Sports Entertainment) 
FY2005 revenue breakdown

1. Publishing	 29%
2. Radio	 22%
3. OMNI	 8%
4. Sportsnet	 15%
5. The Shopping Channel	 26%

Rogers Telecom FY2005 	
revenue breakdown

1. Long Distance	 43%
2. Local	 29%
3. Data	 26%
4. Other	 2%



2 YOU keep your kids in touch 
and safe with Firefly, the mobile 
phone that provides peace of 
mind for parents. 

YOU ROCK to your favourite iTunes 
on the Motorola ROKR wireless 
MP3 phone, only from Rogers. 

YOU rest easy knowing 
you’re protected on-line 
with the all-in-one  
security suite included 
with Rogers Yahoo!  
Hi-Speed Internet. 

3

�	 ROGERS 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

1



�	 ROGERS 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

5
YOUr kids watch Max & Ruby,  
Care Bears, Babar and more – when  
you want – on Treehouse-on-Demand.  
Available only from Rogers Personal TV.

4YOU make the call with Rogers Home 
Phone. Finally, a reliable and affordable  
primary line home telephone alternative 
with great service and all the features  
you rely on, and more. It’s your call.

7 You watch your business grow  
across town and across the country 
with advanced voice and data  
networking services from Rogers 
Business Solutions. A single point  
of contact for a multitude of  
business communications solutions.

You score a quadruple 
play of Rogers services –  
wireless, digital cable, 
high-speed Internet and  
home telephone – in 
one affordable bundle 
on one convenient bill. 

6
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11
You tip your hat to Maclean’s as 
Canada’s premier weekly newsmagazine 
celebrates its 100th birthday and you 
indulge your shopping fantasies and 
celebrity obsessions with LOU LOU  
and HELLO! magazines.

You cheer for the Blue Jays at the Rogers Centre, the 
home field for Canada’s only Major League Baseball team 
and the country’s premier entertainment venue.

YOU marvel at  
your Motorola RAZR,  
the thinnest mobile 
device ever made and 
available first from 
Rogers. It’s an icon, 
sleek and sophisti-
cated, that keeps you 
ahead of the crowd.

10

You say “pronto!” to RAI International, 
the 24-hour programming service of Italy’s 
public broadcaster, on Rogers Personal TV.

�	 ROGERS 2005 ANNUAL REPORT
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8 YOU are a  

style hound.  
Exclusively from  
Fido, the sleek  
Nokia 8801’s  
polished stainless  
steel with built-in 
camera and  
MP3 player adds  
to your style  
and sophistication.

12

14 You crave a latte with  
your e-mail as you rely on  
WiFi access from Rogers at 
Second Cup locations.

13
You connect your customers, 
suppliers and distributors with 
enhanced voice and IP services 
from Rogers Business Solutions.
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1615
YOU heard it first. Fefe Dobson releases  
a new single and Rogers Wireless customers  
are the first in North America to download  
“Don’t Let It Get To Your Head” directly to  
their phone.

17 You shop for all of your Rogers 
services and rent DVDs in over 300 
conveniently located Rogers Plus 
and Rogers Video stores. 

You see, hear and cheer  
every detail. Both Rogers Cable  
and Rogers Sportsnet provide you  
with a wide and compelling array  
of high-definition TV content. 
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16 YOU brace yourself for the  
ultimate cross-platform gaming  
experience at the 2005 Rogers  
PWR Play Gaming Championships.

19

20

21

18

YOU recycle your old  
cell phones to protect the 
environment and support 
local food banks. Rogers  
is the national sponsor of  
the Phones for Food phone  
recycling program.

You enjoy the best voice quality 
on Canada’s largest wireless voice 
and high-speed data network,  
and the only network on the 
global standard GSM technology 
platform. 

You blast across the Internet with 
the fastest broadband connection, 
only from Rogers Yahoo! Hi-Speed 
Internet Extreme.
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24
29 you rock to Rogers’ “JackFM” radio format where they play what they want. 30 you claim you’re a citizen of the world watching multicultural programming on Rogers’ OMNI TV.

31 you count on Rogers Yahoo! Messenger to be cool and instantly in touch with your friends. 32 you are up-to-date with news, weather, sports and traffic with Rogers’ award winning all-news radio format.

33 you get hip with the Hiptop2 exclusively from Fido.  34 you marvel at the broadband wireless data speeds enabled by the HSDPA 3G wireless network being deployed by Rogers. 35 you dictate instead of type SMS messages and 

emails on your Samsung P207. 36 you hit the right note in Quebec’s music scene with Musique Plus Edition Pay As You Go phone. 37 you feel good while doing good, purchasing a Motorola Pink RAZR from Rogers, who donates proceeds to Rethink Breast Cancer.

38 you access  e-mail effortlessly on your Rogers Wireless phone with MyMail push e-mail. 39 you jump  in the ring whenever you want with your Rogers’ WWE On-Demand TV. 40 you rock out  locally and connect globally to make poverty history with Rogers-sponsored

Live 8 concerts. 41 you look mah-ve-lous! with your on-line photo album from Rogers Yahoo! Hi-Speed Internet. 42 you choose  from various Internet speeds and personalize the on-line experience that’s right for you. 43 you satisfy  your inner DJ at the Rogers Musicstore buying and downloading full MP3 music tracks 

directly from your wireless phone. 44 you hear  the music calling when you download your favourite song as a RealTrax ring tune. 45 you responded  generously to OMNI TV’s appeal for tsunami relief which raised $1.2 million. 46 you run the show with a Rogers Personal Video Recorder. 47 you entertain  your wireless callers with Rogers’ Celebrity Voicemail greetings.

48 you let the games begin as Rogers and CTV/BGM partner with exclusive broadcast rights for the 2010 and 2012 Olympic Games. 49 you pick  from more than 2,500 movie and program titles available through Rogers-on-Demand. 50 you go portable as Rogers deploys a broadband fixed wireless network that will reach most Canadians. 51 you know emergency assistance is just a phone call away with Rogers’ Auto Roadside Access. 52 you delight  to a 100% digital channel line up on Rogers Cable.

53 you create your own commercial-free radio station with Rogers Yahoo! Launchcast Plus. 54 you donate at your Rogers Video store to provide school supplies to underprivileged children. 55 you program your TV with Rogers’ Pick & Pay specialty channel theme packs. 56 you fit your favourite TV into your schedule with Rogers’ timeshifted programming. 57 you chat with family and friends with Rogers Yahoo! e-mail and instant messaging services. 58 you make no bonez about it – you adore Avril Lavigne, and Rogers is presenting sponsor of her Bonez Tour 2005. 59 you boost field worker productivity with mForms as your wireless device becomes an electronic clipboard for work orders, time sheets and 

expense reports.60 you have one device that does it all with the Treo 650 Smartphone . 61 you play a song for your friends and callers with MP3 ring tones on your wireless phone. 62 you understand big things come in small packages. The Audiovox SMT500 is small, smart and built for business. 63 you savour the moment with the Sony Ericsson S710, a mobile phone, digital camera and MP3 player. 64 you rock to your favourite iTunes on the Motorola ROKR wireless phone only from Rogers. 65 you rest easy knowing you’re protected online with the all-in-one security suite included with Rogers Yahoo! Hi-Speed Internet. 66 you keep your kids in touch and safe with Firefly, the mobile phone for mobile kids. Peace of mind for you. 67 you make the call with Rogers Home Phone. Finally a reliable and affordable home telephone alternative with great service and all the features you rely on and more. It’s your call. 68 your kids watch Max & Ruby, Care Bears, Babar and more when YOU want on Treehouse-on-Demand. Available only from Rogers Personal TV. 69 you grow your business

 across town and across the country with advanced voice and data networking services from Rogers Telecom. A single point of contact for a multitude of business communications solutions 70 you score a quadruple play of Rogers services – wireless, digital cable, high-speed Internet and home telephone – in one affordable bundle on one convenient bill. 71 you cheer for the Blue Jays at Rogers Centre, the home field venue for Canada’s only Major League baseball team and the country’s premier entertainment venue. 72 you marvel at your Motorola RAZR, the thinnest mobile device ever made and available first from Rogers. It’s an icon, rich in sophisticated design that keeps you ahead of the crowd. 73 you tip your hat to Maclean’s as Canada’s premier weekly newsmagazine celebrates its 100th birthday and you indulge your shopping fantasies and celebrity obsessions with LOU LOU and HELLO! magazines. 74 you say “pronto!” to RAI International on Rogers Digital Cable, the 24-hour programming service of Italy’s public broadcaster. 75 you connect your customers, suppliers and distributors with enhanced voice and IP services from Rogers Telecom. 76 you are a style hound. Exclusively from Fido, the sleek Nokia 8801’s polished stainless steel with built in camera and MP3 player adds to your style and sophistication. 77 you crave a latte with your e-mail as you rely on WiFi access. 

22

You watch live sports, news and entertainment 
on the go with your Rogers Wireless TV phone. 

You have the best seat in the house with Rogers’ 
Personal TV – an astonishing suite of on-demand  
services that lets you watch the programs you  
want when you want them. 

You applaud an ace  
at the Rogers Cup tennis 
tournaments, Canada’s  
premier international  
men’s and women’s  
tennis events. 

23
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29 you rock to Rogers’ “JackFM” radio format where they play what they want. 30 you claim you’re a citizen of the world watching multicultural programming on Rogers’ OMNI TV.

31 you count on Rogers Yahoo! Messenger to be cool and instantly in touch with your friends. 32 you are up-to-date with news, weather, sports and traffic with Rogers’ award winning all-news radio format.

33 you get hip with the Hiptop2 exclusively from Fido.  34 you marvel at the broadband wireless data speeds enabled by the HSDPA 3G wireless network being deployed by Rogers. 35 you dictate instead of type SMS messages and 

emails on your Samsung P207. 36 you hit the right note in Quebec’s music scene with Musique Plus Edition Pay As You Go phone. 37 you feel good while doing good, purchasing a Motorola Pink RAZR from Rogers, who donates proceeds to Rethink Breast Cancer.

38 you access  e-mail effortlessly on your Rogers Wireless phone with MyMail push e-mail. 39 you jump  in the ring whenever you want with your Rogers’ WWE On-Demand TV. 40 you rock out  locally and connect globally to make poverty history with Rogers-sponsored

Live 8 concerts. 41 you look mah-ve-lous! with your on-line photo album from Rogers Yahoo! Hi-Speed Internet. 42 you choose  from various Internet speeds and personalize the on-line experience that’s right for you. 43 you satisfy  your inner DJ at the Rogers Musicstore buying and downloading full MP3 music tracks 

directly from your wireless phone. 44 you hear  the music calling when you download your favourite song as a RealTrax ring tune. 45 you responded  generously to OMNI TV’s appeal for tsunami relief which raised $1.2 million. 46 you run the show with a Rogers Personal Video Recorder. 47 you entertain  your wireless callers with Rogers’ Celebrity Voicemail greetings.

48 you let the games begin as Rogers and CTV/BGM partner with exclusive broadcast rights for the 2010 and 2012 Olympic Games. 49 you pick  from more than 2,500 movie and program titles available through Rogers-on-Demand. 50 you go portable as Rogers deploys a broadband fixed wireless network that will reach most Canadians. 51 you know emergency assistance is just a phone call away with Rogers’ Auto Roadside Access. 52 you delight  to a 100% digital channel line up on Rogers Cable.

53 you create your own commercial-free radio station with Rogers Yahoo! Launchcast Plus. 54 you donate at your Rogers Video store to provide school supplies to underprivileged children. 55 you program your TV with Rogers’ Pick & Pay specialty channel theme packs. 56 you fit your favourite TV into your schedule with Rogers’ timeshifted programming. 57 you chat with family and friends with Rogers Yahoo! e-mail and instant messaging services. 58 you make no bonez about it – you adore Avril Lavigne, and Rogers is presenting sponsor of her Bonez Tour 2005. 59 you boost field worker productivity with mForms as your wireless device becomes an electronic clipboard for work orders, time sheets and 

expense reports.60 you have one device that does it all with the Treo 650 Smartphone . 61 you play a song for your friends and callers with MP3 ring tones on your wireless phone. 62 you understand big things come in small packages. The Audiovox SMT500 is small, smart and built for business. 63 you savour the moment with the Sony Ericsson S710, a mobile phone, digital camera and MP3 player. 64 you rock to your favourite iTunes on the Motorola ROKR wireless phone only from Rogers. 65 you rest easy knowing you’re protected online with the all-in-one security suite included with Rogers Yahoo! Hi-Speed Internet. 66 you keep your kids in touch and safe with Firefly, the mobile phone for mobile kids. Peace of mind for you. 67 you make the call with Rogers Home Phone. Finally a reliable and affordable home telephone alternative with great service and all the features you rely on and more. It’s your call. 68 your kids watch Max & Ruby, Care Bears, Babar and more when YOU want on Treehouse-on-Demand. Available only from Rogers Personal TV. 69 you grow your business

 across town and across the country with advanced voice and data networking services from Rogers Telecom. A single point of contact for a multitude of business communications solutions 70 you score a quadruple play of Rogers services – wireless, digital cable, high-speed Internet and home telephone – in one affordable bundle on one convenient bill. 71 you cheer for the Blue Jays at Rogers Centre, the home field venue for Canada’s only Major League baseball team and the country’s premier entertainment venue. 72 you marvel at your Motorola RAZR, the thinnest mobile device ever made and available first from Rogers. It’s an icon, rich in sophisticated design that keeps you ahead of the crowd. 73 you tip your hat to Maclean’s as Canada’s premier weekly newsmagazine celebrates its 100th birthday and you indulge your shopping fantasies and celebrity obsessions with LOU LOU and HELLO! magazines. 74 you say “pronto!” to RAI International on Rogers Digital Cable, the 24-hour programming service of Italy’s public broadcaster. 75 you connect your customers, suppliers and distributors with enhanced voice and IP services from Rogers Telecom. 76 you are a style hound. Exclusively from Fido, the sleek Nokia 8801’s polished stainless steel with built in camera and MP3 player adds to your style and sophistication. 77 you crave a latte with your e-mail as you rely on WiFi access. 

YOU ACcess e-mail  
effortlessly on your 
BlackBerry 8700, only  
from Rogers. EDGE- 
enabled for power and 
speed, e-mail reaches  
you even when you’re  
in the standing tree pose.

YOU revel purchasing all your 
favourite items through The 
Shopping Channel’s televised, 
web and print channels. 28

YOU tune to one of your favourite three  
new radio stations launched by Rogers in  
the Maritimes to stay informed, engaged  
and entertained with the content that  
matters most to Canadians.

27
25

You roam the world totally 
connected to your voice and 
data services with GSM phone 
and devices, available only  
from Rogers.

26
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in our Wireless, Cable and Media businesses and the acquisition of 
Rogers Telecom during 2005. We are also delivering on our com-
mitment to deleverage our balance sheet, as we generated strong 
operating profit growth, converted two outstanding preferred debt 
securities into equity, and utilized equity as a currency in our acquisi-
tion of Rogers Telecom.

We continued to grow our subscriber levels at very respectable 
rates, attracting new customers to our services, while at the same 
time generally reducing the rate of churn of existing customers 
through cross-selling additional products and improved customer 
service and retention programs. We grew the number of Wireless 
subscribers by 11.8% adding more than 649,800 net subscribers 
and significantly reducing postpaid churn to 1.61%, while aver-
age revenue per postpaid subscriber increased by 6.8%. At Cable, 
both Internet and digital cable net subscriber additions were up  
versus the prior year as we added 208,500 and 237,800 subscrib-
ers, respectively, while holding our basic cable subscriber base 
steady. We also launched our voice-over-cable telephony service for  
consumers, adding almost 50,000 subscribers by year end. In addition,  
we acquired approximately 525,000 consumer and business local  
wireline telephony lines during the year with our acquisition of 
Rogers Telecom.

At Media, the launch of three new FM radio stations in the Maritimes 
and the acquisition of TV broadcasting licences in British Columbia 
and Manitoba during 2005 added to Rogers’ clout in Canada’s media 
industry. And in the wake of Canada’s successful bid to host the 2010 
Olympic Winter Games, Rogers Media, together with CTV/BGM, won 
the exclusive high-profile broadcast rights for the games. 

ANTICIPATING THE FUTURE
As technologies rapidly advance and converge, there are tremendous 
opportunities for Rogers to deliver increasingly innovative products 
that add significant convenience and value to our customers’ lives. 
Equally important are the opportunities to continue leveraging many 
of the platforms and distribution channels of our Wireless, Cable and 
Telecom businesses to drive further efficiencies and better returns.

In recent years, we have made much progress in centralizing cer-
tain infrastructure operations, including information technologies, 
call centres, and finance under a shared services model. In 2005 we 
took another significant step by combining our Wireless, Cable and 
Telecom units under a single operating management structure. This 
structure is designed to facilitate continued strong and profitable 
growth while sharpening our integrated approach to many of Rogers’ 
markets, channels and functions. 

We also continued to increase the breadth and depth of our  
management team. During the year we were fortunate to attract 
several experienced executives into the company to spearhead our 
telecom operations, as well as our company-wide human resources, 
corporate marketing, finance and purchasing functions. 

By nearly any measure, it’s clear that 2005 was a year of great results 
for Rogers, and was a period in which we began to reap the benefits 
of several strategic initiatives we embarked upon in recent years to 
further expand the scale and scope of our business. 

2005 was a time of integration and execution, of organizing for the 
future, and of establishing important capabilities and presence in the 
telephony market. It was also a year during which we strongly secured 
our position as Canada’s largest wireless provider with leading posi-
tions in cable, media and telecom. 

It was a demanding year as we integrated recent acquisitions, built 
and reorganized, but we kept our eye on the ball, continuing to exe-
cute the day-to-day operations of our businesses. I am very proud 
and grateful for the hard work and commitment of the nearly 25,000 
dedicated employees across Rogers.
 

INTEGRATING THE PLATFORM
A very important accomplishment of 2005 was in substantially com-
pleting the considerable task of integrating Microcell’s network, sub-
scriber base and billing platforms, which we acquired late in 2004. 
Indeed, we made better progress than anticipated and are positioned 
to meet or exceed the operating cost savings of $100 million per year 
starting in 2006 that we targeted, in addition to significant savings in 
our future capital expenditures. Not only was the integration trans-
parent to customers, we improved the customer experience by signifi-
cantly enhancing the signal strength for all of our wireless customers 
and dramatically expanding the coverage area for Fido subscribers.

With the Microcell integration essentially complete, we are now  
solidly the largest wireless provider in Canada, both in terms of cus-
tomers and network coverage, and we cover the market with two 
powerful but separate brands – Rogers Wireless and Fido. We are 
now also at the forefront with the richest wireless spectrum holdings 
of any North American carrier. This enviable spectrum position allows 
us to add network capacity more efficiently and is also ample from 
which to deploy next generation wireless technologies like HSDPA, 
which we will begin rolling out in 2006. 

During 2005, we expanded the scope of our integration efforts to 
include Call-Net Enterprises, which we acquired on July 1, 2005, and 
which has now been rebranded Rogers Telecom. Through the Rogers 
Home Phone division, Rogers Telecom focuses on the consumer market,  
while Rogers Business Solutions brings to bear Rogers’ communica-
tions capabilities for the business market. This initiative will continue 
through 2006 but it is well underway and is progressing as planned.

EXECUTING TO DELIVER RESULTS
Consistent with our commitment to shareholders, Rogers delivered  
strong consolidated financial results in 2005. A 13.7% increase in  
revenues to $7.9 billion and a 21.4% increase in operating profit  
before integration expenses to $2.3 billion reflected solid pro forma  
revenue and pro forma operating expense year-over-year growth 

Fellow Shareholders, Customers, Employees and Partners,
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DELIVERING A QUADRUPLE PLAY
Our expansion into wireline telephony marks an important step for-
ward for Rogers and represents a new choice for Canadian consumers 
and businesses. We unveiled the Rogers Home Phone service, our fully 
featured voice-over-cable local telephony offering, on July 1, 2005, 
Canada Day. Coincidentally, our acquisition of Rogers Telecom closed 
the same day, a day which also marked the 20th anniversary of the 
launch of our wireless service. Acquiring Rogers Telecom has helped 
jumpstart our entry in local telephony across the country in both the 
residential and business markets. And with its well-recognized exper-
tise serving businesses, Rogers Telecom gives us the scale, presence 
and product breadth to more comprehensively serve this important 
market segment. We also see meaningful cost saving opportunities 
enabled by Rogers Telecom’s extensive fibre assets and telephony 
network infrastructure. 

The addition of our telephony offering enables us to deliver a “qua-
druple play” of wireless, video, Internet and telephony services that 
draw upon the combined strengths of the Rogers group. The value 
that Rogers provides to consumers lies not only in the quality of the 
individual products, but in our delivery of bundled communications 
solutions tailored to specific needs while providing a single point 
of contact and a single bill for all of their services. For business cus-
tomers, we now offer a broad suite of services including a full array  
of advanced wired and wireless voice, data, access, and hosting solu-
tions for local, national and international communications and net-
working needs. 

YOUR WORLD, YOUR WAY EXCLUSIVELY FROM ROGERS
Innovation, quality and value have always been the underpinnings of 
the Rogers’ legacy. Today, more than ever, these strengths distinguish 
us in the marketplace and enable us to help consumers and businesses 
improve and enrich their worlds. 

At Wireless, we’re Canada’s recognized leader in innovative wire-
less data services while offering the latest and largest selection 
of wireless devices. We are also the only wireless carrier operat-
ing on GSM – the de facto global wireless technology standard –  
which enables our customers to seamlessly roam the world with their 
Rogers Wireless devices while at the same time positioning Rogers as 
the exclusive provider for visiting international travellers with GSM 
phones. With the country’s largest wireless voice and data network, 
GSM technology, and the latest in wireless applications and devices, 
whether it’s the youth, family, adult or business customer, the reasons 
to select Rogers Wireless are compelling.

At Cable, we continue to revolutionize the home entertainment expe-
rience, doing so in ways only digital cable can deliver. Services such 
as VOD, time-shifting, personal video recorders, an industry-leading 
selection of high-definition programming, and more sports and mul-
ticultural programming than any other provider, have earned Rogers 
the highest digital cable penetration in Canada. Our high-speed 
Internet service continues to be another Rogers success story, with 
more than 1.1 million subscribers at the end of 2005 and still plenty 
of room for growth. Without a doubt, our technologically advanced 
broadband network provides an enviable platform for the continued 
launch of innovative and exciting new digital, broadband and on-
demand services. 

Rogers Media, with its category-leading collection of broadcast, home 
shopping, publishing and sports entertainment assets continues to ele-
gantly fulfill the media needs of Canadian businesses and consumers 
while continuing to create new opportunities to fuel future growth. 
And with the acquisition during 2005 of SkyDome, rebranded Rogers 
Centre and home field of the Toronto Blue Jays, Media now also con-
trols Canada’s premier sports and event venue and the country’s only 
Major League Baseball team.

At Rogers Business Solutions, we bring together industry leading ser-
vices from across the Rogers group – be they telecom, wireless, cable 
or media – into a single point of access to meet the diverse needs 
of Canadian businesses of all sizes. Leveraging Rogers’ broadband 
and wireless networks, we deliver integrated voice, data networking, 
Internet connectivity and wireless enterprise solutions that make busi-
nesses more efficient and competitive. 

LOOKING AHEAD
Today, Rogers is better positioned than ever to continue delivering on 
our brand promise – innovating to enrich our customers’ lives – and 
to reinforce the confidence that millions of Canadian consumers and 
businesses place with us every day. 

As 2006 unfolds, our priority is clear – disciplined execution of our 
strategy of profitable growth while continuing to deploy unique and 
innovative communications, entertainment and information products 
that add convenience and value to our customers’ lives. 

At every step, we will reinforce our position as the leading wireless 
provider in Canada. We will accelerate local telephony growth, drive 
deeper penetration of digital cable, and expand our presence in the 
business market segment. We will explore new opportunities for our 
businesses to work together while we sharpen our focus on enhanc-
ing our cost structure. And we will target double-digit revenue and 
operating profit growth in 2006 while continuing to deleverage our  
balance sheet.

If you live in Canada, I invite you to sample and subscribe to our many 
services. They will keep you informed, entertained and in touch with 
what matters most in your world.

Thank you for your continued support. The best is yet to come!

Edward “Ted” S. Rogers, OC
President and Chief Executive Officer
Rogers Communications Inc.
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Management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with our 2005 Audited Consolidated 
Financial Statements and Notes thereto. The financial information presented herein has been prepared on the basis 
of Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and is expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise 
stated. Please refer to Note 23 to the 2005 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary of differences 
between Canadian and United States (“U.S.”) GAAP. This MD&A, which is current as of March 1, 2006, is organized into 
six sections. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005
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In this MD&A, the terms “we”, “us”, “our”, and “the Company” refer to Rogers Communications Inc. and our subsidiaries,  
which were reported in the following four segments as at December 31, 2005:

•	 �“Wireless”, which refers to our wholly owned subsidiary Rogers Wireless Communications Inc. and its subsidiaries 
(“RWCI”), including Rogers Wireless Inc. and its subsidiaries (“RWI”) including Fido Inc., formerly Microcell Inc., and its 
subsidiaries (“Fido”); 

•	 “Cable”, which refers to our wholly owned subsidiary Rogers Cable Inc. and its subsidiaries;
•	 �“Telecom”, which refers to our wholly owned subsidiary Rogers Telecom Holdings Inc., formerly Call-Net Enterprises 

Inc. (“Call-Net”), and its subsidiaries. We acquired Telecom on July 1, 2005 and its results are consolidated with ours 
effective as of the July 1, 2005 acquisition date; and

•	 �“Media”, which refers to our wholly owned subsidiary Rogers Media Inc. and its subsidiaries. 

“RCI” refers to the legal entity Rogers Communications Inc. excluding our subsidiaries.

Throughout this release, all percentage changes are calculated using numbers rounded to the decimal to which they 
appear. 

Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This MD&A and annual report include forward-looking statements and assumptions concerning the future performance 
of our business, its operations and its financial performance and condition. These forward-looking statements include, 
among others, statements with respect to our objectives and strategies to achieve those objectives, as well as statements 
with respect to our beliefs, plans, expectations, anticipations, estimates or intentions. These forward-looking statements 
also include, but are not limited to, financial guidance relating to revenue, operating profit and PP&E expenditures, 
expected growth in subscribers, the deployment of new services, integration costs, and other statements that are not  
historical facts. These forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations. We caution that all forward-
looking information is inherently uncertain and that actual results may differ materially from the conclusions, forecasts or 
projections reflected or contained in the forward-looking information, and that actual future performance will be affected 
by a number of material factors, including economic conditions, technological change, the integration of acquisitions, 
regulatory change and competitive factors, many of which are beyond our control. Therefore, future events and results 
may vary significantly from what we currently foresee. Forward-looking statements and assumptions for time periods  
subsequent to 2006 by their nature involve longer-term assumptions and estimates than those for 2006 and are consequently 
subject to greater uncertainty; therefore, the reader is especially cautioned not to place undue reliance on such longer-term  
forward-looking statements. We are under no obligation (and we expressly disclaim any such obligation) to update or 
alter any forward-looking statements or assumptions whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.  
For a more detailed discussion of the material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing conclusions or making  
a forecast or projection set out in such forward-looking information, see the sections of this MD&A entitled “Risks and 
Uncertainties” and “Material Assumptions”.

Additional Information

Additional information relating to us, including our Annual Information Form and discussions of our 2005 interim  
quarterly results, may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or on EDGAR at www.sec.gov.
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1 .  C O R P O R A T E  O V E R V I E W

Our Business

We are a diversified public Canadian communications and media company. We are engaged in wireless voice and 
data communications services through Wireless, Canada’s largest wireless provider and the operator of the country’s 
only Global System for Mobile Communications/General Packet Radio Service network, with Enhanced Data for GSM 
Evolution (“EDGE”) technology (“GSM/GPRS/EDGE”); in cable television, high-speed Internet access, voice-over-cable  
telephony and video retailing through Cable, Canada’s largest cable television provider; in local and long distance voice 
and data telecommunications services for business and residential customers across Canada through Telecom which we 
acquired on July 1, 2005; and in radio and television broadcasting, televised shopping, magazines, trade publications, 
and sports entertainment through Media. 

We also hold other interests including an investment in a pay-per-view movie service as well as investments in 
several specialty television channels, all of which are accounted for by the equity method. In addition, we hold interests 
in other public and private companies for investment purposes. 

For more detailed descriptions of our Wireless, Cable, Telecom and Media businesses, see the respective  
segment discussions below. 

Our Strategy

Our business objective is to maximize revenue, operating income and return on invested capital by enhancing our  
position as one of Canada’s leading national diversified communications and media companies. Our strategy is to be the 
preferred provider of communications, entertainment and information services to Canadians. We seek to take advantage 
of opportunities to leverage our networks, infrastructure, sales channels and marketing resources across the Rogers 
group of companies to create value for our customers and shareholders.

We help to identify and facilitate opportunities for Wireless, Cable, Telecom, and Media to create bundled 
product and service offerings, as well as for the cross-marketing and cross-promotion of products and services to increase 
sales and enhance subscriber loyalty. We also work to identify and implement areas of opportunity for our businesses 
that will enhance operating efficiencies and capital utilization by sharing infrastructure, corporate services and sales 
distribution channels. 

Cable has recently deployed an advanced broadband Internet Protocol (“IP”) multimedia network to support 
primary line voice-over-cable telephony and other new services across our cable service areas. We launched voice-over-
cable telephony services in our largest market, the Greater Toronto Area, on July 1, 2005, and have since begun launching 
other services in other markets within our cable service areas. To further our scale position and extend the geographic 
footprint of our telephony service offerings in the Canadian telecommunications market, on July 1, 2005, we acquired 
Call-Net, a Canadian telecommunications provider which operates nationally. This acquisition is described below, in the 
section entitled “Acquisition of Telecom (Formerly Call-Net)”.

For a more detailed discussion of the respective business strategies of Wireless, Cable, Telecom, and Media, 
refer to the respective segment discussions below.

Recent Acquisitions

Acquisition  of Telecom (Formerly Call-Net)

On July 1, 2005, we acquired 100% of Telecom (formerly Call-Net), a Canadian integrated telecommunications solutions 
provider of local, long distance and data services to more than 600,000 households and businesses across Canada, in a 
share-for-share transaction announced May 11, 2005. The Telecom acquisition brought us an extensive national fibre 
network with approximately 160 co-locations in major urban areas across Canada and network facilities in the U.S. and 
United Kingdom. 

As consideration for the acquisition, we issued approximately 8.5 million RCI Class B Non-Voting shares and 
approximately 0.4 million fully-vested options to acquire RCI Class B Non-Voting shares with Call-Net shareholders receiv-
ing one Class B Non-Voting share for each 4.25 shares of Call-Net. Including estimated transaction costs of $4.0 million, 
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the purchase price of the acquisition was $328.5 million. This transaction has been accounted for using the purchase 
method and we began to consolidate Telecom’s results of operations with our own effective July 1, 2005. Subsequent to 
the acquisition, we changed the name of Call-Net to Rogers Telecom Holdings Inc. Telecom’s results are reported as a 
separate segment as discussed in the Telecom section of this MD&A. Refer to “Critical Accounting Estimates – Purchase 
Price Allocations” and Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more details regarding these transactions.
 

Purchase of Rogers Wireless Shares and Acquisition  of F ido

On September 13, 2004, we announced an agreement with JVII General Partnership (“JVII”), a general partnership wholly 
owned by AT&T Wireless Services, Inc., (“AWE”) whereby we agreed to purchase all of JVII’s 27,647,888 Class A Multiple 
Voting shares (“Class A shares”) and 20,946,284 Class B Restricted Voting shares (“Class B shares”) of Wireless for a cash 
purchase price of $36.37 per share totalling $1,767.4 million. We closed this transaction on October 13, 2004 which had 
the effect of increasing our ownership of Wireless from 55.3% at September 30, 2004 to approximately 89.3%. 

On September 20, 2004, together with Wireless, we announced an all-cash offer of $35.00 per share to acquire 
all of the issued and outstanding equity securities of Fido, Canada’s fourth largest wireless communications provider. 
The acquisition of Fido was successfully completed effective November 9, 2004 and made Wireless the largest wireless 
operator in Canada and the only Canadian wireless provider operating on the world standard GSM/GPRS/EDGE wireless 
technology platform. 

On November 11, 2004, we announced an exchange offer to purchase all of the publicly-owned Class B Restricted 
Voting shares of Wireless, with the consideration being 1.75 RCI Class B Non-Voting shares for each Wireless Class B share 
held. The acquisition was successfully completed effective December 31, 2004, and Wireless became a wholly owned  
subsidiary. We issued a total of 28,072,856 RCI Class B Non-Voting shares as consideration in this transaction. 

Refer to “Critical Accounting Estimates – Purchase Price Allocations” and Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for more details regarding these transactions. 

Consolidated Financial and Operating Results

See the sections in this MD&A entitled “Critical Accounting Policies”, “Critical Accounting Estimates” and “New 
Accounting Standards” and also the Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of critical 
and new accounting policies and estimates as they relate to the discussion of our operating and financial results below.

We measure the success of our strategies using a number of key performance indicators as outlined in the sec-
tion “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures”. These key performance indicators are not measurements in 
accordance with Canadian or U.S. GAAP and should not be considered as alternatives to net income or any other measure 
of performance under Canadian or U.S. GAAP. 

Basis  of Pro Forma Information

Certain financial and operating data information in this release has been prepared on a pro forma basis as if the trans-
actions relating to Wireless and Fido, as described herein, had occurred on January 1, 2003, and as if the acquisition of 
Telecom as described herein, had occurred on January 1, 2004. Such information is based on our historical financial state-
ments, the historical financial statements of Wireless, Fido, and Telecom, and the accounting for the respective business 
combinations. 

Although we believe this presentation provides certain relevant contextual and comparative information for 
existing operations, the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial and operating data presented in this document is 
for illustrative purposes only and does not purport to represent what the results of operations actually would have been 
if the transactions had occurred on January 1, 2003, in the case of Wireless and Fido, and on January 1, 2004 in the case of 
Telecom, nor does it purport to project the results of operations for any future period. 

This pro forma information reflects, among other things, adjustments to Fido and Telecom’s historically 
reported financial information to conform to our accounting policies, the impacts of purchase accounting, and the 
impact of amortizing the deferred compensation expense arising on the exchange of employee stock options in RWCI into 
stock options to acquire Class B Non-Voting shares of RCI. The pro forma adjustments are based upon certain estimates  
and assumptions that we believe are reasonable. Accounting policies used in the preparation of these statements are 
those disclosed in our 2005 Annual Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.
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Certain tables in the sections below entitled “Wireless Operating and Financial Results (Pro Forma)”, “Wireless Revenues 
and Subscribers (Pro Forma)”, “Telecom Operating and Financial Results (Pro Forma)”, “Telecom Subscribers (Pro Forma)” 
present selected unaudited pro forma information. 

Operating Highlights and S ignificant  Developments in 2005 

•	 �Coinciding with the 20th anniversary of Rogers’ launch of wireless services, on July 1, 2005, we introduced Rogers 
Home Phone voice-over-cable local telephony service in the Greater Toronto Area and also successfully completed the 
acquisition of Call-Net, a national provider of voice and data communications services. We began to centralize the 
management of sales of our wireless and cable products to business with Telecom’s business offerings. At the same 
time, we also began centralizing the management of the sales and services of Telecom and Cable’s circuit-switched 
and voice-over-cable residential telephony offerings.

•	 �On June 30, 2005, we issued a notice of redemption for all of our 5.75% Convertible Debentures due November 26, 
2005, at a redemption price per US$1,000 face amount of US$992.28, for an aggregate redemption amount of approxi-
mately US$223.0 million and with a redemption date of August 2, 2005. An aggregate of approximately 7.7 million  
RCI Class B Non-Voting shares were issued.

•	 �On October 11, 2005, we issued a notice to Microsoft Corporation (“Microsoft”) of our intention to redeem the  
$600 million aggregate principal amount of 5½% Convertible Preferred Securities due August 2009. On October 17, 2005, 
we received notice that Microsoft had elected to convert these securities, and, pursuant to this notice of conversion,  
we issued 17,142,857 shares of our Class B Non-Voting stock to Microsoft on October 24, 2005 at the exercise price of 
$35 per share.

•	 �We, together with Bell Canada, announced a joint venture that will build and manage a Canada-wide wireless broad-
band network utilizing the two companies’ extensive fixed wireless spectrum holdings and existing network of cellular 
tower and backhaul assets.

•	 �Our Board of Directors approved a 50% increase in the annual dividend to $0.15 per share, paid semi-annually. We 
declared a semi-annual dividend of $0.075 per share on each outstanding RCI Class B Non-Voting share and RCI Class A 
Voting share, which was paid on January 6, 2006 to shareholders of record on December 28, 2005.

Year Ended December 31 ,  2005  Compared to Year Ended December 31 ,  2004

For the year ended December 31, 2005, Wireless, Cable, Telecom, and Media represented 53.5%, 27.6%, 5.7% and 14.7% of 
our consolidated revenue, respectively, offset by corporate items and eliminations of (1.5%), and 62.4%, 33.5%, 2.1% and 
6.0% of our consolidated operating profit, respectively, offset by corporate items and eliminations of (4.0%). For more 
detailed discussions of Wireless, Cable, Telecom, and Media, refer to the respective segment discussions. Our financial  
results include the operations of Telecom from the July 1, 2005 date of acquisition and the operations of Fido from the 
November 9, 2004 date of acquisition.
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Summarized Consolidated Financial Results

(In millions of dollars, except per share amounts and margin)
Years ended December 31,		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 	 % Chg

Operating revenue 
		  Wireless	 	 	  $	 4,006.6 	  $	 2,783.5 		  43.9 
		  Cable	 		  	 2,067.7 		  1,945.7 		  6.3 
		  Media	 		  	 1,097.2 		  956.9 		  14.7 
		  Telecom	 		  	 423.9 		  – 		  – 
		  Corporate items and eliminations 	 		  	 (113.2)		  (77.9)		  (45.3)

Total			  		   $	 7,482.2 	  $	 5,608.2 		  33.4 

Operating expenses, including integration expenses(1)

		  Wireless 	 	 	  $	 2,669.5 	  $	 1,833.1 		  45.6 
		  Cable	 		  	 1,349.1 		  1,237.0 		  9.1 
		  Media	 		  	 969.4 		  841.5 		  15.2 
		  Telecom	 		  	 378.0 		  – 		  – 
		  Corporate items and eliminations 	 		  	 (27.4)		  (37.6)		  27.1 

Total			  		   $	 5,338.6 	  $	 3,874.0 		  37.8 

Operating profit, after integration expenses(1)(2)

		  Wireless 	 	 	  $	 1,337.1 	  $	 950.4 		  40.7 
		  Cable	 		  	 718.6 		  708.7 		  1.4 
		  Media	 		  	 127.8 		  115.4 		  10.7 
		  Telecom	 		  	 45.9 		  – 		  – 
		  Corporate items and eliminations 	 		  	 (85.8)		  (40.3)		  (112.9)

Total		 	 	 	 $	 2,143.6 	  $	 1,734.2 		  23.6 

Other income and expense, net(3)		  	 	 2,188.3 		  1,801.3 		  21.5 

Loss 		  	 	 	  $	 (44.7)	  $	 (67.1)		  33.4 

Loss per share – basic and diluted			    $	 (0.15)	  $	 (0.28)		  (46.4)
Additions to PP&E(2)

		  Wireless(4)	 	 	  $	 584.9 	  $	 439.2 		  33.2 
		  Cable	 		  	 676.2 		  587.9 		  15.0 
		  Media		  		  39.6 		  20.3 		  95.1 
		  Telecom		  		  37.4 		  – 		  – 
		  Corporate items and eliminations 	 		  	 15.6 		  7.6 		  105.3 

Total			  		   $	 1,353.7 	  $	 1,055.0 		  28.3 

Operating profit margin(1)(2)		  	 	 28.6%		  30.9%
	

(1)	Operating expenses and operating profit in 2005 include integration expenses of $66.5 million (2004 – $4.4 million). 

(2)	�As defined. See the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section and Supplementary Information for details of the  
calculation. 

(3)	See the “Reconciliation of Operating Profit to Net Loss” section for details of these amounts.

(4)	�Wireless additions to property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) in 2005 include capital expenditures related to Fido integration of $92.5 million. 

Our consolidated revenue was $7,482.2 million in 2005, an increase of $1,874.0 million, or 33.4%, from $5,608.2 million 
in 2004. Of the increase, Wireless contributed $1,223.1 million, Cable $122.0 million, Telecom $423.9 million, and Media 
$140.3 million, offset by an increase in corporate eliminations of $35.3 million. Effective July 31, 2004, as more fully 
described below, we began to consolidate the Blue Jays. As a result, equity losses of the Blue Jays for the first seven 
months of 2004 are included in losses from investments accounted for by the equity method, and the financial results of 
the Blue Jays for the last five months of 2004 and all of 2005 are consolidated with our Media operations.

Our consolidated operating profit was $2,143.6 million, an increase of $409.4 million, or 23.6%, from  
$1,734.2 million in 2004. Of this increase, Wireless contributed $386.7 million, Cable $9.9 million, Telecom $45.9 million, 
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and Media $12.4 million of the operating profit increase. Consolidated operating profit as a percentage of operating  
revenue (“operating profit margin”) decreased to 28.6% in 2005 from 30.9% in 2004. On a consolidated basis, we recorded 
a net loss of $44.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, as compared to a net loss of $67.1 million in 2004. 

Refer to the respective individual segment discussions for details of the revenue, operating expenses, operating 
profit and additions to PP&E of Wireless, Cable, Telecom, and Media.

2005 Performance Against Targets 

The following table sets forth the guidance ranges for selected full-year financial and operating metrics that we pro-
vided for 2005, as revised during the year, versus the actual results we achieved for the year. As indicated in the table, 
we either met or exceeded our operating and financial targets in all categories.
 

		  2 0 0 5 		  2 0 0 5
(In millions of dollars, except subscribers)		  Guidance(1)	 	 Actual

Revenue
		  Wireless (network revenue)	 		   $	 3,560 	to	 $	 3,600 	  $	 3,613 
		  Cable	 			    2,060 	to	 	  2,075 		   2,068 
		  Media (excluding Sports Entertainment)	 			    925 	to	 	  950 		   937 
		  Sports Entertainment	 			    150 	to	 	  160 	 	  160 
Operating Profit(2)

		  Wireless(3)	 		   $	 1,350 	to	  $	 1,390 	  $	 1,391 
		  Cable(4)	 			    710 	to	 	  725 	 	  719 
		  Media (excluding Sports Entertainment)	 			    130 	to	 	  140 		   139 
		  Sports Entertainment	 			    (18)	to	 	  (22)		   (11)
Capital Expenditures
		  Wireless(5)	 		   $	 475 	to	 $	 500 	  $	 492 
		  Cable 	 			    590 	to	  	 690 	 	  676 
Net subscriber additions (000s)
		  Wireless voice and data 	 			    600,000 	to	  	 650,000 		   619,000 
		  Basic cable 	 		   Flat to down 1% from 2004 		   9,200 
		  Internet subscribers	 			    165,000 	to	  	 195,000 		   209,000 
		  Digital subscribers	 			    175,000 	to	  	 275,000 		   238,000 
Fido integration costs
		  Non-recurring cash integration costs	 		   $	 185 	to	 $	 215 	  $	 198 
	

(1)	As reaffirmed or revised October 25, 2005. Does not include July 1, 2005 acquisition of Telecom.

(2)	Before management fees paid to RCI. 

(3)	Excluding costs related to Fido integration.

(4)	Includes $19.2 million of losses associated with cable telephony launch. 

(5)	Excludes expenditures related to Fido integration.
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Reconciliation  of Operating Profit  to Net Loss 

The items listed below represent the consolidated income and expense amounts that are required to reconcile operating 
profit to net income as defined under Canadian GAAP. 

(In millions of dollars)
Years ended December 31,			   2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Operating profit(1)	 				     $	 2,143.6 	  $	 1,734.2 
Depreciation and amortization	 					      (1,478.0)	  	 (1,092.6)

Operating income	 					     665.6 		  641.6 
Interest on long-term debt	 					     (710.1)		  (576.0)
Foreign exchange gain (loss)	 					     35.5 		  (67.6)
Change in the fair value of derivative instruments					     	 (25.2)		  26.8 
Loss on repayment of long-term debt	 					     (11.2)		  (28.2)
Other income 	 					     2.9 		  19.3 
Income tax expense	 					     (2.2)		  (3.4)
Non-controlling interest	 					     – 		  (79.6)

Loss for the year	 				     $	 (44.7)	  $	 (67.1)

	
(1)	As defined. See the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense was $385.4 million higher in 2005 compared to 2004. The increase is primarily due 
to the additional depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets arising from the acquisitions of Fido 
and the minority interests in Wireless in the fourth quarter of 2004 and the acquisition of Telecom in the third quarter of 
2005. Amortization of intangibles totalled approximately $382.3 million in 2005 compared to approximately $64.3 million 
in 2004. 

Operating Income

Operating income was $665.6 million in 2005, an increase of $24.0 million, or 3.8%, from $641.6 million in 2004, reflecting 
the growth in Wireless and the inclusion of Telecom, offset by integration expenses of $66.5 million and the increase in 
the amortization of intangibles assumed on acquisition.

Interest Expense on Long-Term Debt

Interest expense in 2005 increased by $134.1 million compared to 2004, due primarily to the increase in long-term debt 
in the fourth quarter of 2004 associated with the acquisitions of Fido and AWE’s interest in Wireless. This increase was 
partially offset by a decrease in the weighted average interest rate in 2005 compared to 2004 as a result of an increase in 
lower cost floating rate bank debt in 2005.

Foreign Exchange Gain (Loss)

The foreign exchange gain of $35.5 million in 2005 arose primarily from the strengthening of the Canadian dollar  
during 2005 from $1.2036 at December 31, 2004 to $1.1659 at December 31, 2005, favourably affecting the translation of 
the unhedged portion of our U.S. dollar-denominated debt. In 2004, despite the continuing strength in the Canadian 
dollar on a year-over-year basis, we recorded a foreign exchange loss of $67.6 million, arising primarily from the change 
in accounting policy for derivative instruments that resulted in our discontinuing the accounting for cross-currency  
interest rate exchange agreements as hedges for the six-month period ended June 30, 2004, a period during which the 
Canadian dollar weakened against the U.S. dollar. On July 1, 2004, for accounting purposes, we designated the majority 
of our cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements as hedges on our U.S. dollar-denominated debt, thereby largely 
mitigating for accounting purposes our sensitivity to changes in the value of the Canadian dollar for the remainder of 
the year. See the section entitled “Change in Fair Value of Derivative Instruments” below.
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Change in Fair Value of Derivative Instruments

The loss of $25.2 million in 2005 was a result of the strengthening of the Canadian dollar relative to that of the U.S. dollar  
as described above and the resulting change in fair value of our cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements not 
accounted for as hedges. 

Effective January 1, 2004, in accordance with AcG-13, we determined that we would not record our derivative  
instruments, including cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements, as hedges for accounting purposes and  
consequently began to account for such derivatives on a mark-to-market basis, with resulting gains or losses recorded in 
or charged against income. Accordingly, up to June 30, 2004, we recorded the change in the fair value of our derivative 
instruments as either income or expense, depending on the change in the fair value of our cross-currency interest rate 
exchange agreements.

Effective July 1, 2004, we met the requirements of AcG-13 to treat certain of our cross-currency interest rate 
exchange agreements as hedges for accounting purposes. Hedge accounting was applied prospectively beginning July 1, 
2004. The exchange agreements not accounted for as hedges continue to be marked-to-market with their change in fair 
value each period either recorded in or charged against income, as appropriate.

Loss on Repayment of Long-Term Debt

In the fourth quarter of 2005, Cable redeemed US$113.7 million of its 11% Senior Subordinated Guaranteed Debentures 
due 2015. Cable’s loss on redemption was $9.8 million including the premium on redemption as well as the write-off of 
the related deferred financing costs and deferred transitional loss. In addition, we redeemed long-term debt at Telecom 
resulting in a loss on repayment of $1.4 million. 

During 2004, we redeemed an aggregate US$708.4 million and $300.0 million principal amount of AWE’s Notes 
and Debentures and repaid in full a $1,750.0 million bridge credit facility related to the acquisition of AWE’s interest  
in Wireless. We paid aggregate prepayment premiums of $49.2 million, and wrote off deferred financing costs of  
$19.2 million, offset by a $40.2 million gain on the release of the deferred transition gain related to the cross-currency 
interest rate exchange agreements that were unwound during the year, resulting in a loss on the repayment of long-
term debt of $28.2 million.

Other Income 

Other income of $2.9 million in 2005 includes other equity income and losses from investments, gains on the sale of 
investments and write-downs required to reflect the other-than-temporary declines in the values of certain investments. 
The other income in 2004 includes investment income as well as an $8.9 million gain realized on the exchange of Cogeco 
Cable Inc. shares for shares of Cogeco Inc., and a $15.5 million dilution gain associated with stock option exercises at 
Wireless, offset by losses on investments accounted for by the equity method.

Income Tax Expense

The $2.2 million and $3.4 million income tax expenses in 2005 and 2004, respectively consist primarily of the Federal Large 
Corporations Tax. In the fourth quarter of 2005, we also determined it is more likely than not that we would realize the 
benefit of a portion of our future tax assets, which consist primarily of non-capital loss carryforwards. Accordingly, a 
future tax asset of $460.4 million was recognized. Since the majority of the future tax assets recognized relate to income 
tax assets of acquired entities, primarily Fido, the benefit was reflected as a reduction of goodwill in the amount of 
$451.8 million. The $8.6 million balance of the benefit was recorded as a future income tax reduction in 2005. 

Non-controlling Interest

Non-controlling interest represents the portion of Wireless’ income attributable to its minority shareholders prior to our 
acquisition of AWE’s interest in Wireless on October 13, 2004 and the privatization of Wireless on December 31, 2004. 
The non-controlling interest charge of $79.6 million for 2004 represents approximately 44.7% of Wireless’ income from 
January 1, 2004 until October 13, 2004 when we completed our purchase of AWE’s 34% ownership interest in Wireless, and 
11.2% of Wireless’ income from October 13, 2004 to December 31, 2004, including the dilution effect from the exercise  
of Wireless stock options. The non-controlling interest in Wireless was reduced from 11.2% to nil on December 31, 2004 
when we acquired the remaining minority interests in Wireless. Reflecting our 100% ownership of Wireless effective 
December 31, 2004, the amount of the non-controlling interest in Wireless for 2005 was nil. 
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Net Loss and Loss per Share

We recorded a net loss of $44.7 million in 2005, or a basic loss per share of $0.15 (diluted – $0.15), compared to a net loss 
of $67.1 million or basic loss per share of $0.28 (diluted – $0.28) in 2004. This decrease in loss was primarily due to the 
growth in operating profit, offset by integration expenses, the amortization of intangibles assumed on acquisition, the 
increase in interest on long-term debt associated with our acquisitions, and the fact that 2004 reflects higher foreign 
exchange losses, and non-controlling interest of $79.6 million.

Employees

Remuneration represents a material portion of our expenses. At December 31, 2005, we had approximately 21,000 full-
time equivalent employees (“FTEs”) across all of our operating groups, including our shared services organization and 
corporate office, representing an increase of approximately 3,000 from the level at December 31, 2004 primarily due 
to an increase of 1,900 employees as a result of the acquisition of Telecom and an increase of 1,200 employees in our  
head office and call centres, partially offset by reductions associated with the integration of Fido during the year. Total 
remuneration paid to employees (both full- and part-time) in 2005 was approximately $1,220.6 million, an increase of 
$220.5 million from $1,000.1 million in 2004.

2 .  S E G M E N T  R E V I E W
	
W I R E L E S S

Wireless Business 

Wireless is the largest Canadian wireless communications service provider, serving nearly 6.3 million subscribers at 
December 31, 2005, including nearly 6.2 million wireless voice and data subscribers. Wireless operates a Global System for  
Mobile Communications/General Packet Radio Service (“GSM/GPRS”) network, with Enhanced Data for GSM Evolution 
(“EDGE”) technology. Wireless is Canada’s only carrier operating on the world standard GSM/GPRS technology platform.  
The GSM/GPRS/EDGE network provides coverage to approximately 94% of Canada’s population. Subscribers to its  
wireless services have access to these services across the U.S. through roaming agreements with various wireless operators.  
Its subscribers also have access to wireless voice service internationally in over 175 countries and GPRS service interna-
tionally in over 75 countries, including throughout Europe, Asia, Latin America and Africa through roaming agreements 
with other GSM wireless providers. 

Wireless Products and Services 

Wireless offers wireless voice, data and messaging services across Canada. Wireless voice services are available in either 
postpaid or prepaid payment options. In addition, the GSM/GPRS/EDGE network provides customers with advanced 
high-speed wireless data services, including mobile access to the Internet, wireless e-mail, digital picture and video 
transmission, video streaming, music downloading and two-way short messaging service (“SMS”). 

Wireless Distribution Network 

Wireless markets its products and services under both the Rogers Wireless and Fido brands through an extensive nation-
wide distribution network of over 7,000 dealer and retail locations across Canada (excluding the Rogers Video locations), 
which include approximately 2,000 locations selling subscriptions to service plans, handsets and prepaid cards and 
approximately 5,000 additional locations selling prepaid cards. Wireless’ nationwide distribution network includes an 
independent dealer network, Rogers Wireless and Fido stores and kiosks, major retail chains and convenience stores. 
Wireless also offers many of its products and services through a retail agreement with Rogers Video, which is a division of 
Rogers Cable that has more than 314 locations across Canada, and on the Rogers Wireless and Fido e-business websites. 

Wireless Networks 

Wireless is a facilities-based carrier operating its wireless networks over a broad, national coverage area with an owned 
and leased fibre-optic and microwave transmission infrastructure. The seamless, integrated nature of its networks 
enables subscribers to make and receive calls and to activate network features anywhere in Wireless’ coverage area and 
in the coverage area of Wireless’ roaming partners as easily as if they were in their home area.
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Wireless operates a digital wireless GSM/GPRS network in the 1900 megahertz (MHz) and 850 MHz frequency 
bands across its national footprint. The GSM/GPRS network, which was initially deployed in 2002, operates seamlessly 
between the two frequencies and provides high-speed integrated voice and packet data transmission service capabilities.  
During 2004, Wireless completed the deployment of EDGE technology across its national GSM/GPRS network. 
Accomplished by the installation of network software upgrades, EDGE more than tripled the wireless data transmission  
speeds previously available on the network. In December 2005, Wireless initiated testing of UMTS/HSDPA third  
generation (“3G”) wireless technology in the downtown core of Toronto. UMTS/HSDPA is the next phase of the evolution  
of the GSM/EDGE platform delivering high mobility, high bandwidth wireless access for voice and data services, as  
discussed in the “Additions to PP&E” section.

Fido’s wireless network was also a GSM/GPRS network operating on the 1900 MHz frequency band. During 2005, 
Wireless completed the process of integrating the Rogers Wireless and Fido GSM/GPRS networks. This network integra-
tion enabled Wireless to increase the density and quality of its wireless coverage while also reducing costs through the 
elimination of redundant cell sites and other network facilities.

Including the acquired Fido spectrum, Wireless holds 25 MHz of contiguous spectrum across Canada in the 
850 frequency range and 60 MHz in the 1900 frequency range across the country with the exception of Southwestern 
Ontario, Northern Québec, and the Yukon, Northwest and Nunavut territories where Wireless holds 50 MHz in the  
1900 frequency range. 

Wireless also holds certain broadband fixed wireless spectrum in the 2300 MHz, 2500 MHz and 3500 MHz fre-
quency ranges. In September 2005, Wireless, together with Bell Canada announced the formation of an equally owned 
joint venture to construct a pan-Canadian wireless broadband network that will be based on the evolving Wi-MAX 
standards. Both companies will contribute their respective fixed wireless spectrum holdings to the joint venture, along 
with access to their respective cellular towers and network backhaul facilities. The fixed wireless network will act as a 
wholesale provider of capacity to each of the joint venture partners who in turn will market, sell, support and bill for 
their respective service offerings over the network. 

Wireless Strategy 

Wireless’ goal is to achieve profitable growth within the Canadian wireless communications industry, and its strategy is 
designed to maximize its cash flow and return on invested capital. The key elements of its strategy are as follows:

•	 �Enhancing its scale and competitive position in the Canadian wireless communications market through the acquisition 
and integration of Fido;

•	 �Focusing on voice and data services that are attractive to youth, families, and small and medium-sized businesses to 
optimize its customer mix;

•	 �Delivering on customer expectations by improving handset reliability, network quality and customer service while 
reducing subscriber deactivations, or churn;

•	 �Increasing revenue from existing customers by utilizing analytical tools to target customers likely to purchase optional 
services such as voicemail, caller line ID, text messaging and wireless Internet;

•	 Enhancing sales distribution channels to increase focus on youth and business customers;
•	 �Maintaining a technologically advanced, high-quality and pervasive network by improving the quality of the GSM/

GPRS/EDGE network and increasing capacity; and
•	 �Leveraging relationships across the Rogers group of companies to provide bundled product and service offerings 

at attractive prices, in addition to implementing cross-selling and joint sales distribution initiatives as well as cost  
reduction initiatives through infrastructure sharing.

Recent Wireless Industry Trends 

Focus on Customer Retention

The wireless communications industry’s current market penetration in Canada is approximately 52% of the population, 
compared to approximately 69% in the U.S. and approximately 114% in the United Kingdom, and Wireless expects the 
Canadian wireless industry to grow by approximately 4 to 5 percentage points of penetration each year. While this 
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will produce growth, the growth on a year-over-year percentage change basis is slowing compared to historical levels.  
This deeper penetration drives an increased focus on customer satisfaction, the promotion of new data and voice 
services and features and, primarily, customer retention. As discussed below, the Canadian Radio-television and 
Telecommunications Commission (“CRTC”) is implementing Wireless Number Portability (“WNP”). As such, customer  
satisfaction and retention will become even more critical in the future.	

Demand for Sophisticated Data Applications 

The ongoing development of wireless data transmission technologies has led developers of wireless devices, such as 
handsets and other hand-held devices, to develop more sophisticated wireless devices with increasingly advanced 
capabilities, including access to e-mail and other corporate information technology platforms, news, sports, financial 
information and services, shopping services, photos and video clips, and other functions. Wireless believes that the intro-
duction of such new applications will drive the growth for data transmission services. As a result, wireless providers will 
likely continue to upgrade their digital networks to be able to offer the data transmission capabilities required by these 
new applications.

Migration to Next Generation Wireless Technology

The ongoing development of wireless data transmission technologies and the increased demand for sophisticated  
wireless services, especially data communications services, have led wireless providers to migrate towards the next  
generation of digital voice and data networks. These networks are intended to provide wireless communications with  
wireline quality sound, far higher data transmission speeds and streaming video capability. These networks are expected 
to support a variety of increasingly advanced data applications, including broadband Internet access, multimedia  
services and seamless access to corporate information systems, such as e-mail and purchasing systems.

Development of Additional  Technologies

The development of additional technologies and their use by consumers may accelerate the widespread adoption of 
3G digital voice and data networks. One such example is WiFi, which allows suitably equipped devices, such as laptop 
computers and personal digital assistants, to connect to a wireless access point. The wireless connection is only effective 
within a range of approximately 100 meters and at theoretical speeds of up to 54 megabits per second. To address these 
limitations, WiFi access points must be placed selectively in high-traffic locations where potential customers frequent 
and have sufficient time to use the service. Technology companies are currently developing additional technologies 
designed to improve WiFi and otherwise utilize the higher data transmission speeds found in a 3G network. Future 
enhancements to the range of WiFi service, such as the emerging WiMax technology, and the networking of WiFi access 
points, may provide additional opportunities for mobile wireless operators to deploy hybrid high-mobility 3G and  
limited-mobility WiFi networks, each providing capacity and coverage under the appropriate circumstances.

Wireless Operating and Financial Results

For purposes of this discussion, revenue has been classified according to the following categories:

•	 Network revenue, which includes revenue derived from: 
	 •	� Postpaid (voice and data), which consists of revenues generated principally from monthly fees, airtime and long- 

distance charges, optional service charges, system access fees and roaming charges; 
	 •	 �Prepaid, which consists of revenues generated principally from the advance sale of airtime, usage and long distance 

charges; and
	 •	 One-way messaging, which consists of revenues generated from monthly fees and usage charges. 
•	 �Equipment sales which consists of revenue generated from the sale of hardware and accessories to independent  

dealers, agents and retailers, and directly to subscribers through direct fulfillment by Wireless’ customer service 
groups, its websites and telesales. 
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Operating expenses are segregated into the following categories for assessing business performance:

•	 Cost of equipment sales, representing costs related to equipment revenue;
•	 �Sales and marketing expenses, consisting of costs to acquire new subscribers such as advertising, commissions paid 

to third parties for new activations, remuneration and benefits to sales and marketing employees as well as direct  
overheads related to these activities;

•	 �Operating, general and administrative expenses, consisting primarily of network operating expenses, customer care 
expenses, retention costs, including residual commissions paid to distribution channels, Industry Canada licencing 
fees associated with spectrum utilization, inter-carrier payments to roaming partners and long distance carriers, CRTC  
contribution levy and all other expenses incurred to operate the business on a day-to-day basis; and

•	 �Integration expenses, relating to the integration of Fido operations, including certain severance costs, consulting, 
certain costs of conversion of billing and other systems.

Summarized Wireless F inancial Results (Actual)

(In millions of dollars, except margin) 
Years ended December 31,		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 	 % Chg

Operating revenue 
	 	 Postpaid (voice and data) 			    $	 3,383.5 	  $	 2,361.1 		   43.3 
	 	 Prepaid 				    209.6 		  116.7 		   79.6 
	 	 One-way messaging 				    19.6 		  24.5 		   (20.0)

	 	 Network revenue 				    3,612.7 		  2,502.3 		   44.4 
	 	 Equipment sales 				    393.9 		  281.2 		   40.1 

Total operating revenue 				    4,006.6 		  2,783.5 	 	  43.9 
Operating expenses
	 	 Cost of equipment sales 				    773.2 		  509.6 		   51.7 
	 	 Sales and marketing expenses 				    603.8 		  444.4 		   35.9 
	 	 Operating, general and administrative expenses 				    1,238.9 		  874.7 		   41.6 
	 	 Integration expenses(1)				    53.6 		  4.4 		  – 

Total operating expenses 				    2,669.5 		  1,833.1 		   45.6 
Operating profit(2)				    1,337.1 		  950.4 		   40.7 
Operating profit margin as % of network revenue(2)				    37.0%		  38.0%		
Additions to property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”)(2)			   $	 584.9 	 $	 439.2 		   33.2 
 	

(1)	Expenses incurred relate to the integration of Fido operations.

(2)	As defined. See the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section. 

Wireless Operating Highlights for the Year Ended December 31 ,  2005 

•	 �Wireless ended the year with a total of 6,168,000 retail wireless voice and data subscribers, reflecting postpaid net 
additions for the year of 603,100 and prepaid net additions of 15,700. Monthly postpaid churn decreased year-over-
year to 1.61%.

•	 �The Fido integration was essentially completed with the two GSM networks now fully integrated and all postpaid and 
prepaid retail Fido subscribers migrated onto the Wireless billing platforms.

•	 Wireless operating revenue increased by 43.9% for the year to $4,006.6 million in 2005 from $2,783.5 million in 2004.
•	 �Revenues from wireless data services grew approximately 109.7% year-over-year to $297.0 million in 2005 from  

$141.6 million in 2004, and represented approximately 8.2% of network revenue compared to 5.7% in 2004.
•	 �Wireless operating profit grew 40.7% year-over-year as network revenue growth exceeded the increase in operating 

expenses. 
•	 �On July 1, 2005, Canada’s national wireless carriers introduced inter-carrier multimedia message services (“MMS”) to 

wireless phone customers across the country. MMS greatly enhances traditional text messaging by allowing users to 
include photos, video clips, graphics, and audio clips and send them to other MMS-capable phones or to any e-mail 
address in the world.
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•	 �Wireless announced a wholesale agreement with Vidéotron under which Vidéotron will operate as a mobile virtual 
network operator (“MVNO”), reselling Wireless’ wireless voice and data services to its extensive customer base in  
markets across Québec.

Wireless Network Revenue and Subscribers (Actual)

(Subscriber statistics in thousands, except ARPU, churn and usage) 
Years ended December 31,		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 	 % Chg

Postpaid (voice and data)(1)		
		  Gross additions(2)(4)	 			    1,453.5 	  	 1,161.5 	  	 25.1 
		  Net additions(2)(3)(4)	 			    603.1 	  	 446.1 	  	 35.2 
		  Acquisition of Fido subscribers(5)	 			   –	 	  752.0 	  	 –
		  Total postpaid retail subscribers(3)(4)	 			    4,818.2 	  	 4,184.1	  	  15.2 
		  Average monthly revenue per user (“ARPU”)(6)		  	 $	 63.56 	  $	 59.50 	 	  6.8 
		  Average monthly usage (minutes)	 			    503 	 	  395	  	  27.3 
		  Monthly churn(3)	 			   1.61%	 	 1.81%	 	  (11.0)
Prepaid 
		  Gross additions(2)	 			    576.5 	  	 319.0	  	  80.7 
		  Net additions(2)(7)	 			    15.7 	 	  32.5 	 	 (51.7)
		  Acquisition of Fido subscribers(5)	 			   – 	 	  541.8 	 	 –
		  Total prepaid retail subscribers 	 			    1,349.8 	 	  1,334.1 	 	  1.2 
		  ARPU(6)	 		   $	 13.20 	  $	 11.88 	  	 11.1 
		  Monthly churn(7)	 			   3.54%	 	 2.94%	 	  20.4 
Total – postpaid and prepaid 
		  Gross additions(2)(4)	 			    2,030.0 	 	  1,480.5 	 	  37.1 
		  Net additions(2)(3)(4)(7)	 			    618.8 	 	  478.6 	 	  29.3 
		  Acquisition of Fido subscribers(5)	 			    –	 	  1,293.8 	  	 – 
		  Total retail subscribers(3)(4)	 			    6,168.0 	 	  5,518.2 	  	 11.8 
		  ARPU (blended)(6)	 		  $	 51.99 	  $	 50.05 	 	  3.9 
		  Monthly churn(3)(7)	 			   2.05%	 	 2.03%	 	  1.0 
One-way messaging 
		  Gross additions	 			    23.0 	 	  29.0	  	  (20.7)
		  Net losses	 			    (29.8)	 	  (45.2)	 	  (34.1)
		  Total one-way subscribers	 			    166.3 	 	  196.1 	 	  (15.2)
		  ARPU(6)	 		  $	 9.09 	  $	 9.25 	 	  (1.7)
		  Monthly churn 	 			   2.43%	 	 2.78%	 	  (12.6)
Wholesale(1)

		  Total wholesale subscribers	 			    107.7 	 	  91.2	  	  18.1 
	

(1)	�Effective at the beginning of fourth quarter 2004, on a prospective basis, wholesale subscribers are excluded from the postpaid subscriber 
figures. 

(2)	Subscriber activity includes Fido beginning November 9, 2004.

(3)	�Effective December 2004, voluntarily deactivating subscribers are required to continue billing and service for 30 days from the date  
termination is requested. This continued service period which is consistent with the subscriber agreement terms and conditions, resulted in 
approximately 15,900 additional net postpaid subscribers being included in the year ended December 31, 2004.

(4)	�Total postpaid retail subscribers include approximately 31,000 subscribers acquired as part of the purchase of Telecom on July 1, 2005. These 
subscribers are not included in gross or net additions for the year ended December 31, 2005. 

(5)	Fido subscriber base upon acquisition effective November 9, 2004.

(6)	As defined. See the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section.

(7)	�Effective November 9, 2004, the deactivation of prepaid subscribers acquired from Fido is recognized after 180 days of no usage to conform to 
the prepaid churn definition. This had the impact of decreasing prepaid subscriber net losses by approximately 12,000 and 44,000 in the years 
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and reducing monthly prepaid churn by 0.10% and 0.45% for the years ended December 31, 
2005 and 2004, respectively.
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Wireless Network Revenue (Actual)

Network revenue of $3,612.7 million accounted for 90.2% of total Wireless revenues in 2005, and increased 44.4% from 
2004. This increase was driven by the acquisition of Fido’s subscriber base on November 9, 2004, the continued growth in 
Wireless’ subscriber base, and the increases in both postpaid and prepaid average monthly revenue per user (“ARPU”). 

Net additions of postpaid voice and data subscribers were 603,100 for 2005 compared to 446,100 in 2004. 
Prepaid subscriber net additions were 15,700 for 2005 compared to 32,500 in 2004. Wireless ended the year with a total of 
6,168,000 retail wireless voice and data subscribers.

Postpaid voice and data ARPU was $63.56 for the year ended 2005, a 6.8% increase compared to 2004. ARPU has 
continued to benefit from higher data and roaming revenues and an increase in the penetration of optional services. 
As Canada’s only GSM/GPRS/EDGE provider, Wireless expects to continue to experience increases in outbound roaming 
revenues from Wireless’ subscribers travelling outside of Canada, as well as strong growth in inbound roaming revenues 
from travelers to Canada who utilize Wireless’ network. 

Data revenue grew by 109.7% year-over-year, to $297.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Data 
revenue represented approximately 8.2% of total network revenue in 2005 compared to 5.7% in 2004, reflecting the 
continued rapid growth of Blackberry, SMS and MMS, downloadable ring tones, music, games, and other wireless data 
services and applications. 

Prepaid ARPU was $13.20 in 2005, an increase of $1.32 compared to 2004. This increase was primarily a result of 
the acquisition of Fido’s higher ARPU prepaid subscriber base. 

Monthly postpaid voice and data subscriber churn decreased to 1.61% in 2005, from 1.81% in 2004, as a result 
of Wireless’ proactive and targeted customer retention activities as well as from the increased network density and  
coverage quality resulting from the integration of the Fido GSM network. 

Monthly prepaid churn increased to 3.54% in 2005 from 2.94% in 2004. Eliminating the impact of the change in 
Fido’s deactivation policy, churn increased from 3.39% in 2004 to 3.64% in 2005.

One-way messaging (paging) subscriber churn for the year decreased to 2.43% for 2005. One-way messaging 
ARPU decreased by 1.7% during the year. With 166,300 paging subscribers, Wireless continues to view paging as a prof-
itable but mature business segment, and recognizes that churn will likely continue at relatively high rates as one-way 
messaging subscribers increasingly migrate to two-way messaging and converged voice and data services.

Equipment Sales (Actual)

Revenue from equipment sales during 2005, including activation fees and net of equipment subsidies, was $393.9 million, 
up 40.1% from 2004. The year-over-year increase reflects the higher volume of gross additions and handset upgrades 
associated with subscriber retention programs combined with the generally higher price points of more sophisticated 
handsets and devices.

Wireless Operating Expenses (Actual)

(In millions of dollars, except per subscriber statistics) 
Years ended December 31,		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 	 % Chg

Operating expenses
	 	 Cost of equipment sales 			    $	 773.2 	  $	 509.6 		   51.7 
	 	 Sales and marketing expenses 				    603.8 		  444.4 		   35.9 
	 	 Operating, general and administrative expenses 				    1,238.9 		  874.7 		   41.6 
	 	 Integration expenses(1)				    53.6 		  4.4 		  – 

Total operating expenses 			    $	 2,669.5 	  $	 1,833.1 		   45.6 

Average monthly operating expense per  
	 subscriber before sales and marketing expenses(2)			    $	 20.78 	  $	 18.99 		   9.4 
Sales and marketing costs per gross subscriber addition(2)			    $	 387 	  $	 372 		   4.0 
	

(1)	Expenses incurred related to the integration of the operations of Fido.

(2)	Includes integration expenses for respective periods; As calculated in the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section. 
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The acquisition of Fido accounted for approximately 61.6% of the increase in Wireless operating expenses for the year 
ended December 31, 2005. Since Fido was acquired on November 9, 2004, the prior year only includes Fido financial 
results for 53 days.

Cost of equipment sales increased by $263.6 million in 2005 compared to 2004. 43.3% of the year-over-year 
increase is due to the acquisition of Fido. In addition, the increase reflects the growing volume of gross additions and 
handset upgrades associated with subscriber retention programs combined with generally higher price points of more 
sophisticated handsets and devices.

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $159.4 million in 2005 compared to 2004. The majority of the increase, 
approximately 71.0%, is due to the acquisition of Fido, which increased gross additions, compared to the prior year. 
Wireless’ marketing efforts during 2005 included targeted programs to acquire high-value customers on longer-term 
contracts, including the successful Motorola RAZR V3 phone campaign, resulting in increases in the sales and marketing 
costs per gross addition. The increase in sales and marketing expenses also reflects the increase in the number of gross 
additions in the year.

Operating, general and administrative expenses increased by $364.2 million in 2005 compared to 2004. The 
increase is a result of the acquisition of Fido, which accounted for 70.9% of the increase, along with increases in retention  
spending and growth in network operating expenses to accommodate the growth in Wireless’ subscriber base and 
usage. These increased costs were offset by savings related to more favourable roaming arrangements and operating 
and scale efficiencies across various functions.

Total retention spending (including subsidies on handset upgrades) was $288.3 million for the year ended 2005 
compared to $199.3 million in 2004. Retention spending, on both an absolute and a per subscriber basis, is expected 
to continue to grow as wireless market penetration in Canada deepens and WNP becomes available in March 2007, as 
recently mandated by the CRTC on December 20, 2005.	

Wireless incurred $53.6 million during the year for integration expenses associated with the Fido acquisition. 
These integration expenses have been recorded within operating expenses. See the section below entitled “Update 
on Fido Integration” for more details on integration costs incurred, including those costs recorded within PP&E  
expenditures and as part of the purchase accounting. 

The $1.79 year-over-year increase in average monthly operating expense per subscriber, excluding sales and 
marketing expenses and including management fees and integration expenses, reflects Wireless’ increased spending on 
handset upgrades associated with targeted retention programs and the impact of integration expenses resulting from 
the acquisition of Fido. 

Wireless Operating Profit  (Actual)

Operating profit grew by $386.7 million, or 40.7%, to $1,337.1 million in 2005 from $950.4 million in 2004, due to network 
revenue growth of 44.4%, offset by the growth in operating expenses. 

Additions to Wireless PP&E (Actual)

Additions to Wireless PP&E are classified into the following categories:

(In millions of dollars)
Years ended December 31,		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 	 % Chg

Additions to PP&E	
	 	 Network – capacity 		  	  $	 285.7 	  $	 222.1 		   28.6 
	 	 Network – other 				    117.2 		  125.7 		   (6.8)
	 	 Information technology and other 				    89.5 		  91.4 		   (2.1)
	 	 Integration of Fido				    92.5 		  – 		   – 

Total additions to PP&E 			    $	 584.9 	  $	 439.2 		   33.2 

	
The $584.9 million of additions to PP&E for the year ended December 31, 2005 reflect spending on network capacity  
and quality enhancements. Additions to Wireless PP&E in 2005 also include $92.5 million of expenditures related to the 
Fido integration. 
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Network-related additions to PP&E in the year ended 2005 primarily reflect capacity expansion of the GSM/

GPRS network and transmission. The remaining network-related additions to PP&E relate primarily to technical upgrade  
projects, including new cell sites, operational support systems and the addition of new services. Other additions to PP&E 
reflect information technology initiatives and other facilities and equipment. 

On February 9, 2006, Wireless announced that it intends to begin deploying a 3G network based upon the 
UMTS/HSDPA (Universal Mobile Telephone System/High-Speed Downlink Packet Access) standard which Wireless expects 
will provide it with data speeds that are superior to those offered by other 3G wireless technologies and enable it to  
add incremental voice and data capacity at significantly lower costs. UMTS/HSDPA is the next generation technology 
evolution for the global standard GSM platform which provides broadband wireless data speeds that will enable new 
and faster data products such as video conferencing and mobile television as well as simultaneous voice and data usage. 
Wireless estimates that the deployment of this network across most of the major Canadian cities will require total  
spending of approximately $390 million over the course of 2006 and 2007, including approximately $70 million of  
capacity spending that would have otherwise been invested in GSM. Because UMTS/HSDPA technology is fully back-
wards compatible with GSM, subscribers with UMTS/HSDPA enabled devices will be able to receive voice and data services  
everywhere that Wireless offers wireless service across Canada, as well as when roaming in the more than 175 other 
countries around the world where GSM service is available and where Wireless has roaming agreements in place.

Update on F ido Integration

The integration of Fido was substantially completed during 2005. Wireless successfully completed the integration of the 
Fido GSM network across the country, and completed the migration of the Fido postpaid and prepaid subscriber bases 
onto the Wireless billing systems. The integration of other back-office systems was substantially completed during 2005.

Prior to completion of the acquisition, Wireless developed a plan to restructure and integrate the operations 
of Fido. As a result of the restructuring and integration, $129.0 million was originally accrued as a liability assumed on 
acquisition in the allocation of the purchase price as at December 31, 2004. As at December 31, 2004, no payments had 
been made related to this liability. This liability included severance and other employee-related costs, as well as costs 
to consolidate facilities, systems and operations, close cell sites and terminate leases and other contracts. During 2005, 
Wireless finalized its plan and revised the estimated restructuring and integration costs. As restructuring and integration 
activities progressed and Wireless was able to assess such matters as the extent of its network coverage, management 
was able to finalize those cell site and facility leases to be terminated and negotiate lease termination costs with the 
landlord where applicable. The negotiations related to the termination of other contracts were completed during 2005 
as well. Additionally, as the dismantling of cell sites progressed, Wireless was able to estimate the costs involved in 
dismantling sites with greater accuracy. With the continued restructuring and integration of Fido’s operational and 
administrative functions, Wireless was able to determine those employees who would be retained and those whose 
employment would be severed in order to avoid the duplication of functions within the integrated enterprise.

During the year, adjustments were made to the purchase price allocation from that recorded on a preliminary 
basis at December 31, 2004 to reflect finalization of fair value of net assets acquired. These adjustments resulted in a 
net decrease of $29.7 million in the estimated fair values of net assets acquired. In addition, the estimated liabilities for 
Fido restructuring costs accrued as part of the purchase price allocation have decreased by a total of $55.7 million from 
$129.0 million recorded at December 31, 2004 to $73.3 million due to revisions to the restructuring and integration plan 
discussed above. The adjustments to these liabilities assumed on acquisition and the payments made in the year ended 
December 31, 2005 are as follows:

 
	  As at 				    As at
	 December 31, 		   Revised		  December 31, 
(In millions of dollars)	 2004	  Adjustments 	  Liabilities	 Payments	 2005

Network decommissioning and  
	 restoration costs 	 $	 52.8 	  $	 (18.5)	  $	 34.3 	  $	 (18.5)	  $	 15.8 
Lease and other contract  
	 termination costs 	 	  48.3 		   (21.6)		   26.7 		   (23.0)		   3.7 
Involuntary severance 		   27.9 		   (15.6)		   12.3 		   (10.2)		   2.1 

Liabilities assumed on acquisition 	  $	 129.0 	  $	 (55.7)	  $	 73.3 	  $	 (51.7)	  $	 21.6 
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Total severance and retention payments to Fido employees are estimated to be approximately $21.0 million, 
of which $12.3 million is accrued as part of the restructuring and integration costs in the purchase price allocation.  
Of the remaining $8.7 million that are treated as integration expenses when paid, $5.7 million has been incurred as of 
December 31, 2005. 

During the year ended December 31, 2005, $197.8 million of integration costs were incurred as follows:

(In millions of dollars)
Years Ended December 31, 			   2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Payment of liabilities assumed on acquisition	 				     $	 51.7 	  $	 – 
Integration expenses included in operating expenses	 					     53.6 	 	 4.4 
Integration related additions to property, plant and equipment	 				     92.5 	 	 – 

Total integration costs incurred	 				     $	 197.8 	  $	 4.4 

Wireless Pro Forma Analysis

As discussed previously under “Basis of Pro Forma Information”, the pro forma information below has been prepared as 
if the transactions relating to Wireless and Fido had occurred on January 1, 2003. The pro forma comparative amounts 
reflect the harmonization of Fido’s accounting policies with ours. The tables below present selected unaudited pro 
forma information. 

Summarized Wireless F inancial Results (Pro Forma)

(In millions of dollars, except margin) 		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4
Years ended December 31,		  Actual 	 Pro Forma	 % Chg

Operating revenue 			 
	 	 Postpaid (voice and data) 			    $	 3,383.5 	  $	 2,769.8 		   22.2 
	 	 Prepaid 				    209.6 		  216.4 		   (3.1)
	 	 One-way messaging 				    19.6 		  24.5 		   (20.0)

	 	 Network revenue 				    3,612.7 		  3,010.7 		   20.0 
	 	 Equipment sales 				    393.9 		  321.2 		   22.6 

Total operating revenue 			    $	 4,006.6 	  $	 3,331.9 		   20.2 
Operating expenses											        
	 	 Cost of equipment sales 			    $	 773.2 	  $	 625.6 		   23.6 
	 	 Sales and marketing expenses 				    603.8 		  549.1 		   10.0 
	 	 Operating, general and administrative expenses 				    1,238.9 		  1,141.5 		   8.5 
	 	 Integration expenses(1)				    53.6 		  4.4 		  – 

Total operating expenses 			    $	 2,669.5 	  $	 2,320.6 		   15.0 
Operating profit(2)				    1,337.1 		  1,011.3 		   32.2 
Operating profit margin as % of network revenue(2)				    37.0%		  33.6%		
Additions to property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”)(3)			    $	 584.9 	  $	 674.1 		   (13.2)
	

(1)	�Expenses incurred related to the integration of the operations of Fido, including certain severance costs, consulting, and certain costs of 
conversion of billing and other systems.

(2)	See the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section.

(3)	�Additions to property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) include capital expenditures related to Fido integration of $92.5 million for the year 
ended 2005.
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Wireless Network Revenue and Subscribers (Pro Forma)

(Subscriber statistics in thousands, except ARPU and churn) 		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4
Years ended December 31,		  Actual 	 Pro Forma	 % Chg

Postpaid (voice and data)(1)		
		  Gross additions	 			    1,453.5 	  	 1,493.7 	  	 (2.7) 
		  Net additions(2)	 			    603.1 	  	 605.9 	  	 (0.5) 
		  Total postpaid retail subscribers(2)(4)	 			    4,818.2 	  	 4,184.1	  	  15.2 
		  ARPU(3)		  	 $	 63.56 	  $	 59.74 	 	  6.4 
		  Monthly churn(2)	 			   1.61%	 	 1.93%	 	  (16.6)
Prepaid 
		  Gross additions	 			    576.5 	  	 498.0	  	  15.8 
		  Net additions (losses)(5)	 			    15.7 	 	  (3.8) 	 	 –
		  Adjustment to the subscriber base(6)	 			   – 	 	 (74.8) 	 	 –
		  Total prepaid retail subscribers 	 			    1,349.8 	 	  1,334.1 	 	  1.2 
		  ARPU(3)	 		   $	 13.20 	  $	 13.67 	  	 (3.4) 
		  Monthly churn(5)	 			   3.54%	 	 3.17%	 	  11.7 
Total – postpaid and prepaid 
		  Gross additions	 			    2,030.0 	 	  1,991.7 	 	 1.9 
		  Net additions(2)(5)	 			    618.8 	 	  602.1 	 	 2.8 
		  Adjustment to the subscriber base(6)	 			   – 	 	  (74.8) 	 	 –
		  Total retail subscribers(2)(4)(5)	 			    6,168.0 	 	  5,518.2 	  	 11.8 
		  ARPU (blended)(3)	 		  $	 51.99 	  $	 48.01 	 	  8.3 
		  Monthly churn(2)(5)	 			   2.05%	 	 2.25%	 	 (8.9) 
Wholesale(1)

		  Total wholesale subscribers	 			    107.7 	 	  91.2	  	  18.1 
	

(1)	�Effective at the beginning of the fourth quarter 2004, on a prospective basis, wholesale subscribers are excluded from the postpaid  
subscriber figures. 

(2) �Effective December 2004, voluntarily deactivating wireless subscribers are required to continue billing and service for 30 days from the date 
termination is requested. This continued service period, which is consistent with the subscriber agreement terms and conditions, resulted in 
approximately 15,900 additional net postpaid subscribers being included in the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2004. 

(3) As defined. See the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section.

(4) �Total postpaid retail subscribers include approximately 31,000 subscribers acquired as part of the purchase of Telecom on July 1, 2005.  
These subscribers are not included in gross or net additions for the year ended December 31, 2005. 

(5) �Effective November 9, 2004, the deactivation of prepaid subscribers acquired from Fido is recognized after 180 days of no usage to conform  
to the prepaid churn definition. This had the impact of decreasing prepaid subscriber net losses by approximately 12,000 and 44,000 in 
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and reducing monthly prepaid churn by 0.10% and 0.28% for the years ended 
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

(6) �At the beginning of the second quarter of 2004, Fido removed 74,800 inactive prepaid customers from the retail subscriber base. This adjust-
ment was not reflected in the calculation of prepaid and blended churn rates or in net additions (losses) and these operating statistics are 
presented net of such adjustments.

Wireless Network Revenue (Pro Forma) 

The pro forma network revenue increase of 20.0% over 2004 reflects the 11.8% increase in the number of retail wireless 
voice and data subscribers from December 31, 2004 combined with the 8.3% year-over-year increase in blended postpaid 
and prepaid ARPU. 

Wireless added 603,100 net postpaid voice and data subscribers in 2005 compared to 605,900 on a pro forma 
basis in 2004, while prepaid voice subscriber net additions were 15,700 for 2005 compared to net losses of 3,800 on a pro 
forma basis in 2004. 

The 6.4% year-to-date growth in pro forma postpaid ARPU reflects the continued growth of both wireless 
data and roaming revenues as well as an increase in the penetration of optional services. As Canada’s only GSM/GPRS/

EDGE provider, Wireless expects to continue to experience increases in outbound roaming revenues from its subscribers  
travelling outside of Canada, as well as strong growth in inbound roaming revenues from visitors to Canada who utilize 
its network, as global wireless usage continues to increase. 
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Pro forma data revenue grew by 92.0% year-over-year, to $297.0 million for 2005. Data revenues represented 
approximately 8.2% of network revenue in 2005 compared to 5.1% of pro forma network revenue in 2004, reflecting the 
continued rapid growth of Blackberry, SMS and MMS, downloadable ring tones, music, games, and other wireless data 
services and applications. 

Prepaid ARPU for 2005 decreased on a pro forma basis by 3.4% versus 2004 to $13.20. The decline primarily 
reflects the increased focus by Fido on higher revenue postpaid subscribers and the introduction of competitive prepaid 
offerings into the market. 

Postpaid voice and data subscriber churn decreased to 1.61% for the year from the pro forma rate of 1.93% in 
2004 as a result of Wireless’ proactive and targeted customer retention activities as well as from the increased network 
density and coverage quality resulting from the integration of the Fido GSM network. 

Prepaid churn increased to 3.54% in 2005 from the pro forma rate of 3.17% in 2004. Eliminating the impact of 
the change in Fido deactivation policy, churn increased from 3.45% in 2004 to 3.64% in 2005.

Wireless Operating Expenses (Pro Forma)

(In millions of dollars, except per subscriber statistics) 		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4
Years ended December 31,		  Actual 	 Pro Forma	 % Chg

Operating expenses					   
	 	 Cost of equipment sales 		  	 $	 773.2 	  $	 625.6 	 	  23.6 
	 	 Sales and marketing expenses 				    603.8 		  549.1	  	  10.0 
	 	 Operating, general and administrative expenses 				    1,238.9 		  1,141.5 	 	  8.5 
	 	 Integration expenses(1)				    53.6 		  4.4 	 	   –

Total operating expenses 			    $	 2,669.5 	  $	 2,320.6 	  	 15.0 

Average monthly operating expense per 		
	 subscriber before sales and marketing expenses(2)			    $	 20.78 	  $	 19.70 	  	 5.5 
Sales and marketing costs per gross subscriber addition(2)	 	 	  $	 387 	  $	 357 	  	 8.4
	

(1)	Expenses incurred related to the integration of the operations of Fido.

(2)	As calculated in the “Supplementary Information – Non-GAAP Calculations” section.

The increase in the cost of equipment sales for 2005 over the pro forma cost of equipment sales for 2004 reflects the 
higher volume of gross additions and handset upgrades associated with subscriber retention programs combined with 
the generally higher price points of more sophisticated handsets and devices.

Marketing efforts during 2005 included targeted programs to acquire high-value customers on longer-term 
contracts, including the successful Motorola RAZR V3 phone campaign, resulting in an 8.4% pro forma increase in sales 
and marketing costs per gross addition to $387 for 2005. 

The year-over-year operating, general and administrative expenses on a pro forma basis of $97.4 million are 
primarily attributable to the increases in retention spending and growth in network operating expenses to accommo-
date the growth in Wireless’ subscriber base and usage. These costs were offset by savings related to more favourable 
roaming arrangements and operating and scale efficiencies across various functions.

Total retention spending (including subsidies on handset upgrades) was $288.3 million in 2005 compared 
to $225.9 million on a pro forma basis in 2004. Retention spending, on both an absolute and a per subscriber basis,  
is expected to continue to grow as wireless market penetration in Canada deepens and WNP becomes available in  
March 2007, as recently mandated by the CRTC on December 20, 2005.

The $1.08 year-over-year increase in average monthly operating expense per subscriber, excluding sales and 
marketing expenses and including integration expenses, on a pro forma basis, reflects Wireless’ increased spending on 
handset upgrades associated with targeted retention programs and the impact of integration expenses resulting from 
the acquisition of Fido. 
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Wireless Operating Profit  (Pro Forma)

Wireless operating profit increased by $325.8 million in 2005, or 32.2%, over operating profit on a pro forma basis for 
2004 due to network revenue growth of 20.0%, offset by the growth in operating expenses, on a pro forma basis. This 
resulted in an increase in the operating profit margin to 36.7% from 33.2% on a pro forma basis in 2004. 

Additions to Wireless PP&E (Pro Forma)

The following table presents actual and pro forma information about additions to Wireless property, plant and  
equipment.

(In millions of dollars)  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4
Years ended December 31,		  Actual 	 Pro Forma	 % Chg

Additions to PP&E		
	 	 Network – capacity 			    $	 285.7 	  $	 450.8 	  	 (36.6)
	 	 Network – other 				    117.2 		  119.1 		   (1.6)
	 	 Information technology and other 				    89.5 		  104.2 		   (14.1)
	 	 Integration of Fido 				    92.5 		  –		  – 

Total additions to PP&E 			    $	 584.9 	  $	 674.1 		   (13.2)

Additions to Wireless PP&E for 2005 decreased by $89.2 million compared to pro forma additions in 2004. Additions to 
Wireless PP&E in 2005 include $92.5 million of expenditures related to the Fido integration. This decrease is directly 
attributable to reduced spending at Fido as a result of the acquisition.

C A B L E

Cable’s Business 

Cable is Canada’s largest cable television company, serving approximately 2.26 million basic subscribers at December 31, 
2005, which represents approximately 29% of basic cable subscribers in Canada. At December 31, 2005, Cable provided 
digital cable services to approximately 913,300 households, Internet service to approximately 1,145,100 subscribers, and 
voice-over-cable telephony services to approximately 47,900 subscribers. Cable’s voice-over-cable telephony services 
became commercially available on July 1, 2005. 

Cable has highly-clustered and technologically advanced broadband networks in Ontario, New Brunswick 
and Newfoundland and Labrador. Its Ontario cable systems, which comprise approximately 89% of its approximately  
2.26 million basic cable subscribers, are concentrated in and around three principal clusters: (i) the Greater Toronto Area, 
Canada’s largest metropolitan centre; (ii) Ottawa, the capital city of Canada, and (iii) the Guelph to London corridor in 
southern Ontario. Cable’s New Brunswick and Newfoundland and Labrador cable systems in Atlantic Canada comprise 
the balance of its subscribers.

Cable’s  Products and Services 

Through its technologically advanced broadband networks, Cable offers a diverse range of services, including analog 
and digital cable, residential and commercial Internet services, and voice-over-cable telephony services.

At December 31, 2005, more than 93% of Cable’s network was upgraded to transmit 750 MHz of bandwidth 
or greater, which represents 100% completion of all urban areas served, and approximately 85% of its network was 
upgraded to transmit 860 MHz of bandwidth. With approximately 99% of its network offering digital cable services, 
Cable has a richly featured and highly-competitive video offer which includes high-definition television (“HDTV”), 
video-on-demand (“VOD”), subscription video-on-demand (“SVOD”), personal video recorders (“PVR”), time-shifted  
programming, pay-per-view (“PPV”) movies and events, as well as a significant line-up of digital specialty, multicultural 
and sports programming. VOD services are available to approximately 91% of the homes passed by Cable’s network.

Cable’s Internet services are available to over 96% of homes passed by its network. It offers multiple tiers of 
Internet services under the Rogers Yahoo! brand, differentiated largely by modem bandwidth settings. Cable also offers 
a wide range of data and Internet products to business customers. 
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Cable’s voice-over-cable telephony services were introduced in July 2005 and have grown both in the number 
of subscribers and in the size of the geographic area where the service is available. At December 31, 2005, Cable’s voice-
over-cable telephony services were available to over 81% of homes passed by its network. 

Cable offers multi-product bundles at discounted rates to existing and new customers. These bundles allow 
customers to choose from a range of cable, Internet, “Rogers Home Phone” (“RHP”) voice-over-cable and Wireless prod-
ucts and services, subject to, in some cases, minimum purchase and term commitments.

Cable also offers digital video disc (“DVD”), videocassette and video game sales and rentals through Rogers 
Video (“Video”), Canada’s second largest chain of video stores. There were 314 Video stores at December 31, 2005. Many 
of these stores provide customers with the additional ability to acquire Cable and Wireless products and services, to pay 
their cable television, Internet or Wireless bills and to pick up or return Rogers digital cable and Internet equipment.

Cable’s  Distribution 

In addition to the Video stores, as described above, Cable markets its services through an extensive network of retail 
locations across its network footprint, including the Wireless independent dealer network, Wireless stores and kiosks, and 
major retail chains. It also offers products and services and customer service on its e-business Web site, www.rogers.com. 

Cable’s  Networks 

Cable’s cable networks in Ontario and New Brunswick, with few exceptions, are interconnected to regional head-ends, 
where analog and digital channel line-ups are assembled for distribution to customers and Internet traffic is aggre-
gated and routed to and from customers, by inter-city fibre-optic rings. The fibre-optic interconnections allow Cable’s 
multiple Ontario and New Brunswick cable systems to function as a single cable network. Its remaining subscribers in 
Newfoundland and Labrador, and New Brunswick are served by local head-ends. Its two regional head-ends in Toronto, 
Ontario and Moncton, New Brunswick provide the source for most television signals used in the cable systems.

Cable’s technology architecture is based on a three-tiered structure of primary hubs, optical nodes and co-axial 
distribution. The primary hubs, located in each region that it serves, are connected by inter-city fibre-optic systems carry-
ing television, Internet, network control and monitoring and administrative traffic. The fibre-optic systems are generally 
constructed as rings that allow signals to flow in and out of each primary hub, or head-end, through two paths, providing  
protection from a fibre cut or other disruption. These high-capacity fibre-optic networks deliver high performance and 
reliability and have substantial reserves for future growth in the form of dark fibre and unused optical wavelengths. 
Approximately 90% of the homes passed by Cable’s network are fed from primary hubs, or head-ends, which each serve 
100,000 home areas on average. The remaining 10% of the homes passed by Cable’s network are in smaller and more 
rural systems, mostly in New Brunswick and Newfoundland and Labrador, which are, in most cases, served by smaller 
primary hubs.

Optical fibre joins the primary hub to the optical nodes in the cable distribution plant. Final distribution to 
subscriber homes from optical nodes uses co-axial cable with two-way amplifiers to support on-demand television and 
Internet service. Co-axial cable capacity has been increased repeatedly by introducing more advanced amplifier technol-
ogies. Cable believes co-axial cable is the most cost-effective and widely deployed means of carrying two-way television 
and Internet services to residential subscribers.

Groups of an average of 640 homes are served from each optical node in a cable architecture commonly referred 
to as fibre-to-the-feeder (“FTTF”). The FTTF plant provides bandwidth up to 750 MHz or 860 MHz, which includes 37 MHz 
of bandwidth used for “upstream” transmission from the subscribers’ premises to the primary hub. Cable believes the 
upstream bandwidth is sufficient to support multiple cable modem systems, cable telephony, and data traffic from inter-
active digital set-top terminals for at least the near-term future. When necessary, additional upstream capacity can be 
provided by reducing the number of homes served by each optical node. Fibre cable has been placed to permit a reduction  
of the average node size from 640 to 300 homes by installing additional optical transceiver modules and optical 
transmitters and return receivers in the head-ends and primary hubs.

Cable believes that the 750/860 MHz FTTF architecture provides them with sufficient bandwidth for foresee-
able growth in television, data, voice and other future services, a high quality picture, advanced two-way capability and 
increased reliability. In addition, Cable’s clustered network of cable systems served by regional head-ends facilitates its 
ability to rapidly introduce new services to subscribers with a lower capital cost. In new construction projects in major 
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urban areas, Cable is now deploying a cable network architecture commonly referred to as fibre-to-the-curb (“FTTC”). 
This architecture provides improved reliability due to fewer active network devices being deployed. FTTC also provides 
greater capacity for future narrowcast services.

Cable’s voice-over-cable telephony services are offered over an advanced broadband Internet Protocol (“IP”) 
multimedia network layer deployed during 2004 and 2005 across Cable’s service areas. This network platform provides 
for a scalable primary line quality digital voice-over-cable telephony service utilizing Packet Cable and Data Over Cable 
Service Interface Specification (“DOCSIS”) standards, including network redundancy as well as multi-hour network and 
customer premises powering. 

Cable’s Strategy 

Cable seeks to maximize revenue, operating income, and return on invested capital by leveraging its technologically 
advanced cable network to meet the information, entertainment and communications needs of its subscribers, from 
basic cable television to advanced two-way cable services, including digital cable, Internet access, voice-over-cable tele-
phony service, PPV, VOD, SVOD, PVR and HDTV. The key elements of the strategy are as follows:

•	 Clustering of cable systems in and around metropolitan areas; 
•	 Offering a wide selection of products and services; 
•	 Maintaining technologically advanced cable networks; 
•	 Continuing to focus on increased quality and reliability of service;
•	 �Leveraging its relationships within the Rogers Group of Companies to provide bundled product and service offerings 

at attractive prices, in addition to implementing cross-selling and joint sales distribution initiatives as well as cost-
reduction initiatives through infrastructure sharing;

•	 �Continuing to develop brand awareness and to promote the “Rogers” brand as a symbol of quality, innovation and 
value and of a diversified Canadian media and communications company; and

•	 �Expanding the availability of its high-quality digital primary line voice-over-cable telephony service into most of the 
markets in its cable service areas.

Recent Cable Developments

In January 2006, RCI completed a reorganization whereby Cable acquired substantially all of the operating subsidiaries 
of Telecom. Telecom had previously been a separate operating segment of RCI. As a result of this reorganization, the 
businesses formerly conducted by Telecom are now conducted by Cable. As a result of the changes to management’s 
reporting, beginning in 2006, our reporting segments will change. 

Recent Cable Industry Trends 

Investment in Improved Cable Television  Networks and Expanded Service Offerings

In recent years, North American cable television companies have made substantial investments in the installation of 
fibre-optic cable and electronics in their respective networks and in the development of Internet, digital cable and 
voice-over-cable telephony services. These investments have enabled cable television companies to offer expanded pack-
ages of analog and digital cable television services, including VOD, SVOD, and PPV services; expanded analog and digital  
services, pay television packages, PVR, HDTV programming, multiple tiers of Internet services and telephony services.

Increased Competition  from Alternative Broadcasting Distribution Undertakings

Canadian cable television systems generally face legal and illegal competition from several alternative multi-channel 
broadcasting distribution systems. 
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Cable Operating and F inancial Results

For purposes of this discussion, revenue has been classified according to the following categories:

•	 Core cable, which includes revenue derived from: 
	 •	 �Analog cable service, consisting of basic cable service fees plus extended basic (or tier) service fees, and access fees 

for use of channel capacity by third and related parties; and
	 •	 �Digital cable service revenue, consisting of digital channel service fees, including premium and specialty service sub-

scription fees, PPV service fees, VOD service fees, and revenue earned on the sale and rental of set-top terminals;
•	 �Internet, which includes service revenues from residential and commercial Internet access service and modem sale and 

rental fees; 
•	 Voice-over-cable telephony, which includes service revenues, long distance and additional features revenues; and
•	 �Video, which includes the sale and rental of DVDs, videocassettes and video games and the sale of confectionery, as 

well as commissions Video earns while acting as an agent to sell other Rogers’ services, such as wireless, Internet, digital 
cable and cable telephony services.

Operating expenses are segregated into three categories for assessing business performance:

•	 �Cost of Video store sales, which is composed of Video store merchandise and depreciation related to the acquisition of 
DVDs, videocassettes and game rental assets;

•	 �Sales and marketing expenses, which include sales and retention-related advertising and customer communications as 
well as other customer acquisition costs such as sales support and commissions as well as costs of operating, advertising 
and promoting the Video store chain;

•	 �Operating, general and administrative expenses, which include all other expenses incurred to operate the business on 
a day-to-day basis and to service subscriber relationships, including:

	 •	 �The monthly contracted payments for the acquisition of programming paid directly to the programming suppliers 
as well as to copyright collectives and the Canadian Programming Production Funds;

	 •	 Internet interconnectivity and usage charges and the cost of operating Cable’s Internet service;
	 •	 �Intercarrier payments for interconnect to the local access and long distance carriers related to Cable’s telephony 

service;
	 •	 �Technical service expenses, which includes the costs of operating and maintaining Cable’s networks as well as certain 

customer service activities such as installations and repair;
	 •	 Customer care expenses, which include the costs associated with customer order-taking and billing inquiries;
	 •	 �Community television expenses, which consist of the costs to operate a series of local community-based television 

stations in Cable’s licenced systems;
	 •	 Other general and administrative expenses; and 
	 •	 Expenses related to the corporate management of the Video stores.
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Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004

Summarized Cable F inancial Results

(In millions of dollars, except margin)
Years ended December 31,		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 	 % Chg

Operating revenue			 
		  Core cable(1)	 		   $	 1,303.9 	  $	 1,253.1 	 	  4.1 
		  Internet 	 			    440.7	  	  378.9 	 	  16.3 

Total cable revenue(1)	 			    1,744.6 	 	  1,632.0	  	  6.9 
		  Video stores	 			    326.9 	 	  317.0	  	  3.1 
		  Intercompany eliminations	 			    (3.8)	  	 (3.3)	  	 15.2 

Total operating revenue(1)	 			    2,067.7 	  	 1,945.7 	  	 6.3 

Operating expenses(2)			 
		  Cost of Video stores sales	 			    157.5 	 	  145.9 	  	 8.0 
		  Sales and marketing expenses	 			    262.8 	 	  248.7	  	  5.7 
		  Operating, general and administrative expenses	 			    932.6 	 	  845.7 	 	  10.3 
		  Intercompany eliminations	 			    (3.8)	  	 (3.3)	  	 15.2 

Total operating expenses	 			    1,349.1 	 	  1,237.0 	 	  9.1 

Operating profit(3)

		  Cable 	 			    700.6 	 	  680.5 	  	 3.0 
		  Video stores 	 			    18.0 	 	  28.2 	 	  (36.2)

Total operating profit 	 			    718.6 	 	  708.7 	  	 1.4 

Operating profit margin:(1)		
		  Cable 			   	 40.2% 	 	 41.7% 
		  Video stores	 			   5.5%	  	 8.9%

Additions to property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”)(3)	 		   $	 676.2 	  $	 587.9 		  15.0 
	

(1) �Included in core cable revenue, total cable revenue, and total operating revenue are incremental revenues related to Rogers Home Phone 
(“RHP”) of $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. 

(2)	Included in total operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005 are incremental costs related to RHP of $19.2 million.

(3)	As defined. See the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section.
 

Cable Operating Highlights For the Year Ended December 31 ,  2005

•	 �Cable increased its subscriber bases by the following: 208,500 Internet subscribers, 237,800 digital cable subscribers 
(households), 9,200 basic cable subscribers, and 47,900 cable telephony subscribers. These net additions reflect the 
effect of a change in Cable’s practice as to when a subscriber is deactivated, which became effective in August 2005. 

•	 �On July 1, 2005, Cable introduced its Rogers Home Phone voice-over-cable telephony service offering in the Greater 
Toronto Area. Rogers Home Phone voice-over-cable service was made available to some of its cable areas in Southwest 
Ontario and Ottawa in the fourth quarter of 2005.

•	 �Cable added further to its “Rogers on Demand” offerings by signing agreements with Sony Entertainment in February 
2005 and Warner Brothers in October 2005 for access to their extensive content libraries. With these agreements, 
Cable now has studio agreements covering approximately 70% of current Hollywood film output and its customers 
can now access over 2,400 titles of on-demand content.

•	 �In April 2005, Cable celebrated the 10th anniversary of the launch of its high-speed Internet service and in the same 
month exceeded the one million subscriber threshold.

•	 Cable further expanded its Internet offerings by including a comprehensive suite of security products.
•	 Cable added to its leadership position in digital multicultural services by adding a further 14 program services.
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Cable Revenue and Subscribers

(Subscriber statistics in thousands, except ARPU)
Years ended December 31,		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 	 % Chg

Homes passed  	 			    3,387.5 	 	  3,291.1 	 	  2.9 

Customer relationships(1)	  			   2,413.0 	  	 2,355.9 	 	  2.4 
Customer relationships, net additions(2)	 			    57.1 	 	  16.6 	 	  – 

Basic cable subscribers	 			    2,263.8 	 	  2,254.6	  	  0.4 
Basic cable, net additions (losses)(2)	 			    9.2 	 	  (14.8)	 	 – 
Core cable ARPU(1)	  		  $	 48.09 	  $	 46.29	  	  3.9 

Internet subscribers 	 			    1,145.1	  	  936.6	  	  22.3 
Internet, net additions(2)	 			    208.5 	 	  158.8	  	  31.3 
Internet ARPU(1)	 		   $	 35.51 	  $	 37.25 	  	 (4.7)

Digital terminals in service	 			    1,139.7 	  	 795.7 	  	 43.2 
Digital terminals, net additions 	 			    344.0 	  	 182.1 	 	  88.9 
Digital households	 			    913.2 	 	  675.4 	 	  35.2 
Digital households, net additions(2)	 			    237.8 	 	  140.1	  	  69.7 

Cable telephony subscribers	 			    47.9 	 	 –  	  	  – 
Cable telephony, net additions	 			    47.9 	 	 –   	 	 – 

(1)	As defined. See the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section.

(2)	�Effective August 2005, voluntarily deactivating cable subscribers are required to continue service for 30 days from the date termination is 
requested. This continued service period, which is in accordance with the billing and subscriber agreement terms and conditions, had the 
impact of increasing net basic cable, Internet and digital household subscriber net additions by approximately 9,500, 5,200 and 3,800,  
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Core Cable Revenue

The increase in Core Cable revenue of 4.1%, which includes cable telephony revenues noted below, and the increase in 
ARPU to $48.09 from $46.29 compared to the prior year, reflect the growing penetration of Cable’s digital products, its 
continued up-selling of customers into enhanced programming packages, and pricing increases. These increases were 
partially offset by the impact of discounts associated with increasing adoption of Cable’s bundled offerings which offer a 
discount on price and to the declined equipment revenues resulting primarily from a decrease in equipment rental prices. 
To mitigate impacts on ARPU and operating profit margins associated with bundled offering discounts, effective during 
the fourth quarter of 2005, Cable modified its Better Choice Bundle plans to reduce certain of the available discounts. 

On a year-over-year basis, approximately 65.2% of the Cable TV revenue growth is due to the increased digital 
subscriber base, which grew by approximately 237,800 households in the year.

Internet Revenue

The growth in Internet revenues of 16.3% primarily reflects the 22.3% increase in the number of Internet subscribers 
from the previous year. Cable believes this increase in subscribers is due primarily to the marketing of Cable’s Rogers 
Yahoo! offering and Rogers Better Choice Bundle promotions, and the ability to attract customers with varying needs. 
This ability to meet the needs of the Internet consumer has resulted in an acceleration of net additions in 2005. Average 
monthly revenue per Internet subscriber has decreased over 2004 reflecting the increased penetration of lower-priced 
offerings and the impact of bundling, which Cable believes to be an effective tactic in retaining customers. 

During the year, net Internet additions of 208,500 represented an increase of 31.3% compared to last year. 
With the Internet subscriber base at approximately 1.15 million, Cable has 44.0% Internet penetration of basic cable 
households, and 33.8% Internet penetration as a percentage of all homes passed by Cable’s networks. 

In the first quarter of 2006, Cable implemented price increases of between $2 to $5 from the published retail 
rates for certain of its core cable and Internet product offerings.

Cable Telephony Revenue and Subscribers

The Rogers Home Phone voice-over-cable telephony service was launched on July 1, 2005 in the Greater Toronto Area 
and during the balance of the year, its availability continued to expand. For the year ended December 31, 2005, revenues 
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from cable telephony totalled $4.9 million, which is included in core Cable revenue, and Cable ended the year with 
47,900 Rogers Cable telephony subscribers.

Video Stores Revenue

During 2005, revenues at Video stores were impacted by a combination of a continuing lack of hit movie titles as well 
as aggressive competition, which resulted in rental and sales revenues decreasing by $11.6 million or 4.2%. Wireless 
sales revenue increased by $21.3 million, which mitigated the year-over-year decline in same store revenues. While both  
dollars per transaction and the number of stores increased, same store revenues decreased by 4.4% compared to the 
prior year due to fewer total visits in the period (“same stores” are stores that were open for the full quarters in both 
2005 and 2004). Video has launched a series of initiatives to counter competitive offerings, which include expanded 
corporate gift-card offerings, extended rental periods, a fastback payback program, and an online subscription mail-
delivered DVD rental service.

Cable and Video Stores Operating Expenses

(In millions of dollars)
Years ended December 31,		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 	 % Chg

Cable operating expenses			 
		  Sales and marketing expenses	 		   $	 131.2 	  $	 123.3 	 	 6.4 
		  Operating, general and administrative expenses			   	 912.8 	 	 828.1 	 	 10.2 

Total cable operating expenses	 			    1,044.0 	 	 951.4 	 	 9.7 
Video stores operating expenses			 
		  Cost of sales	 			    157.5 	 	  145.9 	 	 8.0 
		  Sales and marketing expenses	  			   131.6 	 	  125.4 	 	 4.9 
		  Operating, general and administrative expenses	 			    19.8 	 	  17.6 	 	 12.5 

Total Video stores operating expenses	 			    308.9 	 	  288.9	  	 6.9 
Intercompany eliminations	 			   (3.8)	 	 (3.3)	 	 15.2 

Operating expenses	 		   $	 1,349.1 	  $	 1,237.0 	 	 9.1 

Cable sales and marketing expenses increased by $7.9 million on a year-over-year basis, with approximately $5.6 million 
of the increase related to direct sales and marketing costs of Cable’s voice-over-cable telephony service. The Core Cable 
and Internet expenditures grew only modestly as compared to the same period in 2004. Marketing expenditures were 
focused on multi-product promotions through the Better Choice Bundles and investment and promotion of Cable’s 
unique digital cable advantages versus satellite competitors. Additionally, Cable marketed the benefits and enhanced 
features provided by the Rogers Yahoo! Hi-Speed Internet product. 

The year-over-year increase in total Cable operating, general and administrative costs of $84.7 million or 10.2% 
was driven by the following factors: an incremental $13.6 million in costs in support of voice-over-cable for customer 
service and support, cost of services, and increased infrastructure costs; service and support costs of $30.1 million related 
to the growth in digital and Internet subscriber bases, transit and content costs of $32.6 million related to the increase 
of 9,200 basic, 208,500 Internet and 237,800 digital customers and the existing subscriber base; as well as higher copyright 
and production fund fees of $8.4 million.

The year-over-year growth in Video store operating expenses relates primarily to increased sales and marketing 
expenses associated with the growth in the number of stores and the higher cost of sales expenses of $11.6 million associ-
ated with the incremental wireless sales and to game rentals attributable to the introduction of a new gaming system.

Cable Operating Profit

The revenue and expense changes described resulted in core Cable operating profit increasing 3.0% and total Cable 
operating profit increasing marginally by 1.4% in 2005 compared to 2004. Core Cable operating margin decreased to 
40.2% for 2005, compared to 41.7% in the prior year due to the incremental impact of Rogers Home Phone. Video 
stores also experienced a margin decline to 5.5% in 2005 from 8.9% in 2004 primarily due to the increased cost of sales 
expenses, which more than offset the revenue growth.
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Additions  to Cable PP&E 

The nature of the cable television business is such that the construction, rebuild and expansion of a cable system is 
highly capital-intensive. Cable categorizes its additions to PP&E according to a standardized set of reporting categories 
that were developed and agreed upon by the U.S. cable television industry and which facilitate comparisons of additions 
to PP&E between different cable companies. Under these industry definitions, core cable additions to PP&E are classified 
into the following five categories:

•	 �Customer premises equipment (“CPE”), which includes the equipment for digital set-top terminals and Internet and 
cable telephony modems and the associated installation costs;

•	 �Scaleable infrastructure, which includes non-CPE costs to meet business growth and to provide service enhancements, 
including many of the costs to date of Cable’s voice-over-cable telephony initiative;

•	 Line extensions, which includes network costs to enter new service areas;
•	 �Upgrade and rebuild, which includes the costs to modify or replace existing co-axial cable and fibre optic network 

electronics; and
•	 �Support capital, which includes the costs associated with the purchase, replacement or enhancement of non-network 

assets.

(In millions of dollars)
Years ended December 31,		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 	 % Chg

Customer premises equipment			   $	 268.4	 $	 204.0		  31.6
Scaleable infrastructure	 		   	 202.3	  	 188.0	 	 7.6 
Line extensions			   	  75.4 	 	 53.7	 	 40.3 
Upgrade and rebuild	 			   2.8 	 	 40.8	 	 (93.1) 
Support capital		  		  112.7		   87.1 		  29.4

Additions to Core Cable PP&E	  			   661.6 	 	 573.6	 	 15.3 
Additions to Rogers Video stores PP&E	 			   14.6	 	 14.3	 	 2.3 

Additions to Rogers Cable PP&E	 		   $	 676.2 	  $	 587.9	 	 15.0 

The 15% year-over-year increase in additions to PP&E was attributable to an increase in spending across most categories 
of PP&E. Spending on customer premises equipment increased by $64.4 million or 31.6% due to 344,000 net additions 
in Cable’s digital terminals in 2005, and an increase of higher priced PVR and HDTV terminals. With the launch of the 
voice-over-cable telephony service, Cable has also added cable telephony modems to its asset base. Spending on scale-
able infrastructure increased $14.3 million or 7.6% due to investments made in Cable’s IP, transport and digital networks 
while spending on line extensions increased $21.7 million due to the incremental investment made in the commercial 
Internet base. The $25.6 million or 29.4% increase in support capital spending includes additional investments to Cable’s 
IT infrastructure. Spending on upgrade and rebuild decreased by $38.0 million in 2005 due to completion of the major 
activities related to Cable’s 860 MHz rebuild in 2004.

Total PP&E spending on the cable telephony initiative totalled $113.5 million in 2005, with the cumulative spending on 
cable telephony since 2004 being $219.5 million. 

T E L E C O M 

Telecom’s Business

Telecom is a national, full-service, facilities-based telecommunications alternative to the traditional telephone compa-
nies, known as incumbent local exchange carriers (“ILECs”). Telecom offers local telephone, long distance and Internet 
access services to residential customers targeting Canada’s largest metropolitan areas. Telecom also offers local and long  
distance telephone, enhanced voice and data services, and Internet Protocol (“IP”) access and application solutions to 
Canadian businesses and governments of all sizes, as well as making most of these offerings available on a wholesale 
basis to other telecommunications providers. 
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Following our July 1, 2005 acquisition of Telecom, we began to centralize the management of our Wireless and 
Cable business products with Telecom’s business offerings. At the same time, we began centralizing the management of 
the sales and services of Telecom and Cable’s circuit-switched and voice-over-cable residential telephony offerings.

Telecom’s Products and Services

Telecom offers voice and data telecommunications services across Canada to residential customers, and to small, medium 
and large businesses. Large businesses include financial institutions and national retailers as well as other large users of 
telecommunications services, such as other communications companies and various levels of government. In the residen-
tial markets, Telecom focuses on offering customers bundled product solutions with all services on one bill, offering a 
seamless communication solution from a single provider which increases both revenue per customer and total customer 
life through reduced churn. 

Telecom markets a full range of data and IP services, attractive to all business segments, for multi-site  
connectivity, remote access to corporate information resources and Internet access. Value-added services such as man-
aged network services (“MNS”) and bundled applications such as video conferencing enable Telecom to tailor solutions 
specifically to customers’ business needs. Telecom’s data services portfolio includes: traditional transport services such as 
digital private line, frame relay and Asynchronous Transfer Mode (“ATM”); data services such as transparent LAN services 
(“TLS”), IP virtual private networks (“IP VPN”) for remote access service and IP VPN for multi-site networks; and MNS such 
as router management and reporting. 

Telecom’s solutions in the business market offer several advantages: a single flexible network that encom-
passes a range of access types from various digital subscriber technologies (“xDSL”) to Ethernet allowing a customer 
to tailor a solution to precisely match the requirements of each site; a migration path from legacy frame relay  
services, which delivers more bandwidth, more flexibility and a platform for emerging converged IP applications; and an  
opportunity to simplify customers’ data solutions, moving from disparate services to a single IP platform. 

Telecom’s Distribution Network

Telecom markets and sells its residential products and services across Canada through multiple distribution channels 
including telemarketing, field agents, direct mail, television advertising, and affinities. It also markets and sells its ser-
vices through Wireless, Cable and Video and its products are included in product bundles together with Wireless and 
Cable products. Telecom markets and sells its business products through a variety of channels including its own direct 
sales force, exclusive and non-exclusive agents as well as through its business affinities and associations. Telecom also 
offers products and services through the Rogers e-business website, www.rogers.com.
 

Telecom’s Network

To provide local service, Telecom co-locates its equipment in the switch centres of the incumbent local exchange carriers  
(“ILECs”). At December 31, 2005, Telecom was active in 160 co-locations in 36 municipalities in five of Canada’s most 
populous metropolitan areas in and around Vancouver, Calgary, Toronto, Ottawa, and Montreal. Many of these co-
locations are connected to Telecom’s local switches by metro area fibre networks (“MANs”). In addition to operating a 
national IP network in Canada, Telecom operates a North American transcontinental fibre optic network extending over 
16,000 route kilometres (10,000 route miles) providing a significant North American geographic footprint connecting 
Canada’s largest markets while also reaching key U.S. markets. In Canada, the network extends from Vancouver in the 
West to Québec City in the East. Telecom is also in the process of acquiring various of the Competitive Local Exchange 
Carrier (“CLEC”) assets of GT/360 from Bell Canada, providing it with the option to purchase the majority of such assets in 
Ontario, Québec, and Newfoundland and Telecom has already exercised its option for New Brunswick and Nova Scotia 
assets during the year. The assets include local and long-haul fibre, transmission electronics and systems, GT’s hubs, points 
of presence (“POPs”) and ILEC co-locations, and switching infrastructure. Telecom’s network extends into the U.S. from 
Vancouver south to Seattle in the West, from the Manitoba-Minnesota border, through Minneapolis, Milwaukee and 
Chicago in the mid-West and from Toronto through Buffalo and Montréal through Albany to New York City in the East. 
Telecom also has connected its North American network with Europe through international gateway switches in New York 
City, London and a leased trans-Atlantic fibre facility. 

Telecom has installed switching technology and advanced fibre optic cable and electronic equipment offering 
dense wave division multiplexing (“DWDM”) and synchronous optical network (“SONET”) ring protection, and also has 
an advanced network management system that gives it the ability to monitor network performance, access and utilization. 
Telecom’s fibre optic network features physical route diversity with SONET protection thereby offering superior security 
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and reliability due to its bi-directional SONET ring architecture (a ‘self-healing’ system that allows for instantaneous 
rerouting, virtually eliminating downtime in the event of a fibre cut). Telecom has generally installed more fibre optic 
capacity than it expects to need for its own use, allowing it to generate revenue from the sale of capacity to others or to 
increase the size and breadth of its network by swapping excess fibre for capacity on other routes.

Where Telecom does not have its own local facilities directly to a customer’s premises, it provides its local  
services through a hybrid carrier strategy. It has deployed its own scalable switching and intelligent services infrastructure 
while using connections between its co-located equipment and customer premises, provided largely by other carriers. 

Telecom’s Strategy

Telecom seeks to maximize revenue, operating income, and return on invested capital by leveraging its unique position 
within the Canadian telecommunications market as facilities-based alternative to the ILECs for both residential and busi-
ness customers across Canada. 

Telecom’s strategies to achieve this objective include identifying, developing, and exploiting profitable segments 
within the Canadian telecommunications marketplace and differentiating itself through superior sales and customer  
service. Telecom also seeks to leverage its relationships within the Rogers group of companies to provide bundled 
product and service offerings at attractive prices, in addition to implementing cross-selling and joint sales distribution 
initiatives as well as cost-reduction initiatives through infrastructure sharing.

Recent Wireline Telecom Industry Trends

Industry Consolidation and Growth of Facilities  -based Competitors 

The Canadian telecommunications industry has seen a consolidation of players in the wireline industry with the acquisi-
tions in 2004 and 2005 of 360/GT by BCE, Allstream by MTS and Call-Net by Rogers. Competition remains intense in the 
long distance markets with average price per minute continuing to decline by over 10% per annum. Facilities-based 
competitors in the local telephone market have emerged for the first time in the residential and small and medium-sized 
business markets with the launch of competitive local telephone service by Canadian cable companies using their own 
last mile facilities in 2005. Until 2005, competitors to the ILECs made use of resold ILEC facilities and services to provide retail 
service in these markets. There has been very limited local facilities-based competition in the large enterprise market. 

Growth of Internet Protocol Based Services

Another development has been the large-scale launch of Voice over Internet Protocol (“VoIP”) local services by non- 
facilities-based providers in 2004 and 2005. These companies’ VoIP services are marketed to the subscribers of ILEC, cable 
and other companies’ high-speed Internet services. 

In the enterprise market, there is a continuing shift to IP-based services, in particular from ATM and frame relay 
(two common data networks) to IP delivered through VPN services. This transition results in lower costs for both users 
and carriers. 

Telecom Operating and Financial Results
	
We began consolidating Telecom’s results effective July 1, 2005, the acquisition date. As discussed previously under the 
“Basis of Pro Forma Information”, the pro forma information below has been prepared as if the transactions relating to 
Telecom had occurred on January 1, 2004. We believe that this pro forma information including the operating and financial 
results presented below for the six months ended December 31, 2004 presents a meaningful comparative analysis since 
Telecom’s results are consolidated effective as of the July 1, 2005 acquisition date and the 2004 actual comparative figures 
are nil. The pro forma comparative amounts reflect the harmonization of Telecom’s accounting policies with ours.

Telecom’s revenues primarily consist of: 

•	 �Consumer Services, which consist of revenue from retail and small and home office customers for long distance, home 
phone and dial-up Internet services; and

•	 �Business Services, which consist of revenue from small, medium and large-sized business and wholesale customers for 
long distance, toll-free, teleconferencing, and enhanced voice solutions and data and IP-enabled solutions.
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Telecom’s operating expenses consist of: 

•	 �Cost of sales, which includes the costs paid to third-party telephone companies for leased facilities; 
•	 �Sales and marketing expenses, which include direct sales force, sales and retention related advertising and customer 

communications as well as sales support costs;
•	 �Operating, general and administrative expenses, which include all other expenses incurred to operate the business 

daily and to service customer relationships such as network operations, provisioning costs, customer care activities and 
other overhead costs;

•	 �In 2005, integration expenses, which include costs incurred as a result of RCI’s acquisition of Telecom that are direct 
and incremental; and

•	 �In 2004, realignment, restructuring and other charges, which include costs incurred to improve organization effective-
ness by consolidating operations.

Summarized Telecom Operational and F inancial Results 

(In millions of dollars, except margin) 		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 	 % Chg
Six Months Ended December 31, 		  Actual 	 Pro Forma (1)	 Pro Forma (1)

Operating revenue
		  Consumer services	 		   $	 149.0 	  $	 150.6 	 	  (1.1)
		  Business services	 			    274.9 	 	  264.6 	 	  3.9 

Total operating revenue	 		   $	 423.9 	  $	 415.2	  	  2.1 

Operating expenses		
		  Cost of sales	 		   $	 207.8 	  $	 205.0 	 	  1.3 
		  Sales and marketing expenses	 			    56.3 	 	  58.1 	 	  (3.1)
		  Operating, general and administrative expenses	 			    109.3 	 	  98.5	  	  10.9 
		  Integration expenses	 			    4.6 	 	  – 	  	 – 
		  Realignment, restructuring and other charges			   	 –   	 	  1.2 	 	  (100.0)

Total operating expenses	 		   $	 378.0 	  $	 362.8 	 	  4.2 

Operating profit(2)	 		   $	 45.9 	  $	 52.4 	 	  (12.4)
Operating profit margin(2)	 			   10.8%	 	 12.6%	  	 (14.2)
Additions to property, plant and equipment(2)	 		   $	 37.4 	  $	 31.7 	 	  18.0 

(Subscriber statistics in thousands) 		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 	 % Chg
Six Months Ended December 31, 		  Actual 	 Pro Forma (1)	 Pro Forma (1)

Local service lines (Circuit switched)				  
	 	 Net additions(3)	 			    46.0 	 	 66.2	 	  (30.5)
	 	 Total local service lines (Circuit switched)	 			    561.4 	 	 464.9	  	 20.8 

(1)	See “Basis of Pro Forma Information” section for discussion of considerations in the preparation of this pro forma information.

(2)	As defined. See the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section. 

(3)	�Pro forma circuit-switched local service line net additions for the six months ended December 31, 2004 exclude approximately 61,900 circuit- 
switched local service lines that were included upon the acquisition on November 20, 2004 of certain portions of the Eastern Canada  
customer base of Bell/360.

Telecom Operating Highlights and S ignificant  Developments in 2005 

•	 �Telecom acquired most of the Group Telecom and 360 Network’s CLEC assets in New Brunswick and Nova Scotia from 
Bell Canada for $12.6 million. Telecom also acquired Group Telecom’s dark local fibre in Ontario and Québec for  
$12.0 million. Telecom has an option to acquire the remaining lit and operational portion of the former Group Telecom 
network in Ontario, Quebec and Newfoundland and Labrador. If the remaining option is exercised, Telecom would 
expect to close by the end of 2006.
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•	 �We successfully redeemed approximately US$200.9 million of Telecom’s 10.625% Senior Secured Notes due 2008,  
leaving approximately US$22.0 million in aggregate principal amount outstanding which was subsequently repur-
chased for cancellation on January 3, 2006 leaving no principal amount outstanding. We also terminated Telecom’s 
$55.0 million accounts receivable securitization program.

Telecom Revenue (Pro Forma) 

In the six months ended December 31, 2005, Telecom total revenue grew to $423.9 million, increasing by $8.7 million on a 
pro forma basis, or 2.1% compared to the corresponding period in 2004. 

The increase in revenue can be attributed to Business Services revenue growth of 3.9% to $274.9 million in the 
last six months of 2005 compared to $264.6 million in the corresponding period last year. Offsetting this increase was 
a modest 1.1% decline in Consumer Services revenue, which was $149.0 million in the six month period compared to  
$150.6 million for the corresponding period last year.

The increase in Business Services revenue is mainly attributed to having a full six months of revenues in 2005 
from the Bell/360 customer base that was acquired in the fourth quarter of 2004. This increase was partially offset by a 
decline in wholesale revenues.

The decline in the Consumer Services revenue is mainly due to the transfer of wireless customers to Wireless at 
the end of the third quarter 2005, pricing plan changes, and alignment of discounting to Rogers Better Bundle discounts. 
The decline was somewhat offset with the growth of local home phone revenues.

Data and local services continued to grow and represented approximately 26% and 30% of consolidated  
revenue, up from approximately 25% and 24%, respectively, from the corresponding period in 2004 on a pro forma basis. 
Telecom’s exposure to long distance pricing continues to decline, with long distance comprising approximately 43% of 
total revenue during 2005, down from approximately 50% last year on a pro forma basis.

Telecom has focused on selling product bundles to its consumer subscribers using home phone service as the 
foundation product, in an effort to reduce churn and increase its share of subscribers’ monthly communications spending.  
In 2005, approximately 75% of Telecom’s consumer revenue came from subscribers who purchased more than one  
product from Telecom, as compared to approximately 69% in 2004 on a pro forma basis. 

Telecom Operating Expenses (Pro Forma) 

In the six months ended December 31, 2005, total Telecom operating expenses increased to $378.0 million in 2005 com-
pared to $362.8 million in the corresponding period in 2004 on a pro forma basis largely due to an increase in general 
and administrative expenses and the various expenses associated with the integration of Telecom into the Rogers Group 
of Companies. 

Cost of sales, which primarily consists of carrier charges, was $207.8 million in 2005, or approximately 49.0% of 
revenue. On a pro forma basis, this compares to cost of sales of $205.0 million in the corresponding period in 2004 during 
which these costs represented 49.4% of revenue for the period. 

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by $1.8 million on a pro forma basis to $56.3 million in 2005, from the 
corresponding period last year due to marketing synergies with Cable.

Other operating, general and administrative expenses totalled $109.3 million in 2005 compared to $98.5 million 
in 2004 on a pro forma basis. The increase is due to additional costs associated with the Bell/360 base of customers which 
was acquired during the fourth quarter of 2004 and the additional personnel hired to support Telecom’s growing customer 
service and provisioning activities.

Additions to Telecom PP&E (Pro Forma) 

Telecom additions to PP&E totalled $37.4 million in 2005. This was 18.0% higher than the additions to PP&E of $31.7 million 
on a pro forma basis for the six months ended December 31, 2004 due to increases in additions to PP&E related primarily 
to capital investment to support both the launch of new products and the expansion of local service.

Update on Integration of Telecom 

A plan has been developed to integrate the operations of Telecom. Management is currently finalizing certain  
matters while initial stages of the integration are progressing as planned. We began to centralize the management 
of sales of our wireless and cable products to business with Telecom’s business offerings. At the same time, we began 
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centralizing the management of the sales and services of Telecom and Cable’s circuit-switched and voice-over-cable 
residential telephony offerings. Matters still to be finalized include the integration of various networks, customer 
billing and administrative functions. Integration is expected to continue through 2006. During the six months ended  
December 31, 2005, Telecom incurred integration expenses of $4.6 million. In addition, corporate operating expenses 
included integration expenses of $8.3 million related to Telecom. These integration costs consisted primarily of costs 
associated with integration consulting, customer communications, rebranding, and systems integrations.

As discussed above, in January 2006, RCI completed a reorganization whereby Cable acquired substantially all 
of the operating subsidiaries of Telecom. Telecom had previously been a separate operating segment of RCI. As a result 
of this reorganization, the businesses formerly conducted by Telecom are now conducted by Cable.

M E D I A

Media’s Business 

Media holds our radio and television broadcasting operations, our consumer and trade publishing operations, our tele-
vised home shopping service and our interests in the Toronto Blue Jays and Rogers Centre. In addition to Media’s more 
traditional broadcast and print media platforms, it also delivers content and conducts e-commerce over the Internet 
relating to many of its individual broadcasting and publishing properties.

Media’s Broadcasting group (“Broadcasting”) comprises 46 radio stations across Canada, (36 FM and 10 AM 
radio stations) including three FM stations launched in the Maritimes in October 2005; two multicultural television  
stations in Ontario (OMNI.1 and OMNI.2) and a spiritually-themed television station in Vancouver (OMNI.10) acquired in 
June 2005 that is repeated in Victoria; a specialty sports television service licenced to provide regional sports programming 
across Canada (“Rogers Sportsnet”); and Canada’s only nationally televised shopping service (“The Shopping Channel”). 
Through Rogers Sportsnet, Media also holds 50% ownership in Dome Productions, a mobile production and distribution 
joint venture that is a leader in high-definition television (“HDTV”) production and broadcasting in Canada. Broadcasting 
also holds minority interests in several Canadian specialty television services, including Viewers Choice Canada, Outdoor 
Life Network, G4TechTV Canada, The Biography Channel Canada and certain other minority interest investments. In the 
case of G4TechTV and The Biography Channel, Broadcasting is also the managing partner. 

Media’s Publishing group (“Publishing”) publishes more than 70 consumer magazines and trade and professional 
publications and directories in Canada. 

In addition to its organic growth, Media expanded its business in 2005 through the following initiatives: by 
launching three all-news FM radio stations in the Maritimes (Halifax, Saint John and Moncton); by acquiring, integrat-
ing and rebranding NOWTV as OMNI.10 in Vancouver; by acquiring and integrating Quebec based wholesale distribution 
and infomercial producer Mix Promotions; and by acquiring and rebranding the SkyDome sports entertainment venue 
as “Rogers Centre” and integrating the operations with those of the Toronto Blue Jays. The results of operations of the 
Toronto Blue Jays and Rogers Centre are together referred to as the Sports Entertainment group.

Media’s Strategy 

Media seeks to maximize revenues, operating profit and return on invested capital across each of its businesses. Media’s 
strategies to achieve this objective include:

•	 �Focusing on specialized content and audiences through radio properties, publications and sports properties, as well as 
continued development of its portfolio of specialty channel investments;

•	 �Continuing to leverage its strong brand names to increase advertising and subscription revenues, assisted by the cross-
promotion of its properties across its media formats and in association with the “Rogers” brand;

•	 �Focusing on growth and continuing to cross-sell advertising and share content across its properties and over its  
multiple media platforms; and

•	 �Enhancing the Sports Entertainment fan experience by adding experienced players to improve the Toronto Blue Jays 
win-loss record and by making dramatic improvements to the features and functionality of the Rogers Centre.
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Recent Media Industry Trends

Increased Radio/TV Ownership  Fragmentation 

In recent years, Canadian radio and television broadcasters have had to operate in increasingly fragmented markets. 
Canadian consumers have a growing number of radio and television services available to them, providing them with 
an increasing number of different programming formats. In the radio industry, since the introduction of its Commercial 
Radio Policy in 1998, the CRTC has licenced more than 75 new radio stations through competitive processes in markets 
across Canada. In that time, the CRTC has also licenced a large number of additional new FM stations through AM to FM 
station conversions. In 2005, as discussed below, the CRTC licenced two satellite radio providers, both of which began 
offering service in Canada in the fourth quarter of 2005. In the television industry, the CRTC has licenced a number of 
new, over-the-air television stations and a significant number of new digital services. The new services and the new for-
mats combine to fragment the market for existing radio and television operators.

Media Operating and Financial Results

Media’s revenues primarily consist of: 

•	 Advertising revenues;
•	 Circulation and subscription revenues; 
•	 Retail product sales; and
•	 Sales of tickets, receipts of league revenue sharing and concession sales associated with our sports businesses.

Media’s operating expenses consist of: 

•	 Cost of sales, which is comprised of the cost of retail product at The Shopping Channel;
•	 Sales and marketing expenses; and 
•	 �Operating, general and administrative expenses, which include programming costs, production expenses, circulation 

expenses, player salaries and other back-office support functions.

Summarized Media F inancial Results

Effective January 1, 2005, ownership and management of Rogers’ sports operations were transferred to Media. As such, 
beginning in the first quarter of 2005, the results of operations of the Toronto Blue Jays and Rogers Centre are reported 
as part of the Media segment. Prior period results have been reclassified to reflect this change.

(In millions of dollars)
Years ended December 31,		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 (1)	 % Chg

Total operating revenue	 		  $	 1,097.2 	  $	 956.9 	 	 14.7
Total operating expenses	 			    969.4 	 	  841.5 	 	 15.2

Total operating profit(2)	 		  $	 127.8 	  $	 115.4 	  	 10.7

Operating profit margin(2)	 			   11.6%	 	 12.1%
Additions to property, plant and equipment(2)	 			    39.6 	 	  20.3 	 	  95.1

(1) �Media’s 2004 results have been restated to include the results of Blue Jays Holdco Inc., which owns the Toronto Blue Jays Baseball Club; 
Results of Blue Jay Holdco were previously included in a separate segment of RCI.

(2)	As defined. See the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures”.

Media Operating Revenue

Revenue growth for 2005 was $140.3 million, an increase of 14.7% over 2004. The revenue increase was due to sales 
growth from a variety of sources, including $21.2 million by The Shopping Channel, driven by greater sales of home elec-
tronic devices, $10.9 million from the growth in subscribers and advertising on Rogers Sportsnet and increased advertising 
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revenue across all other Media properties. This increase also included $78.9 million contributed by the Toronto Blue Jays, 
whose prior year results were consolidated from July 31, 2004 onwards. $23.7 million of the increase over last year is a 
result of the acquisition of Rogers Centre on January 31, 2005. 

Media Operating Expenses

Operating expenses for 2005 increased by $127.9 million from 2004. Of this increase, $111.7 million is due to the consolidation  
of the Toronto Blue Jays from July 31, 2004, and as a result of the acquisition of Rogers Centre on January 31, 2005. The 
launch of three radio stations in the Maritimes and OMNI.10 in Vancouver generated costs of $5.3 million associated with 
these new businesses. Finally, higher sales volume led to the required increase of costs of goods sold on The Shopping 
Channel, partially offset by cost reductions in Publishing of $10.5 million.

Media Operating Profit

Operating profit for 2005 increased $12.4 million over 2004, and operating profit margin was 11.6% compared to 12.1% 
in 2004. Sports Entertainment’s operating loss increased in 2005 by $4.5 million over 2004. The launch of new radio sta-
tions and OMNI.10 also adversely impacted operating profit and margin, however, organic growth was generated across 
all of Media’s divisions. 

Additions to Media PP&E

Total additions to Media’s PP&E in 2005 were $39.6 million, compared to $20.3 million in 2004. The increase in 2005 was 
primarily due to enhancements at the Rogers Centre, completion of the new Maritime radio stations and investment in 
high-definition TV broadcast equipment. 

C hanges       to   F uture      S egment       R eporting         A ssociated          w ith    I nternal        R eorgani       z ation   

As discussed above, we completed a reorganization whereby Cable acquired substantially all of the operating subsidiaries  
of Telecom. Telecom had previously been a separate operating segment of RCI. As a result of this reorganization, the 
businesses formerly conducted by Telecom are now conducted by Cable. As a result of the changes to management’s 
reporting, our reporting segments will change. 

3 .  F I N A N C I N G  A N D  R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T

Consolidated Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Operations

For the year ended December 31, 2005, cash generated from operations before changes in non-cash operating items, 
which is calculated by adjusting to remove the effect of all non-cash items from net income, increased to $1,551.4 million  
from $1,305.0 million in 2004. The $246.4 million increase is primarily the result of the increase in operating profit of 
$409.4 million, partially offset by the $134.1 million increase in interest expense. 

Taking into account the changes in non-cash working capital items for the year ended December 31, 2005, cash 
generated from operations was $1,227.4 million, compared to $1,242.9 million in 2004. 

The cash flow generated from operations of $1,227.4 million, together with the following items, resulted in 
total net funds of approximately $1,985.7 million raised in the year ended December 31, 2005: 

•	 Aggregate net drawdowns of $612.0 million under bank credit facilities;
•	 �Receipt of $100.3 million from the issuance of Class B Non-Voting shares under the exercise of employee stock 

options;
•	 Addition of $43.8 million of cash on hand at Telecom on July 1, 2005; and
•	 Net proceeds of $2.2 million from the sale of investments.
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Net funds used during the year ended December 31, 2005 totalled approximately $2,333.6 million, the details of which 
include:

•	 Additions to PP&E of $1,391.7 million, including $37.9 million related changes in non-cash working capital;
•	 $351.6 million for the repayment at maturity of Cable’s US$291.5 million 10.0% Senior Secured Second Priority Notes;
•	 �$255.4 million, including $17.5 million of premiums and other related expenses, used by Telecom to redeem  

US$200.9 million aggregate principal amount of their 10.625% Senior Secured Notes due 2008;
•	 �$140.9 million for the redemption of US$113.7 million of Cable’s 11% Senior Subordinated Guaranteed Debentures, 

including a $7.3 million (5.50%) redemption premium;
•	 �An aggregate net cash outlay of $68.6 million for the settlement of two cross-currency interest rate exchange agree-

ments as discussed below in the “Financing” section;
•	 �$51.7 million to fund the exercise of call rights for warrants issued by Fido which was related to the acquisition of Fido 

by Wireless;
•	 �An aggregate net $38.1 million for other acquisitions including the $26.6 million acquisition of the Rogers Centre  

(formerly the SkyDome) and $9.5 million for the acquisition of the television broadcast operations of NOWTV in 
Vancouver, British Columbia;

•	 Payment of dividends totalling $26.2 million on Class B Non-Voting shares and Class A Voting shares; and
•	 �An aggregate $9.4 million of other uses, consisting of $4.9 million of financing costs and net $4.5 million repayments 

of mortgages and leases.

Taking into account the $244.0 million of cash on hand at the beginning of the year, the cash deficiency at December 31, 
2005 was $103.9 million.

F inancing

Our long-term debt instruments are described in Note 11 to the Annual Audited Consolidated Financial Statements.
On March 15, 2005, Cable repaid its US$291.5 million 10.0% Senior Secured Second Priority Notes at maturity. 

Including the $58.1 million net cash outlay on the settlement of the cross-currency interest rate swap of US$283.4 million 
notional amount, Cable paid a total of $409.8 million.

In addition, on March 15, 2005, a cross-currency swap of US$50.0 million notional amount matured. Cable 
incurred a net cash outlay of $10.5 million upon settlement of this swap.

In June 2005, we amended Cable’s bank credit facility so that the maximum amount of the facility has been 
reduced by $75.0 million to $1.0 billion, comprised of $600.0 million Tranche A and $400.0 million Tranche B. Among 
other things, the amendment served to extend the maturity date of both Tranche A and Tranche B to “bullet” repayments 
on July 2, 2010 and to eliminate the amortization schedule for Tranche B, reduce interest rates and standby fees, and 
relax certain financial covenants.

On May 13, 2005, 1,031 Class B Non-Voting shares were issued upon conversion of US$0.03 million face amount 
of 5.75% Convertible Debentures due November 26, 2005. On June 30, 2005, RCI issued a notice of redemption for all 
of its US$224.8 million face value amount of 5.75% Convertible Debentures due November 26, 2005 for an aggregate 
redemption amount of approximately US$223.0 million. Debenture holders converted an aggregate US$224.5 million 
face amount of debentures into 7,715,417 Class B Non-Voting shares of RCI with a value of $271.2 million. The remaining 
US$0.3 million face amount was redeemed in cash.

On July 1, 2005, RCI acquired, for 8.5 million Class B Non-Voting shares, 100% of Telecom (formerly Call-Net 
Enterprises Inc.). 

In August 2005, Telecom terminated its approximately $55 million accounts receivable securitization program. 
Telecom used its cash on hand and the proceeds of an intercompany advance from RCI to fund the cancellation of the 
securitization program.

In September 2005, we amended Media’s bank credit facility. The maximum amount of the facility has been 
increased by $100 million to $600 million. The amendment also served to extend the maturity date by four years to 
September 30, 2010, reduce interest rates and standby fees, and relax certain financial covenants.

During the third quarter, Telecom also redeemed $237.9 million (US$200.9 million) aggregate principal amount 
of its 10.625% Senior Secured Notes due 2008. Premiums and related expenses aggregated $17.5 million and a loss of  
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$1.5 million, net of the adjustment to the fair value of debt on acquisition of $16.0 million, was recorded. As a result, 
$25.7 million (approximately US$22.0 million) aggregate principal amount of these Notes remained outstanding and 
those were subsequently redeemed in January 2006. The funding for this redemption was advanced to Telecom from RCI 
as intercompany debt.

In October 2005, subsequent to our issuance to Microsoft Corporation (“Microsoft”) of our intention to redeem 
the $600 million aggregate face amount of 5½% Convertible Preferred Securities due August 2009, we received notice 
that Microsoft had elected to convert these securities and we issued 17,142,857 Class B Non-Voting shares to Microsoft 
on October 24, 2005 at the exercise price of $35 per share.

In December 2005, Cable redeemed all of the outstanding US$113.7 million aggregate principal amount of its 
11% Senior Subordinated Guaranteed Debentures due 2015 at a redemption premium of 5.50% for a total of $140.9 million  
(US$119.9 million).

Covenant Compliance

All of the Rogers companies are currently in compliance with all of the covenants under their respective debt instru-
ments, and we expect to remain in compliance with all of these covenants. Based on our most restrictive debt covenants 
at December 31, 2005, we could have borrowed approximately $1.69 billion of additional secured long-term debt under 
existing credit facilities, in addition to the $612.0 million outstanding at December 31, 2005. 

2006  Cash Requirements

We expect that Wireless will generate a net cash surplus in 2006 from cash generated from operations. Wireless intends 
to use the cash surplus to repay its $160.0 million 10.50% Senior Secured Notes that mature in June 2006 and the  
$22.2 million mortgage that matures on July 2, 2006. We also expect Wireless to make distributions to RCI.

We expect that Cable, including the operations of Telecom, will generate a net cash shortfall in 2006. We 
expect that Cable will have sufficient capital resources to satisfy its cash funding requirements in 2006, taking into 
account cash from operations, the amount available under its $1,000.0 million bank credit facility and intercompany 
advances from RCI.

We expect that Media will generate a net cash surplus in 2006 and that Media has sufficient capital resources to 
satisfy its cash funding requirements in 2006, taking into account cash from operations and the amount available under 
its $600.0 million bank credit facility.

We believe that, on an unconsolidated basis, RCI will have, taking into account interest income and repayments  
of intercompany advances, together with the receipt of management fees paid by the operating subsidiaries and the 
regular monthly distribution of $6.0 million from Cable and investments from cash on hand, sufficient capital resources 
to satisfy its cash funding requirements in 2006.

In the event that we or any of our operating subsidiaries do require additional funding, we believe that any 
such funding requirements would be satisfied by issuing additional debt financing, which may include the restructuring 
of existing bank credit facilities or issuing public or private debt at any of the operating subsidiaries, or at RCI or issuing 
equity of RCI, all depending on market conditions. In addition, we or one of our subsidiaries may refinance a portion of 
existing debt subject to market conditions and other factors. There is no assurance that this will or can be done. 

Required Principal Repayments

At December 31, 2005, the required repayments on all long-term debt in the next five years totalled $1,992.9 million.  
The required repayments in 2006 consist mainly of Wireless’ $160.0 million 10.50% Senior Secured Notes, Wireless’  
$22.2 million mortgage and RCI’s $75.0 million Senior Secured Notes. In 2007, Cable’s $450.0 million 7.60% Senior Secured 
Second Priority Notes mature. Essentially, all of the remaining required repayments are in 2010 and consist of Wireless’ 
$641.2 million (US$550.0 million) Floating Rate Senior Secured Notes together with an aggregate $612.0 million outstanding  
under bank credit facilities, all of which mature in 2010.

Credit  Ratings

Since November 8, 2004, Moody’s Investors Service rated RCI’s public senior unsecured debt B3 with a Corporate Family 
Rating of Ba3. The ratings for the senior secured and senior subordinated public debt of each of Cable and Wireless 
were Ba3 and B2, respectively. All ratings had a stable outlook. On October 31, 2005, Moody’s placed all of the Rogers’ 
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public debt ratings under review for a possible upgrade. On February 17, 2006, Moody’s increased the ratings on all of 
the Rogers’ public debt. The Corporate Family Rating was increased to Ba2. The rating for the public senior secured debt 
of each of Cable and Wireless was increased to Ba2, while the rating for the senior subordinated public debt at Wireless 
was increased to Ba3. All of these ratings have a positive outlook. There are no ratings for RCI senior unsecured debt, 
Cable senior subordinated debt or Telecom senior secured debt, since all such debt had been repaid prior to the ratings 
revision by Moody’s on February 17, 2006.

On October 27, 2005, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Service revised its outlook on all of the Rogers public debt to 
positive from stable. This was the only change in the ratings since they were lowered by Standard & Poor’s on November 8,  
2004. RCI’s corporate credit rating is BB, with a rating for public senior unsecured debt of B+. The rating for senior 
secured public debt of Cable and Wireless is BB+ and BB respectively, while the rating for senior subordinated debt for 
each of Cable and Wireless is B+.

The credit ratings assigned by Fitch Ratings on the Wireless senior secured and senior subordinated public debt 
have not changed since November 12, 2004. They are BB+ and BB- respectively, with a stable outlook. On June 10, 2005, 
Fitch affirmed the Wireless ratings and initiated coverage of RCI and Cable. Cable’s senior secured and senior subordi-
nated public debt was assigned the same ratings as those of Wireless, while RCI senior unsecured debt was rated BB-.  
All ratings have a stable outlook.

Credit ratings are intended to provide investors with an independent measure of credit quality of an issue of 
securities. Ratings for debt instruments range from AAA, in the case of S&P and Fitch, or Aaa in the case of Moody’s, 
which represent the highest quality of securities rated, to D, in the case of S&P, C, in the case of Moody’s and Substantial 
Risk in the case of Fitch, which represent the lowest quality of securities rated.

The credit ratings accorded by the rating agencies are not recommendations to purchase, hold or sell the rated 
securities inasmuch as such ratings do not comment as to market price or suitability for a particular investor. There is 
no assurance that any rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that any rating will not be revised or 
withdrawn entirely by a rating agency in the future if in its judgment circumstances so warrant.

Deficiency  of Pension Plan Assets Over Accrued Obligations

As disclosed in Note 16 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, our 
pension plans had a deficiency of plan assets over accrued obligations for each of these years. In addition to our regular 
contributions, we are making certain minimum monthly special payments to eliminate this deficiency. Effective during 
2004, these special payments totalled approximately $7.2 million annually and are expected to continue at this level. Our 
total estimated annual funding requirements, which include both our regular contributions and these special payments, 
are expected to increase from $20.2 million in 2005 to $31.7 million in 2006, subject to annual adjustments thereafter, due 
to various market factors and an increase in plan membership. We are contributing to the plans on this basis. As further 
discussed in the section of this MD&A entitled “Critical Accounting Estimates”, changes in factors such as the discount 
rate, the rate of compensation increase and the expected return on plan assets can impact the accrued benefit obliga-
tion, pension expense and the deficiency of plan assets over accrued obligations in the future.

Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange Management

Consolidated Economic Hedge Analysis

For the purposes of our discussion on the hedged portion of long-term debt, we have used non-GAAP measures in that 
we include all cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements (whether or not they qualify as hedges for accounting 
purposes) since all such agreements are used for risk management purposes only and designated as a hedge of specific 
debt instruments for economic purposes. As a result, the Canadian dollar equivalent of U.S. dollar-denominated long-
term debt reflects the contracted foreign exchange rate for all of our cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements 
regardless of qualifications for accounting purposes as a hedge.

As a result of the repayment of US$291.5 million Cable 10% Senior Secured Second Priority Notes due 2005, 
together with the maturity of two cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements in the aggregate notional principal 
amount of US$333.4 million, there was little change on either an accounting or on an economic basis in the percentage 
of our U.S. dollar-denominated debt hedged with cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements from that disclosed 
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in the 2004 Annual MD&A. As at March 31, 2005, 91.8% of our U.S. dollar-denominated debt was hedged on an economic 
basis and 80.1% was hedged on an accounting basis.

There was no change in our U.S. dollar-denominated debt nor in our cross-currency interest rate exchange 
agreements during the three months ended June 30, 2005. As a result, as at June 30, 2005, 91.8% of our U.S. dollar-
denominated debt remained hedged on an economic basis and 80.1% remained hedged on an accounting basis.

During the three months ended September 30, 2005, as described above, RCI converted almost all of its  
U.S. dollar-denominated unhedged 5.75% Convertible Debentures. In addition, as a result of the acquisition of Telecom 
and taking into account the redemption of the majority of its 10.625% Senior Secured Notes due 2008, approximately 
US$22.0 million of these unhedged Notes remained outstanding at the end of the period. As a result of these events, the 
amount of our U.S. dollar-denominated debt hedged on an economic basis increased from 91.8% to 95.5% and on an 
accounting basis increased from 80.1% to 83.3%. 

During the three months ended December 31, 2005, as a result of the redemption of Cable’s US$113.7 million 
11% Senior Subordinated Guaranteed Debentures, total U.S. dollar-denominated debt decreased to US$4,916.9 million; 
consequently the amount of debt hedged with respect to foreign exchange via cross-currency interest rate exchange 
agreements increased to 97.7% from 95.5% at September 30, 2005, on an economic basis and increased to 85.2% from 
83.3% at September 30, 2005 on an accounting basis, since the aggregate notional principal amount of cross-currency 
interest rate exchange agreements did not change.

As a result of the financing activity during the year, including changes in cross-currency interest rate exchange 
agreements, RCI’s consolidated hedged position, on an economic basis, changed during the year as noted below.

(In millions of dollars, except percentages)
Years ended December 31,		  2 0 0 5 		  2 0 0 4 

U.S. dollar-denominated long-term debt	 	 US	 $	 4,916.9 	 	 US	 $	 5,517.6 
Hedged with cross-currency interest				  
	 rate exchange agreements	 	 US	 $	 4,801.8 	 	 US	 $	 5,135.3 
Hedged exchange rate		   		  1.3148 		  		   1.3211 
Percent hedged	 		  	 97.7%(1)	 	 		  93.1% 

Effect of cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements:
Converted US $ principal of	 	 US	 $	 550.0 	 	 US	 $	 550.0 
		  at US $ floating rate of LIBOR plus	 		  	 3.13% 	 	 	 	 3.13% 
		  for all-in rate of		  		  7.62% 	 	 	 	 5.53% 
		  to Cdn $ floating at bankers acceptance plus		  		  3.42% 	 		  	 3.42% 
		  for all-in rate of		  		  6.90% 	 		  	 6.06% 
		  on Cdn $ principal of	 	 Cdn	 $	 652.7 		  Cdn	 $	 652.7 
Converted US $ principal of	 	 US	 $	 4,200.0 	 	 US	 $	 4,533.4 
		  at US $ fixed rate of	 		  	 7.34% 		  		  7.54% 
		  to Cdn $ fixed rate of		  		  8.07% 		  		  8.35% 
		  on Cdn $ principal of	 	 Cdn	 $	 5,593.4 	 	 Cdn	 $	 6,064.2 
Converted US $ principal of	 	 US	 $	 51.8 	 	 US	 $	 51.8 
		  at US $ fixed rate of		  		  9.38% 	 	 	 	 9.38% 
		  to Cdn $ floating at bankers acceptance plus		  		  2.67% 	 		  	 2.67% 
		  for all-in rate of		  		  6.07% 	 	 	 	 5.30% 
		  on Cdn $ principal of	 	 Cdn	 $	 67.4 	 	 Cdn	 $	 67.4 

Amount of long-term debt(2) at fixed rates:				  
Total long-term debt	 	 Cdn	 $	 8,409.6	 	 Cdn	 $	 9,198.6 
Total long-term debt at fixed rates 	 	 Cdn	 $	 7,076.5 	 	 Cdn	 $	 8,478.5 
Percent of long-term debt fixed	 		  	 84.1% 		  		  92.2% 

Weighted average interest rate on long-term debt	 		  	 7.76% 		  		  7.93% 

(1) �Pursuant to the requirements for hedge accounting under AcG-13, on December 31, 2005, RCI accounted for 87.3% of its cross-currency  
interest rate exchange agreements as hedges against designated U.S. dollar-denominated debt. As a result, 85.2% of consolidated  
U.S. dollar-denominated debt is hedged for accounting purposes versus 97.7% on an economic basis.

(2)	Long-term debt includes the effect of the cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements.
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We use derivative financial instruments to manage our risks from fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates. 
These instruments include interest rate and cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements, foreign exchange forward 
contracts and, from time-to-time, foreign exchange option agreements. All such agreements are used for risk management  
purposes only and are designated as a hedge of specific debt instruments for economic purposes. In order to minimize 
the risk of counterparty default under these agreements, we assess the creditworthiness of these counterparties. At 
December 31, 2005, all of our counterparties to these agreements were financial institutions with a Standard & Poor’s 
rating (or other equivalent) ranging from A+ to AA.

Because our operating income is almost exclusively denominated in Canadian dollars, the incurrence of U.S. 
dollar-denominated debt has caused significant foreign exchange exposure. We will continue to monitor our hedged 
position on an economic basis with respect to interest rate and foreign exchange fluctuations and, depending upon 
market conditions and other factors, may adjust our hedged position with respect to foreign exchange fluctuations or 
interest rates in the future by unwinding certain existing positions and/or by entering into new cross-currency interest 
rate exchange agreements or by using other instruments.

Certain of our U.S. dollar-denominated long-term debt instruments are not hedged for accounting purposes. 
Changes in the foreign exchange rate would impact the Canadian dollar carrying value, in accordance with GAAP, of  
this unhedged long-term debt, as well as our interest expense and earnings per share on a full-year basis, as follows:

(In millions of dollars, except share data)

		  Cdn$ Change in	 Cdn$	 Change in
Change in		  Carrying Value of 	 Change in Annual	 Earning
Cdn$ versus US$		  Long-Term Debt (1)	 Interest Expense	 Per Share (2)

$		 0.01 		 		  $	 7.3 	 $	 0.1 	 $	 0.024 
		  0.03		 			   21.8		  0.3		  0.071
		  0.05		 			   36.3		  0.6		  0.118
		  0.10		 			   72.7		  1.1		  0.235

(1)	Canadian equivalent of unhedged U.S. debt, on a GAAP basis, if U.S. dollar costs an additional Canadian cent.

(2)	Assume no income tax effect. Based upon the number of shares outstanding at December 31, 2005.

At December 31, 2005, interest expense would have changed by $13.3 million if there was a 1% change in the interest 
rates on the portion of our long-term debt that is not at fixed interest rates.

Outstanding Share Data

Set out below is our outstanding share data as at December 31, 2005. For additional detail, refer to Note 13 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Common Shares

Class A Voting						      	 	 56,233,894
Class B Non-Voting								       257,702,341

Options to Purchase Class B Non-Voting Shares

Outstanding Options								         13,239,424
Portion of Outstanding Options Exercisable								         9,570,203 
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Dividends and Other Payments on RCI Equity Securities

The dividend policy is reviewed periodically by the Board. The declaration and payment of dividends are at the sole discre-
tion of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) and depend on, among other things, our financial condition, general business  
conditions, legal restrictions regarding the payment of dividends by us, some of which are referred to below, and other  
factors which the Board may, from time-to-time, consider to be relevant. As a holding company with no direct operations,  
we rely on cash dividends and other payments from our subsidiaries and our own cash balances to pay dividends to our 
shareholders. The ability of our subsidiaries to pay such amounts to us is limited and is subject to the various risks as 
outlined in this discussion, including, without limitation, legal and contractual restrictions contained in instruments  
governing subsidiary debt.

In December 2005, our Board declared a 50% increase to the dividend paid for each of our outstanding Class B 
Non-Voting shares and Class A Voting shares. Accordingly, the annual dividend per share increased from $0.10 per share 
to $0.15 per share, and are paid twice yearly in the amount of $0.075 per share to holders of record of such shares on 
the record date established by the Board for each dividend at the time such dividend is declared. These dividends are 
scheduled to be made on or about the first trading day following January 1 and July 1 each year. The first such semi-
annual dividend pursuant to the policy totalling $23.5 million was paid on January 6, 2006 to shareholders of record on 
December 28, 2005. 

In May 2004, the Board had previously adopted a dividend policy that provided for dividends aggregating, 
annually, $0.10 per share to be paid on each outstanding Class A Voting share and Class B Non-Voting share. Pursuant to 
this policy, the dividends were paid twice yearly in the amount of $0.05 per share to holders of record of such shares on 
the record date. 

During 2005, the Board declared dividends in aggregate of $0.125 per share on each of its outstanding  
Class B Non-Voting shares, and Class A Voting shares, $0.05 of which were paid on July 2, 2005 to shareholders of record on  
June 14, 2005 and $0.075 of which were paid on January 6, 2006 to shareholders of record on December 28, 2005.

During 2004, the Board declared dividends in aggregate of $0.10 per share on each of its outstanding  
Class B Non-Voting shares, Class A Voting shares and Series E Preferred shares, $0.05 of which were paid on July 2, 2004 
to shareholders of record on June 16, 2004 and $0.05 of which were paid on January 2, 2005 to shareholders of record on 
December 12, 2004.

During 2003, the Board declared dividends in aggregate of $0.10 per share on each of its outstanding Class 
B Non-Voting shares, Class A Voting shares, and Series E Preferred shares, $0.05 of which were paid on July 2, 2003, to 
shareholders of record on June 16, 2003 and $0.05 of which were paid on January 2, 2004, to shareholders of record on 
December 13, 2004. 

During the year ended December 31, 2002, no dividends were declared on Class A Voting shares, Class B Non-
Voting shares, Series B Preferred shares and Series E Preferred shares held by members of our Management Share 
Purchase Plan. During the year ended December 31, 2001, $14,000 of dividends declared in 2001 were paid on Series B 
Preferred shares and Series E Preferred shares held by members of our Management Share Purchase Plan. In fiscal 2000, 
dividends aggregating $10.2 million were paid on the Class A Voting shares, the Class B Non-Voting shares, the Series B 
Preferred shares and the Series E Preferred shares. Dividends may not be paid in respect of the Class A Voting shares or 
Class B Non-Voting shares unless all accrued and unpaid dividends in respect of its Preferred shares have been paid or 
provided for. We have paid all dividends required to be paid pursuant to the terms of our Preferred shares.

We have also paid distributions on our Convertible Preferred Securities of approximately $18.6 million,  
$20.3 million, $29.8 million and $33.0 million for the years December 31, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively, and nil 
in 2005, in each case net of income taxes and exclusive of dividends paid to subsidiary companies. In 2002, we accreted 
interest, excluding acquisition costs of approximately $15.4 million on Preferred Securities, net of income tax recovery of 
$9.7 million and $16.5 million on our then outstanding Collateralized Equity Securities.
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Commitments and Other Contractual Obligations

Contractual Obligations

Our material obligations under firm contractual arrangements are summarized below as at December 31, 2005. See also 
Notes 20 and 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

	 Less Than			   After	
(In thousands of dollars)	 1 Year	 1-3 Years	 4-5 Years	 5 Years	 Total

Long-term Debt	 	  260,703 	  	 450,000 	 	  1,253,245 	 	  5,700,720 	  	 7,664,668 
Derivative Instruments(1)	 	  14,181 	 	  17,109 	 	   –   	 	  689,477 	 	  720,767 
Mortgages and Capital Leases	 	  25,436 	 	  2,083 	 	  1,420 	 	   –  	 	  28,939 
Operating Leases	 	  160,142 	 	  227,658 	 	  151,751 	 	  80,191 	 	  619,742 
Player Contracts	 	  53,981 	  	 103,618 	  	 64,415 	 	  – 	  	  222,014 
Purchase Obligations(2)	 	  200,065 	 	  88,199	  	  36,184 	 	  38,062 	  	 362,510 
Other Long-term Liabilities	 	  –	 	  45,450 	 	  8,278 	 	  20,654 	 	  74,382 

Total				   714,508	 	  934,117 	  	 1,515,293 	 	  6,529,104 	 	  9,693,022 

(1)	Amounts reflect net disbursements only.

(2)	�Purchase obligations consist of agreements to purchase goods and services that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all  
significant terms including fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased, price provisions and timing of the transaction. In addition, we incur 
expenditures for other items that are volume-dependant. An estimate of what we will spend in 2006 on these items is as follows:

	 i.	� Wireless is required to pay annual spectrum licensing and CRTC contribution fees to Industry Canada. We estimate our total payment  
obligations to Industry Canada will be approximately $97.8 million in 2006.

	 ii.	 �Payments to acquire customers in the form of commissions and payments to retain customers in the form of residuals are made pursuant  
to contracts with distributors and retailers. Wireless estimates that payments to these distributors and retailers will be approximately 
$411.3 million in 2006.

	 iii.	�Wireless is required to make payments to other communications providers for interconnection, roaming and other services. Wireless  
estimates the total payment obligation to be approximately $100.8 million in 2006.

	 iv.	Wireless estimates its total payments to a major network infrastructure supplier to be approximately $275.2 million in 2006.

	 v.	 �On September 16, 2005, Wireless announced a joint venture with Bell Canada to build and manage a nationwide fixed wireless broadband 
network. The companies will jointly and equally fund the initial network deployment costs estimated at $200 million over a three-year 
period. 

	 vi.	 �Based on Cable’s approximately 2.26 million basic cable subscribers as of December 31, 2005, Cable estimates that its total payment  
obligation to programming suppliers and MDU building owners in 2006 will be approximately $460.9 million, including amounts payable 
to the copyright collectives, the Canadian programming production funds, and expenditures related to our Internet service for Internet 
interconnectivity and usage charges and the cable telephony service for interconnection to local and long distance carriers will be  
approximately $74.2 million. 

	 vii.	�Cable estimates that Video will spend approximately $60.0 million in 2006 on the acquisition of DVDs, videocassettes and video games 
(as well as non-rental merchandise) for rental or sale in Video stores. In addition, Cable expects to pay an additional amount of approxi-
mately $16.1 million in 2006 to movie studios as part of Cable’s revenue-sharing arrangements with those studios.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Guarantees

As a regular part of our business, we enter into agreements that provide for indemnification and guarantees to counter-
parties in transactions involving business sale and business combination agreements, sales of services and purchases and 
development of assets. Due to the nature of these indemnifications, we are unable to make a reasonable estimate of the 
maximum potential amount we could be required to pay counterparties. Historically, we have not made any significant 
payment under these indemnifications or guarantees. Refer to Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Derivative Instruments

As previously discussed, we use derivative instruments to manage our exposure to interest rate and foreign currency 
risks. We do not use derivative instruments for speculative purposes.
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Operating Leases

We have entered into operating leases for the rental of premises, distribution facilities, equipment and microwave  
towers and other contracts. The effect of terminating any one lease agreement would not have an adverse effect on the 
company as a whole. Refer to “Contractual Obligations” above and Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

4 .  O P E R A T I N G  E N V I R O N M E N T

Government Regulation and Regulatory Developments 

Substantially all of our business activities, except for Cable’s Video stores and the non-broadcasting operations of Media, 
are regulated by one or more of: the Canadian Federal Department of Industry, on behalf of the Minister of Industry 
(Canada) (collectively, “Industry Canada”), the Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission (“CRTC”) 
under the Telecommunications Act (Canada) (the “Telecommunications Act”) and the CRTC under the Broadcasting Act 
(Canada) (the “Broadcasting Act”), and, accordingly, our results of operations are affected by changes in regulations and 
by the decisions of these regulators.

Canadian Radio-television  and Telecommunications Commission 

Canadian broadcasting operations, including our cable television systems, radio and television stations, and specialty  
services are licenced (or operated pursuant to an exception order) and regulated by the CRTC pursuant to the  
Broadcasting Act. Under the Broadcasting Act, the CRTC is responsible for regulating and supervising all aspects of the 
Canadian broadcasting system with a view to implementing certain broadcasting policy objectives enunciated in that 
Act. The CRTC is also responsible under the Telecommunications Act for the regulation of telecommunications carriers 
which includes the regulation of Wireless’ cellular and messaging operations and Cable and Telecom’s Internet and tele-
phone services.

Under the Telecommunications Act, the CRTC has the power to exempt any class of Canadian carrier from the 
application of the legislation if the CRTC is satisfied that such an exemption is consistent with Canadian telecommunications  
policy objectives. The CRTC also has the power to forbear from regulating certain services or classes of services provided 
by individual carriers. If the CRTC finds that a service or class of services provided by a carrier is subject to a degree of 
competition that is sufficient to protect the interests of users, the CRTC is required to forbear from regulating those 
services unless such an order would be likely to unduly impair the establishment or continuance of a competitive market 
for those services.

Telecom’s retail and wholesale services have been deregulated by the CRTC. Nevertheless, the CRTC continues  
to retain broad regulatory powers over Telecom under the Telecommunications Act, in particular with respect to  
interconnection to Telecom’s networks. However, Telecom’s major competitors, the ILECs, remain subject to CRTC regu-
lation with respect to many of their services. How the ILECs comply with regulation as well as how the CRTC enforces its 
regulation against the ILECs could impact Telecom’s operations and financial condition. Because neither the CRTC nor 
the courts have interpreted certain aspects of the Telecommunications Act and its regulations, it is impossible to predict 
what impact, if any, these provisions will have on Telecom. Moreover, any change in policy, regulations or interpretations 
could have a material adverse effect on Telecom’s operations and financial condition and operating results. In addition, 
the CRTC’s decisions are subject to review under the Telecommunications Act at any time and may be appealed to the 
Federal Court of Appeal (Canada) within 30 days of a decision or challenged by a petition to the Federal Cabinet of 
Canada within 90 days of a decision. The CRTC’s decisions necessary to implement competition in the long distance and 
local services markets may be appealed or challenged or changed upon review.

Copyright Board of Canada 

The Copyright Board of Canada (“Copyright Board”) is a regulatory body established pursuant to the Copyright Act 
(Canada) (the “Copyright Act”) to oversee the collective administration of copyright royalties in Canada and to estab-
lish the royalties payable for the use of certain copyrighted works. The Copyright Board is responsible for the review, 
consideration and approval of copyright tariff royalties payable to copyright collectives by Canadian broadcasting 
undertakings, including cable, radio, television and specialty services.
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Industry Canada 

The technical aspects of the operation of radio and television stations, the frequency-related operations of the cable 
television networks and the awarding and regulatory supervision of spectrum for cellular, messaging and other radio-
telecommunications systems in Canada are subject to the licensing requirements and oversight of Industry Canada. 
Industry Canada may set technical standards for telecommunications under the Radiocommunications Act (Canada) (the 
“Radiocommunications Act”) and the Telecommunications Act.

Restrictions on Non-Canadian Ownership  and Control 

Non-Canadians are permitted to own and control directly or indirectly up to 331⁄ 3% of the voting shares and 331⁄ 3% 
of the votes of a holding company which has a subsidiary operating company licenced under the Broadcasting Act. In 
addition, up to 20% of the voting shares and 20% of the votes of the operating licencee company may be owned and 
controlled directly or indirectly by non-Canadians. The chief executive officer and 80% of the members of the Board of 
the operating licencee must be resident Canadians. There are no restrictions on the number of non-voting shares that 
may be held by non-Canadians at either the holding company or licencee company level. The CRTC has the jurisdiction to 
determine as a question of fact whether a given licencee is controlled by non-Canadians.

Pursuant to the Telecommunications Act and associated regulations, up to 20% of the voting shares of a 
Canadian carrier, such as Wireless, and up to 331⁄ 3% of the voting shares of a parent company, such as ourselves, may be 
held by non-Canadians, provided that neither the Canadian carrier nor its parent is otherwise controlled in fact by non-
Canadians. Similar restrictions are contained in the Radiocommunications Act and associated regulations.

In April 2003, the House of Commons Industry Committee released a report calling for the removal of foreign 
ownership restrictions for telecommunications carriers and broadcasting distribution undertakings. In June 2003, the 
House of Commons Heritage Committee released a report which opposed the Industry Committee’s recommendation. 
The Cabinet responded to the Industry Committee report in September 2003 and to the Heritage Committee report in 
November 2003. The government announced that officials from the Industry and Heritage departments will convene 
to reconcile the two positions. There are currently no further legislative or other initiatives related to liberalization of 
foreign ownership restrictions.

Additional discussion of regulatory matters and recent developments specific to the Wireless, Cable, Telecom 
and Media segments follows.

Wireless Regulation and Regulatory Developments 
	
Canadian Radio-television  and Telecommunications Commission 

Canadian wireless service providers, including our company, are regulated by the CRTC pursuant to and in accordance 
with requirements of the Telecommunications Act, or the Act. Under the Act, the CRTC regulates all telecommunications 
common carriers in Canada that provide or participate in a communications system, including mobile voice and data and 
paging service providers.

Industry Canada

The awarding of spectrum and licences for mobile voice and data services in Canada is under the jurisdiction of Industry 
Canada, a department of the Government of Canada. Industry Canada is responsible for telecommunications policy in 
Canada and has specific jurisdiction under the Radiocommunications Act (Canada) to establish radio licensing policy and 
award radio licences for radio frequencies, which are required to operate wireless communications systems.

Contribution Funding Mechanism

In November 2000, the CRTC released a decision that fundamentally altered the mechanism used by the CRTC to collect 
“contributions” to subsidize the provision of basic local wireline telephone service. Previously, the contribution was levied  
on a per minute basis on long distance services. Under the new contribution regime, which became effective January 1, 
2001, all telecommunications service providers, including wireless service providers such as our company, are required 
to contribute a percentage of their adjusted Canadian telecommunications service revenues to a fund established to 
subsidize the provision of basic local service. The percentage contribution levy was 4.5% in 2001, 1.3% for 2002, 1.1% 
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in 2003, 1.1% in 2004, 1.03% in 2005 and 1.03% (interim rate) for 2006. Refer to the section below entitled “Risks and 
Uncertainties – Contribution Rate Increases Could Adversely Affect Wireless’ Results of Operations” for further informa-
tion on the CRTC contribution levy.

New Spectrum Fee Regime

Late in 2002, Industry Canada released a consultation paper proposing a new methodology for calculating spectrum fee 
assessments (excluding auction spectrum). Prior to April 1, 2004, spectrum fees were assessed on a per radio channel basis 
in the case of 850 MHz spectrum, and a per site basis for 1900 MHz spectrum. In a decision released by Industry Canada 
in December 2003, effective April 1, 2004, the new regime implemented an annual cost per MHz per population for 
both frequency ranges, and, as a result, fees are based on the amount of spectrum held by the carrier, regardless of the 
degree of deployment or the number of sites. As a result of the new methodology, there is a nominal increase in annual 
spectrum fees that will be phased in over a seven year period to 2011 for spectrum held only by Wireless. In the case of 
Fido spectrum, there is a larger increase of close to $1 million per annum.

Spectrum L icence Issues

Late in 2003, Industry Canada released a policy document regarding a number of spectrum issues, including a discus-
sion on the existing spectrum cap, spectrum allocations for 3G networks and possible timing of a 3G spectrum auction. 
Industry Canada proposed a possible 3G spectrum auction date of 2005 to 2006 for this spectrum, but to date, a final 
determination on most of these matters has not yet been made. Wireless currently expects a spectrum auction either late  
in 2007 or early 2008. The U.S. Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) was expected to auction similar spectrum in 
2005, but it announced on December 29, 2004 that it will conduct its auction no earlier than June 2006. Specifically, the FCC 
will auction 45 MHz in each of the 1.7 gigahertz (“GHz”) and 2.1 GHz bands, which have been allocated for 3G in the U.S.  
commencing June 29, 2006. In October 2004, the FCC released a plan to relocate incumbent federal government sys-
tems from the 1.7 GHz band. The proceeds of the 3G auction will be used to fund this relocation. Wireless expects that 
Industry Canada will follow the spectrum allocation made by the FCC in the U.S. and that it will not proceed with a 3G 
spectrum auction before the U.S. 3G spectrum auction has been concluded. 

On August 27, 2004, Industry Canada rescinded the cap on ownership of mobile spectrum. Up to that time, 
Canadian carriers were limited to a maximum of 55 MHz of mobile spectrum. After a public consultation earlier in 2004 
as to whether the cap should be maintained, removed or increased, Industry Canada advised that the cap would be 
removed, effective immediately. Industry Canada concluded that the wireless industry will require access to more spec-
trum through a future 3G wireless services auction and further stated that they will continue to monitor the wireless 
industry for spectrum concentration, and manage the licensing of spectrum resources through other mechanisms at 
their disposal.

F ixed Wireless Spectrum Auction 

On February 9, 2004, Industry Canada commenced an auction for one block of 30 MHz of spectrum in the 2300 MHz band 
as well as three blocks of 50 MHz of spectrum and one block of 25 MHz of spectrum in the 3500 MHz band. The auction 
was completed on February 16, 2004. There were over 172 geographic licence areas in Canada for each available block. 
Licencees have flexibility in determining the services to be offered and the technologies to be deployed in the spectrum. 
Industry Canada expected that the spectrum will be used for point-to-point or point-to-multi-point broadband services. 
Wireless participated in this spectrum auction and, as a result, has acquired 33 blocks of spectrum in various licence areas 
for an aggregate bid price of $5.9 million.

Industry Canada initiated another auction process to make available the blocks of spectrum that did not sell in 
the February 2004 process. Parties were able to identify those blocks that they were interested in, and if there were no other 
parties expressing interest in those blocks, they were the successful party. In this process, Wireless obtained an additional  
nine licences for a cost of $0.2 million. The remaining licences were auctioned commencing January 10, 2005, and Wireless 
was successful in supplementing its spectrum holdings from 2004 with a further 40 licences at a cost of $4.8 million. See 
also below under “Wireless’ Expansion and Investment in the Inukshuk Business May Have Considerable Risks”.
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Cable Regulation and Regulatory Developments 

Distribution of Digital Television  S ignals

In November 2003, the CRTC released its policy framework for the distribution of digital television signals. Under the 
framework, cable operators are required to distribute the digital signal of a Canadian broadcaster once the signal is  
available over the air. Both the analog and digital versions of a Canadian television signal are to be distributed until 85% 
of the subscribers have digital set-top boxes or digital receivers. In August 2004, the CRTC released its proposed policy 
framework for the licensing and distribution of high-definition pay and specialty services. Under the proposed framework,  
Cable would be required to distribute the digital signal of an English language Canadian pay or specialty service which 
offers at least 50% of its programming in true high-definition format (30% for French language services). Both the analog  
and digital versions of these services would be required to be distributed until 85% of the subscribers have digital set-
top terminals or digital receivers. A decision on this procedure is expected in 2006.

In December 2004, the CRTC released its policy framework for the addition of foreign third language services to 
the Eligible Satellite Services Lists. The new policy adopts a more open approach to the distribution of these services in 
Canada, which will allow us to distribute foreign services that are attractive to our ethnic Canadian customers.

On January 7, 2005, the CRTC released a public notice calling for comments on the transition of analog pay 
and specialty services from analog distribution to digital distribution. A decision was released on February 28, 2006. The 
decision provides cable operators, such as Cable, with increased flexibility to package analog services in digital theme 
packages and in a la carte “pick packs”. The analog services must be sold in digital tiers which “mirror” the analog tiers 
until at least 2010 and in some circumstances, until 2013. The decision also allows entire analog tiers to be moved to  
digital once 85% of the customers who have that tier have a digital box.

Telecom Regulation and Regulatory Developments

Canadian Telecommunications Regulatory Overview

In Telecom Decision 2002-34, the CRTC established a separate basket consisting of carrier services purchased by competitors  
from the ILECs, and ordered that they be priced at incremental cost plus a 15% mark-up. Telecom Decision 2002-34 and 
associated follow-up proceedings had significant immediate and potential impact on competitors, especially in reducing  
competitors’ carrier costs. Starting in late 2002, the CRTC issued a series of decisions that were intended to enforce com-
petitive safeguards in the market in relation to the ILECs. These decisions limited the manner in which the ILECs can target 
competitors’ local customers for winback (Telecom Decision 2002-73), strengthened the rules regulating the manner in 
which they can bundle tariffed services with untariffed services (Telecom Decision 2002-58), suspended the ILECs’ rights to 
offer price promotions in respect of local services (Public Notice (“PN”) 2003-1.1) and constrained the ability of the ILECs 
to use unregulated affiliates to avoid the competitive safeguards (Telecom Decision 2002-76). Subsequently, in Telecom 
Decision CRTC 2005-25, the CRTC determined that incumbent local exchange carrier promotions in the local wireline  
market are permitted, subject to a number of competitive safeguards.

The CRTC also released certain decisions in 2004 that were intended to further facilitate competition in the mar-
ket. These include Telecom Decision CRTC 2004-4 in which the Commission granted Telecom’s request to extend the ILECs’ 
winback restrictions from three months to twelve months and approved an education program to inform consumers  
of the existence of local competition; Telecom Decision CRTC 2004-5 in which the Commission directed the major ILECs to 
file Ethernet access and transport tariffs for use by competitors; and Telecom Decisions 2004-21 and 2004-22 in which the 
CRTC directed Aliant and Bell Canada respectively to cease and desist violating the service bundling rules.

The CRTC continues to emphasize its commitment to ensuring sustainable facilities-based competition in the 
Canadian telecommunications sector. It also continues to engage the public in dialogue to determine the most efficient 
regulatory framework to reach that goal. In 2004, the CRTC conducted two key public proceedings. First, in Telecom 
Public Notice 2003-10, the CRTC initiated a proceeding to impose new or modified price floor regulation on the ILECs with 
the view to limit or prevent predatory pricing behaviour. In Telecom Decision CRTC 2005-27, the Commission strength-
ened competitive pricing safeguards applicable to the incumbents. Second, in Telecom PN 2004-2, the CRTC conducted a 
proceeding to determine how VoIP should be regulated. In Telecom Decision 2005-28-1, the CRTC determined that VoIP 
offerings by the incumbent telephone companies would continue to be regulated. 
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In October 2005, the CRTC released its fifth annual report to Cabinet on the state of competition in the Canadian 
telecommunications sector. This is pursuant to the CRTC’s mandate to assess and report on the state of competition in the 
industry on an annual basis. The CRTC’s conclusion is that local competition has increased since 2000, although competitors  
have not yet generally gained the same level of market share in the local markets as they have in the long distance, 
Internet or data and private line markets. They have, however, made inroads in both the business and residential  
urban markets in several major centres.

On February 3, 2005, the CRTC released Telecom Decision CRTC 2005-6 with respect to the ILECs’ Competitive 
Digital Network services (“CDN”). The decision concluded the process that was initiated by the second Price Cap decision. 
In Decision 2005-6, the CRTC set the terms and conditions, as well as the rates that competitors will pay the incumbent  
telephone companies for digital network services they rely on to provide services to their customers. In arriving at the 
decision, the Commission took into account: a) the competitors’ reliance on the telephone companies’ network facili-
ties and services; b) the competitive supply that exists in the marketplace; c) the constraints competitors face in building 
their own networks; and d) the state of competition in the local market. Rates for access to low-speed services, which 
are legacy copper-based, were set at cost plus 15%, while rates for high-speed services, which are generally fibre-based 
and easier to replicate, were reduced from their prior market level to cost plus a margin above 15%. The CRTC found that 
competitors still rely heavily on the facilities of the telephone companies and that by reducing the prices for underlying  
facilities, competitors will be able to offer services to more customers and in more regions, and that growth in their  
customer base and revenues will facilitate the expansion of their own networks.

Canadian Regulation of International Traffic

On January 1, 1999, the CRTC instituted a new regulatory regime for international telecommunications. Under this 
regime, any carrier that transports international telecommunications traffic over a Canadian border requires a Class 
A licence from the CRTC. Any domestic carrier that originates or terminates, but does not carry over the border, inter-
national telecommunications traffic requires a Class B licence from the CRTC. Both types of licencees are subject to 
minimal reporting requirements and are prevented from acting in an anti-competitive manner. Telecom obtained all 
such licences.

Media Regulation and Regulatory Developments

The CRTC has announced a review of the Commercial Radio Policy in the first half of 2006. The review will explore a 
number of industry-related issues, including Canadian content levels and Canadian talent development contributions. 
In preparation for the review, Media is working with various industry groups and associations on a number of industry-
related issues and concerns. 

The CRTC has released its digital television policy, covering issues such as priority carriage and simultaneous  
substitution. Media believes that the CRTC policy provides an effective framework for continued growth and develop-
ment of digital television broadcasting in Canada. CRTC processes have also been conducted to develop policy frameworks 
for the licensing and distribution of high-definition pay and specialty services as well as the transition or migration of 
specialty services from analog to digital. A CRTC decision regarding digital migration is expected in 2006.

The Copyright Board has released its decision for SOCAN (Society of Composers, Authors and Music Publishers of 
Canada) and NRCC (Neighbouring Rights Collective Society) tariffs affecting commercial radio broadcasters. Retroactive 
to January 2003, the royalty rates for both tariffs have increased significantly. The new rates imposed by the Board will 
impact the results of Media’s radio operations.

On June 16, 2005, the CRTC issued decisions approving three new subscription radio services. These decisions 
were appealed to the Federal Cabinet and these appeals were not successful. Two of the services are satellite-delivered, 
partnering with established and well-financed satellite radio operators in the U.S. These new subscription services offer 
a wide variety of music and spoken word programming channels, and will compete for audiences with the Media radio 
stations in markets across Canada. However, given that these new services are also prohibited from carrying local pro-
gramming content and selling local advertising, the Media radio stations expect to sustain their competitive advantage 
as local broadcasters in their local markets.
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Competition

We currently face effective competition in each of our primary businesses from entities providing substantially similar 
services, some of which have significantly greater resources than we do. Each of our segments also faces competition 
from entities utilizing alternative communications and transmission technologies and may face competition from other 
technologies being developed or to be developed in the future. Below is a discussion of the specific competition facing 
each of our Wireless, Cable, Telecom and Media businesses.

Wireless Competition

At December 31, 2005, the highly-competitive Canadian wireless industry had approximately 16.8 million wireless  
subscribers. Competition for wireless subscribers is based on price, scope of services, service coverage, quality of service, 
sophistication of wireless technology, breadth of distribution, selection of equipment, brand and marketing. Wireless 
also competes with its rivals for dealers and retail distribution outlets.

In the wireless voice and data market, Wireless competes primarily with two other national wireless service 
providers, Bell Mobility and Telus Mobility, as well as resellers such as Virgin Mobile Canada, Primus, and other emerging 
providers using alternative wireless technologies such as WiFi or “hotspots”. Wireless messaging (or one-way paging) 
also competes with a number of local and national paging providers.
	
Cable Competition

Canadian cable television systems generally face legal and illegal competition from several alternative multi-channel  
broadcasting distribution systems, including two Canadian direct broadcast satellite service providers, U.S. direct broadcast  
satellite service providers, terrestrially-based video service providers, satellite master antenna television, and multi-channel,  
multi-point wireless distribution systems, as well as from the direct reception by antenna of over-the-air local and 
regional broadcast television signals.

In recent years, telephone companies have acquired licences to operate terrestrial broadcast distribution under-
takings (“BDUs”). These companies include TELUS Corporation (“TELUS”), Saskatchewan Telecommunications (“Sasktel”), 
MTS Communications Inc. (“MTS”), Aliant Inc. (“Aliant”) and, as of November 2004, Bell Canada (“Bell”). We compete 
directly with Bell in Ontario and with Aliant in New Brunswick and Newfoundland and Labrador. These telephone com-
panies can deliver television service to residential homes and apartment buildings using digital subscriber line (“DSL”) 
technology. DSL technologies such as very high-speed digital subscriber lines (“VDSL”) provide the ability to offer a com-
plete array of standard definition, VOD and SVOD broadcast television services and may be able to provide HDTV. Under 
the terms of its licence, Bell has until the fourth quarter of 2006 to commercially launch its terrestrial BDU. To date, Bell 
has not yet launched its terrestrial BDU. Our premium services, such as movie networks, U.S. superstations, PPV and VOD 
services, also compete to varying degrees with other communications and entertainment media, including home video, 
movie theatres and live theatre.

Cable’s Internet access services compete generally with a number of other ISPs offering competing residential  
and commercial Internet access services. Many ISPs offer dial-up Internet access services that provide significantly reduced 
bandwidth capabilities compared to broadband technologies, such as cable modem or DSL. The Rogers Yahoo! Hi-Speed 
Internet Express and Internet Extreme services, where available, compete directly with Bell’s DSL Internet service in 
the Internet market in Ontario, and with the DSL Internet services of Aliant in New Brunswick and Newfoundland and 
Labrador. In the majority of Cable’s service areas, Cable also offers less expensive Internet Lite and Internet Ultra-Lite 
services, each of which have lower modem speed settings than Internet Express or Internet Extreme. Cable’s Internet Lite 
and Internet Ultra-Lite services compete against similar slower speed DSL services and, because of their reduced speed, 
compete more directly with dial-up services. 

Cable has increasingly offered its services to customers at a discounted price in exchange for taking multiple 
services. Cable believes that offering customer loyalty programs, multi-product bundling, a single bill and single points 
of customer service contact enables us to reduce individual product churn, to increase the average revenue received 
from our customers, to lower the cost of customer acquisition and to better service our customers. Cable, Wireless, and 
Telecom offer bundles which combine cable, Internet, telephony, and wireless services. Bell Canada has offered similar 
bundles which are now grandfathered. Bell currently does not offer bundle discounts to residential customers.
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Cable faces emerging competition from utilities, such as hydroelectric companies, as these companies look 
to utilize their infrastructure to provide Internet and other services, such as VoIP, that may directly compete with our 
current and future service offerings. In addition, there are wireless technologies, such as WiFi and WiMax, that could 
potentially be deployed on a regional basis to provide wireless broadband Internet access to customers.

Rogers Video competes with other DVD, videocassette and video game sales and rental store chains, such as 
Blockbuster Inc. and Wal-Mart Stores Inc., as well as individually owned and operated outlets and more recently online-
based subscription rental services. Competition is principally based on location, price and availability of titles.
	
Telecom Competition

Telecom competes with the incumbent telephone companies in Canada, including Bell, Telus, and MTS Allstream. 
Telecom also competes with competitive suppliers of local, long distance, private line and data services using traditional 
circuit-switched and newer VoIP technologies.

One of the biggest forces for potential change in the telecommunications industry is the threat of substitution  
of the traditional wireline telephone by new technologies. Wireless is often cited as an eventual replacement for the  
standard home telephone, although experience shows that mobile phones are used primarily as second lines. The popu-
larity of mobile phones among younger generations has resulted in some abandonment of wireline service, but these 
preferences are not likely to challenge the prominence of the traditional wireline phone for many years, if at all. A more 
recently cited threat to the standard wireline home telephone is telephone service over the Internet, commonly referred 
to as VoIP. 

In the business market, there is a continuing shift from ATM and frame relay (two common data networks) to IP 
delivered through VPN services. This transition results in lower costs for both users and carriers. Telecom is well positioned  
to benefit from this trend with one of the most advanced IP networking solutions available.

Media Competition  

Broadcasting’s radio stations compete with the other stations in their respective market areas as well as with other 
media, such as newspapers, magazines, television, outdoor advertising, direct mail marketing and the Internet.

Competition within the radio broadcasting industry occurs primarily in individual market areas, amongst  
individual market stations. On a national level, Media’s Broadcasting division competes generally with other larger radio 
operators such as Corus Entertainment Inc., Standard Radio Inc. and CHUM Limited, each of which owns and operates 
radio station clusters in markets across Canada. Additionally, over the past several years the CRTC has granted additional 
licences in various markets for the development of new radio stations which in turn provide additional competition 
to the established stations in the respective markets. Two new licenced satellite subscription-based radio services now  
provide competition to Broadcasting’s radio stations.

OMNI.1, OMNI.2, OMNI.10 and OMNI TV (Manitoba) compete principally for viewers and advertisers with  
television stations that broadcast in their local markets. These include Canadian television stations as well as U.S. border 
stations, specialty channels and increasingly with other distant Canadian signals and U.S. border stations given the time-
shifting capacity available to digital subscribers.

Rogers Sportsnet competes for viewers and advertisers principally with The Sports Network (“TSN”), Headline 
Sports and sports programs carried by other Canadian and U.S. television stations and networks.

On a product level, The Shopping Channel competes with various retail stores, catalog retailers, Internet retailers  
and direct mail retailers. On a broadcasting level, The Shopping Channel competes with other television channels for 
viewer attention and loyalty, and particularly with infomercials selling products on television.

The Canadian magazine industry is highly-competitive, competing for both readers and advertisers. This com-
petition comes from other Canadian magazines and from foreign, mostly U.S., titles that sell in significant quantities 
in Canada. In the past, the competition from foreign titles has been restricted to competition for readers as there 
have been restrictions on foreigners operating in the Canadian magazine advertising market. These restrictions were  
significantly reduced as a result of the enactment in 1999 of the Foreign Publishers Advertising Services Act (Canada) and 
amendments to the Canadian Tax Act. Increasing competition from U.S. magazines for advertising revenues is expected 
in the coming years.
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Risks and Uncertainties

Our business is subject to risks and uncertainties that could result in a material adverse effect on our business and finan-
cial results. A discussion of the risks and uncertainties specific to RCI as a holding company, as well as a discussion of the 
specific risks and uncertainties associated with each of our businesses, are outlined below. 

Corporate Risks and Uncertainties Specific to RCI as a Holding Company

Our Holding Company Structure May L imit  Our Ability  to Meet Our F inancial Obligations

As a holding company, our ability to meet our financial obligations is dependent primarily upon the receipt of interest 
and principal payments on intercompany advances, management fees, cash dividends and other payments from our  
subsidiaries together with proceeds raised by us through the issuance of equity and debt and from the sale of assets.

Substantially all of our business activities are operated by our subsidiaries, other than certain centralized func-
tions such as payables, remittance processing, call centres and certain shared information technology functions. All of 
our subsidiaries are distinct legal entities and have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, to make funds available to 
us whether by dividends, interest payments, loans, advances or other payments, subject to payment arrangements on 
intercompany advances and management fees. In addition, the payment of dividends and the making of loans, advances 
and other payments to us by these subsidiaries are subject to statutory or contractual restrictions, are contingent upon 
the earnings of those subsidiaries and are subject to various business and other considerations. The subsidiaries are par-
ties to various agreements, including certain loan agreements, that restrict the ability of the respective subsidiaries to 
pay cash dividends or make advances or other payments to us.

We Are Controlled by One Shareholder

As at December 31, 2005, we had outstanding 56,233,894 RCI Class A Voting shares. To the knowledge of our directors 
and officers, the only person or corporation beneficially owning, directly or indirectly, or exercising control or direc-
tion over more than 10% of our outstanding voting shares is Edward S. Rogers. As of December 31, 2005, Edward S. 
Rogers beneficially owned or controlled 51,116,099 RCI Class A Voting shares, representing approximately 90.9% of the 
issued and outstanding RCI Class A shares, which class is the only class of issued shares carrying the right to vote in all  
circumstances. Accordingly, Edward S. Rogers is able to elect all of our Board of Directors and to control the vote on  
matters submitted to a vote of our shareholders. 

The Operation of Our Business Requires Substantial Capital,  and There is  No Guarantee That  

F inancing Will  Be Available to Meet Those Requirements

The operation of our networks, the marketing and distribution of our products and services and future technology 
upgrades of the networks will require substantial capital resources. We had approximately $7.7 billion of long-term debt 
outstanding at December 31, 2005. Our PP&E spending on a consolidated basis in 2005 was over $1.3 billion. Other signifi-
cant additions to PP&E are also expected to be incurred during 2006 and in the future.

The actual amount of PP&E expenditures required to finance our operations and network development may 
vary materially from our estimates. We may incur significant additional capital expenditures in the future as a result 
of unforeseen delays in the development of our networks, cost overruns, customer demand, unanticipated expenses, 
regulatory changes or other events that affect our businesses, and may need to obtain additional funds as a result of 
these unforeseen events. We anticipate that additional debt financing may be needed to fund cash requirements in the 
future. We cannot predict whether such financing will be available, what the terms of such additional financing would 
be or whether existing debt agreements would allow additional financing at that time. If we cannot obtain additional 
financing when needed, we will have to delay, modify or abandon some of our plans. This could slow our growth and 
negatively impact our ability to compete.
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Our F inancial Leverage May Have Adverse Consequences

Our substantial debt may have important consequences. For instance, it could:

•	 Make it more difficult for us to satisfy our financial obligations;
•	 �Require us to dedicate a substantial portion of any cash flow from operations to the payment of interest and principal 

due under our debt, which will reduce funds available for other business purposes;
•	 Increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
•	 �Limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our businesses and the industries in which they operate;
•	 Place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to some of our competitors that have less financial leverage; and
•	 �Limit our ability to obtain additional financing required to fund working capital and capital expenditures and for 

other general corporate purposes.

Our ability to satisfy our obligations and to reduce our total debt depends on our future operating performance and 
on economic, financial, competitive and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. Our business may not  
generate sufficient cash flow and future financings may not be available to provide sufficient net proceeds to meet 
these obligations or to successfully execute our business strategies.

We May Experience Adverse Effects Due to Exchange Rate and Interest Rate Fluctuations

Nearly all of our business is transacted in Canadian dollars. Accordingly, we are exposed to foreign exchange rate risk on 
our U.S. dollar-denominated debt. The exchange rate between Canadian dollars and U.S. dollars, although historically 
less volatile than those of certain other foreign currencies, has varied significantly over the last three years. Foreign 
exchange and interest rate fluctuations may materially adversely affect our financial performance or results of operations.  
For a more complete discussion on the impact of exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations, see the section entitled 
“Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange Management”.

Regulatory Changes Could Adversely Affect Our Results of Operations

Substantially all of our business activities are regulated by Industry Canada and/or the CRTC, and accordingly our results 
of operations on a consolidated basis are affected by changes in regulations and by the decisions of these regulators. 
This regulation relates to, among other things, licensing, competition, the cable television programming services that 
we must distribute, the rates we may charge to provide access to our network by third parties, resale of our networks 
and roaming on to our networks, our operation and ownership of communications systems and our ability to acquire an 
interest in other communications systems. In addition, our cable, wireless and broadcasting licences may not generally 
be transferred without regulatory approval. Changes in the regulation of our business activities, including decisions by 
regulators (such as the granting or renewal of licences or decisions regarding services we must offer to our customers), 
or changes in the interpretations of existing regulations by courts or regulators, could adversely affect our consolidated 
results of operations.

Restrictions on Non-Canadian Ownership  and Control May Adversely Affect Our Cost of Capital

Our regulated subsidiaries must be Canadian-owned and controlled under requirements enacted or adopted under the 
Broadcasting Act, the Telecommunications Act and the Radiocommunications Act. The requirements generally provide 
that Canadians must own at least 80% of the voting shares of the regulated entities that, at least 80% of the members 
of the Board of Directors must be Canadian, and that the entities must not be controlled in fact by non-Canadians. In 
addition, no more than 331⁄ 3% of the voting shares of a parent company, such as RCI, may be held by non-Canadians and 
the parent company must not be controlled in fact by non-Canadians. These restrictions on non-Canadian ownership 
and control may have an adverse effect on us, including on our cost of capital. Our Articles and the Articles of Wireless 
contain provisions which constrain the issue and transfer of certain classes of shares, including our Non-Voting shares, 
for the purpose of ensuring that we and our subsidiaries remain eligible to hold licences or to carry on businesses which 
are subject to non-Canadian ownership and control restrictions. 
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We May Engage in Unsuccessful Acquisitions  and Divestitures

Acquisitions of complementary businesses and technologies, development of strategic alliances and divestitures of 
portions of our business are an active part of our overall business strategy. Services, technologies, key personnel or 
businesses of acquired companies may not be effectively assimilated into our business or service offerings and our  
alliances may not be successful. We may not be able to successfully complete any divestitures on satisfactory terms, if at 
all. Divestitures may result in a reduction in our total revenues and net income.

We Are and Will  Continue to Be Involved in L itigation

On August 9, 2004, a proceeding under the Class Actions Act (Saskatchewan) was brought against providers of wireless 
communications in Canada, including Wireless and Fido. The proceeding involves allegations by wireless customers of 
breach of contract, misrepresentation and false advertising arising out of the charging of system access fees. The plain-
tiffs seek un-quantified damages from the defendant wireless communications service providers. The proceeding has 
not been certified as a class action and it is too early to determine whether the proceeding will qualify for certification 
as a class action. Similar proceedings have also been brought against us and other providers of wireless communications  
in Canada in Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba, Ontario and Québec. In addition, on December 9, 2004, we were 
served with a court order compelling us to produce certain records and other information relevant to an investigation 
initiated by the Commissioner of Competition under the misleading advertising provisions of the Competition Act with 
respect to our system access fee.

On April 21, 2004, a proceeding was brought against Fido and others alleging breach of contract, breach of 
confidence, misuse of confidential information, breach of a duty of loyalty, good faith and to avoid a conflict of duty 
and self interest, and conspiracy. The proceeding involves Fido’s Inukshuk fixed wireless venture. The plaintiff is seeking 
damages in the amount of $160 million. The proceeding is at an early stage.

We are and may from time-to-time be named as a defendant in other legal actions arising in the ordinary 
course of our business, including claims arising out of our dealer arrangements.

We are Subject to Risks Arising out of our Acquisition of Telecom (formerly Call-Net) such as the 

Risks that We May Not Be Able to Successfully Integrate Telecom or Realize the Anticipated Synergies

Our July 1, 2005 acquisition of Telecom was based in part on the belief that acquiring Telecom would enable us to 
achieve cost savings from elimination of duplicative operations and redundant infrastructure and to benefit from  
efficiencies in operations and capital spending. The successful realization of these synergies will depend on a number of 
factors, many of which are beyond our control. We may not be able to achieve the cost savings we anticipate from the 
acquisition, thereby causing its financial results to be less than expected.

We may not be able to successfully integrate and manage Telecom’s business because of unanticipated  
difficulties in assimilating their operations, services and corporate culture into our own. If we are unable to successfully 
integrate and manage Telecom’s business, or if the integration costs, including severance and other employee related 
costs, as well as costs to consolidate facilities, systems and operations, are more than anticipated or the integration 
diverts management attention or other resources from the operation of the existing business, then our business and 
financial results, including those of our subsidiaries, may suffer.

We may also be subject to unexpected claims and liabilities arising from the acquisition of Telecom, including 
claims and liabilities of Telecom that were not disclosed to us or that exceed their estimates. These claims could be costly 
to defend and result in liabilities to Telecom which may be material in amount. 

We are Subject to Various Risks from Competing Technologies

There are several technologies that either will, or will have the capacity to, cause fundamental changes in the way our 
services are delivered. These technologies include voice over Internet protocol (“VoIP”), IP-based virtual private networks  
(“IP-VPNs”), as well as broadband wireless access (“BWA”). These technologies may result in significantly different 
cost structures for the users of the technologies and may consequently affect the long-term viability of certain of our  
technologies. Some of these new technologies may allow competitors to enter our markets with similar products or  
services that have lower cost structures. Some of these competitors may be larger with more access to financial resources 
than we have. 
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Wireless Risks and Uncertainties

Wireless Faces Substantial Competition

The Canadian wireless communications industry is highly-competitive. In the wireless voice and data market, Wireless 
competes primarily with two other wireless service providers and may in the future compete with other companies, 
including resellers, such as Virgin Mobile Canada, and Primus. Potential users of wireless voice and data systems may 
find their communications needs satisfied by other current or developing technologies, such as WiFi, “hotspots” or 
trunk radio systems, which have the technical capability to handle mobile telephone calls. Wireless also competes with 
rivals for dealers and retail distribution outlets. There can be no assurance that its current or future competitors will not 
provide services comparable or superior to those Wireless provides, or at lower prices, adapt more quickly to evolving 
industry trends or changing market requirements, enter the market in which Wireless operates, or introduce competing 
services. Any of these factors could reduce Wireless’ market share or decrease its revenue.

Price Competition  Could Adversely Affect Wireless’  Churn Rate and Revenue Growth

Aggressive pricing by industry participants in previous years caused significant reductions in Canadian wireless com-
munications pricing. Wireless believes that competitive pricing is a factor in causing churn. Wireless cannot predict the 
extent of further price competition and customer churn in the future, but it anticipates some ongoing re-pricing of 
its existing subscriber base as lower pricing offered to attract new customers is extended to or requested by existing 
customers. In addition, as wireless penetration of the population deepens, new wireless customers may generate lower 
average monthly revenues than those from its existing customers, which could slow revenue growth.

The Implementation of Wireless Number Portability  in Canada Could Create S ignificant  Costs for 

Wireless and Increase Churn

Over the past several years, certain countries in Europe and Asia have mandated WNP. In 2004, the U.S. wireless industry 
also implemented WNP. WNP involves porting wireless phone numbers to other wireless companies, but can also involve 
porting phone numbers between wireline and wireless companies. The implementation of WNP systems and capabili-
ties imposes significant costs on the carriers in a country. The federal budget was released on February 23, 2005. In the  
budget speech, the government stated that it would request the CRTC to move expeditiously to implement WNP. In a 
letter dated March 18, 2005 to the CRTC, the Minister of Industry noted that WNP includes wireless-to-wireless, wireline-
to-wireless and wireless-to-wireline number portability. 

On April 21, 2005, the Canadian Wireless Telecommunications Association (“CWTA”) announced that Canada’s 
wireless carriers, including Wireless, agreed to implement number portability in Canada, and have begun the planning 
efforts required to achieve this result. 

The CWTA contracted with an independent consultant to complete a comprehensive project plan outlining  
specific milestones for this process. The plan was completed and released on September 12, 2005. The CWTA and the 
wireless carriers endorsed the start date of September 12, 2007 as outlined in the consultant’s report. On September 
16, 2005, the CRTC released a Public Notice requesting comments on a number of regulatory issues, as well as the imple-
mentation date of September 2007. This was followed up on September 23, 2005 with a request to consider a phased 
approach. On December 20, 2005, the CRTC mandated that WNP becomes available in March 2007. This implementation 
of WNP will require carriers, including Wireless, to incur implementation costs that could be significant and could cause 
an increase in churn among Canadian wireless carriers. 

Wireless May Fail  to Achieve Expected Revenue Growth from New and Advanced Wireless Services

Wireless expects that a substantial portion of its future revenue growth will be achieved from new and advanced wire-
less voice and data transmission services. Accordingly, Wireless has invested and continues to invest significant capital 
resources in the development of its GSM/GPRS/EDGE network in order to offer these services. However, there may not be 
sufficient consumer demand for these advanced wireless services. Alternatively, Wireless may fail to anticipate or satisfy 
demand for certain products and services, or may not be able to offer or market these new products and services success-
fully to subscribers. The failure to attract subscribers to new products and services, or failure to keep pace with changing 
consumer preferences for wireless products and services, would slow revenue growth and have a material adverse effect 
on Wireless’ business and financial condition.
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Wireless Expects to Experience S ignificant  Change in the Wireless Communications Industry

The wireless communications industry is experiencing significant technological change. This includes the increasing pace 
of upgrades to existing wireless systems, evolving industry standards, ongoing improvements in the capacity and quality 
of digital technology, shorter development cycles for new products and enhancements and changes in end-user needs 
and preferences. There is also uncertainty as to the pace and extent that consumer demand for wireless services will 
continue to increase, as well as the extent to which airtime and monthly recurring charges may continue to decline. As a 
result, Wireless’ future prospects and those of its industry remain uncertain.

Wireless’  Expansion and Investment in the Inukshuk Business May Have Considerable R isks

In 2000, Fido obtained licences in the 2.5 MHz or MCS spectrum. This spectrum was acquired in a competitive licensing 
process and accordingly is subject to rollout commitments and commitments to fund a “Learning Plan”. If Wireless is 
unable to roll out the service in accordance with Industry Canada requirements, the MCS licences could be revoked by 
Industry Canada.

On September 16, 2005, Wireless announced a joint venture with Bell Canada to build a nationwide fixed wire-
less network by pooling our respective fixed wireless spectrum holdings and access to our combined cellular tower and 
backhaul assets. This joint venture, known as Inukshuk, will require significant funding, will generate losses in the start 
up phases, and entails risks and uncertainties. Amongst other things, the nationwide fixed wireless network that the 
joint venture plans to fund and deploy is based upon an early generation of a relatively new technology, the standards 
for which may not become widely adopted. In addition, there is no certainty that the services that will be enabled by 
the fixed wireless network will function as planned or that such services would attract wide customer adoption at price 
points that would enable the joint venture to recover its costs.

There is  No Guarantee that Wireless’  Third Generation Technology Will  Be Competiti ve or  

Compatible with Other Technologies

The deployment of EDGE technology may not be competitive or compatible with other technologies. Wireless also 
announced that in early 2006, it will begin deploying a 3G wireless network based upon the UMTS/HSDPA (Universal 
Mobile Telephone System/High-Speed Downlink Packet Access) standard, which Wireless expects will provide it with 
data speeds that are superior to those offered by other 3G wireless technologies and which will enable it to add incre-
mental voice and data capacity at significantly lower costs. While Wireless and other U.S. and international operators 
have selected these technologies as an evolutionary step from its current and future networks, there are other competing  
technologies that are being developed and implemented in both Canada and other parts of the world. None of the 
competing technologies is directly compatible with each other. If the third generation technology that gains the  
most widespread acceptance is not compatible with Wireless’ networks, competing services based on such alternative 
technology may be preferable to subscribers and Wireless’ business may be materially adversely affected.

Wireless May Encounter Difficulties   with Respect to the Continued Development of Third  

Generation Network Technology

Wireless is currently pursuing a strategy to transition its technology network to third generation technology with 
enhanced digital voice and data transmission capabilities. In order to implement this transition successfully:

•	 �Network technology developers must complete the refinement of third generation network technologies, specifically 
HSDPA, network technologies; and

•	 �Wireless must complete the implementation of the fixed network infrastructure to support its third generation tech-
nologies, which will include design and installation of upgrades to its existing network equipment.

Wireless cannot be certain that these steps will be completed in the time frame or at the cost anticipated. Wireless’ third 
generation technology network will rely, in many instances, on new and unproven technology. As with any new tech-
nology, there is a risk that the new technology Wireless has chosen for its network will not perform as expected, that it 
may be unable to integrate the new technology with its current technology and that it may be unable to deliver next 
generation services in a cost-effective manner. The occurrence of any of these difficulties could delay the development 
of its network, which could materially adversely affect Wireless’ business.
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Wireless is  Highly-Dependent Upon its  Information Technology Systems and the Inability  to  

Enhance its  Systems or a Security Breach or Disaster Could Have an Adverse Impact on its  

F inancial Results and Operations

The day-to-day operation of Wireless’ business is highly-dependent on its information technology systems. An inability 
to enhance information technology systems to accommodate additional customer growth and support new products 
and services could have an adverse impact on Wireless’ ability to acquire new subscribers, manage subscriber churn,  
produce accurate and timely subscriber bills, generate revenue growth and manage operating expenses, all of which 
could adversely impact its financial results and position. 

In addition, Wireless uses industry standard network and information technology security, survivability and 
disaster recovery practices. Approximately 1,500 of Wireless’ employees and critical elements of the network infrastruc-
ture and information technology systems are located at the corporate offices in Toronto. In the event that Wireless 
cannot access these facilities, as a result of a natural or manmade disaster or otherwise, operations may be significantly 
affected and may result in a condition that is beyond the scope of Wireless’ ability to recover without significant service 
interruption and commensurate revenue and customer loss.

Wireless is  Dependent on Infrastructure and Handset Vendors,  Which Could Impact the Quality of 

its  Services or Impede Network Development and Expansion

Wireless has relationships with a small number of essential network infrastructure and handset vendors, over which 
it has no operational or financial control and only limited influence in how the vendors conduct their businesses. The  
failure of one of Wireless’ network infrastructure suppliers could delay programs to provide additional network capacity 
or new capabilities and services across the business. Handsets and network infrastructure suppliers may, among other 
things, extend delivery times, raise prices and limit supply due to their own shortages and business requirements. If 
these suppliers fail to deliver products and services on a timely basis or fail to develop and deliver handsets that satisfy 
Wireless’ customers’ demands, this could have a negative impact on Wireless’ business, financial condition and results 
of operations. Similarly, interruptions in the supply of equipment for Wireless’ networks could impact the quality of its 
service or impede network development and expansion.

Wireless Has Substantial Capital Requirements and Intends to Make Substantial Capital  

Expenditures, and it May Not be Able to Obtain Sufficient Financing to Execute its Business Strategy

The operation of Wireless’ network, the marketing and distribution of its products and services, the continued evolution 
of network technologies and the addition of network capacity will continue to require substantial capital resources. 
The actual amount of capital required to finance Wireless’ operations and network development may vary materially 
from its estimates. Wireless may not generate or have access to sufficient capital to fund these future requirements. If 
Wireless cannot obtain additional financing when needed, it will have to delay, modify or abandon some of its plans to 
construct a third generation network. This could slow Wireless’ growth and negatively impact its ability to compete in 
the wireless communications industry.

A Change in Foreign Ownership  Legislation Could Increase Competition  Which Could Reduce  

Wireless’  Market Share or Decrease its  Revenue

Wireless could face increased competition if there is a removal or relaxation of the limits on foreign ownership and 
control of wireless licences. Legislative action to remove or relax these limits could result in foreign telecommunication 
companies entering the Canadian wireless communications market, through the acquisition of either wireless licences or 
of a holder of wireless licences. The entry into the market of such companies with significantly greater capital resources 
than Wireless could reduce its market share and cause its revenues to decrease.

Wireless’  Business is  Subject to Various Government Regulations that Could Adversely Affect its 

Business or Increase Costs or Competition

The licensing, construction and operation of wireless communications systems in Canada are subject to the licensing 
requirements and oversight of Industry Canada. In addition, various aspects of wireless communications operations, 
including Wireless’ ability to enter into interconnection agreements with traditional wireline telephone companies, are  
subject to regulation by the CRTC. Any of the government agencies having jurisdiction over Wireless’ business could 
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adopt regulations or take other actions that could materially adversely affect its business and operations, including 
actions that could increase competition or that could increase its costs.

Industry Canada grants radio licences for a specified term. All of Wireless’ cellular and PCS radio licences expire 
in 2011. Industry Canada has placed conditions on the maintenance of these licences and has the authority at any time 
to modify these licensing conditions to the extent necessary to ensure the efficient and orderly development of radio 
communication facilities and services in Canada. Industry Canada may decide not to renew Wireless’ licences when they 
expire and any failure by Wireless to comply with the conditions on the maintenance of its licences could result in a 
revocation or forfeiture of any of its licences or the imposition of fines by Industry Canada. 

Wireless is in the process of interconnecting its wireless network with the telecommunications network operated  
by Fido, as a competitive local exchange carrier, for the purpose of termination of traffic on the public switched telephone  
network. This arrangement could be challenged before the CRTC. If the CRTC decided to disallow this arrangement this 
could adversely affect Wireless’ business, including increased income tax and operating costs.

The Recommendation of the National Wireless Tower Policy Review Could Increase Wireless’  Costs 

or Delay the Expansion of Wireless’  Network

On February 7, 2005, the executive summary of the final report of the Tower Policy Review was published and subsequently  
the full report was released. The report recommends various steps that could be taken to increase the amount of public 
consultation before wireless carriers are permitted to build cellular network towers. Some of the Review recommendations  
could increase Wireless’ costs and lead to delays in acquiring new sites for cellular towers. Industry Canada is currently 
considering various proposals.

Contribution Rate Increases Could Adversely Affect Wireless’  Results of Operations

Wireless is required to make payments equal to an annual percentage of adjusted revenues in accordance with the  
CRTC’s revenue-based contribution scheme to a fund established to subsidize the provision of basic local service in high-
cost regions. The percentage of adjusted revenues payable is revised annually by the CRTC. The CRTC has announced a 
contribution levy of 1.03% as the final rate for 2005 and has announced an interim rate for 2006 of 1.03%. Wireless cannot  
anticipate the final rate for 2006 or the rates for future years.

Third Generation Spectrum Allocation Could Increase Wireless’  Costs and Create a S ignificant  

Capital Funding Requirement

Industry Canada has released a proposed policy regarding third generation spectrum allocation and Wireless believes 
that a third generation spectrum auction may occur in late in 2007 or early 2008. The spectrum frequency range for third 
generation spectrum has not been fully resolved, but Wireless believes that it will likely bear a close resemblance to the 
U.S. allocation. Although Wireless has acquired additional spectrum in connection with its acquisition of Fido, it may 
choose to participate in the proposed auction to acquire new spectrum. Wireless does not know how much the cost of 
acquiring such spectrum in the proposed auction will be or when it will occur. Wireless could face a significant capital 
funding requirement in connection with this proposed auction. Industry Canada could set aside spectrum for a new 
entrant which could increase the competition faced by Wireless.

Restrictions on the Use of Wireless Handsets While Driving May Reduce Subscriber Usage

Certain provincial government bodies are considering legislation to restrict or prohibit wireless handset usage while 
driving. Legislation banning the use of hand-held phones while driving, while permitting the use of hands-free devices, 
was implemented in Newfoundland in April 2003. Legislation has been proposed in other jurisdictions to restrict or  
prohibit the use of wireless handsets while driving motor vehicles. Some studies have indicated that certain aspects of 
using wireless handsets while driving may impair the attention of drivers in various circumstances, making accidents 
more likely. Laws prohibiting or restricting the use of wireless handsets while driving could have the effect of reducing 
subscriber usage, which could cause a material adverse effect on Wireless’ business. Additionally, concerns over the use 
of wireless handsets while driving could lead to litigation relating to accidents, deaths or bodily injuries, which could 
also have a material adverse effect on Wireless’ business.
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Concerns About Radio Frequency Emissions May Adversely Affect Wireless’  Business

Occasional media and other reports have highlighted alleged links between radio frequency emissions from wireless hand-
sets and various health concerns, including cancer, and interference with various medical devices, including hearing aids 
and pacemakers. While there are no definitive reports or studies stating that such health issues are directly attributable  
to radio frequency emissions, concerns over radio frequency emissions may discourage the use of wireless handsets 
or expose us to potential litigation. It is also possible that future regulatory actions may result in the imposition of 
more restrictive standards on radio frequency emissions from low powered devices such as wireless handsets. Wireless is 
unable to predict the nature or extent of any such potential restrictions.

Wireless Could Lose its  Wireless L icences if  it ,  RWCI  or RCI  Fails  to Comply With Governmental  

L imits on Non-Canadian Ownership  and Control

Wireless’ wireless licences include a condition requiring it to comply with the ownership restrictions of the 
Telecommunications Act. This condition provides that:

•	 �A minimum of 80% of the issued voting shares of a licenced carrier company, such as Wireless, must be owned and 
controlled by Canadians;

•	 A minimum of 80% of the members of the Board of Directors of a licenced carrier company must be Canadians;
•	 �A parent corporation of a licenced carrier company, such as RCI, must have at least 662⁄ 3% of its voting shares owned 

and controlled by Canadians; and
•	 Neither a licenced carrier nor its parent corporation may be otherwise controlled in fact by non-Canadians.

Identical requirements apply under the Radiocommunications Act, the legislation that governs the licensing and use of 
radio frequency spectrum in Canada.

Wireless is currently in compliance with all of these Canadian ownership and control requirements. However, 
to the extent that these requirements are violated, Wireless would be subject to various penalties, possibly including, in 
the extreme case, the loss of its wireless licences.

Cable Risks and Uncertainties

Cable May Fail  to Achieve Expected Revenue Growth From New and Advanced Cable Products  

and Services

Cable expects that a substantial portion of its future growth will be achieved from new and advanced cable, Internet, 
voice-over-cable telephony and other IP products and services. Accordingly, it has invested and continues to invest  
significant capital resources in the development of a technologically advanced cable network in order to support a 
wide variety of advanced cable products and services and has invested and continues to invest significant resources 
in the development of new services to be provided over the network. However, consumers may not provide sufficient 
demand for the enhanced cable products and services that are offered. In addition, any initiatives to increase prices for 
Cable’s services may result in increased churn of Cable’s subscribers and a reduction in the total number of subscribers.  
Alternatively, Cable may fail to anticipate demand for certain products and services, or may not be able to offer or 
market these new products and services successfully to subscribers. Cable’s failure to retain existing subscribers while 
increasing pricing or to attract subscribers to new products and services, or its failure to keep pace with changing  
consumer preferences for cable products and services, could slow revenue growth and have a material adverse effect on 
its business and financial condition. In addition, its discounted bundled product and service offerings may fail to reduce 
churn and may have an adverse impact on its financial results.

Cable has Invested Substantial Resources in Connection With its  Voice-Over-Cable Telephony  

Services,  and it  May Not Recover All  or Any of its  Investment

Like many other larger cable system operators or Multiple System Operators (“MSOs”) in North America, Cable has 
deployed local telephony service offerings over its cable systems. Cable uses newer soft-switch-based voice-over-IP 
(“VoIP”) technologies to deploy local telephony. VoIP, when offered over a DOCSIS cable modem connection to an  
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MSO’s network that is utilizing industry standard Packet Cable certified components, enables Cable to emulate, with the 
exception of network powering, the features, functionality and quality of service of traditional local telephone service. 

In connection with the offering of voice-over-cable telephony services, the additional variable additions to 
PP&E associated with adding each voice-over-cable telephony service subscriber, which include uninterruptible back-up 
powering at the home, is in the range of $300 to $340 per subscriber addition. Cable also cannot predict whether its 
voice-over-cable telephony services will be accepted by its customers or whether its voice-over-cable telephony services 
will be competitive, from a quality and price perspective, with other telephony services that are and will be available to 
its customers. In addition, in deciding to invest in voice-over-cable telephony services, Cable has assumed that Incumbent 
Local Exchange Carriers (“ILECs”) will continue to be regulated for voice services and that effective safeguards will be 
maintained to restrict the ILECs’ ability to offer these services in an anti-competitive manner. If this assumption proves to 
be incorrect, Cable may not recover any or all of its investment in voice-over-cable telephony services, which could have 
a material adverse effect on its business and financial condition.

Cable’s  Business is  Subject to Various Governmental Regulations

Cable’s operations are subject to governmental regulations relating to, among other things, licensing, competition, 
programming and foreign ownership. A significant percentage of its business activities is regulated by the CRTC under 
the Telecommunications Act, the Radiocommunications Act and the Broadcasting Act, and accordingly Cable’s results  
of operations are affected by changes in regulations and decisions of the CRTC. Such regulation relates to, among 
other things, licensing, competition, the specific cable television programming services that it must distribute, as well 
as percentages of foreign ownership and control of cable television licences. In addition, Cable’s CRTC licences must be 
renewed from time-to-time and cannot be transferred without regulatory approval. The cable television systems are 
also required to obtain certain authorizations and to meet certain technical standards established by Industry Canada,  
pursuant to its authority under the Telecommunications Act and the Radiocommunications Act. Changes in regula-
tion by the CRTC, Industry Canada or any other regulatory body could adversely affect Cable’s business and results of  
operations. In addition, the costs of providing any of its services may be increased from time-to-time as a result of  
compliance with industry or legislative initiatives to address consumer protection concerns or such Internet-related issues 
as copyright infringement, unsolicited commercial e-mail, cyber-crime and lawful access. 

Changes to the CRTC’s  Regime for Local Telephone Competition  Could Affect Cable’s  Delivery of  

Local Telephone Service

On April 28, 2005, the CRTC commenced a proceeding to develop the criteria for deregulation of the incumbents’ local 
telephone services. A decision is expected in March 2006. On May 12, 2005, the CRTC issued Telecom Decision CRTC 2005-28;  
Regulatory framework for voice communication services using Internet Protocol. This decision regulates the local telephone  
services of Canada’s incumbent phone companies which use Internet Protocol technology. The decision was in line with 
Rogers’ expectations. Regulation includes costing safeguards designed to prevent the incumbent phone companies from 
pricing below cost or engaging in anti-competitive conduct. Bell, SaskTel and Telus appealed the decision to the Federal 
Cabinet in July 2005. Bell and SaskTel have also filed an application with the CRTC challenging the constitutionality of the 
winback rules, another protection for new entrants. In November 2005, Bell and SaskTel filed an application requesting  
that the CRTC stay the winback rules pending its final determination. On February 23, 2005, the Federal Government 
announced that a Review Panel (“Panel”) would examine Canada’s telecommunications regulatory system. That Panel 
was appointed and they have issued a Consultation Paper, received submissions and held public consultations through 
the summer and fall. Their report to the Federal Government was expected in December 2005, but has been delayed 
until early 2006. If any of these proceedings or processes weakens the regulatory safeguards for new local telephone 
entrants, it could have a negative impact on our competitive local telephone service. 

Cable Faces Substantial Competition

Technological, regulatory and public policy trends have resulted in a more competitive environment for cable television 
service providers, Internet Service Providers (“ISPs”) and video sales and rental services in Canada. Cable faces competition  
from entities utilizing other communications technologies and may face competition from other technologies being devel-
oped or to be developed in the future. The ability to attract and retain customers is also highly-dependent on the quality  
and reliability of service provided, as well as execution of business processes in relation to services provided by competitors.  
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Competition  in Multiple Dwelling Unit  Buildings Could Lead to MATERIAL Revenue Losses

The CRTC Broadcasting Distribution Regulations do not allow Cable or its competitors to obtain exclusive contracts in 
buildings where it is technically feasible to install two or more systems. CRTC winback rules also limit communications 
with customers in multiple dwelling unit buildings (“MDUs”) for ninety days after they have switched to a competitive 
supplier. In addition, there are restrictions on Cable’s ability to communicate with the residents of an MDU for ninety 
days after a competitive supplier signs an access agreement to provide service in the building. Approximately one-third 
of Cable’s basic cable subscribers are located in MDUs. These regulations and related policies could lead to material com-
petitive subscriber losses or pricing pressure in MDUs serviced by Cable, which could result in a reduction in its revenue.

Forecasting Additions  to PP&E May Become More Difficult ,  Which May Increase the Volatility  of 

Cable’s  Operating Results

An increasing component of Cable’s additions to PP&E will be to support a series of more advanced services. These 
services include Internet, digital television, PVR, HDTV, VOD, SVOD, cable telephony and other enhanced services that 
require advanced subscriber equipment. A substantial component of the PP&E required to support these services will be 
demand driven. For example, increasing per subscriber bandwidth usage may lead to increased network costs. As a result, 
forecasting Cable’s future levels of additions to PP&E will likely become less precise, which may increase the volatility  
of Cable’s operating results from period-to-period.

Increasing Programming Costs Could Adversely Affect Cable’s  Results of Operations

Cable’s single most significant purchasing commitment is the total annual cost of acquiring programming. Programming 
costs have increased significantly in recent years, particularly in connection with the recent growth in subscriptions to 
digital specialty channels. Increasing programming costs within the industry could adversely affect Cable’s operating 
results if it is unable to pass such programming costs on to its subscribers.

Cable Relies   on Certain Key Suppliers

Cable sources its customer premise equipment, certain services and capital builds from certain key suppliers. While Cable has  
alternate sources for most of its purchases, the loss of a key supplier could adversely affect the business in the short term. 

I f  Cable is  Unable to Develop or Acquire Advanced Encryption Technology to Prevent  

Unauthorized Access to Cable Programming,  Cable Could Experience a Decline in Revenues

Cable utilizes encryption technology to protect its cable signals from unauthorized access and to control program-
ming access based on subscription packages. There can be no assurance that Cable will be able to effectively prevent  
unauthorized decoding of signals in the future. If Cable is unable to control cable access with its encryption technology, 
its subscription levels for digital programming including VOD and SVOD, as well as Rogers Video rentals, may decline, 
which could result in a decline in Cable’s revenues.

Cable is  Required to Provide Access to its  Cable Systems to Third Party ISPs,  Which May Result in 

Increased Competition

Cable is required by the CRTC to provide access to its cable systems to third party ISPs at mandated wholesale rates.  
The CRTC has approved cost-based rates for third party Internet access service and those rates are currently under review 
by the CRTC. As a result of the requirement that Cable provide access to third party ISPs, Cable may experience increased 
competition for Internet retail subscribers. In addition, these third party providers would utilize network capacity that 
Cable could otherwise use for its own retail subscribers. A third party ISP has connected to Cable’s network on a whole-
sale basis and is providing competing Internet services at retail. The increased competition and reduced network capacity 
could result in a reduction of Cable’s revenue. In 2005, the CRTC permitted ISPs, who have connected to the cable network,  
to use those access facilities to provide telephone service.

Failure to Obtain Access to Support Structures and Municipal R ights of Way Could Increase 

Cable’s  Costs and Adversely Affect its  Business

Cable requires access to support structures and municipal rights of way in order to deploy facilities. Where access 
to municipal rights of way cannot be secured, Cable may apply to the CRTC to obtain a right of access under the 
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Telecommunications Act. However, the Supreme Court of Canada ruled in 2003 that the CRTC does not have the jurisdiction  
to establish the terms and conditions of access to the poles of hydroelectric companies. As a result of this decision, the 
Canadian Cable Telecommunications Association filed an application with the Ontario Energy Board (“OEB”) asking it to 
set a pole rate for all hydroelectric distributors in Ontario. The OEB accepted jurisdiction over this matter and set a rate 
of $22.35 per pole. In New Brunswick, the New Brunswick Public Utilities Board (“P.U.B.”) has accepted jurisdiction and 
is currently conducting a proceeding to set a rate. The costs of obtaining access to support structures of NB Power could 
substantially increase and could adversely affect Cable’s operating results.

Cable is  Highly-Dependent Upon Information Technology Systems and the Inability  to Enhance its 

Systems or a Security Breach or Disaster Could Have an Adverse Impact on its  F inancial Results 

and Operations

The day-to-day operation of Cable’s business is highly-dependent on information technology systems. An inability to 
enhance the information technology systems to accommodate additional customer growth and to support new products 
and services could have an adverse impact on Cable’s ability to acquire new subscribers, manage subscriber churn, produce  
accurate and timely subscriber bills, generate revenue growth and manage operating expenses, all of which could 
adversely impact its financial results and position.

In addition, Cable uses industry standard network and information technology security, survivability and disaster  
recovery practices. Over 1,400 of Cable’s employees and critical elements of its network infrastructure and information 
technology systems are located at either of two sites: the corporate offices in Toronto and Cable’s Toronto operations 
facility. In the event that Cable cannot access either of these facilities, as a result of a natural or manmade disaster or 
otherwise, operations may be significantly affected and this could result in a condition that is beyond the scope of 
Cable’s ability to recover without significant service interruption and commensurate revenue and customer loss.

Telecom Risks and Uncertainties

Telecom is  Highly-Dependent on Facilities    and Services of the ILECs

The Telecom business is highly-dependent on the availability of unbundled facilities acquired from incumbent telecom 
operators, pursuant to CRTC decisions. Changes to these decisions would severely affect the cost of operating these busi-
nesses. Telecom is also reliant on other competitive carriers to access its customers and to deliver its data and voice traffic. 

Network Failures Can Reduce Revenue and Impact Customer Service

The failure of the network or a component of the network would, in some circumstances result in an indefinite loss of 
service for our customers. In addition, Telecom relies on business partners to complete certain calls. The failure of one 
of these carriers might also cause an interruption in service for our customers that would last until we could reroute the 
traffic to an alternative carrier.

Telecom Faces Substantial Competition

The ILECs are formidable competitors with significant incumbency advantages. The ILECs compete with both traditional 
wireline services and newer IP-based services. Non-facilities-based VoIP providers such as AOL Canada and Primus have 
strong brands and compete in telecom. VoIP services are becoming increasingly promoted and known to consumers.

Competition remains intense in long distance markets with the average price per minute continuing to decline 
by over 10% per annum. Telecom’s exposure to long distance pricing continues to decline with long distance comprising 
approximately 43% of total revenue during 2005, down approximately 50% from last year on a pro forma basis.

In addition, Telecom faces the threat of substitution of the traditional wireline telephone by new technologies.  
Wireless is often cited as an eventual replacement for the standard home telephone, although experience shows that 
mobile phones are used primarily as second lines. The popularity of mobile phones among younger generations has 
resulted in some abandonment of wireline service.
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Media Risks and Uncertainties 

A Decline in Demand for Advertising  Would Adversely Affect Media’s  Results of Operations

Media depends on advertising as a material source of its revenue and its businesses would be adversely affected by a 
material decline in the demand for local or national advertising. Media derived approximately 44.7% of its revenues 
in 2005 from the sale of advertising. Media expects advertising will continue to be a material source of its revenue in 
the future. Advertising revenue, which is largely a function of consumer confidence and general economic conditions, 
remains unpredictable, although the diversity of the businesses Media operates, both geographically and in terms of the 
breadth of media, helps to provide some stability to the advertising revenue base. Most of Media’s advertising contracts 
are short-term contracts that can be terminated by the advertiser with little notice. A reduction in advertising spending 
or loss of material advertising relationships would adversely affect Media’s results of operations and financial position.

Media’s  Ability  to Generate Advertising  Revenue is  Adversely Affected by Local and Regional  

Economic Downturns

Expenditures by advertisers tend to be cyclical, reflecting overall economic conditions as well as budgeting and buying 
patterns outside of Media’s control. Moreover, because a substantial portion of Media’s advertising revenue is derived 
from local advertisers, Media’s ability to generate advertising revenue in specific markets is adversely affected by local 
or regional economic downturns. This is particularly true in the concentrated Toronto market, where the combined 
revenue from Media’s four radio stations and two over-the-air television stations represented approximately 11.7% of 
Media’s revenue in 2005.

Media’s  Business is  Sensiti ve to External Events

External events and consumer behaviour substantially influence advertising patterns and media usage. An unforeseen 
event such as a terrorist attack or war could result in a shift in consumer focus and a change in the price or quantity of 
advertising purchased. If advertising and media spending decline following an unforeseen event, Media’s advertising 
revenues could be adversely affected.

A Loss in Media’s  Leadership  Position  in Radio,  Television  or Magazine Readership  Could Adversely 

Impact Media’s  Sales Volumes and Advertising  Rates

It is well established that advertising dollars migrate to media properties that are leaders in their respective markets and 
categories when advertising budgets are tightened. Although most of Media’s radio, television and magazine properties  
are currently leaders in their respective markets, such leadership may not continue in the future. Advertisers base a 
substantial part of their purchasing decisions on statistics such as ratings and readership generated by industry associa-
tions and agencies. If Media’s radio and television ratings or magazine readership levels were to decrease substantially, 
Media’s advertising sales volumes and the rates which it charges advertisers could be adversely affected.

Media’s  Failure to Identify,  Complete and Integrate Acquisitions  Could Slow the Growth of its 

Business and Adversely Affect its  F inancial Condition and Results of Operations

Historically, Media’s growth has been generated, in part, by strategic acquisitions. Media intends to continue to selectively  
pursue acquisitions of radio and television stations and publishing properties and has acquired sports properties. Media is 
not able to predict whether it will be successful in acquiring properties that enhance its businesses. If Media is unable to 
identify and complete acquisitions, its growth could slow from historical levels. In addition, Media could face difficulties  
associated with integrating the operations of businesses that it does acquire, which could have a material adverse effect 
on Media’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

Media Faces Increased Competition

New programming or content services, as well as alternative media technologies, such as digital radio services, satellite 
radio, DTH satellite, wireless and wired pay television, Internet radio and video programming, and on-line publications 
have either begun competing, or may in the future compete with Media’s properties for programming and publishing  
content, audiences and advertising revenues. These competing technologies may increase audience fragmentation, 
reduce Media’s ratings or have an adverse effect on its local or national advertising revenue. These or other technologies 
and business models may have a material adverse effect on Media’s results of operations.
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An Increase in Paper Prices,  Printing Costs or Postage Could Adversely Affect Media’s  Results of 

Operations

A significant portion of Publishing’s operating expenses consists of paper, printing and postage expenses. Paper is 
Publishing’s single largest raw material expense, representing approximately 8.4% of Publishing’s operating expenses 
in 2005. Publishing depends upon outside suppliers for all of its paper supplies, holds relatively small quantities of paper 
in stock itself, and is unable to control paper prices, which can fluctuate considerably. Moreover, Publishing is generally  
unable to pass paper cost increases on to customers. Printing costs represented approximately 9.2% of Publishing’s 
operating expenses in 2005. Publishing relies on third parties for all of its printing services. In addition, Publishing relies 
on the Canadian Postal Service to distribute a large percentage of its publications. A material increase in paper prices, 
printing costs or postage expenses to Publishing could have a material adverse effect on Media’s business, results of 
operations or financial condition.

Changes in Regulatory Policies   May Adversely Affect Media’s  Business

The CRTC will review the Commercial Radio Policy of 1998, in 2006. CRTC regulatory processes have also been initiated to 
develop policy frameworks for the licensing and distribution of high-definition pay and specialty services as well as the 
transition or migration of specialty services from analog to digital.

The cable and telecommunications industries in Canada generally promote the easing or elimination of foreign 
ownership restrictions. If successful, the easing or elimination of such ownership restrictions may cause or require integrated  
communications companies to establish a separate ownership structure for their broadcasting content entities.

Tariff  Increases Could Adversely Affect Media’s  Results of Operations

Copyright liability pressures continue to affect radio services. If fees were to increase, such increases could adversely 
affect Media’s results of operations. 

Pressures Regarding Channel Placement Could Negatively Impact the T ier Status of Certain of 

Media’s  Channels

Pressures regarding the favourable channel placement of The Shopping Channel and Sportsnet below the first cable 
tier will likely continue to exist. Unfavourable channel placement could negatively affect the results of The Shopping 
Channel and Sportsnet.

Introduction of New Technology

The deployment of PVRs could influence Media’s capability to generate television advertising revenues as viewers are 
provided with the opportunity to ignore advertising aired on the television networks. Although it is still too early to 
determine its impact, the emergence of subscriber-based satellite and digital radio products could change radio audience 
listening habits and negatively impact the results of Media’s radio stations.

5 .  A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S  A N D  N O N - G A A P  M E A S U R E S

Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures

We measure the success of our strategies using a number of key performance indicators, which are outlined below. The 
following key performance indicators are not measurements in accordance with Canadian or U.S. GAAP and should not 
be considered as an alternative to net income or any other measure of performance under Canadian or U.S. GAAP.

Subscriber Counts

We determine the number of subscribers to our services based on active subscribers. A wireless subscriber is represented 
by each identifiable telephone number. A cable subscriber is represented by a dwelling unit. In the case of multiple units 
in one dwelling, such as an apartment building, each tenant with cable service, whether invoiced individually or having 
services included in his or her rent, is counted as one subscriber. Commercial or institutional units, such as hospitals or 
hotels, are each considered to be one subscriber. When subscribers are deactivated, either voluntarily or involuntarily 
for non-payment, they are considered to be deactivations in the period the services are discontinued. Wireless prepaid 
subscribers are considered active for a period of 180 days from the date of their last revenue-generating usage.
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We report wireless subscribers in four categories: postpaid, prepaid, one-way messaging and wholesale. 
Postpaid includes voice-only and data-only subscribers, as well as subscribers with service plans integrating both voice 
and data.

Effective August 2005, voluntarily deactivating cable subscribers are required to continue service for 30 days 
from the date termination is requested. This continued service period, which is consistent with the billing and subscriber 
agreement terms and conditions, had the impact of increasing net basic cable, Internet and digital household subscriber 
net additions by approximately 9,500, 5,200 and 3,800, respectively, in 2005.

Customer Relationships

Customer relationships, a term used in the Cable segment, is based on active subscribers to basic service plus subscribers 
who take Internet service but which do not subscribe to basic cable service. Refer to “Supplementary Information – Cable 
Non-GAAP Calculations” for further details on this calculation.

Subscriber Churn

Subscriber churn is calculated on a monthly basis. For any particular month, subscriber churn for Wireless represents the 
number of subscribers deactivating in the month divided by the aggregate number of subscribers at the beginning of the 
month. When used or reported for a period greater than one month, subscriber churn represents the monthly average  
of the subscriber churn for the period. 

Network Revenue

Network revenue is used in the Wireless segment and represents total Wireless revenue less revenue received from the 
sale of handset equipment. The sale of such equipment does not materially affect our operating income as we generally 
sell equipment to our distributors at a price approximating our cost to facilitate competitive pricing at the retail level. 
Accordingly, we believe that network revenue is a more relevant measure for Wireless’ ability to increase its operating 
profit, as defined below.

Average Revenue Per User

The average revenue per user (“ARPU”) is calculated on a monthly basis. For any particular month, ARPU represents 
monthly revenue divided by the average number of subscribers during the month. In the case of Wireless, ARPU represents  
monthly network revenue divided by the average number of subscribers during the month. ARPU, when used in connection  
with a particular type of subscriber, represents monthly revenue generated from those subscribers divided by the average  
number of those subscribers during the month. When used or reported for a period greater than one month, ARPU 
represents the monthly average of the ARPU calculations for the period. We believe ARPU helps indicate whether we 
have been successful in attracting and retaining higher usage subscribers. Refer to the “Supplementary Information –  
Average Revenue Per User” section for further details on this Wireless and Cable calculation.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses are segregated into three categories for assessing business performance:

•	 �Cost of sales, which is comprised of wireless equipment costs, Video stores merchandise and depreciation of Video 
Store rental assets, Telecom carrier costs, as well as cost of goods sold by The Shopping Channel; 

•	 �Sales and marketing expenses, which represent the costs to acquire new subscribers (other than those related to 
equipment), such as advertising, commissions paid to third parties for new activations, remuneration and benefits to 
sales and marketing employees, as well as direct overheads related to these activities and the costs of operating the 
Video Store locations and the retail operations of Wireless stores; and

•	 �Operating, general and administrative expenses, which include all other expenses incurred to operate the business 
on a day-to-day basis and service existing subscriber relationships, including retention costs, inter-carrier payments 
to roaming partners and long distance carriers, programming related costs, the CRTC contribution levy, Internet and  
e-mail services and printing and production costs. 
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In the wireless and cable industries in Canada, the demand for services continues to grow and the variable costs, such 
as commissions paid for subscriber activations, as well as the fixed costs of acquiring new subscribers are significant. 
Fluctuations in the number of activations of new subscribers from period to period and the seasonal nature of both 
Cable and Wireless subscriber additions result in fluctuations in sales and marketing expenses and accordingly, in the 
overall level of operating expenses. In our Media business, sales and marketing expenses may be significant to promote 
publishing, radio and television properties, which in turn attract advertisers, viewers, listeners and readers.

Sales and Marketing Costs (or Cost of Acquisition )  Per Subscriber

Sales and marketing costs per subscriber, which is also often referred to in the industry as cost of acquisition per subscriber  
(“COA”), “subscriber acquisition cost”, or “cost per gross addition”, is calculated by dividing total sales and marketing 
expenditures, plus costs related to equipment provided to new subscribers for the period, by the total number of gross 
subscriber activations during the period. COA is a measure used most commonly in a Wireless context and varies depending  
on the level of the subscriber’s monthly revenue and term of a subscriber’s contract. Total gross subscriber activations 
include postpaid and prepaid voice and data activations and one-way messaging activations. Refer to “Supplementary 
Information – Cost of Acquisition per Gross Addition” for further details on this Wireless calculation.

Operating Expense per Subscriber

Operating expense per subscriber, expressed as a monthly average, is calculated by dividing total operating, general 
and administrative expenses, plus costs related to equipment provided to existing subscribers, by the average number of  
subscribers during the period. Operating expense per subscriber is tracked by Wireless as a measure of our ability to lever-
age our operating cost structure across a growing subscriber base, and we believe that it is an important measure of our 
ability to achieve the benefits of scale as we increase the size of our business. Refer to “Supplementary Information –  
Operating Expense per Average Subscriber” for further details on this Wireless calculation.

Operating Profit  and Operating Profit  Margin

We define operating profit as net income before depreciation and amortization, interest expense, income taxes and non-
operating items, which include foreign exchange gains (losses), loss on repayment of long-term debt, change in fair value 
of derivative instruments, non-controlling interest, gain on sale on investments, write-down of investments, income (loss) 
from investments accounted for by the equity method and investment and other income. Operating profit is a standard 
measure used in the communications industry to assist in understanding and comparing operating results and is often 
referred to by our peers and competitors as EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization)  
or OIBDA (operating income before depreciation and amortization). We believe this is an important measure as it allows 
us to assess our ongoing businesses without the impact of depreciation or amortization expenses as well as non-operating  
factors. It is intended to indicate our ability to incur or service debt, invest in PP&E and allows us to compare our business 
to our peers and competitors who may have different capital or organizational structures. This measure is not a defined 
term under Canadian GAAP or U.S. GAAP.

We calculate operating profit margin by dividing operating profit by total revenue, except in the case of Wireless. 
For Wireless, operating profit margin is calculated by dividing operating profit by network revenue. Network revenue 
is used in the calculation, instead of total revenue, because network revenue better reflects Wireless’ core business  
activity of providing wireless services. This measure is not a defined term under Canadian GAAP or U.S. GAAP. Refer to 
“Supplementary Information – Operating Profit Margin Calculation” for further details on this Wireless, Cable, Telecom 
and Media calculation.
	
Additions to PP&E

Additions to PP&E include those costs associated with acquiring and placing our PP&E into service. Because the commu-
nications business requires extensive and continual investment in equipment, including investment in new technologies 
and expansion of geographical reach and capacity, additions to PP&E are significant and management focuses continually  
on the planning, funding and management of these expenditures. We focus on managing additions to PP&E than we do 
on managing depreciation and amortization expense because additions to PP&E have a direct impact on our cash flow, 
whereas depreciation and amortization are non-cash accounting measures required under Canadian GAAP.
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The additions to PP&E before related changes to non-cash working capital represent PP&E that we actually took 
title to in the period. Accordingly, for purposes of comparing our PP&E outlays, we believe that additions to PP&E before 
related changes to non-cash working capital best reflect our cost of PP&E in a period, and provide a more accurate  
determination for period-to-period comparisons. 

Critical Accounting Policies 

This MD&A is made with reference to our 2005 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto, which have 
been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The Audit Committee of our Board reviews our accounting policies, 
reviews all quarterly and annual filings, and recommends adoption of our annual financial statements to our Board. 
For a detailed discussion of our accounting policies, see Note 2 to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements. In 
addition, a discussion of critical accounting estimates and a discussion of new accounting standards adopted by us in 
the year ended December 31, 2005 are discussed in the sections “Critical Accounting Estimates” and “New Accounting 
Standards”, respectively. 

Revenue Recognition 

We consider revenues to be earned as services are performed, provided that ultimate collection is reasonably assured at 
the time of performance. 

We offer certain products and services as part of multiple deliverable arrangements. We divide multiple 
deliverable arrangements into separate units of accounting. Components of multiple deliverable arrangements are  
separately accounted for provided the delivered elements have stand-alone value to the customers and the fair value of 
any undelivered elements can be objectively and reliably determined. Consideration for these units are then measured 
and allocated amongst the accounting units based upon their relative fair values and then our relevant revenue recogni-
tion policies are applied to them. We recognize revenue once persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has 
occurred or services have been rendered, fees are fixed and determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Revenue is categorized into the following types, the majority of which are recurring in nature on a monthly 
basis from ongoing relationships, contractual or otherwise, with our subscribers:

•	 �Monthly subscriber fees in connection with wireless and wireline services, cable, telephony, Internet services, rental of 
equipment, network services, and media subscriptions are recorded as revenue on a pro rata basis over the month as 
the service is provided;

•	 �Revenue from wireless airtime, roaming, and optional services, pay-per-view and video-on-demand services, video 
rentals, and other sales of products are recorded as revenue as the services or products are delivered. Commissions 
earned by the Video stores segment in handling transactions of the cable services segment are recorded as charged. 
These fees are eliminated on consolidation;

•	 �Revenue from the sale of wireless, cable and telecommunications equipment is recorded when the equipment is 
delivered and accepted by the independent dealer or customer. Equipment subsidies provided to new and existing 
subscribers are recorded as a reduction of revenues upon activation of the service;

•	 �Installation fees and activation fees charged to subscribers do not meet the criteria as a separate unit of accounting. 
As a result, these fees are recorded as part of equipment revenue or, in the case of Cable and Telecom, are deferred 
and amortized over the related service period, as appropriate. The related service period for Cable is determined 
to be approximately four years, based on subscriber disconnects, transfers of service and moves. Incremental direct  
installation costs related to re-connects are deferred to the extent of deferred installation fees and amortized over 
the same period as these related installation fees. New connect installation costs are capitalized to property, plant 
and equipment and amortized over the useful life of the related assets;

•	 �Revenues from telecommunication services are recognized based on either customer usage as measured by our 
switches or by contractual agreement when provided. Where services to certain customers are provisioned through 
the use of subcontractor agents, revenue is recognized based on the fees charged to the customer, provided that we 
are acting as the principal in the arrangement;

•	 �Advertising revenue is recorded in the period the advertising airs on the Company’s radio or television stations and 
the period in which advertising is featured in the Company’s media publications;
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•	 �Monthly subscription revenues received by television stations for subscriptions from cable and satellite providers are 
recorded in the month in which they are earned; 

•	 �Blue Jays’ revenue, which is composed primarily of home game admission and concession revenue, is recognized as the 
related games are played during the baseball season. Revenue from radio and television agreements is recorded at the 
time the related games are aired. The Blue Jays also receive revenue from the Major League Baseball Revenue Sharing 
Agreement which distributes funds to and from member clubs, based on each clubs’ revenues. This revenue is recognized  
in the season in which it is earned, when the amount is estimable and collectibility is reasonably assured; and

•	 �Multi-product discounts related to wireless, cable, telephony, and Internet services are charged directly to the products  
to which they relate and as a reduction in revenue over the month.

Unearned revenue includes subscriber deposits, cable installation fees and amounts received from subscribers and  
customers related to services and subscriptions to be provided in future periods. 

Subscriber Acquisition  and Retention Costs

We operate within a highly-competitive industry and generally incur significant costs to attract new subscribers and 
retain existing subscribers. All sales and marketing expenditures related to subscriber acquisitions, retention and contract  
renewals, such as commissions, wireless equipment subsidies and the cost associated with the sale of cable customer 
premises equipment, are expensed in the period incurred. A large percentage of the subscriber acquisition and retention  
costs, such as equipment subsidies and commissions, are variable in nature and directly related to the acquisition or 
renewal of a subscriber. In addition, subscriber acquisition and retention costs on a per subscriber acquired basis fluctuate  
based on the success of promotional activity and the seasonality of the business. Accordingly, if we experience significant  
growth in subscriber activations or renewals during a period, expenses for that period will increase.

Capitalization of Direct Labour and Overhead

Direct labour and certain overhead costs associated with our Wireless, Cable and Telecom segments associated with the 
acquisition, construction, development or betterment of our networks, cable transmission and distribution facilities and 
new cable installations are capitalized to PP&E by applying specified capitalization rates. 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

This MD&A is made with reference to our 2005 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto, which have 
been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and 
the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates are based on management’s historical experi-
ence and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which 
form the basis for making judgments about the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates. We believe that the account-
ing estimates discussed below are critical to our business operations and an understanding of our results of operations 
or may involve additional management judgment due to the sensitivity of the methods and assumptions necessary in 
determining the related asset, liability, revenue and expense amounts.

Revenue Recognition 

We are required to make estimates for wireless airtime revenue earned but not yet billed as of the end of each reporting 
period. These estimates are based primarily upon historical usage trends. 

We record provisions against related revenue for service discounts, promotions, achievement credits and incen-
tives related to telecommunications services. These revenue allowances are based on estimates derived from factors that 
include but are not limited to historical results, current economic trends and demand.

Purchase Price Allocations

During 2004, we acquired Fido and the remaining outstanding shares of Wireless and Sportsnet. During 2005, we 
acquired Call-Net Enterprises Inc. and the Rogers Centre. The allocations of the purchase prices for these transactions 
involved considerable judgment in determining the fair values assigned to the tangible and intangible assets acquired 
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and the liabilities assumed on acquisition. Among other things, the determination of these fair values involved the use of  
discounted cash flow analyses, estimated future margins, estimated future subscribers, estimated future royalty rates, 
the use of information available in the financial markets and estimates as to costs to close duplicate facilities and buy out 
certain contracts. Should actual rates, cash flows, costs and other items differ from our estimates, this may necessitate 
revisions to the purchase price allocation or the carrying value of the related assets and liabilities acquired, including 
revisions that may impact net income in future periods. 

Carrier Charge Payable Reserves

Carrier charges are incurred for the transmission of voice and data over other carriers’ networks. These costs consist of 
both fixed payments and variable amounts based on actual usage and negotiated or regulated contract rates. Telecom 
records carrier charges as incurred. Accordingly, at each balance sheet date, Telecom records its best estimate of the 
carrier charge incurred but not billed based on internal usage reports and, for disputed amounts, a reserve based on an 
analysis of the probability of paying the disputed amount. 

Useful L ives of PP&E

We depreciate the cost of PP&E over their respective estimated useful lives. These estimates of useful lives involve 
considerable judgment. In determining the estimates of these useful lives, we take into account industry trends and 
company-specific factors, including changing technologies and expectations for the in-service period of these assets.  
On an annual basis, we reassess our existing estimates of useful lives to ensure they match the anticipated life of the 
technology from a revenue-producing perspective. If technological change happens more quickly or in a different way 
than anticipated, we might have to reduce the estimated life of PP&E, which could result in a higher depreciation 
expense in future periods.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

We amortize the cost of finite-lived intangible assets over their estimated useful lives. These estimates of useful lives 
involve considerable judgment. During 2004 and 2005, the acquisitions of Fido, Call-Net, the Rogers Centre and the 
minority interests in Wireless and Sportsnet together with the consolidation of the Blue Jays, resulted in significant 
increases to our intangible asset balances. Judgment is also involved in determining that spectrum and broadcast licences 
have indefinite lives, and therefore not amortized.

The determination of the estimated useful lives of brand names involves historical experience, marketing  
considerations and the nature of the industries in which we operates. The useful lives of subscriber bases are based 
on the historical churn rates of the underlying subscribers and judgments as to the applicability of these rates going 
forward. The useful lives of roaming agreements are based on estimates of the useful lives of the related network  
equipment. The useful lives of wholesale agreements and dealer networks are based on the underlying contractual lives. 
The determination of the estimated useful lives of intangible assets impacts amortization expense in the current period 
as well as future periods. The impact on net income on a full-year basis of changing the useful lives of the finite-lived 
assets by one year is shown in the chart below. 

	 		  Increase in	 Decrease in
			    Net Income	  Net Income	
	 	 Amortization	 if Life Increased	 if Life Decreased
(In millions of dollars)		  Period	 by 1 year 	 by 1 year

Brand names
		  Rogers	 		  	 20.0 years	  $	 0.7 	  $	 (0.8)
		  Fido		 			   5.0 years	  $	 3.4 	  $	 (5.1)
Subscriber Base							     
		  Rogers		  		  4.6 years	  $	 30.4 	  $	 (53.7)
		  Fido		 			   2.3 years	  $	 23.5 	  $	 (61.0)
		  Telecom	 		  	 2.4 years	  $	 15.3 	  $	 (37.9)
Roaming Agreements		  	 	 12.0 years	  $	 3.4 	  $	 (4.0)
Dealer network
		  Rogers	 		  	 4.0 years	  $	 1.4 	  $	 (2.3)
		  Fido		 			   4.0 years	 $	 0.7 	  $	 (1.1)
	 Wholesale agreements		  	 	 3.2 years	  $	 1.0 	 $	 (1.9)
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Impairment of Indefinite-L ived Intangible Assets and Long-L ived Assets

Indefinite-lived intangible assets, including goodwill and spectrum/broadcast licences, as well as long-lived assets including  
PP&E and other intangible assets, are assessed for impairment on at least an annual basis or more often if events or  
circumstances warrant. These impairment tests involve the use of both discounted and undiscounted cash flow analyses 
to assess the fair value of both indefinite-lived and long-lived assets and the recoverability of the carrying value of these 
assets. These analyses involve estimates of future cash flows, estimated periods of use and applicable discount rates. If 
the fair values of these assets as determined above are less than the related carrying values, impairment losses would be 
recognized, as applicable.

Capitalization of Direct Labour and Overhead

As discussed above, direct labour and certain overhead costs are capitalized to PP&E by applying specified capitalization 
rates. Estimates of historical costs are used to determine these capitalization rates. We assess these capitalization rates to 
ensure their continued applicability, and any changes to these rates, which may be significant, are included prospectively  
in the periods in which these assessments are completed. Although interest costs are permitted to be capitalized during 
construction, it is our policy not to capitalize interest.

Income Tax Estimates

We use judgment in the estimation of income taxes and future income tax assets and liabilities. In the preparation of 
its financial statements, we are required to estimate income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This 
involves estimating actual current tax exposure, together with assessing temporary differences that result from differing  
treatments in items for accounting purposes versus tax purposes, and in estimating the recoverability of the benefits 
arising from tax loss carryforwards. We are required to assess whether it is more likely than not that future income tax 
assets will be realized prior to the expiration of the related tax loss carryforwards. Judgment is required to determine 
if a valuation allowance is needed against either all or a portion of our future tax assets. Various considerations are 
reflected in this judgment including future profitability of the related company, tax planning strategies that are being 
implemented or could be implemented to recognize the benefits of these tax assets, as well as the expiration of the tax 
loss carryforwards. Judgments and estimates made to assess the tax treatment of items and the need for a valuation 
allowance impact the future tax balances as well as net income through the current and future tax provisions. As at 
December 31, 2005 and as detailed in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we have tax loss carryforwards of 
approximately $3,860.9 million expiring at various times through 2016. Our net future income tax asset, prior to valuation 
allowances, totals approximately $1,078.2 million at December 31, 2005 (2004 – $696.8 million). A full valuation allow-
ance had been provided against our net future income tax assets in 2004. However, in 2005, we reduced the valuation  
allowance to reflect that it is more likely than not that certain income tax assets will be realized resulting in the recognition  
of a net future tax asset of $460.4 million. Approximately $451.8 million of the income tax assets recognized in 2005 
relate to assets arising on acquisitions. Accordingly, the benefit related to these assets has been reflected as a reduction 
of goodwill. 

Pension Plans

When accounting for defined benefit pension plans, assumptions are made in determining the valuation of benefit 
obligations and the future performance of plan assets. Delayed recognition of differences between actual results and  
expected or estimated results is a guiding principle of pension accounting. This principle results in recognition of changes  
in benefit obligations and plan performance over the working lives of the employees who benefit under the plan. 
The primary assumptions and estimates include the discount rate, the expected return on plan assets and the rate of 
compensation increase. Changes to these primary assumptions and estimates would impact pension expense and the 
deferred pension asset.
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The following table illustrates the increase (decrease) on the accrual benefit obligation and pension expense 
for changes in these primary assumptions and estimates:

	 	 	 Accrued Benefit 
			   Obligation at	 Pension Expense
(In thousands of dollars)	 	 	 End of Fiscal 2005	 Fiscal 2005	

Discount Rate				    		  5.25% 		  6.25%
	 	 Impact of:	 1% increase	 				     $	 (88,376)	  $	 (9,853)
		  					     1% decrease		  				    121,730 		  13,831 
Rate of Compensation Increase				    		  4.00% 		  4.00% 
	 	 Impact of:	 0.25% increase	 				     $	 5,682 	  $	 935 
	 					     	 0.25% decrease	 				    	 (5,811)		  (950)
Expected Rate of Return on Assets				    		   N/A 		  7.25% 
	 	 Impact of:	 1% increase		  				     N/A 		  (4,100)
		  					     1% decrease		  				     N/A 		  4,100

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

A significant portion of our revenue is earned from selling on credit to individual consumers and business customers. 
The allowance for doubtful accounts is calculated by taking into account factors such as our historical collection and 
write-off experience, the number of days the customer is past due and the status of the customer’s account with respect 
to whether or not the customer is continuing to receive service. As a result, fluctuations in the aging of subscriber 
accounts will directly impact the reported amount of bad debt expense. For example, events or circumstances that result 
in a deterioration in the aging of subscriber accounts will in turn increase the reported amount of bad debt expense. 
Conversely, as circumstances improve and customer accounts are adjusted and brought current, the reported bad debt 
expense will decline.

New Accounting Standards 

We adopted the following new accounting standards as a result of changes to Canadian GAAP:

F inancial Instruments

On January 1, 2005, we adopted the amended provisions of The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook 
Section 3860, “Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation” (“CICA 3860”) with retroactive application and, as 
a result, have reflected the impact of this new accounting policy in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 
2005 and 2004 and in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Cash Flows for each of the years in the two-year period 
ended December 31, 2005. Section 3860 was amended to provide guidance for classifying as liabilities certain financial 
obligations of a fixed amount that may be settled, at the issuer’s option, by a variable number of the issuer’s own equity 
instruments. Any financial instruments issued by an enterprise that give the issuer unrestricted rights to settle the principal  
amount for cash or the equivalent value of its own equity instruments are no longer presented as equity. 

As a result of retroactively adopting Section 3860, we reclassified the liability portion of its 5½% Convertible 
Preferred Securities due August 2009 to long-term debt and the related interest expense has been included as interest 
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income. These changes do not affect loss per share since the related interest 
expense has, in prior years, been incorporated in determining net loss for the purposes of determining loss per share.

Refer to Note 2(s)(i) for further details on the adjustments to the 2004 comparative amounts. 

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2004, Canadian GAAP requires us to estimate the fair value of stock-based compensation granted to 
employees and to expense the fair value over the vesting period of the stock options. In accordance with the transition 
rules, we determined the fair value of options granted to employees since January 1, 2002 using the Black-Scholes Option 
Pricing Model, and recorded an adjustment to opening retained earnings in the amount of $7.0 million, representing the 
expense for the 2002 and 2003 fiscal years. The offset to retained earnings is an increase in our contributed surplus. For 
the year ended December 31, 2004, we recognized stock-based compensation expense of approximately $15.1 million.
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Accounting for Derivative Instruments

Our cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements (“swaps”) are used to manage the cash flow risks associated with 
the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates relating to our U.S. dollar-denominated debt. We do not enter into such 
swaps for speculative purposes.

Prior to January 1, 2004, we accounted for these swaps as hedges of the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates 
relating to approximately 67.8% of our U.S. dollar-denominated debt. Under hedge accounting, the foreign exchange 
gains and losses arising on the translation of the U.S. dollar-denominated debt at the end of each accounting period 
was hedged by the equal and offsetting foreign exchange gains and losses relating to the swaps that were designated 
as hedges.

Effective January 1, 2004, we adopted Accounting Guideline 13 (“AcG-13”), “Hedging Relationships” which 
established a new criteria for hedge accounting with application to all hedging relationships in effect on or after 
January 1, 2004. Effective January 1, 2004, we re-assessed all our hedging relationships and determined that we would 
not account for our swaps as hedges for accounting purposes and consequently began to account for such swaps on a 
mark-to-market basis, with resulting gains or losses recorded in or charged against income.

We adjusted the carrying value of these instruments of $338.1 million at December 31, 2003 to the fair value of 
$385.3 million on January 1, 2004. The corresponding transitional loss of $47.2 million was deferred and was being amortized  
to income over the remaining life of the underlying debt instruments. 

Effective July 1, 2004, we met the requirements for hedge accounting under AcG-13 for certain of our derivative  
instruments, and consequently, on a prospective basis, began to treat approximately US$2,773.4 million notional amount 
of an aggregate US$2,885.3 million notional amount, or 96.1% of these exchange agreements, as hedges for accounting 
purposes on US$2,773.4 million of U.S. dollar-denominated debt.

A transition adjustment arising on the change from mark-to-market accounting to hedge accounting was 
therefore calculated as at July 1, 2004, resulting in a deferred transitional gain of $80.0 million. This transitional gain is 
being amortized to income over the shorter of the remaining life of the debt and the term of the exchange agreements. 
Amortization of the transitional gain from July 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004 totalled $6.5 million.

Recent Canadian Accounting Pronouncements

Non-Monetary Transactions

In 2005, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3831 “Non-monetary transactions” (“CICA 3831”), replaced Section 3830 
“Non-monetary transactions”. CICA 3831 requires that an asset exchanged or transferred in a non-monetary transaction  
must be measured at its fair value except when: the transaction lacks commercial substance; the transaction is an 
exchange of a product or property held for sale in the ordinary course of business for a product or property to be sold 
in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers other than the parties to the exchange; neither the fair value 
of the asset received nor the fair value of the asset given up is reliably measurable; or the transaction is a non-monetary 
non-reciprocal transfer to owners that represents a spin-off or other form of restructuring or liquidation. In these cases 
the transaction must be measured at the carrying value. The new requirements are effective for transactions occurring 
on or after January 1, 2006. We do not expect that this new standard will have a material impact on our consolidated 
financial statements. 

F inancial Instruments

In January 2005, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3855, “Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement”, 
Handbook Section 1530, “Comprehensive Income”, and Handbook Section 3865, “Hedges”. The new standards will be 
effective for interim and annual financial statements commencing in 2007. Earlier adoption is permitted. The new standards  
will require presentation of a separate statement of comprehensive income. Derivative financial instruments will be 
recorded in the balance sheet at fair value and the changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges 
will be reported in comprehensive income. The existing hedging principles of AcG-13 will be substantially unchanged. 
We are assessing the impact of these new standards.
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U.S. GAAP Differences

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP. U.S. GAAP differs from Canadian GAAP in certain  
respects. The areas of principal differences and their impact on our Audited Consolidated Financial Statements are 
described in Note 23 to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements. The significant differences in accounting relate to:

•	 Gain On Sale and Issuance of Subsidiary Shares to Non-Controlling Interest
•	 Gain on Sale of Cable Systems
•	 Pre-operating Costs
•	 Equity Instruments
•	 Capitalized Interest
•	 Unrealized Holding Gains and Losses on Investments
•	 Acquisition of Cable Atlantic 
•	 Financial Instruments
•	 Stock-based Compensation
•	 Minimum Pension Liability
•	 Income Taxes
•	 Installation Revenues and Costs
•	 Loss on Repayment of Long-Term Debt
•	 Acquisition of Wireless
•	 Blue Jays

Recent United States accounting pronouncements are also discussed in Note 23 to the Audited Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

Intercompany and Related Party Transactions 

RCI  Arrangements with its  Subsidiaries 

RCI has entered into a number of agreements with its subsidiaries, including Wireless, Cable, Telecom, and Media. These 
agreements govern the management, commercial and cost-sharing arrangements that RCI have with its subsidiaries. RCI 
monitors intercompany and related party agreements to ensure they remain beneficial to the Company. RCI continually 
evaluates the expansion of existing arrangements and the entry into new agreements.

RCI’s agreements with its subsidiaries have historically focused on areas of operation in which joint or combined  
services provide efficiencies of scale or other synergies. For example, RCI manages the call centre operations of Wireless, 
Cable and effective September 1, 2005, Telecom, with the goal of improving productivity, increasing service levels and 
reducing costs.

More recently, RCI’s arrangements are increasingly focused on sales and marketing activities. In addition, RCI 
continues to look for other operations and activities that can be shared or jointly operated with other companies within 
the Rogers group. Any new arrangements will be entered into only if the companies believe such arrangements are in 
each company’s best interest. The definitive terms and conditions of the agreements relating to these arrangements are 
subject to the approval of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of each company.

Management Services Agreement 

Each of Wireless, Cable and Media has entered into a management services agreement with RCI under which RCI agrees to 
provide supplemental executive, administrative, financial, strategic planning, information technology and various other 
services to each subsidiary. Those services relate to, among other things, assistance with tax advice, Canadian regulatory  
matters, financial advice (including the preparation of business plans and financial projections and the evaluation of 
PP&E expenditure proposals), treasury services, service on the subsidiary’s Boards of Directors and on committees of the 
Boards of Directors, advice and assistance in relationships with employee groups, internal audits, investor relations,  
purchasing and legal services. In return for these services, each of the subsidiaries has agreed to pay RCI certain fees, 
which, in the case of Cable and Media, is an amount equal to 2% of their respective consolidated revenue for each fiscal 
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quarter, subject to certain exceptions, and, in the case of Wireless, is an amount equal to the greater of $8 million per 
year (adjusted for changes in the Canadian Consumer Price Index from January 1, 1991) and an amount determined by 
both RCI and the directors serving on the Audit Committee of Wireless. 

Effective January 1, 2006, as a result of the reorganization of Cable and Telecom, Telecom will be subject to the 
Management Services Agreement.

Customer Care Call Centres 

RCI is party to agreements with Wireless, Cable and effective September 1, 2005, Telecom pursuant to which RCI provides 
customer service and sales functions through our call centres. Wireless, Cable and Telecom pay RCI commissions for new 
subscriptions, products and service options purchased by subscribers through the call centres. RCI is reimbursed for the 
cost of providing customer service based on the actual costs incurred and is held accountable for meeting performance 
targets as detailed in the agreement. The assets used in the provision of these services are owned by Wireless, Cable and 
Telecom. The current agreements are terminable upon 90 days notice.

Accounts Receivable 

RCI manages the subscriber account collection activities of Wireless and Cable. Wireless and Cable are responsible, however,  
for the costs incurred in the collection and handling of their accounts. Coinciding with the reorganization of Cable and 
Telecom in early 2006 as discussed above and as billing conversions are completed, the arrangement for the subscriber 
collection activities will be expanded to include the current operations of Telecom. 

Real Estate 

Wireless leases, at market rates, office space to us and our subsidiaries. RCI manages the real estate that Wireless owns. 
Wireless reimburses RCI for the costs it incurs based on various factors, including the number of sites managed and 
employees utilized.

Wireless Services 

Wireless provides wireless services to RCI and its subsidiaries. The fees RCI pays are based on actual usage at market rates.

Information Technology

RCI manages the information technology function for Wireless, Cable, and effective September 1, 2005, Telecom, including  
the operation of the billing and customer care systems. Wireless, Cable and Telecom reimburse RCI based on the actual 
costs incurred. 

Cost Sharing and Services Agreements 

RCI entered into other cost sharing and services agreements with its subsidiaries in the areas of accounting, purchasing, 
human resources, accounts payable processing, remittance processing, payroll processing, e-commerce and the RCI data 
centre and other common services and activities. Generally, RCI provides these services to its subsidiaries and the agreements  
are on renewable terms of one year and may be terminated by either party on 30 to 90 days notice. To the extent that 
RCI incurs operating expenses and make PP&E expenditures, these costs are reimbursed to RCI, on a cost recovery basis,  
in accordance with the services RCI provides on behalf of the subsidiaries.

Arrangements Between Our Subsidiaries 

Invoicing of Common Customers 

Pursuant to an agreement with Cable, Wireless purchases the accounts receivables and provides invoicing and subscriber  
account collection services for common subscribers who receive a consolidated invoice and for all cable telephony 
subscribers. Wireless is compensated for costs of bad debts, billing costs and services and other determinable costs by 
purchasing these receivables at a discount. The discount is based on actual costs incurred for the services provided and is 
reviewed periodically. 
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Distribution of Wireless’  Products and Services 

Cable and Wireless have entered into an agreement for the sale of their products and services through the Rogers Video 
stores owned by Cable. Wireless pays Cable commissions for new subscriptions equivalent to amounts paid to third-party 
distributors. 

Distribution of Cable’s  Products and Services 

Wireless has agreed to provide retail field support to Cable and to represent Cable in the promotion and sales of its  
business products and services. Under the retail field support agreement, Wireless’ retail sales representatives receive 
sales commissions for achieving sales targets with respect to Cable products and services, the cost of which is reimbursed 
by Cable to Wireless.

Transmission Facilities   

Wireless has entered into agreements with Cable to share the construction and operating costs of certain co-located 
fibre-optic transmission and microwave facilities. The costs of these facilities are allocated based on usage or ownership, 
as applicable. Since there are significant fixed costs associated with these transmission links, Wireless and Cable have 
achieved economies of scale by sharing these facilities resulting in reduced capital costs. In addition, Wireless receives 
payments from Cable for the use of its data, circuits, data transmission and links. The price of these services is based on 
usage or ownership, as applicable.

Long Distance

In 2005, Telecom began to terminate long distance minutes in both North American and international markets for 
Wireless. These transactions are priced at fair value wholesale rates. 

 
Advertising

Wireless and Cable advertise their products and services through radio stations and other media outlets owned by 
Media. They receive a discount from the customary rates of Media. Media has also agreed to compensate Cable for the 
placement of Media advertising on one or more of Cable’s television channels.

Transfer of Telecom Subscribers to Wireless

Rogers Telecom and Fido were subject to an agreement whereby Telecom resold the wireless services of Fido. During 
2005, the resale agreement was terminated and Wireless purchased the wireless subscriber base and related working 
capital items of Telecom for a cash consideration of $6.5 million. 

Summary of Charges from (to)  Related Parties

We have entered into certain transactions in the normal course of business with certain broadcasters in which we have 
an equity interest.

(In millions of dollars) 
Years ended December 31,			   2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Roaming revenue billed by AWE(1)	 				     $	 –  	  $	 12.1 
Roaming expenses paid to AWE(1)	 					      –		   (9.0)
Fees Paid to AWE for over-air activation(1)	 					     – 		  –
Programming rights acquired from the Blue Jays	 					     – 		   (8.0)
Access fees paid to broadcasters accounted for by the equity method					     (18.4)		   (19.0)

		  									          $	 (18.4)	  $	 (23.9)

(1)	Amounts for 2004 are until October 13, 2004.
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In addition, we entered into certain transactions with companies, the partners or senior officers of which are directors of 
RCI or our subsidiary companies as follows:

(In millions of dollars) 
Years ended December 31,			   2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Legal services and commissions paid on premiums for insurance coverage			   $	 5.4 	  $	 4.0 
Telecommunications and programming services	 					      1.6 		   6.3 
Interest charges and other financing fees	 					      21.9 		   37.8 

		  									          $	 28.9 	  $	 48.1 

 
We made payments to or received payments from companies controlled by our controlling shareholder as follows:

(In millions of dollars) 
Years ended December 31,			   2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Dividends paid on Class A Preferred shares of Blue Jays Holdco	 			    $	 –	   	  2.7 
Charges to Rogers for business use of aircraft	  					     0.6 		   0.5 
Charges by Rogers for rent and reimbursement of office and personnel costs	 		   (0.1)		   (0.1)

		   									        $	 0.5 	  $	 3.1 

During 2005, with the approval of the Board of Directors, we entered into an arrangement to sell to our controlling 
shareholder, for $13.0 million in cash, the shares in two wholly owned subsidiaries whose only asset will consist of tax 
losses aggregating approximately $100 million. The terms of the transaction were reviewed and approved by a Special 
Committee of the Board of Directors comprised of independent Directors. The Special Committee was advised by inde-
pendent counsel and engaged an accounting firm as part of their review to ensure that the sale price was within a range 
that would be fair from a financial point of view. The sale of the tax losses will be completed by mid-2006. For account-
ing purposes, we recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2005 a future tax asset of $13.0 million, 
representing the amount we will receive from the controlling shareholder for the tax losses when the sale is completed. 
In addition, a corresponding $13.0 million was recorded as a reduction of income tax expense in 2005 in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income.
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6 .  A D D I T I O N A L  F I N A N C I A L  I N F O R M A T I O N

2006 Financial and Operating Guidance

The following table outlines our financial and operational guidance for the full year 2006. This information is forward-
looking and should be read in conjunction with the sections above entitled “Caution Regarding Forward-Looking 
Statements”, “Risks and Uncertainties”, and the section below entitled “Material Assumptions”. We caution that actual 
results may differ materially from the conclusions, forecasts or projections reflected or contained in this forward-looking  
information. The table also presents 2005 results for the categories for which guidance is being provided, with the  
pro forma results reflecting the transfer of Telecom to Cable in the first quarter 2006, as previously discussed.

	 		  2 0 0 5 
			   Reclassified 	 2 0 0 6
(In millions of dollars, except subscribers)	 	 	 and Pro Forma	 Range

Revenue 
		  Wireless (network revenue)	 		  $	 3,613 	  $	 4,125 	 to 	$	 4,175 
		  Cable and Telecom(1)	 			    2,925 		   3,110 	 to	 	  3,185 
		  Media(2)	 			    1,097 		   1,165 	 to	  	 1,205 
Operating profit(3)	
		  Wireless(4)	 		  $	 1,391 	 $	 1,730 	 to 	$	 1,780 
		  Cable and Telecom(1)	 			    834 		   825 	 to	  	 860 
		  Media(2)	 			    128 		   115 	 to	  	 120 
PP&E expenditures(5)

		  Wireless(4)	 		  $	 492 	  $	 600 	 to 	$	 650 
		  Cable and Telecom(1)	 			    742 		   640 	 to 		  695 
Net subscriber additions (000s)	
		  Wireless voice and data	 			    619 		   525 	 to 		  575 
		  Basic cable	 			    9 		  –  	to 		  10 
		  Internet	 			    209 		   125 	 to 	 	 175 
		  Digital	 			    238 		   175 	 to 	 	 225 
		  Residential telephony	 			    144 		   200 	 to 	 	 250 
Rogers Telecom integration(6)	 		  $	 14 	  $	 50 	 to 	$	 65 

(1)	Supplemental Cable and Telecom detail:
	� Home Phone Service and Rogers Business Solutions operating profit and PP&E expenditures exclude costs associated with the integration of 

Call-Net. 

	 	 2 0 0 5 
		  Reclassified 	 2 0 0 6

(In millions of dollars)		  and Pro Forma	 Range

		  Revenue (excluding intercompany eliminations)					   
				    Core Cable and Internet	 		  $	 1,740 	  $	 1,850 	 to 	$	 1,870 
				    Home Phone Service	 			    300 		   325 	 to	  	 345 
				    Rogers Business Solutions	 			    561 		   600 	 to	  	 625 
				    Video stores	 			    327 		   335 	 to	  	 345 
		  Operating profit					   
				    Core Cable and Internet	 		   $	 725 	  $	 755 	 to 	$	 770 
				    Home Phone Service	 			    39 		   10 	 to	  	 15 
				    Rogers Business Solutions	 			    52 		   45 	 to	  	 55 
				    Video stores	 			    18 		   15 	 to	  	 20 
		  PP&E expenditures					   
				    Core Cable and Internet	  		  $	 515 	  $	 450 	 to 	$	 470 
				    Home Phone Service	 			    127 		   90 	 to	  	 110 
				    Rogers Business Solutions	 			    86 		   90 	 to	  	 100 
				    Video stores	 			    15 		   10 	 to	  	 15 
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(2)	Supplemental Media detail:

		  	 2 0 0 6
(In millions of dollars)		  2 0 0 5 	 Range

	 	 Revenue					   
				    Core Media	 		  $	 937 	  $	 1,000 	 to	$	 1,030 
				    Sports Entertainment	 			    160 		   165 	 to	  	 175 
		  Operating Profit					   
				    Core Media	 		  $	 139 	  $	 145 	 to	$	 155 
				    Sports Entertainment	 			    (11)		   (30)	 to 	  	 (35)

(3)	�Before RCI corporate expenses and management fees paid to RCI, and excluding costs associated with the integration of Fido and Call-Net.

(4)	Supplemental Wireless detail:
	� Excludes one time expenditures related to the integration of Fido in 2005 as well as up to $80 million of PP&E expenditures and up to  

$20 million in operating losses related to the Inukshuk fixed wireless initiative in 2006.

		  	 2 0 0 6
(In millions of dollars)		  2 0 0 5 	 Range

		  PP&E expenditures					   
				    Wireless (excl. HSDPA)	 		  $	 492 	  $	 450	 to	$	 475 
				    HSDPA	 			   –		   150 	 to	  	 175 

(5)	�Does not include Corporate or Media PP&E expenditures or the PP&E expenditures component of the Call-Net integration. Corporate PP&E 
expenditures will include costs associated with the January 4, 2006 purchase of the Greater Toronto Area business campus by RCI. 

(6)	�Estimated 2006 breakdown: approximately 70% to be recorded as PP&E expenditures and approximately 30% to be recorded as operating 
expense.

 
Material Assumptions

Certain key macro assumptions were made in the preparation of our annual 2006 guidance, the most significant of 
which include:

•	 �Canadian GDP growth of approximately 3% for 2006, with the Canadian Consumer Price Index rising modestly from 
the current level of approximately 2%;

•	 �A relatively stable foreign exchange rate of C$1.18 = US$1.00 based upon a general consensus of economists’ currency 
forecasts;

•	 Growth in the overall Canadian telecommunications market in 2006 modestly higher than GDP growth;
•	 �A revenue growth rate for the Canadian wireless industry of approximately 13% to 15% which is slightly below the 

2005 growth rate, with a wireless industry penetration gain similar to modestly below the gain in 2005;
•	 �Revenue growth rates for the overall Canadian video and Internet markets equal to or slightly lower than the 2005 

growth rates of approximately 6% and 12%, respectively;
•	 �A modest decrease in the overall Canadian residential and business voice telecommunications markets consistent with 

2005 due to competitive pricing pressures, wireless substitution, and other factors; 
•	 No material changes in the overall Canadian advertising market; and
•	 �No significant degree of consolidation, fragmentation or other such changes in the Canadian communications or 

media industries. 
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Various company-specific assumptions were also made in the preparation of our annual 2006 guidance, the most significant  
of which include:

•	 �Wireless voice and data subscriber growth of approximately 9% with the majority of new subscribers being added 
onto postpaid rate plans;

•	 �Wireless ARPU levels growing modestly driven primarily by increased data usage, while wireless churn levels do not 
increase from 2005 levels;

•	 �Basic cable subscriber levels remaining essentially unchanged or showing modest growth while the digital cable sub-
scriber base grows 20% to 25%;

•	 �High-speed Internet subscriber levels growing approximately 10% to 15% with ARPU levels relatively stable compared 
to 2005;

•	 �Residential telephony subscriber base growth of approximately 45% to 55% enabled by the expanded availability and 
increased sales and marketing of the Rogers Home Phone service and relatively stable residential telephony pricing in 
our cable serving areas; 

•	 Cable and Internet prices are expected to rise at rates modestly above GDP;
•	 Integration costs during 2006 related to the 2005 Call-Net acquisition in the range of $50 million to $60 million;
•	 �Wireless PP&E expenditure and operating expense plans contemplate the initial rollout of UMTS/HSDPA 3G wireless 

services during 2006 and the successful implementation of wireless local number portability in early 2007; and
•	 Cable and Telecom PP&E expenditure plans contemplate continued subscriber growth as discussed above. 

The above assumptions, although considered reasonable by Rogers at the time of preparation of such guidance and 
other forward-looking statements, may prove to be inaccurate. Accordingly, our actual results could differ materially 
from our expectations as set forth in this MD&A.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

Years ended December 31,
(In thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)	 2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4 	 2 0 0 3 	 2 0 0 2 	 2 0 0 1

Income and Cash Flow
Revenue						    
	 	 Wireless(1)	 $	 4,006,658 	  $	 2,783,525 	  $	 2,207,794 	  $	 1,891,514 	  $	 1,640,889 
	 	 Cable(1)	 	  2,067,733 	 	  1,945,655 	  	 1,788,122 	  	 1,614,554 	 	  1,446,599 
	 	 Media	 	  1,097,176 	 	  957,112 	 	  854,992 	 	  810,805 	 	 721,710 
	 	 Telecom	 	  423,890 	 	  – 	 	  –  	  	  –  	 	  – 
	 	 Corporate and eliminations	 	  (113,303)	 	  (78,043)	 	  (59,052)	  	 (50,088)	  	 4,772 

		  					     $	 7,482,154 	  $	 5,608,249 	  $	 4,791,856 	  $	 4,266,785 	  $	 3,813,970 

Operating Profit(2)						    
	 	 Wireless	  $	 1,337,049 	  $	 950,391 	  $	 727,572 	  $	 527,687 	  $	 411,945 
	 	 Cable	 	  718,603 	 	  708,659 	 	  663,474 	  	 563,480 	  	 516,805 
	 	 Media	 	  127,846 	  	 115,372	  	  106,724 	 	  87,635 	  	 68,306 
	 	 Telecom	 	  45,940 	 	  –  	 	  –  	 	  – 	 	  –  
	 	 Corporate and eliminations	 	  (85,869)	 	  (40,281)	  	 (48,874)	 	  (37,188)	  	 (44,535)

		   					    $	 2,143,569 	  $	 1,734,141 	  $	 1,448,896 	  $	 1,141,614 	  $	 952,521 

Net Income (loss)(1)(4)	  $	 (44,658)	  $	 (67,142)	  $	 79,358 	  $	 259,854 	  $	 (515,721)

Cash flow from operations(1)(3)	  $	 1,551,415 	  $	 1,305,019 	  $	 1,031,043 	  $	 682,839 	  $	 483,862 
Property, plant and  
	 equipment expenditures 	 $	 1,353,796 	  $	 1,054,938 	  $	 963,742 	  $	 1,261,983 	  $	 1,420,747 
Average Class A and Class B shares						    
	 outstanding (000s)		   288,668	 	  240,435	 	  225,918 	  	 213,570 	 	  208,644 
Per Share						    
		  Earnings (loss)	– basic	  $	 (0.15)	  $	 (0.28)	  $	 0.35 	  $	 1.05 	  $	 (2.56)
                         	 – diluted	  $	 (0.15)	 	  (0.28)	 	  0.34 	  	 0.83 	 	  (2.56)
Balance Sheet						    
Assets						    
		  Property, plant and equipment, net	  $	 6,151,526 	  $	 5,486,837 	  $	 5,039,304 	  $	 5,051,998 	  $	 4,717,731 
		  Goodwill		   3,035,786 	  	 3,388,687 	  	 1,891,636 	 	  1,892,060 	 	  1,711,551 
		  Intangible assets		   2,627,467 	 	  2,855,689 	 	 400,219 	  	 423,674	  	  423,374 
		  Investments		   138,212 	  	 139,170 	 	  229,221	  	  223,937 	 	  1,047,888 
		  Other assets 		   1,881,298 	 	  1,402,355	  	  905,115 	 	  1,115,064 	 	  1,298,400 

							        $	 13,834,289 	  $	 13,272,738 	  $	 8,465,495 	  $	 8,706,733 	  $	 9,198,944 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 						    
		  Long-term debt(1)(5)	  $	 7,739,551 	  $	 8,541,097 	  $	 5,440,018 	  $	 6,319,454 	  $	 5,809,497 
		  Accounts payable and  
			   other liabilities		   2,567,123 	  	 2,346,307 	 	  1,534,541 	 	  1,272,745 	  	 1,192,165 
		  Future income taxes		   –   	 	  –  	 	 –   	 	  27,716 	 	  137,189 
		  Non-controlling interest		   –   	 	  –   	  	 193,342 	  	 132,536	  	  186,377 

		  Total liabilities		   10,306,674 	 	  10,887,404 	 	  7,167,901 	 	  7,752,451 	  	 7,325,228 
		  Shareholders’ equity(1)		   3,527,615 	 	  2,385,334 	 	  1,297,594 	 	  954,282 	 	  1,873,716 

		  					     $	 13,834,289 	  $	 13,272,738 	  $	 8,465,495 	  $	 8,706,733 	  $	 9,198,944 
  

(1)	 As reclassified. See the “New Accounting Standards” section.

(2)	 �Operating profit is defined as income before depreciation, amortization, interest, income taxes, and non-operating items. See “Key 
Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section.

(3)	 Cash flow from operations before changes in working capital amounts.

(4)	 Restated for the change in accounting of foreign exchange translation.

(5)	 �Total long-term debt, including current portion, has been reclassified to exclude the effect of our cross-currency interest rate exchange 
agreements.
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Summary of Seasonality and Quarterly Results 

Quarterly results and statistics for the previous eight quarters are outlined following this section. 
Our operating results are subject to seasonal fluctuations that materially impact quarter-to-quarter operating 

results. As a result, one quarter’s operating results are not necessarily indicative of what a subsequent quarter’s operating  
results will be. Each of Wireless, Cable, Telecom, and Media has unique seasonal aspects to their businesses. 

Wireless’ operating results are subject to seasonal fluctuations that materially impact quarter-to-quarter operating  
results. In particular, this seasonality generally results in relatively lower fourth quarter operating profits due primarily 
to increased marketing and promotional expenditures and relatively higher levels of subscriber additions, resulting in 
higher subscriber acquisition and activation-related expenses in that period. Seasonal fluctuation also typically occurs in  
the third quarter of each year because higher usage and roaming result in higher network revenue and operating profit.

The operating results from Cable and Internet services are subject to modest seasonal fluctuations in subscriber 
additions and disconnections which are largely attributable to movements of university and college students, individuals  
temporarily suspending service due to extended vacations, and the timing of promotional activity. Video operations may 
also experience modest fluctuations from quarter-to-quarter due to the timing of popular titles available throughout  
the year. However, the fourth quarter has historically been the strongest quarter due to increased consumer activity in 
the retail cycle. 

Telecom does not have any unique seasonal aspect to its business, but there are various factors such as holiday 
periods that may cause seasonal shifts in traffic patterns between consumers versus business customers at Telecom. The 
overall impact on Telecom’s financial results is not material. 

The seasonality at Media is a result of fluctuations in advertising and related retail cycles since they relate to 
periods of increased consumer activity as well as fluctuations associated with the Major League Baseball season where 
revenues are generally concentrated in the spring, summer and fall months.

In addition to the seasonal trends, the most notable trend has been the quarter-by-quarter improvements in 
revenue and operating profit across the Wireless, Cable, Telecom, and Media businesses. 

Much of the 2005 versus 2004 growth in Wireless operating results and statistics from fourth quarter of 2004 
reflects Rogers Wireless’ acquisition of Fido. Wireless revenue and operating profit growth reflects the increasing 
number of wireless voice and data subscribers and the increase in blended postpaid and prepaid ARPU. Wireless has 
continued its strategy of targeting higher-value postpaid subscribers and selling prepaid handsets at higher price points, 
which has also contributed over time to the significantly heavier mix of postpaid versus prepaid subscribers. Meanwhile, 
the successful growth in customer base and increased market penetration have been met by increasing customer service 
and retention expenses and increasing credit and collection costs. However, these costs have been offset by operating 
efficiencies and increasing GSM network roaming revenues from our subscribers travelling outside of Canada, as well as 
strong growth in roaming revenues from visitors to Canada utilizing our GSM network. 

Cable services revenue and operating profit increased primarily due to price increases in July 2005 and August 
2004, and increased penetration of its digital products and incremental programming packages. Similarly, the steady 
growth of Internet revenues has been the result of a greater Internet penetration as a percentage of homes passed. 
These increases have been somewhat offset by modest deterioration in Video stores revenue and operating profit due 
to a continuing lack of hit movie titles as well as aggressive competition.

Media’s results are primarily attributable to a general upturn in demand for local advertising despite the  
softness with respect to national advertising coupled with the impact of the NHL lockout. 

Other fluctuations in net income from quarter-to-quarter can also be attributed to gain (losses) due to the sale or 
write-down of expenses, non-operating foreign exchange gain (losses), changes in the fair value of derivative instruments,  
losses on the repayment of long-term debt, and changes in income tax expense (recovery).

Summary of Fourth Quarter Results

During the three months ended December 31, 2005, consolidated operating revenue increased 35.4% to $2120.2 million 
in 2005 compared to $1,566.3 million in the corresponding period in 2004, with all four operating segments contributing  
to the year-over-year growth, including 35.0% growth at Wireless, 8.0% growth at Cable, 12.7% growth at Media and 
the inclusion of $211.3 million at Telecom. Consolidated fourth quarter operating profit grew 14.0% year-over-year to 
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$513.5 million, with 36.6% growth at Wireless, 1.7% growth at Cable, a 29.2% decline at Media and the inclusion of  
$22.9 million at Telecom. The fourth quarter results in 2005 also reflected integration expenses of $25.3 million at 
Wireless, $2.3 million at Telecom and $5.3 million at Corporate.

Consolidated operating income for the three months ended December 31, 2005, totalled $112.9 million, an 
increase of 2.2% compared to the corresponding period of 2004 due to the growth in Wireless and the inclusion of 
Telecom, offset by total integration expenses of $32.9 million and the additional amortization of intangible assets which 
arose on the acquisition of Call-Net in the third quarter of 2005 and the acquisitions of Fido and the minority interests 
in Wireless in the fourth quarter of 2004. Amortization of intangibles totalled approximately $99.0 million in the three 
months ended December 31, 2005 compared to approximately $49.4 million in the corresponding period in 2004.

We recorded a net loss of $66.7 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005, or basic loss per share 
of $0.22 (diluted – $0.22), compared to a net loss of $29.1 million or basic loss per share of $0.12 (diluted – $0.12) in the  
corresponding period of 2004. While we experienced growth in operating profit, a deferred income tax recovery, and 
lower interest expense during the three months ended December 31, 2005 relative to the corresponding period in 2004, 
the increased net loss was due to integration expenses, the amortization of intangibles assumed on acquisition and the 
fact that the prior year’s quarter reflects foreign exchange gains and other income totalling $47.0 million.

 
S U P P L E M E N T A R Y  I N F O R M A T I O N

2005 Quarterly Summary

	 2 0 0 5

(In thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)	Q 1	Q 2	Q 3	Q 4

Income Statement 
Operating revenue
		  Wireless 	 $	 875,371 	  $	 963,888 	  $	 1,068,888 	  $	 1,098,511 
		  Cable	  	 505,256 	 	  500,079 	 	  513,072 	 	  549,326 
		  Media	 	  219,280 	 	  293,402 	  	 284,520 	 	  299,974 
		  Telecom	 	 – 	 	  – 	  	  212,604 	  	 211,286 
		  Corporate and eliminations	 	  (17,492)	  	 (24,858)	  	 (32,017)	 	  (38,936)

	 						      	  1,582,415 	 	  1,732,511 	  	 2,047,067 	  	 2,120,161 

Operating profit(1)					   
	 	 Wireless	 	  298,376 	 	  364,760 	  	 381,488 	 	  292,425 
	 	 Cable	 	  180,669 	  	 171,562 	  	 172,046 	 	  194,326 
	 	 Media	 	  11,320	  	  44,195 	  	 33,293 	  	 39,038 
	 	 Telecom	 	  –   	 	   – 	  	 23,055 	  	 22,885 
	 	 Corporate	 	  (15,141)	 	  (15,063)	  	 (20,510)	  	 (35,155)

		   						     475,224 	 	  565,454 	 	  589,372 	 	  513,519 
Depreciation and amortization		   341,633 	 	  358,746 	  	 376,984 	 	  400,648 

Operating income 		   133,591 	  	 206,708 	  	 212,388 	  	 112,871 
Interest on long-term debt		   (184,767)	  	 (180,325)	  	 (178,792)	  	 (166,195)
Other income (expense)		   8,663 	  	 (3,441)	  	 17,894 	  	 (21,098)
Income tax recovery (expense)		   (3,514)	  	 (3,748)	 	  (2,603)	 	  7,710 
Non-controlling interest		  –  	 	 –  	  	  –  	 	 –  

Net income (loss) for the period		   (46,027)	  	 19,194 	 	  48,887	  	  (66,712)

Earnings (loss) per share	– basic	 $	 (0.17)	  $	 0.07 	  $	 0.17 	  $	 (0.22)
							       – diluted	 $	 (0.17)	  $	 0.07 	  $	 0.16 	  $	 (0.22)
Operating profit margin %(1)					   
		  Consolidated	 	 30.0 	 	 32.6 	 	 28.8 	 	 24.2 
Additions to property, plant and equipment(1)	 $	 260,419 	  $	 344,738 	  $	 318,656 	  $	 429,983 

(1)	As defined in “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section.
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2004 Quarterly Summary

	 2 0 0 4

(In thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)	Q 1	Q 2	Q 3	Q 4

Income Statement 
Operating revenue
		  Wireless 	  $	 592,841 	  $	 655,920 	  $	 721,136 	  $	 813,628  
		  Cable	  	   473,074 	 	  474,846 	 	  489,371 	 	  508,364 
		  Media	 	  215,741 	 	  230,881 	 	  244,319 	 	  266,171  
		  Telecom	 	 	 		   	   
		  Corporate and eliminations	 	 (16,907)	 	  (18,152)	 	  (21,138)	 	  (21,846)

	 							        1,264,749 	 	  1,343,495 	  	 1,433,688 	  	 1,566,317  

Operating profit(1)					   
	 	 Wireless	 	 219,644 	  	 247,083 	  	 269,565 	 	  214,099 
	 	 Cable	 	 171,186 	 	  173,294 	 	  173,143 	  	 191,036  
	 	 Media	 	  6,470 	 	  38,819 	  	 14,981 	 	  55,102 
	 	 Telecom	 	  
	 	 Corporate	 	  (15,443)	  	 (13,409)	 	  (1,714)	  	 (9,717) 

		   						       381,857 	  	 445,787 	  	 455,975 	  	 450,520 
Depreciation and amortization		    246,090 	  	 250,528 	 	  255,857 	  	 340,076 

Operating income 		   135,767 	 	  195,259 	  	 200,118 	  	 110,444   
Interest on long-term debt		    (137,539)	  	 (132,292)	 	  (129,868)	  	 (176,298)
Other income (expense)		   (75,384)	  	 (41,775	 	  29,676 	  	 37,776 
Income tax recovery (expense)		   (1,453)	 	  (3,555)	  	 (3,371)	  	 4,932 
Non-controlling interest	 	  423 	  	 (25,596)	  	 (48,480)	  	 (5,928) 

Net income (loss) for the period		    (78,186)	  	 (7,959)	 	  48,075 	  	 (29,074)

Earnings (loss) per share	– basic	 $	 (0.33)	  $	 (0.03)	  $	 0.20 	  $	 (0.12)
							       – diluted	   $	 (0.33)	  $	 (0.03)	  $	 0.19 	  $	 (0.12)
Operating profit margin %(1)					   
		  Consolidated	 	 30.2 	 	 33.2 	 	 31.8 	 	 28.8 
Additions to property, plant and equipment(1)	  $	 228,666 	  $	 218,267 	  $	 221,147 	  $	 386,858

(1)	As defined in “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section.
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Operating Profit Margin Calculations

(In millions of dollars)	 		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

RCI								     
	 	 Operating profit(1)					     $	 2,143.6	 $	 1,734.2
	 	 Divided by total revenue						      7,482.2	 	 5,608.3
RCI operating profit margin						      28.6%	 	 30.9%

WIRELESS								      
	 	 Operating profit(1)					     	 1,337.1	 	 950.4
	 	 Divided by network revenue						      3,612.7	 	 2,502.3
Wireless operating profit margin						      37.0%	 	 38.0%

CABLE				  
Cable:								     
	 	 Operating profit(1)					     	 700.6	 	 680.5
	 	 Divided by revenue						      1,744.6	 	 1,632.0
Cable operating profit margin						      40.2%	 	 41.7%

Video:							    
	 	 Operating profit(1)						      18.0	 	 28.2
	 	 Divided by revenue						      326.9	 	 317.0
Video operating profit margin						      5.5%	 	 8.9%

TOTAL CABLE AND VIDEO								      
	 	 Operating profit(1)						      718.6	 	 708.7
	 	 Divided by revenue						      2,067.7	 	 1,945.7
Cable and Video operating profit margin						      34.8%	 	 36.4%

TELECOM								      
	 	 Operating profit(1)						      45.9	 	 N/A
	 	 Divided by revenue						      423.9	 	 N/A
Telecom operating profit margin						      10.8%	 	 N/A

MEDIA							    
	 	 Operating profit(1)						      127.8	 	 115.4
	 	 Divided by revenue						      1,097.2	 	 956.9
Total Media operating profit margin						      11.6%	 	 12.1%

(1)	As defined in “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section.
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Wireless Non-GAAP Calculations(1)

 
(In millions of dollars, except per subscriber figures; subscribers in thousands)	 		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Postpaid ARPU (monthly)								      
		  Postpaid (voice and data) revenue					      $	 3,383.5 	  $	 2,361.1 
		  Divided by:	 average postpaid wireless voice and data subscribers 					      4,435.8 	 	  3,306.9 
		  Divided by:	 12 months				    	 	  12 	 	  12 

							       	 		  	 	  $	 63.56 	  $	 59.50 

Prepaid ARPU (monthly)							     
		  Prepaid revenue					      $	 209.6 	  $	 116.7 
		  Divided by:	 average prepaid subscribers						       1,323.2 	 	  818.5 
		  Divided by:	 12 months						       12 	 	  12 

								        	 	 	 	  $	 13.20 	  $	 11.88 

Blended ARPU (monthly)							     
		  Postpaid (voice and data) revenue plus prepaid revenue				     $	 3,593.1 	  $	 2,477.8 
		  Divided by:	 average postpaid and prepaid wireless voice and data subscribers			    5,759.0 	 	  4,125.4 
		  Divided by:	 12 months						       12 	 	  12 

							       	 	 			    $	 51.99 	  $	 50.05 

One-way messaging ARPU (monthly)								      
		  One-way messaging revenue					      $	 19.6 	  $	 24.5 
		  Divided by:	 average one-way messaging subscribers						       179.9 	  	 220.5 
		  Divided by:	 12 months						       12 	 	  12 

								        	 		  	  $	 9.09 	  $	 9.25

Cost of acquisition per gross addition							     
		  Total sales and marketing expenses					      $	 603.8 	  $	 444.4 
		  Equipment margin loss (acquisition related)						       191.0 	  	 117.5 

								        	 		  	  $	 794.8 	  $	 561.9 

		  Total gross wireless additions (postpaid, prepaid, and one-way messaging)			    2,053.0 	 	  1,509.5 

									         		  	  $	 387 	  $	 372 

Operating expense per average subscriber (monthly)								      
		  Operating, general, administrative and integration expenses				     $	 1,292.5 	  $	 879.1 
		  Equipment margin loss (retention related)					     	  188.3 	 	 110.9 

									         		  	  $	 1,480.8 	  $	 990.0 

		  Divided by:	 average total wireless subscribers 					     	  5,938.9 	 	  4,345.9 
		  Divided by:	 12 months						       12 	 	  12 

									         		  	  $	 20.78 	  $	 18.99 

Equipment margin loss							     
		  Equipment sales					      $	 393.9 	  $	 281.2 
		  Cost of equipment sales			   	 		   (773.2)	 	  (509.6)

								        				     $	 (379.3)	  $	 (228.4)

		  Acquisition related					      $	 (191.0)	  $	 (117.5)
		  Retention related				    	 	  (188.3)	 	  (110.9)

									         	 	  $	 (379.3)	  $	 (228.4)

(1)	�For definitions of key performance indicators and non-GAAP measures, see “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section.
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Cable Non-GAAP Calculations(1)

(In millions of dollars, subscribers in thousands, except ARPU figures and operating profit margin)	 	 2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Core cable ARPU								      
		  Basic cable and digital revenue					      $	 1,303.9 	  $	 1,253.1 
		  Less: RHP revenue				    	 	 (4.9) 	 	  – 

	 	 Core cable revenue					      $	 1,299.0 	  $	 1,253.1 
		  Divided by:	 average basic cable subscribers						      2,250.9	 	 2,256.0 
		  Divided by:	 3 months for quarter and 12 months for year-to-date					      12 	 	  12

Interet ARPU						      $	 48.09	 $	 46.29

		  Internet revenue
	 	 Divided by:	 average Internet subscribers					     $	  440.7 	 	 378.9 
		  Divided by:	 3 months for quarter and 12 months for year-to-date					      1,033.8 	 	 847.7
 												           	 12		  12

												            $	 35.51	 $	 37.25

Cable:
		  Operating profit					     $	  700.6	 $	 680.5
		  Divided by revenue					     	 1,744.6		  1,632.0
Cable operating profit margin					     	  40.2%		  41.7%

Video:
		  Operating profit					     $	  18.0	 $	 28.2
		  Divided by revenue						      326.9		  317.0
Video operating profit margin						      5.5%		  8.9%

Customer relationships (unique)
		  Basic cable subscribers						      2,263.8		  2,254.6
		  Internet subscribers						      1,145.1		  936.6
		  Less: Subscribers to both basic cable and Internet						      (995.9)		  (835.3)

													             2,413.0		  2,355.9

(1)	�For definitions of key performance indicators and non-GAAP measures, see “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures” section.



The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Rogers Communications Inc. and its subsidiaries and all the information  
in Management’s Discussion and Analysis are the responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors.

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles. The financial statements include certain amounts that are based on the best estimates and judgments  
of management and in their opinion present fairly, in all material respects, Rogers Communications lnc.’s financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows. Management has prepared the financial information presented elsewhere in Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and has ensured that it is consistent with the financial statements.

Management of Rogers Communications Inc., in furtherance of the integrity of the financial statements, has developed  
and maintains a system of internal controls, which is supported by the internal audit function. Management believes the internal  
controls provide reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized and recorded, financial records are reliable 
and form a proper basis for the preparation of financial statements and that Rogers Communications lnc.’s assets are properly 
accounted for and safeguarded. The internal control processes include management’s communication to employees of policies 
that govern ethical business conduct.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing management’s responsibility for financial reporting and is ultimately  
responsible for reviewing and approving the financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility through its Audit 
Committee.

The Audit Committee meets periodically with management, as well as the internal and external auditors, to discuss 
internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues; to satisfy itself that each 
party is properly discharging its responsibilities; and, to review Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the financial statements 
and the external auditors’ report. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board for consideration when approving the 
financial statements for issuance to the shareholders. The Committee also considers, for review by the Board and approval by 
the shareholders, the engagement or re-appointment of the external auditors.

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian generally  
accepted auditing standards on behalf of the shareholders. KPMG LLP has full and free access to the Audit Committee.

February 7, 2006

Edward “Ted” S. Rogers, OC	 Alan D. Horn. CA
President and Chief Executive Officer 	 Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer

Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Rogers Communications Inc. as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the con-
solidated statements of income, deficit and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility 
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstate
ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating  
the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Toronto, Canada
February 7, 2006, except as to notes 23 and 24 which are as of March 1, 2006 

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
DECEMBER 31, 2005
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December 31, 2005 and 2004	 2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Assets
Current assets:
		  Cash and cash equivalents	 $	 –	 $	 243,993
		  Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful 
			   accounts of $98,464 (2004 – $94,035)	 	 890,701	 	 673,936
		  Other current assets (note 4)	 	 297,846	 	 260,517
		  Future tax asset (note 14)	 	 113,150	 	 –

	 						      	 1,301,697	 	 1,178,446
Property, plant and equipment (note 5)	 	 6,151,526	 	 5,486,837
Goodwill (note 6(a))	 	 3,035,787	 	 3,388,687
Intangible assets (note 6(b))	 	 2,627,466	 	 2,855,689
Investments (note 7)	 	 138,212	 	 139,170
Deferred charges (note 8)	 	 129,119	 	 134,466
Future tax asset (note 14)	 	 347,252	 	 –
Other long-term assets (note 9)	 	 103,230	 	 89,443

					     		  $	 13,834,289	 $	 13,272,738

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
		  Bank advances, arising from outstanding cheques	 $	 103,881	 $	 –
		  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	 	 1,411,045	 	 1,428,296
		  Current portion of long-term debt (note 11)	 	 286,139		  618,236
		  Current portion of derivative instruments (note 12)	 	 14,180		  58,856
		  Unearned revenue 	 	 176,266	 	 152,723

		  						      1,991,511	 	 2,258,111
Long-term debt (notes 2(s)(i) and 11)	 	 7,453,412	 	 7,922,861
Derivative instruments (note 12)	 	 787,369	 	 641,545
Other long-term liabilities	 	 74,382	 	 64,887

	 						      	 10,306,674	 	 10,887,404
Shareholders’ equity (notes 2(s)(i) and 13)	 	 3,527,615	 	 2,385,334

	 					     	 $	 13,834,289	 $	 13,272,738

Commitments (note 20)
Guarantees (note 21)
Contingent liabilities (note 22)
Canadian and United States accounting policy differences (note 23)
Subsequent events (note 24)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

Edward “Ted” S. Rogers	 Ronald D. Besse
Director	 Director

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands of dollars)
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Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004	 2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Operating revenue	 $	 7,482,154	 $	 5,608,249
Cost of sales	 	 1,296,148	 	 797,857
Sales and marketing expenses	 	 1,122,348	 	 883,622
Operating, general and administrative expenses	 	 2,853,613	 	 2,188,214
Integration expenses (note 3(e))	 	 66,476	 	 4,415
Depreciation and amortization	 	 1,478,011	 	 1,092,551

Operating income	 	 665,558	 	 641,590
Interest on long-term debt (note 2(s)(i))	 	 710,079	 	 575,998

		  						      (44,521)	 	 65,592 
Loss on repayment of long-term debt (note 11(f))	 	 (11,242)	 	 (28,210)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) (note 2(g))	 	 35,477	 	 (67,555)
Change in fair value of derivative instruments	 	 (25,168)	 	 26,774
Gain on dilution on issue of shares by a subsidiary	 	 –	 	 15,502
Other income, net	 	 2,951	 	 3,783 

Income (loss) before income taxes and non-controlling interest	 	 (42,503)	 	 15,886

Income tax expense (reduction) (note 14):
		  Current	 	 10,730	 	 3,447
		  Future 	 	 (8,575)	 	 –

	 						      	 2,155	 	 3,447

Income (loss) before non-controlling interest	 	 (44,658)	 	 12,439
Non-controlling interest	 	 –	 	 (79,581)

Loss for the year (note 2(s)(i))	 $	 (44,658)	 $	 (67,142)

Loss per share (note 15):
		  Basic	 $	 (0.15)	 $	 (0.28)
		  Diluted	 	 (0.15)	 	 (0.28)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

99	 ROGERS 2005 ANNUAL REPORT . CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Statements of Income
(In thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004	 2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Deficit, beginning of year:
		  As previously reported	 $	 (519,441)	 $	 (339,436)
		  Change in accounting policy related to stock-based  
			   compensation (note 2(p))	 	 –	 	 (7,025)
		  Change in accounting policy related to	   
			   Convertible Preferred Securities (note 2(s)(i))	 	 –	 	 (81,786)

		  As restated	 	 (519,441)	 	 (428,247)
Loss for the year	 	 (44,658)	 	 (67,142)
Dividends on Class A Voting and Class B Non-Voting shares	 	 (37,449)	 	 (24,052)

Deficit, end of year	 $	 (601,548)	 $	 (519,441)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Deficit
(In thousands of dollars)



Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004	 2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Cash provided by (used in): 
Operating activities:
		  Loss for the year 	 $	 (44,658)	 $	 (67,142)
		  Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash flows from operating activities:
				    Depreciation and amortization	 	 1,478,011	 	 1,092,551
				    Program rights and video rental inventory depreciation	 	 90,184	 	 88,328
				    Future income taxes	 	 (8,575)	 	 –
				    Non-controlling interest	 	 –	 	 79,581
				    Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain)	 	 (34,964)	 	 66,943
				    Change in fair value of derivative instruments	 	 25,168	 	 (26,774)
				    Loss on repayment of long-term debt	 	 11,242	 	 28,210
				    Stock-based compensation expense	 	 38,949	 	 15,389
				    Accreted interest on Convertible Preferred Securities (note 2(s)(i))	 	 17,783	 	 20,924
				    Amortization on fair value increment of long-term debt and derivatives	 	 (14,907)	 	 –
				    Other	 	 (6,818)	 	 7,009

	 						      	 1,551,415	 	 1,305,019
		  Change in non-cash working capital (note 10(a)) 	 	 (324,008)	 	 (62,090)

	 						      	 1,227,407	 	 1,242,929

Investing activities:
		  Additions to property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”)	 	(1,353,796)	 	 (1,054,938)
		  Change in non-cash working capital related to PP&E	 	 (37,883)	 	 59,994
		  Cash and cash equivalents acquired on acquisition 
			   of Rogers Telecom Holdings Inc. (note 3(a))	 	 43,801	 	 –
		  Acquisition of Rogers Wireless Communications Inc. (note 3(b))	 	 –	 	 (1,772,840)
		  Acquisition of Microcell Telecommunications Inc., 
			   net of cash acquired (note 3(b))	 	 (51,684)	 	 (1,148,637)
		  Investment in Toronto Blue Jays Baseball Club (note 7(a))	 	 –	 	 (99,235)
		  Other acquisitions	 	 (38,092)	 	 (66,700)
		  Other 	 	 2,177 	 	 (2,566)

						      		 (1,435,477)	 	 (4,084,922)

Financing activities:
		  Issue of long-term debt	 	 1,369,208 	 	 8,982,443 
		  Repayment of long-term debt	 	(1,509,577)	 	 (6,092,721)
		  Proceeds on termination of cross-currency interest rate 
			   exchange agreements	 	 402,191	 	 58,416
		  Payment on termination of cross-currency interest rate  
			   exchange agreements	 	 (470,825)	 	 (64,602)
		  Financing costs incurred	 	 (4,940)	 	 (66,071)
		  Issue of capital stock	 	 100,348	 	 302,231
		  Dividends paid on Class A Voting and Class B Non-Voting shares	 	 (26,209)	 	 (23,422)

		  						      (139,804)	 	 3,096,274

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	 	 (347,874)	 	 254,281
Cash and cash equivalents (deficiency), beginning of year	 	 243,993	 	 (10,288)

Cash and cash equivalents (deficiency), end of year	 $	 (103,881)	 $	 243,993

Cash and cash equivalents (deficiency) are defined as cash and short-term deposits, which have an original maturity of less than 90 days, less 
bank advances. 

For supplemental cash flow information and disclosure of non-cash transactions see note 10(b) and (c).

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands of dollars)
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Note 1.	 Nature of the business:

Rogers Communications Inc. (“RCI”) is a Canadian communications company, carrying on business on a national basis, 
engaged in cable television, high-speed Internet access, cable telephony and video retailing through its wholly owned 
subsidiary, Rogers Cable Inc. (“Cable”); wireless voice, messaging and data services through its wholly owned subsidiary, 
Rogers Wireless Communications Inc. (“Wireless”); radio and television broadcasting, televised home shopping, publishing,  
and sports entertainment through its wholly owned subsidiary, Rogers Media Inc. (“Media”); and circuit-switch telephony,  
data networking, and high-speed Internet access through its wholly owned subsidiary, Rogers Telecom Holdings Inc. 
(“Telecom”). RCI and its subsidiary companies are collectively referred to herein as the “Company”. 

Note 2.	 Significant accounting policies:

(a ) 	 Basis  of presentation:

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles  
(“GAAP”) and differ in certain significant respects from United States GAAP as described in note 23. 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of RCI and its subsidiary companies. For the period 
from January 1, 2004 to October 13, 2004, the non-controlling interest of Wireless represented approximately 44.7% of 
Wireless’ net income, after dilutions of the Company’s ownership over that period. For the period from October 14, 
2004 to December 31, 2004, the non-controlling interest represented approximately 11.2% of Wireless’ net income, after 
dilutions of the Company’s ownership over that period. Subsequent to December 31, 2004, there was no non-controlling 
interest in Wireless. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. When RCI’s subsidiaries 
issue additional common shares to unrelated parties, RCI accounts for these issuances as if RCI had sold a portion of its 
interest in that subsidiary and, accordingly, records a gain or loss on dilution of RCI’s interest.

 Investments over which the Company is able to exercise significant influence are accounted for by the equity 
method. Other investments are recorded at cost. Investments are written down when there is evidence that a decline in 
value that is other than temporary has occurred.

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

(b ) 	 Property,  plant and equipment:

Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) are recorded at purchase cost. During construction of new assets, direct costs plus 
a portion of applicable overhead costs are capitalized. Repairs and maintenance expenditures are charged to operating  
expenses as incurred.

The cost of the initial cable subscriber installation is capitalized. Costs of all other cable connections and dis-
connections are expensed, except for direct incremental installation costs related to reconnect Cable customers, to the 
extent of reconnect installation revenues. Deferred reconnect revenues and expenses are amortized over the related 
service period of approximately four years.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 and 2004
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( c ) 	 Depreciation:

PP&E are depreciated annually over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Asset	 Basis	 Rate

Buildings	 Mainly diminishing balance	 5% to 62⁄ 3%
Towers, head-ends and transmitters	 Straight line	 62⁄ 3% to 25%
Distribution cable, subscriber drops and network equipment	 Straight line	 5% to 331⁄ 3%
Wireless network radio base station equipment	 Straight line	 121⁄ 2% to 141⁄ 3%
Computer equipment and software	 Straight line	 141⁄ 3% to 331⁄ 3%
Customer equipment 	 Straight line	 20% to 331⁄ 3%
Leasehold improvements	 Straight line 	 Over shorter of 
		  						      estimated useful life 
		  						      and term of lease
Other equipment	 Mainly diminishing balance	 20% to 331⁄ 3%

(d ) 	 Asset retirement obligations:

Asset retirement obligations are legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived tangible assets that result 
from their acquisition, lease, construction, development or normal operations. The Company records the estimated fair 
value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the year in which it is incurred and when a reasonable estimate 
of fair value can be made. The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation is the amount at which that 
liability could be settled in a current transaction between willing parties, that is, other than in a forced or liquidation 
transaction and, in the absence of observable market transactions, is determined as the present value of expected cash 
flows. The Company subsequently allocates the asset retirement cost to expense using a systematic and rational method 
over the asset’s useful life, and records the accretion of the liability as a charge to operating expenses.

(e ) 	 Long-l ived assets: 

Long-lived assets, including PP&E and intangible assets with finite useful lives, are amortized over their useful lives. The 
Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows expected to 
result from the use and eventual disposition of a group of assets is less than its carrying amount, it is considered to be 
impaired. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the group of assets exceeds its 
fair value. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, no impairments in the carrying value of these assets existed.

( f ) 	 Goodwill  and intangible assets:

( i ) 	 Goodwi l l :

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of the 
amounts allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on their fair values. 
When the Company enters into a business combination, the purchase method of accounting is used. Goodwill is assigned 
as of the date of the business combination to reporting units that are expected to benefit from the business combination. 

Goodwill is not amortized but instead is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. The impairment test is carried out in two steps. In the first 
step, the carrying amount of the reporting unit, including goodwill, is compared with its fair value. When the fair value 
of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered to be impaired and 
the second step of the impairment test is unnecessary. The second step is carried out when the carrying amount of a 
reporting unit exceeds its fair value, in which case, the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill, determined 
in the same manner as the value of goodwill is determined in a business combination, is compared with its carrying 
amount to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any.

( i i ) 	I ntangib le  assets :

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recorded at their fair values. Intangible assets with finite lives 
are amortized over their estimated useful lives and are tested for impairment, as described in note 2(e). Intangible 
assets having an indefinite life, such as spectrum licences, are not amortized but instead are tested for impairment on 
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an annual or more frequent basis by comparing their fair value with book value. An impairment loss on indefinite life 
intangible assets is recognized when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Intangible assets with determinable lives are amortized on a straight-line basis annually over their estimated 
useful lives as follows:

Subscriber bases	 21⁄ 4 to 42⁄ 3 years
Brand names – Rogers	 20 years
Brand names – Fido	 5 years
Dealer networks	 4 years
Wholesale agreements	 38 months
Roaming agreements	 12 years
Player contracts	 5 years

The Company has tested goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment during 2005 and 2004 and 
determined that no impairment in the carrying value of these assets existed. 

(g ) 	 Foreign currency translation:

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange 
rate in effect at the balance sheet date and non-monetary assets and liabilities and related depreciation and amortization  
expenses are translated at the historical exchange rate. Revenue and expenses, other than depreciation and amortization,  
are translated at the average rate for the month in which the transaction was recorded. The accounting for the effect 
of cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements used to hedge long-term debt is described in note 2(m). Exchange 
gains or losses on translating long-term debt are recognized in the consolidated statements of income. In 2005, foreign 
exchange gains related to the translation of long-term debt totalled $33.3 million (2004 – losses of $66.9 million).

(h ) 	 Deferred charges:

The costs of obtaining bank and other debt financings are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the life 
of the debt to which they relate. 

During the development and pre-operating phases of new products and businesses, related incremental costs 
are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over periods of up to five years.

 
( i ) 	In ventories:

Inventories are primarily valued at the lower of cost, on a first-in, first-out basis, and net realizable value. Video rental 
inventory, which includes videocassettes, DVDs and video games, is depreciated to its estimated residual value. The 
residual value of the video rental inventory is recorded as a charge to operating expense upon the sale of the video 
rental inventory. Depreciation of video rental inventory is charged to cost of sales on a diminishing-balance basis over a 
six month period.

( j ) 	 Pension benefits :

The Company accrues its pension plan obligations as employees render the services necessary to earn the pension. The 
Company uses the current settlement discount rate to measure the accrued pension benefit obligation and uses the 
corridor method to amortize actuarial gains or losses (such as changes in actuarial assumptions and experience gains or 
losses) over the average remaining service life of the employees. Under the corridor method, amortization is recorded 
only if the accumulated net actuarial gains or losses exceed 10% of the greater of accrued pension benefit obligation 
and the value of the plan assets at the beginning of the year.

The Company uses the following methods and assumptions for pension accounting:
(i)	 �The cost of pensions is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method prorated on service and 

management’s best estimate of expected plan investment performance, salary escalation, compensation levels 
at the time of retirement and retirement ages of employees. Changes in these assumptions would impact future 
pension expense.

(ii)	 For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, those assets are valued at fair value.
(iii)	 �Past service costs from plan amendments are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining 

service period of employees.
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(k ) 	 Acquired program rights:

Acquired program rights are carried at the lower of cost less accumulated amortization, and net realizable value. 
Acquired program rights and the related liabilities are recorded when the licence period begins and the program is 
available for use. The cost of acquired program rights is amortized over the expected performance period of the related 
programs. Net realizable value of acquired program rights is assessed using the industry standard daypart methodology.

( l ) 	Income  taxes:

Future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future income tax consequences attributable to differences  
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Future 
income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to 
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation 
allowance is recorded against any future income tax asset if it is not more likely than not that the asset will be realized. 
Income tax expense is the sum of the Company’s provision for current income taxes and the difference between opening 
and ending balances of future income tax assets and liabilities.

(m) 	 Derivative instruments:

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage risks from fluctuations in exchange rates and interest 
rates. These instruments include cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements, interest rate exchange agreements, 
foreign exchange forward contracts and, from time-to-time, foreign exchange option agreements. All such instruments 
are only used for risk management purposes.

 Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted Accounting Guideline 13, “Hedging Relationships” (“AcG-13”), 
which established new criteria for hedge accounting for all hedging relationships in effect. Effective January 1, 2004, the 
Company re-assessed all relationships to determine whether the criteria for hedge accounting were met, and applied the 
new guidance on a prospective basis. The Company formally documents the relationship between derivative instruments 
and the hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. 
At the instrument’s inception, the Company also formally assesses whether the derivatives are highly effective at reducing  
or modifying currency risk related to the future anticipated interest and principal cash outflows associated with the 
hedged item. Effectiveness requires a high correlation of changes in fair values or cash flows between the hedged item 
and the hedging item. On a quarterly basis, the Company confirms that the derivative instruments continue to be highly 
effective at reducing or modifying interest rate or foreign exchange risk associated with the hedged items. Derivative 
instruments that meet these criteria are carried at their intrinsic value.

For those instruments that do not meet the above criteria, variations in their fair value are marked-to-market 
on a current basis, with the resulting gains or losses recorded in or charged against income.

See note 12 for a discussion of the impact of the adoption of this standard in 2004.

(n ) 	 Revenue recognition: 

The Company offers certain products and services as part of multiple deliverable arrangements. The Company divides 
multiple deliverable arrangements into separate units of accounting. Components of multiple deliverable arrangements 
are separately accounted for provided the delivered elements have stand-alone value to the customers and the fair value 
of any undelivered elements can be objectively and reliably determined. Consideration for these units is then measured 
and allocated amongst the accounting units based upon their fair values and then the Company’s relevant revenue 
recognition policies are applied to them. The Company recognizes revenue once persuasive evidence of an arrange-
ment exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, fees are fixed and determinable and collectibility  
is reasonably assured.

 The Company’s principal sources of revenue and recognition of these revenues for financial statement  
purposes are as follows:

(i)	 �Monthly subscriber fees in connection with wireless and wireline services, cable, telephony, Internet services, 
rental of equipment, network services, and media subscriptions are recorded as revenue on a pro rata basis 
over the month as the service is provided;

(ii)	 �Revenue from wireless airtime, roaming, long distance and optional services, pay-per-view and video-on-
demand services, video rentals, and other sales of products are recorded as revenue as the services or products 
are delivered; 
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(iii)	 �Revenue from the sale of wireless and cable equipment is recorded when the equipment is delivered and 
accepted by the independent dealer or customer. Equipment subsidies provided to new and existing subscribers  
are recorded as a reduction of equipment revenues upon activation of the service;

(iv)	 �Installation fees and activation fees charged to subscribers do not meet the criteria as a separate unit of 
accounting. As a result, these fees are recorded as part of equipment revenue or, in the case of Cable and 
Telecom, are deferred and amortized over the related service period, as appropriate. The related service period 
for Cable is determined to be approximately four years while that of Telecom ranges from 26 to 33 months, 
based on subscriber disconnects, transfers of service and moves. Incremental direct installation costs related 
to re-connects are deferred to the extent of deferred installation fees and amortized over the same period as 
these related installation fees. New connect installation costs are capitalized to PP&E and amortized over the 
useful life of the related assets;

(v)	 �Advertising revenue is recorded in the period the advertising airs on the Company’s radio or television stations 
and the period in which advertising is featured in the Company’s media publications; 

(vi)	 �Monthly subscription revenues received by television stations for subscriptions from cable and satellite providers  
are recorded in the month in which they are earned;

(vii)	 �The Blue Jays’ revenue, which is composed primarily of home game admission and concession revenue, is 
recognized as the related games are played during the baseball season. Revenue from radio and television 
agreements is recorded at the time the related games are aired. The Blue Jays also receive revenue from the 
Major League Baseball (“MLB”) Revenue Sharing Agreement which distributes funds to and from member 
clubs, based on each club’s revenues. This revenue is recognized in the season in which it is earned, when the 
amount is estimable and collectibility is reasonably assured; and

(viii)	 �Multi-product discounts are incurred as Cable, Wireless, Media and Telecom products and services are provided,  
and are charged directly to the revenue for the products and services to which they relate.

Unearned revenue includes subscriber deposits, installation fees and amounts received from subscribers related to ser-
vices and subscriptions to be provided in future periods.

(o ) 	 Subscriber acquisit ion costs:

Except as described in note 2(n)(iv), the Company expenses the costs related to the acquisition of new subscribers upon 
activation and costs related to the retention of existing subscribers are expensed as incurred.

(p ) 	 Stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments:

Effective January 1, 2004, Canadian GAAP requires the Company to calculate the fair value of stock-based compensation 
awarded to employees and to expense the fair value over the vesting period of the stock options. In accordance with the 
transition rules, the Company adopted the standard retroactively to January 1, 2002 without restating prior periods. The 
Company determined the fair value of stock options granted to employees since January 1, 2002 using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model and recorded an adjustment to opening retained earnings in the amount of $7.0 million, repre-
senting the expense for the 2003 and 2002 fiscal years, with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus. 

The Company accounts for all stock-based payments to non-employees and employee awards that are direct 
awards of stock, call for settlement in cash or other assets, or are stock appreciation rights that call for settlement by the 
issuance of equity instruments using the fair value-based method. The estimated fair value is amortized to expense over 
the vesting period.

 Stock-based awards that are settled in cash or may be settled in cash at the option of employees or directors, 
including restricted stock units, are recorded as liabilities. The measurement of the liability and compensation cost for 
these awards is based on the intrinsic value of the awards. Compensation cost for the awards is recorded in operating 
income over the vesting period of the award. Changes in the Company’s payment obligation prior to the settlement 
date are recorded in operating income over the vesting period. The payment amount is established for these awards on 
the date of exercise of the award by the employee.

The Company also has an employee share accumulation plan. Under the terms of the plan, participating 
employees with the Company can contribute a specified percentage of their regular earnings through regular pay-
roll deductions. The designated administrator of the plan then purchases, on a monthly basis, Class B Non-Voting 
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shares of the Company on the open market on behalf of the employee. At the end of each quarter, the Company 
makes a contribution of 25% of the employee’s contribution in the quarter. Certain employees are eligible for a higher  
percentage match by the Company. The administrator then uses this amount to purchase additional shares of the Company 
on behalf of the employee. The Company records its contribution as compensation expense. The share accumulation  
plan is more fully described in note 13.

The Company has a directors’ deferred share unit plan, under which directors of the Company are entitled to 
elect to receive their remuneration in deferred share units. Upon resignation as a director, these deferred share units 
will be redeemed by the Company not later than December 15 of the year following resignation as a director at the 
then-current market price of the Class B Non-Voting shares. Compensation expense is recognized in the amount of the 
directors’ remuneration as their services are rendered. The related accrued liability is adjusted to the market price of 
the Class B Non-Voting shares at each balance sheet date and the related adjustment is recorded in operating income. 
At December 31, 2005, a total of 132,698 (2004 – 160,372) deferred share units were outstanding. At December 31, 2004, 
as a result of the acquisition of Wireless, the Company converted 16,517 Wireless deferred share units into 28,905 RCI 
deferred share units (note 3(b)).

 
(q ) 	 Earnings per share:

The Company uses the treasury stock method for calculating diluted earnings per share. The diluted earnings per share 
calculation considers the impact of employee stock options and other potentially dilutive instruments, as described in 
note 15.

( r ) 	 Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Key areas of estimation, where management has made difficult, complex or subjective judgments, often as a 
result of matters that are inherently uncertain, include the allowance for doubtful accounts, the ability to use income tax 
loss carryforwards and other future tax assets, capitalization of internal labour and overhead, useful lives of depreciable  
assets, discount rates and expected returns on plan assets affecting pension expense and the pension asset and the 
recoverability of long-lived assets, goodwill and intangible assets, which require estimates of future cash flows.  
For business combinations, key areas of estimation and judgment include the allocation of the purchase price, related 
integration and severance costs, as well as the determination of useful lives for amortizable intangible assets acquired, 
including subscriber bases, brand names, roaming agreements, dealer network and wholesale agreements.

Significant changes in the assumptions, including those with respect to future business plans and cash flows, 
could materially change the recorded amounts.

 
( s ) 	 Adoption of new accounting pronouncements:

( i ) 	 F inanc ia l  instruments  –  d isc losure  and presentat ion:

On January 1, 2005, the Company adopted the amended provisions of The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants’ 
(“CICA”) Handbook Section 3860, Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation (“CICA 3860”) with retroactive 
application and, as a result, has reflected the impact of this new accounting policy in the consolidated balance sheet 
as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 and in the consolidated statements of income and cash flows for each of the years in 
the two-year period ended December 31, 2005. CICA 3860 was amended to provide guidance for classifying as liabilities 
certain financial obligations of a fixed amount that may be settled, at the issuer’s option, by a variable number of the 
issuer’s own equity instruments. Any financial instruments issued by an enterprise that give the issuer unrestricted rights 
to settle the principal amount for cash or the equivalent value of its own equity instruments are no longer presented  
as equity. 

As a result of retroactively adopting CICA 3860, the Company reclassified the liability portion of its Convertible 
Preferred Securities to long-term debt and the related interest expense has been included as interest expense in the  
consolidated statements of income (notes 11 and 13). 
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These changes resulted in the following adjustments to the 2004 comparative amounts: 

		  2 0 0 4

Increase (decrease):
Consolidated balance sheet:
		  Liabilities:
				    Long-term debt			   $	 490,710 
		  Shareholders’ equity:
				    Convertible Preferred Securities	 			   (388,000)
		  Deficit, beginning of year	 			   81,786
		  Deficit, end of year	 			   102,710
Consolidated statement of income:
		  Interest on long-term debt	 			   53,924
		  Loss for the year	 			   (53,924)
Consolidated statement of cash flows:
		  Cash provided by operating activities	 			   (33,000)
		  Cash provided by financing activities	 			   33,000

These changes do not affect loss per share since the related interest expense has, in prior years, been deducted from the 
loss for the year in determining loss per share.

( i i )  	 Consol idat ion of  var iable  interest  ent i t ies :

Effective January 1, 2005, the Company adopted Accounting Guideline 15, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” 
(“AcG-15”). AcG-15 addresses the application of consolidation principles to certain entities that are subject to control 
on a basis other than ownership of voting interests. AcG-15 addresses when an enterprise should include the assets, 
liabilities and results of activities of such an entity in its consolidated financial statements. There was no impact to the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company as a result of adopting this standard since the Company does not have 
an interest in any entities subject to control on a basis other than ownership of voting interests. 

 
( i i i ) 	 Arrangements  conta in ing a  lease :

CICA Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC”) Abstract 150, Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease (“EIC 150”),  
addresses a situation where an entity enters into an arrangement, comprising a transaction that does not take the legal 
form of a lease but conveys a right to use a tangible asset in return for a payment or series of payments. EIC 150 was 
effective for arrangements entered into or modified after January 1, 2005. There was no impact to the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company as a result of the adoption of this new standard since the Company has not entered 
into such arrangements. 

( t ) 	 Recent Canadian accounting pronouncements:

( i ) 	 Non-monetary  t ransact ions :

In 2005, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3831 Non-monetary transactions (“CICA 3831”), replacing Section 3830,  
Non-monetary transactions. CICA 3831 requires that an asset exchanged or transferred in a non-monetary transaction  
must be measured at its fair value except when: the transaction lacks commercial substance; the transaction is an 
exchange of a product or property held for sale in the ordinary course of business for a product or property to be sold 
in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers other than the parties to the exchange; neither the fair value 
of the asset received nor the fair value of the asset given up is reliably measurable; or the transaction is a non-monetary 
non-reciprocal transfer to owners that represents a spin-off or other form of restructuring or liquidation. In these cases 
the transaction must be measured at the carrying value. The new requirements are effective for transactions occurring 
on or after January 1, 2006. The Company does not expect that this new standard will have a material impact on its  
consolidated financial statements. 

 
( i i ) 	 F inanc ia l  Instruments :

In 2005, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3855, Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement, Handbook 
Section 1530, Comprehensive Income, and Handbook Section 3865, Hedges. The new standards will be effective for 
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interim and annual financial statements commencing in 2007. Earlier adoption is permitted. The new standards will 
require presentation of a separate statement of comprehensive income. Derivative financial instruments will be recorded 
in the balance sheet at fair value and the changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges will 
be reported in comprehensive income. The existing hedging principles of AcG-13 will be substantially unchanged. The 
Company is assessing the impact of these new standards.

Note 3.	 Business combinations:

(a ) 	 2005  acquisit ions:

The Company has completed the following acquisitions during the year which were accounted for by the purchase 
method:

( i ) 	 Ca l l -Net  Enterpr ises  Inc . : 

On July 1, 2005, the Company acquired 100% of Call-Net Enterprises Inc. (“Call-Net”) in a share-for-share transaction 
(the “Call-Net Acquisition”). Call-Net, primarily through its wholly owned subsidiary Sprint Canada Inc., is a Canadian 
integrated communications solutions provider of home phone, wireless, long distance and Internet access services to 
households, and local, long distance, toll free, enhanced voice, data and Internet access services to businesses across 
Canada. The operations of Call-Net were consolidated with those of the Company as of July 1, 2005.

 Under the terms of the arrangement, holders of common shares and Class B Non-Voting shares of Call-Net 
received a fixed exchange ratio of one Class B Non-Voting share of the Company for each 4.25 common shares and/
or Class B Non-Voting shares of Call-Net held by them. All outstanding options to purchase Call-Net shares vested  
immediately prior to the Call-Net acquisition. In addition, each holder of outstanding Call-Net options received fully-
vested options of the Company using the same 4.25 exchange ratio. As a result, 8.5 million Class B Non-Voting shares and  
0.4 million options were issued as consideration. The Class B Non-Voting shares issued were valued at the average market  
price over the period two days before and two days after the May 11, 2005 announcement date of the transaction. This 
resulted in share consideration valued at $316.0 million. The options issued as consideration were valued at $8.5 million 
using the Black-Scholes model. 

Also under the terms of the arrangement, the only outstanding preferred share of Call-Net was deemed to 
be redeemed by Call-Net for $1.00, being the redemption price thereof. Subsequently, Call-Net was renamed Rogers 
Telecom Holdings Inc. and Sprint Canada Inc. was renamed Rogers Telecom Inc.

Prior to completion of the acquisition, the Company began to develop a plan to restructure and integrate 
the operations of Call-Net. As a result of the restructuring and integration, a liability of $3.7 million was recorded in 
the acquisition balance sheet of Call-Net for severance and other employee related costs. Including direct incremental  
acquisition costs of approximately $4.0 million, the aggregate purchase price for the acquisition of Call-Net shares and 
options totalled $328.5 million. 

The allocation of the purchase price is preliminary and subject to finalization of the restructuring and inte-
gration plan. The allocation of the purchase price reflects management’s best estimate at the date of preparing these 
financial statements. The purchase price allocation is expected to be finalized by early 2006. 

 The Call-Net subscriber bases acquired is being amortized over its weighted average estimated useful life of  
29 months. A change in the fair value of the Call-Net subscriber bases of $10.0 million acquired would have impacted 
depreciation and amortization expense and net income by $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. An increase 
in the weighted average useful life of six months would have reduced depreciation and amortization expense and 
decreased the loss for the year by approximately $4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. A decrease in the 
weighted average useful life of six months would have increased depreciation and amortization expense and increased 
the loss for the year by approximately $6.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.

As at December 31, 2005, the purchase price allocation was adjusted upon revisions of the valuation of the intan-
gible assets acquired and for a severance accrual. Amortization will be adjusted on a prospective basis over the estimated 
remaining useful life of the intangible assets. This will result in an increase in amortization expense of $7.6 million, on an 
annualized basis, over the remaining useful life relative to that originally determined under the preliminary valuation.

Goodwill related to the Call-Net Acquisition has been assigned to the Telecom reporting segment.
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( i i ) 	 Other : 

On January 31, 2005, the Company completed the acquisition of Rogers Centre, a multi-purpose stadium located in 
Toronto, Canada for a purchase price of approximately $26.6 million, including acquisition costs, plus $4.8 million of 
assumed liabilities. The purchase price has been allocated on a preliminary basis to working capital and property, plant 
and equipment pending finalizing the valuation of its tangible and intangible assets. The operations of Rogers Centre 
were consolidated with those of the Company as of January 31, 2005.

Two other acquisitions occurred during 2005 for cash consideration of approximately $11.7 million. 
 

(b ) 	 2004  acquisit ions:

The Company completed the following acquisitions during 2004 which were accounted for by the purchase method:

( i ) 	W ire less  minor i ty  interests :

On October 13, 2004, the Company acquired the 34% interest of Wireless owned by JVII General Partnership, a part-
nership wholly owned by AT&T Wireless Services, Inc. (“AWE”), for cash consideration totalling $1,767.4 million. With 
this transaction, the Company increased its ownership in Wireless from 55.3% to 89.3%. Wireless is a subsidiary of the 
Company whose results were already consolidated with those of the Company prior to this transaction. 

On November 11, 2004, the Company announced that it would launch an exchange offer for any and all of the 
remaining outstanding shares of Wireless owned by the public, with consideration being 1.75 Class B Non-Voting shares 
of the Company for each share of Wireless. For accounting purposes, the value of the consideration was calculated  
as the average price of the Class B Non-Voting shares of the Company over a period of two days before and after  
the November 11, 2004 announcement date of the exchange offer. At December 31, 2004, the Company completed  
the acquisition of all of the publicly-held shares of Wireless in exchange for 28,072,856 Class B Non-Voting shares of the 
Company valued at $811.9 million. This represented an acquisition of an approximate 11.2% interest in Wireless. As a 
result, at December 31, 2004, the Company owned 100% of Wireless.

On December 31, 2004, the Company issued stock options to purchase Class B Non-Voting shares of the Company 
in exchange for both vested and non-vested stock options to purchase shares of Wireless, using the same conversion ratio 
of 1.75. The fair value of the vested options issued totalled approximately $29.3 million, and was included as part of the 
purchase price. The fair value of the unvested options issued of approximately $43.9 million will be amortized to expense 
over the vesting period. The fair values of the Company’s options were calculated using the Black-Scholes model.

 Including direct incremental acquisition costs of approximately $10.2 million, the aggregate purchase price for 
the acquisition of the Wireless shares and options totalled $2,618.8 million. 

Goodwill related to the step acquisitions of Wireless has been assigned to the Wireless reporting segment.

( i i ) 	 Microce l l  Te lecommunicat ions  Inc . : 

On November 9, 2004, the Company acquired the outstanding equity securities of Microcell Telecommunications Inc. 
(“Fido”) for cash consideration. The results of Fido were consolidated effective November 9, 2004. Fido is a provider 
of wireless telecommunications services in Canada. With this acquisition, the Company now operates the only Global 
System for Mobile communications (“GSM”) network in Canada.

Including direct incremental acquisition costs of approximately $14.9 million, the purchase price totalled 
$1,318.4 million, including $51.7 million paid for warrants in 2005. 

 Prior to completion of the acquisition, the Company developed a plan to restructure and integrate the opera-
tions of Fido. As a result of the restructuring and integration, $129.0 million was originally accrued as a liability assumed 
on acquisition in the allocation of the purchase price as at December 31, 2004. As at December 31, 2004, no payments had 
been made related to this liability. This liability included severance and other employee-related costs, as well as costs 
to consolidate facilities, systems and operations, close cell sites and terminate leases and other contracts. During 2005, 
management finalized its plan and revised the estimated restructuring and integration costs. As restructuring activities 
progressed and the Company was able to assess such matters as the extent of its network coverage, management was 
able to finalize those cell site and facility leases to be terminated and negotiate lease termination costs with the landlord  
where applicable. The negotiations related to the termination of other contracts were completed during 2005 as 
well. Additionally, as the dismantling of cell sites progressed, the Company was able to estimate the costs involved in  
dismantling sites with greater accuracy. With the continued integration of Fido’s operational and administrative functions, 
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the Company was able to finalize the list of those employees who would be retained and those whose employment 
would be severed in order to avoid the duplication of functions within the integrated enterprise.

The resulting adjustments to the liabilities assumed on acquisition and payments made against such liabilities 
during 2005 are as follows:

	 As at				    As at
	 December 31,		  Revised		  December 31,
	 2004	 Adjustments	 liabilities	 Payments	 2005

Network decommissioning and restoration costs	 $	 52,806	 $	 (18,505)	 $	 34,301	 $	 (18,496)	 $	 15,805
Lease and other contract termination costs	 	 48,329	 	 (21,648)	 	 26,681	 	 (22,997)	 	 3,684
Involuntary severance	 	 27,891	 	 (15,557)	 	 12,334	 	 (10,156)	 	 2,178

	 					     	 $	 129,026	 $	 (55,710)	 $	 73,316	 $	 (51,649)	 $	 21,667

The remaining liability as at December 31, 2005 will be paid over the course of 2006.
 

( i i i ) 	 Other :

On December 23, 2004, the Company purchased the remaining 20% interest of Rogers Sportsnet for $45 million. The purchase  
price was allocated to goodwill on a preliminary basis pending completion of the valuations of the net identifiable 
assets acquired. In October 2005, an adjustment was made to allocate $23.6 million of the purchase price to broadcast 
licence with an offsetting reduction to goodwill. The broadcast licence has an indefinite life. 

On January 2, 2004, the Company acquired 50% of CTV Specialty Television Inc.’s mobile production and distri-
bution business (“Dome Productions”) for cash of $21.3 million, net of cash acquired of $3.5 million. Dome Productions 
has been proportionately consolidated with the Company since acquisition of the 50% interest on January 2, 2004. 

Goodwill related to the acquisitions of Sportsnet and Dome Productions has been assigned to the Media  
reporting segment.

During 2004, the Company had other acquisitions with purchase consideration of $0.4 million.
 

( c ) 	 Adjustments to preliminary purchase allocations related to 2004  acquisit ions:

During 2005, the purchase price allocations related to the 2004 acquisitions were adjusted to reflect final valuations of 
tangible and intangible assets acquired as well as updated information and estimates related to Fido restructuring and 
integration plans. The following table summarizes the adjustments made to the purchase price allocations from those 
disclosed at December 31, 2004:

	 	 Wireless	 Fido	 Other	 Total

Increase (decrease) in estimated fair value of net assets acquired:
		  Subscriber bases	 		  $	 15,263 	 $	 31,500 	 $	 –	 $	 46,763
		  Brand names	 			   903	 	 2,500	 	 941	 	 4,344
		  Roaming agreements	 			   (10,160)	 	 1,500	 	 –	 	 (8,660)
		  Dealer networks	 			   27,140	 	 13,500	 	 –	 	 40,640
		  Wholesale agreements	 			   –	 	 13,000	 	 –	 	 13,000
		  Spectrum licences	 			   (1,768)	 	 (91,600)	 	 –	 	 (93,368)
		  Broadcast licence	 			   –	 	 –	 	 23,600	 	 23,600
		  PP&E					    1,020	 	 5,590	 	 –	 	 6,610
		  Deferred revenue	 			   –	 	 (5,654)	 	 –	 	 (5,654)

	 								        	 32,398	 	 (29,664)	 	 24,541	 	 27,275 
Decrease in liabilities assumed on acquisition	 			   –	 	 55,710	 	 –	 	 55,710
Decrease (increase) in acquisition costs	 			   1,078	 	 –	 	 (63)	 	 1,015
Adjustment to fair value of unvested options			   	 20,456	 	 –	 	 –	 	 20,456

Decrease in goodwill	 		  $	 53,932	 $	 26,046	 $	 24,478	 $	 104,456
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(d ) 	 Purchase price allocations:

The table below summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the acquisitions 
in 2005 and 2004. The final purchase price allocations for Wireless and Fido are presented below. The final purchase price 
allocations for Call-Net and Rogers Centre are expected to be completed in early 2006. 

		  2 0 0 5 		  2 0 0 4

	 Call-Net	 Other	 Total	W ireless	 Fido	 Other	 Total

Consideration:
Cash	 		  $	 –	 $	 36,308	 $	 36,308	 $	 1,767,370 	 $	 1,251,819	 $	 70,200	 $	 3,089,389 
Class B Non-Voting  
	 shares	 	 315,986	 	 –	 	 315,986	 	 811,867	 	 –	 	 –	 	 811,867
Amounts due in 2005	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 51,705	 	 –	 	 51,705
Options issued as
	 consideration	 	 8,495	 	 –	 	 8,495	 	 73,228	 	 –	 	 –	 	 73,228
Less fair value of 
	 unvested options	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (43,896)	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (43,896)
Acquisition costs	 	 4,000	 	 1,996	 	 5,996	 	 10,200	  	 14,888	 	 –	 	 25,088

Purchase price	 $	 328,481	 $	 38,304	 $	 366,785	 $	 2,618,769	 $	 1,318,412	 $	 70,200	 $	 4,007,381

Cash and cash 
	 equivalents	 $	 43,801 	 $	 212 	 $	 44,013 	 $	 –	 $	 118,070 	 $	 3,500 	 $	 121,570 
Short-term  
	 investments	 	 21,666	 	 –	 	 21,666	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –
Accounts receivable	 	 29,040	 	 4,968	 	 34,008	 	 –	 	 86,179	 	 4,118	 	 90,297
Other current assets	 	 27,561	 	 4,537	 	 32,098	 	 –	 	 31,796	 	 674	 	 32,470
Inventory	 	 –	 	 1,023	 	 1,023	 	 –	 	 47,292	 	 –	 	 47,292
Long-term 
	 investments	 	 584	 	 –	 	 584	 	 –	 	 3,823	 	 –	 	 3,823
Deferred charges	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (17,197)	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (17,197)
Other long-term 
	 assets	 	 4,604	 	 –	 	 4,604	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –
Subscriber bases	 	 123,000	 	 –	 	 123,000	 	 807,779	 	 171,500	 	 5,000	 	 984,279
Brand names	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 303,459	 	 102,500	 	 –	 	 405,959
Roaming agreements	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 486,574	 	 36,500	 	 –	 	 523,074
Broadcast licence	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 23,600	 	 23,600
Spectrum licences 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 201,909	 	 319,000	 	 –	 	 520,909
Dealer networks	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 27,140	 	 13,500	 	 –	 	 40,640
Wholesale agreement	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 13,000	 	 –	 	 13,000
PP&E					    339,984	 	 32,239	 	 372,223	 	 33,143	 	 337,029	 	 7,768	 	 377,940
Accounts payable and
	 accrued liabilities	 	 (147,153)	 	 (11,207)	 	 (158,360)	 	 –	 	 (144,692)	 	 (3,881)	 	 (148,573)
Deferred revenue	 	 –	 	 (2,426)	 	 (2,426)	 	 –	 	 (50,956)	 	 –	 	 (50,956)
Liabilities assumed 
	 on acquisition	 	 (3,655)	 	 (5,997)	 	 (9,652)	 	 –	 	 (73,316)	 	 –	 	 (73,316)
Long-term debt	 	 (292,532)	 	 –	 	 (292,532)	 	 (56,509)	 	 (352,651)	 	 –	 	 (409,160)
Derivative instruments	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (20,090)	 	 (64,602)	 	 –	 	 (84,692)
Other long-term 
	 liabilities	 	 (9,396)	 	 –	 	 (9,396)	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –
Non-controlling  
	 interest	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 290,878	 	 –	 	 –	 	 290,878

Fair value of net  
	 assets acquired	 $	 137,504	 $	 23,349	 $	 160,853	 $	 2,057,086	 $	 593,972	 $	 40,779	 $	 2,691,837

Goodwill	 $	 190,977	 $	 14,955	 $	 205,932	 $	 561,683	 $	 724,440	 $	 29,421	 $	 1,315,544
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(e ) 	Integrat ion expenses:

As part of the acquisition of Call-Net and Fido, the Company incurred certain integration costs that did not qualify to be 
included as part of the purchase price allocation as a liability assumed on acquisition. Rather, these costs are recorded 
within operating expenses. These expenses include various severance, consulting and other incremental restructuring 
costs directly related to the acquisitions. 

During 2005, the Company incurred $12.9 million in integration expenses related to the Call-Net acquisition 
and $53.6 million in integration expenses related to the Fido acquisition (2004 – $4.4 million). 

( f ) 	 Pro forma results of operations:

The pro forma results of operations had the Company acquired Call-Net on January 1, 2004 and Wireless and Fido on 
January 1, 2003, would have been as follows:

(Unaudited)	 			   2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Operating revenue	 						      $	 7,909,771	 $	 6,958,303

Loss for the year	 						      $	 (175,684)	 $	 (661,726)

Loss per share:
		  Basic and diluted	 						      $	 (0.60)	 $	 (2.66)

 
Note 4.	 Other current assets:

	 			   2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Inventories	 						      $	 117,182	 $	 123,457
Video rental inventory	 							       35,309	 	 31,132
Prepaid expenses	 							       111,908	 	 88,288
Acquired program rights	 							       20,984	 	 13,651
Other	 								        12,463	 	 3,989

	 					     	 						      $	 297,846	 $	 260,517

Depreciation expense for video rental inventory is charged to operating, general and administrative expenses 
and amounted to $64.3 million in 2005 (2004 – $62.5 million). The costs of acquired program rights are amortized to 
operating, general and administrative expenses over the expected performances of the related programs and amounted 
to $25.9 million in 2005 (2004 – $25.8 million).

Note 5.	 Property, plant and equipment:

Details of PP&E are as follows: 

		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

		  Accumulated	 Net book	 	 Accumulated	 Net book
	 Cost	 depreciation	 value	 Cost	 depreciation	 value

Land and buildings	 $	 405,489	 $	 76,816	 $	 328,673	 $	 349,029	 $	 62,364	 $	 286,665
Towers, headends and transmitters	 	 743,349	 	 361,958	 	 381,391	 	 670,229	 	 340,197	 	 330,032
Distribution cable and  
	 subscriber drops	 	 4,081,473	 	 2,070,422	 	 2,011,051	 	 3,707,609	 	 1,816,561	 	 1,891,048
Network equipment	 	 3,870,411	 	 1,889,486	 	 1,980,925	 	 3,091,614	 	 1,455,907	 	 1,635,707
Wireless network radio  
	 base station equipment	 	 1,501,961	 	 1,105,396	 	 396,565	 	 1,459,153	 	 994,341	 	 464,812
Computer equipment and software	 	 1,567,927	 	 1,129,387	 	 438,540	 	 1,310,068	 	 906,645	 	 403,423
Customer equipment	 	 714,028	 	 404,592	 	 309,436	 	 625,130	 	 389,301	 	 235,829
Leasehold improvements	 	 260,055	 	 152,402	 	 107,653	 	 210,810	 	 123,827	 	 86,983
Other equipment	 	 532,315	 	 335,023	 	 197,292	 	 495,036	 	 342,698	 	 152,338

	 					     	 	$13,677,008	 $	 7,525,482	 $	 6,151,526	 $	11,918,678	 $	 6,431,841	 $	 5,486,837
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Depreciation expense for 2005 amounted to $1,074.8 million (2004 – $984.0 million).
PP&E not yet in service and therefore not depreciated at December 31, 2005 amounted to $364.5 million  

(2004 – $305.8 million).
 

Note 6.	 Goodwill and intangible assets:

(a ) 	 Goodwill :

	 			   2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Goodwill	 						      $	 3,035,787	 $	 3,388,687

A summary of the changes to goodwill is as follows:

	 			   2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Opening balance	 						      $	 3,388,687 	 $	 1,891,636 
Additions/adjustments to goodwill related to:
		  Acquisition of Call-Net (note 3(d))	 							       190,977	 	 –
		  Acquisition of Wireless (note 3)	 							       (53,932)	 	 615,615
		  Acquisition of Fido (note 3)	 							       (26,046)	 	 750,487
		  Other acquisitions (notes 3(a) and (b))	 							       (9,525)	 	 53,021
		  Blue Jays (note 7)	 							       –	 	 95,509
Reductions to goodwill related to:
		  Reduction in valuation allowance for acquired future tax assets (note 14)	 				    (451,827)	 	 –
		  Write-off of divisions	 							       (2,547)	 	 (12,225)
		  Dilution of interest in Wireless	 							       –	 	 (5,356)

		  											           $	 3,035,787	 $	 3,388,687

The Company wrote-off goodwill of $2.5 million during 2005 (2004 – $12.2 million) related to the closure of two of its 
divisions.

 
(b ) 	Intang ible assets:

		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

		  Accumulated	 Net book	 	 Accumulated	 Net book
	 Cost	 amortization	 value	 Cost	 amortization	 value

(i)			  Spectrum licences	 $	 928,553	 $	 –	 $	 928,553	 $	 1,017,157	 $	 –	 $	 1,017,157
(ii)	 	 Brand names		  410,740	 	 43,292	 	 367,448	 	 406,396	 	 6,927	 	 399,469
(iii)		 Subscriber bases	 	1,112,479	 	 321,799	 	 790,680	 	 942,716	 	 42,648	 	 900,068
(iv)		 Player contracts	 	 119,926	 	 112,392	 	 7,534	 	 119,926	 	 105,587	 	 14,339
(v)	 	 Roaming agreements		  523,074	 	 50,623	 	 472,451	 	 531,734	 	 7,078	 	 524,656
(vi)		 Dealer networks	 	 40,640	 	 11,751	 	 28,889	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –
(vii)	 Wholesale agreements	 	 13,000	 	 4,689	 	 8,311	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –
(viii)	Broadcast licence and other		  23,600	 	 –	 	 23,600	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –

	 						      $	3,172,012	 $	 544,546	 $	 2,627,466	 $	 3,017,929	 $	 162,240	 $	 2,855,689

Amortization of subscriber bases, brand names, player contracts, roaming agreements, dealer networks and wholesale 
agreements in 2005 amounted to $382.3 million (2004 – $64.3 million). 

(i)	 �As a result of the acquisitions of Fido and Wireless, the Company determined the value of the spectrum licences 
acquired to be $520.9 million (note 3(d)). In a spectrum auction conducted by Industry Canada in February 2001, 
the Company purchased 23 personal communications services licences of 10 megahertz (“MHz”) or 20 MHz 
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each, in the 1.9 gigahertz (“GHz”) band in various regions across Canada at a cost of $396.8 million, including 
costs of acquisition. During 2005, the Company acquired spectrum in various licence areas for an aggregate 
cost of $4.8 million (2004 – $6.1 million). These amounts have been recorded as spectrum licences. The Company 
has determined that these licences have indefinite lives for accounting purposes and are therefore not being 
amortized. 

(ii)	 �The Fido brand names were acquired in 2004 as a result of the acquisition of Fido (note 3(b)). The fair value of 
the brand names was determined to be $102.5 million and is being amortized straight-line over five years. The 
Rogers brand names were acquired in 2004 as a result of the acquisition of 100% of Wireless (note 3(b)). The fair 
value of the portion of the brand names acquired was determined to be $303.5 million and is being amortized  
straight-line over 20 years.

(iii)	 �The subscriber bases were acquired as a result of the acquisitions of Fido and Wireless in 2004 (note 3(b)) and 
the acquisition of Call-Net in 2005 (note 3(a)). The fair value of the customer base for Fido is being amortized 
straight-line over 2.25 years, the fair value of the customer base for Wireless is being amortized straight-line 
over a weighted average of 4.6 years and the fair value of the customer base for Call-Net is being amortized 
straight-line over a weighted average period of 2.4 years.

(iv)	 �Player contracts are related to the value of contracts associated with the Toronto Blue Jays Baseball Club 
(“Blue Jays”) and are being amortized straight-line over five years. 

(v)	 �Roaming agreements are related to the value of roaming contracts associated with Fido and Wireless  
(note 3(b)). These agreements are being amortized straight-line over 12 years.

(vi)	 �The dealer networks were acquired in 2004 as a result of the acquisitions of Fido and Wireless (note 3(b)). The 
dealer networks are being amortized straight-line over four years. 

(vii)	 �Wholesale agreements are related to the value of contracts acquired as part of the Fido acquisition (note 3(b)). 
These agreements are being amortized straight-line over a period of 38 months.

(viii)	� The broadcast licence was acquired as part of the acquisition of the remaining 20% of Sportsnet (note 3(b)). 
The broadcast licence has an indefinite life and is therefore not being amortized.
 

Note 7.	I nvestments:

		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

			Q   uoted	 	 Quoted
	 	 	 market	 Book	 market	 Book
	 Number	 Description	 value	 value	 value	 value

Investments accounted for 
	 by the equity method			   		  $ 	 9,047			   $	 9,348

Investments accounted for 
	 by the cost method, 
	 net of write-downs:
Publicly traded companies:
		  Cogeco Cable Inc.		  Subordinate
	 					     	 6,595,675	 Voting
		  				    	 (2004 – 6,595,675)	 Common	 $	 161,594	 	 68,884	 $	 169,179	 	 68,884
		  Cogeco Inc.	 	 Subordinate
		  					     3,399,800	 Voting
		  				    	 (2004 – 3,399,800)	 Common		  81,595	 	 44,438		  76,190	 	 44,438
Other publicly traded	
	 companies				    11,998		  2,845	 	 23,772		  3,551

			   						      	 255,187	 	 116,167		  269,141	 	 116,873

Private companies				    	 	 12,998	 	 		  12,949

							       				    $	 138,212	 	 	 $	 139,170
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(a ) 	 Blue Jays:

On January 5, 2004, the Company paid the remaining amount related to the purchase of the 20% minority interest in 
the Blue Jays of approximately $39.1 million. This payment had no impact on the carrying value or the control of the  
investment since this liability was recorded at the original date of acquisition.

Effective April 1, 2001, Rogers Telecommunications Ltd. (“RTL”), a company controlled by the controlling share-
holder of the Company, acquired the Class A Preferred shares of a subsidiary of RCI that owns the Blue Jays (“Blue Jays 
Holdco Inc.”) for $30.0 million. On July 31, 2004, Blue Jays Holdco Inc. redeemed and cancelled the 30,000 Class A Preferred 
shares for $30.0 million, resulting in the control of Blue Jays Holdco Inc. being transferred to the Company. Accordingly, 
commencing July 31, 2004, the Company began to consolidate its investment in Blue Jays Holdco Inc. This had no impact 
on net income since the Company had previously equity accounted for 100% of the losses of Blue Jays Holdco Inc.

While they were outstanding, the Class A Preferred shares of Blue Jays Holdco Inc. had a cumulative divi-
dend rate of 9.167% per annum. These dividends were satisfied in kind by transferring income tax losses to RTL. During 
2004, Blue Jays Holdco Inc. transferred income tax losses to RTL in the amount of $27.4 million with an agreed value of  
$2.7 million.

From January 1, 2004 to July 30, 2004, cash contributions of $30.1 million were made to Blue Jays Holdco Inc.

(b ) 	 Cogeco Inc.  and Cogeco Cable Inc.  (collectively “Cogeco”) :

In November 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with a group unaffiliated with Cogeco, to exchange 658,125 
Subordinated Voting shares of Cogeco Cable Inc. (“CCI”) for 675,000 Subordinated Voting shares of Cogeco Inc. (“CI”). This 
transaction was based on the December 13, 2004 closing price and resulted in an increase in the Company’s investment  
in CI of $15.8 million, a decrease in the Company’s investment in CCI of $6.9 million and a gain on the exchange of $8.9 million.  
The Company’s total investment in CI represents an approximate 21% equity ownership, representing a 7% voting interest,  
and in CCI an approximate 16.5% equity ownership, representing a 4% voting interest. Therefore, the Company does not 
exercise significant influence over either CI or CCI.

Note 8.	 Deferred charges:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Financing costs	 						      $	 66,858	 $	 81,229
Pre-operating costs	 							       12,126	 	 3,506
CRTC commitments	 							       34,403	 	 44,746
Other	 								        15,732	 	 4,985

	 					     	 						      $	 129,119	 $	 134,466

Amortization of deferred charges for 2005 amounted to $34.8 million (2004 – $35.3 million). Accumulated amortization 
as at December 31, 2005 amounted to $116.0 million (2004 – $123.9 million).

Financing costs of $4.9 million were deferred in connection with the amendments to certain credit facilities in 
2005. Financing costs of $66.1 million were deferred in connection with the issuance of long-term debt in 2004.

In connection with the repayment of certain long-term debt during 2005 and amendments made to certain 
credit facilities, the Company wrote off deferred financing costs of $3.0 million (2004 – $19.2 million) (note 11(f)). 

The Company has committed to the Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission (“CRTC”) 
to spend an aggregate of $77.4 million in operating funds to provide certain benefits to the Canadian broadcasting 
system. In prior years, the Company agreed to pay $50.0 million in public benefits over seven years relating to the CRTC 
grant of a new television licence in Toronto, $6.0 million relating to the purchase of 13 radio stations and the remain-
der relating to a CRTC decision permitting the purchase of Sportsnet, Rogers (Toronto) Ltd. and Rogers (Alberta) Ltd.  
The amount of these liabilities, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities, is 
$68.6 million at December 31, 2005 (2004 – $48.3 million). Commitments are being amortized over periods ranging from 
six to seven years. 
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Note 9.	 Other long-term assets:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Deferred pension	 						      $	 32,111	 $	 24,184
Program rights	 							       23,420	 	 45,188
Long-term deposits	 							       46,392	 	 14,072
Long-term receivables	 							       1,307	 	 3,632
Other	 								        –	 	 2,367

		  											           $	 103,230	 $	 89,443

Note 10.	 Consolidated statements of cash flows:

(a ) 	 Change in non-cash working capital:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable							       $	 (182,756)	 $	 15,496 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 							      (61,532)	 	 13,525
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue	 							       15,463	 	 (1,811)
Increase in deferred charges and other assets	 							       (95,183)	 	 (89,300)

	 					     	 						      $	 (324,008)	 $	 (62,090)

 
(b ) 	 Supplemental cash flow information:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Income taxes paid	 						      $	 15,662	 $	 13,446
Interest paid	 							       705,816	 	 523,061

( c ) 	 Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Class B Non-Voting shares issued on conversion 	of Series E Convertible Preferred shares	 	 $	 –	 $	 1,752
CCI shares exchanged for CI shares (note 7(b))	 							       –	 	 (6,874)
CCI shares acquired in exchange for CI shares (note 7(b))	 						      –	 	 15,801
Class B Non-Voting shares issued in exchange for Wireless shares (note 3(b))	 				    –	 	 811,867
Options to acquire Class B Non-Voting shares issued in exchange for
	 Wireless options (note 3(b))								        –	 	 73,228
Options to acquire Class B Non-Voting shares Issued in exchange for 
	 Call-Net options (note 3(a))	 							       8,495	 	 –
Class B Non-Voting shares issued in consideration 	for acquisition of 
	 shares of Call-Net (note 3(a))	 							       315,986	 	 –
Class B Non-Voting shares issued in consideration 	upon the conversion of 
	 convertible debt (note 11(a))	 							       271,197	 	 –
Class B Non-Voting shares issued in consideration 	upon the conversion of 
	 Preferred Securities (note 11(a))	 							       696,494	 	 –

Refer to note 13(a) for details of other non-cash transactions.
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Note 11.	 Long-term debt:

	 	 	I nterest rate	 2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

(a)	 Corporate:
			   (i)			  Convertible Debentures, due 2005	 					     5.75%	 $	 –	 $	 261,810
			   (ii)	 	 Senior Notes, due 2006	 					     10.50%	 	 75,000	 	 75,000
			   (iii)		 Convertible Preferred Securities, due 2009 (note 2(s)(i))	 			   5.50%	 	 –	 	 490,710

												            		  75,000	 	 827,520

(b)	Wireless:
			   (i)			  Bank credit facility 	 					     Floating	 	 71,000	 	 –
			   (ii)	 	 Senior Secured Notes, due 2006 	 					     10.50%	 	 160,000	 	 160,000
			   (iii)		 Floating Rate Senior Secured Notes, due 2010	 				    Floating	 	 641,245	 	 661,980
			   (iv)		 Senior Secured Notes, due 2011	 					     9.625%	 	 571,291	 	 589,764
			   (v)	 	 Senior Secured Notes, due 2011	 					     7.625%	 	 460,000	 	 460,000
			   (vi)		 Senior Secured Notes, due 2012	 					     7.25%	 	 547,973	 	 565,692
			   (vii)	 Senior Secured Notes, due 2014	 					     6.375%	 	 874,425	 	 902,700
			   (viii)	Senior Secured Notes, due 2015	 					     7.50%	 	 641,245	 	 661,980
			   (ix)		 Senior Secured Debentures, due 2016	 					     9.75%	 	 180,598	 	 186,438
			   (x)	 	 Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2012	 					     8.00%	 	 466,360	 	 481,440
			   (xi)		 Fair value increment arising from 	purchase accounting	 				    	 44,326	 	 55,232

												            		  4,658,463	 	 4,725,226

(c)	 Cable:
			   (i)			  Bank credit facility	 					     Floating	 	 267,000	 	 –
			   (ii)	 	 Senior Secured Second Priority Notes, due 2005	 				    10.00%	 	 –	 	 350,889
			   (iii)		 Senior Secured Second Priority Notes, due 2007	 				    7.60%	 	 450,000	 	 450,000
			   (iv)		 Senior Secured Second Priority Notes, due 2011	 				    7.25%	 	 175,000	 	 175,000
			   (v)	 	 Senior Secured Second Priority Notes, due 2012				    	 7.875%	 	 408,065	 	 421,260
			   (vi)		 Senior Secured Second Priority Notes, due 2013	 				    6.25%	 	 408,065	 	 421,260
			   (vii)	 Senior Secured Second Priority Notes, due 2014	 				    5.50%	 	 408,065	 	 421,260
			   (viii)	Senior Secured Second Priority Notes, due 2015	 				    6.75%	 	 326,452	 	 337,008
			   (ix)		 Senior Secured Second Priority Debentures, due 2032	 				    8.75%	 	 233,180	 	 240,720
			   (x)	 	 Senior Subordinated Guaranteed Debentures, due 2015		   	 	 11.00%	 	 –	 	 136,819

			   											           2,675,827	 	 2,954,216

(d)	Media:		
			   Bank credit facility	 					     Floating	 	 274,000	 	 –

(e)	 Telecom:
	 		  (i)			  Senior Secured Notes, due 2008 	 					     10.625%	 	 25,703	 	 –
			   (ii)	 	 Fair value increment arising from 	purchase accounting	 				    	 1,619	 	 –

	 												            	 27,322	 	 –

Mortgages and other 	 					     Various	 	 28,939	 	 34,135

	 											           		  7,739,551		  8,541,097
Less current portion	 							       286,139	 	 618,236

	 											           	 $	 7,453,412	 $	 7,922,861

Further details of long-term debt are as follows:

(a ) 	 Corporate:

( i ) 	 Convert ib le  Debentures ,  due 2005 :

On May 13, 2005, 1,031 Class B Non-Voting shares were issued upon conversion of US$0.03 million face amount of the 
Company’s 5.75% Convertible Debentures.
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On June 30, 2005, the Company issued a notice of redemption for all of its US$224.8 million face value amount 
(accreted amount – US$221.5 million) of 5.75% convertible debentures due November 26, 2005 for an aggregate redemp-
tion amount of approximately US$223.0 million. Debenture holders converted an aggregate US$224.5 million face 
amount of debentures into 7,715,417 Class B Non-Voting shares of the Company with a value of $271.2 million. The 
remaining US$0.3 million face amount was redeemed in cash.

( i i ) 	 Senior  Notes ,  due 2006 :

The Company’s $75.0 million Senior Notes mature on February 14, 2006. Interest on the Senior Notes is paid semi-annually.
The Company’s Senior Notes and debentures described above are senior unsecured general obligations of the 

Company ranking equally with each other. 
 

( i i i ) 	 Convert ib le  Preferred Secur i t ies ,  due 2009 :

Convertible Preferred Securities were issued in 1999 with a face value of $600.0 million to Microsoft R-Holdings, Inc. 
(“Microsoft”), a subsidiary of Microsoft Corporation. These Convertible Preferred Securities bore interest at 51⁄ 2% per 
annum, payable quarterly in cash, Class B Non-Voting shares or additional Convertible Preferred Securities, at the 
Company’s option. The Convertible Preferred Securities were convertible, in whole or in part, at any time, at Microsoft’s 
option, into 28.5714 Class B Non-Voting shares per $1,000 aggregate principal amount of Convertible Preferred Securities, 
representing a conversion price of $35 per Class B Non-Voting share. In August 2004, the Company and Microsoft agreed 
to amend the terms of such securities, whereby certain transfer restrictions would have terminated on March 28, 2006 
unless a qualifying offer to purchase these securities was made by the Company. In the event such transfer restrictions 
terminated, during a three-month period subsequent to March 28, 2006, the Company had the option to extend the 
maturity of these securities for up to three years from the original August 11, 2009 maturity date. The Company had the 
option of repaying the Convertible Preferred Securities in cash or Class B Non-Voting shares. 

As part of the transaction to issue the Convertible Preferred Securities, the Company issued 5,333,333 war-
rants to Microsoft, each exercisable into one Class B Non-Voting share. Since the proceeds of $600.0 million included 
the 5,333,333 warrants, these were recorded as a separate component of shareholders’ equity at their fair value of  
$24.0 million. These warrants expired on August 11, 2002 and the $24.0 million book value of these warrants was trans-
ferred to contributed surplus.

In addition, Canadian GAAP requires that the fair value of the conversion feature of $188.0 million be recorded 
as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. The remaining $388.0 million represented the fair value of the principal  
amount of the Convertible Preferred Securities at the date of issuance. The $388.0 million principal element was being 
accreted up to the $600.0 million face value over the term to maturity. The accretion and the 51⁄ 2% interest were charged 
to interest expense (note 2(s)(i)). 

On October 11, 2005, the Company gave a notice of redemption to Microsoft, stating its intention to redeem 
$600 million 51⁄ 2% Convertible Preferred Securities due August 2009 in accordance with the terms of such securities. Under 
the terms of the Convertible Preferred Securities, following the October 11, 2005 notice of redemption, Microsoft had  
27 days in which to give notice of its intention to convert the Preferred Securities into an aggregate 17,142,857 RCI Class B  
Non-Voting shares, at the conversion price of $35 per share. On October 17, 2005, the Company received a notice of  
conversion from Microsoft stating that it had elected to convert its Preferred Securities into Class B Non-Voting shares, 
and pursuant to such notice, on October 24, 2005, the Company issued to Microsoft 17,142,857 Class B Non-Voting shares 
with a value of $696.5 million and recorded contributed surplus for the difference between the carrying values of the 
debt plus conversion feature and the total par value (note 13(a)(iii)(iv)). 

(b ) 	W ireless:

( i ) 	 Bank credit  fac i l i ty :

On October 8, 2004 Wireless and its bank lenders entered into an amending agreement to Wireless’ $700.0 million bank 
credit facility that provided among other things, for a two year extension to the maturity date and the reduction schedule  
so that the bank credit facility now reduces by $140.0 million on each of April 30, 2008 and April 30, 2009 with the maturity  
date on the April 30, 2010. In addition, certain financial ratios to be maintained on a quarterly basis were made less 
restrictive, the restriction on the annual amount of capital expenditures was eliminated and the restriction on the  
payment of dividends and other shareholder distributions was eliminated other than in the case of a default or event of 
default under the terms of the bank credit facility.
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At December 31, 2005, $71.0 million (2004 – nil) was outstanding under the bank credit facility, which provides 
Wireless with, among other things, up to $700.0 million from a consortium of Canadian financial institutions.

Under the credit facility, Wireless may borrow at various rates, including the bank prime rate or base rate to 
the bank prime rate or base rate plus 13⁄ 4% per annum, the bankers’ acceptance rate plus 1% to 23⁄ 4% per annum and 
the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 1% to 23⁄ 4% per annum. Wireless’ bank credit facility requires, among 
other things, that Wireless satisfy certain financial covenants, including the maintenance of certain financial ratios.

This credit facility is available on a fully revolving basis until the first date specified below, at which time, the 
facility becomes a revolving/reducing facility and the aggregate amount of credit available under the facility will be 
reduced as follows:

On April 30:
2008		 									         	 $	 140,000
2009		 											           140,000
2010												           	 420,000

Borrowings under the credit facility are secured by the pledge of a senior bond issued under a deed of trust, which is 
secured by substantially all the assets of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions and 
prior liens.

( i i ) 	 Senior  Secured Notes ,  due 2006 :

Wireless’ $160.0 million Senior Secured Notes mature on June 1, 2006. These notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at 
Wireless’ option, at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium. 

( i i i ) 	 F loat ing Rate  Senior  Secured Notes ,  due 2010 :

On November 30, 2004, Wireless issued US$550.0 million of Floating Rate Senior Secured Notes, which mature on December 15, 
2010. These notes are redeemable in whole or in part, at Wireless’ option, at any time on or after December 15, 2006 at 
102.0% of the principal amount, declining ratably to 100.0% of the principal amount on or after December 15, 2008, plus, 
in each case, interest accrued to the redemption date. The Company pays interest on the Floating Rate Notes at LIBOR 
plus 3.125%, reset quarterly.

( iv ) 	 Senior  Secured Notes ,  due 2011 :

Wireless’ US$490.0 million Senior Secured Notes mature on May 1, 2011. These notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, 
at Wireless’ option, at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium.

 
(v ) 	 Senior  Secured Notes ,  due 2011 :

On November 30, 2004, Wireless issued $460.0 million Senior Secured Notes which mature on December 15, 2011. These 
notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at Wireless’ option, at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium.

(v i ) 	 Senior  Secured Notes ,  due 2012 :

On November 30, 2004, Wireless issued US$470.0 million Senior Secured Notes which mature on December 15, 2012. These 
notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at Wireless’ option at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium.

(v i i ) 	 Senior  Secured Notes ,  due 2014 :

On February 20, 2004, Wireless issued US$750.0 million of Senior Secured Notes due on March 1, 2014. These notes are 
redeemable, in whole or in part, at Wireless’ option at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium.

(v i i i ) 	 Senior  Secured Notes ,  due 2015 :

On November 30, 2004, Wireless issued US$550.0 million of Senior Secured Notes which mature on March 15, 2015. These 
notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at Wireless’ option at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium. 
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( ix ) 	 Senior  Secured Debentures ,  due 2016 :

Wireless’ US$154.9 million Senior Secured Debentures mature on June 1, 2016. These debentures are redeemable, in 
whole or in part, at Wireless’ option, at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium. 

Each of Wireless’ Senior Secured Notes and Debentures described above is secured by the pledge of a senior 
bond that is secured by the same security as the security for the bank credit facility described in note 11(b)(i) and ranks 
equally with the bank credit facility.

 
(x ) 	 Senior  Subordinated Notes ,  due 2012 :

On November 30, 2004, Wireless issued US$400.0 million Senior Subordinated Notes due on December 15, 2012. These 
notes are redeemable in whole or in part, at Wireless’ option, at any time up to December 15, 2008, subject to a certain 
prepayment premium and at any time on or after December 15, 2008 at 104.0% of the principal amount, declining ratably  
to 100.0% of the principal amount on or after December 15, 2010.

Interest is paid semi-annually on all of Wireless’ notes and debentures with the exception of Wireless’ Floating 
Rate Senior Secured Notes due 2010 for which Wireless pays interest on a quarterly basis.

(x i ) 	 Fa i r  va lue increment  ar i s ing f rom purchase account ing:

The fair value increment on long-term debt is a purchase accounting adjustment required by GAAP as a result of the 
acquisition of the minority interest of Wireless during 2004. Under GAAP, the purchase method of accounting requires 
that the assets and liabilities of an acquired enterprise be revalued to fair value when allocating the purchase price of 
the acquisition. This fair value increment is recorded only on consolidation at the RCI level and is not recorded in the 
accounts of Wireless. The fair value increment is amortized over the remaining term of the related debt and recorded 
as part of interest expense. The fair value increment, applied against the specific debt instruments of Wireless to which 
it relates, results in the following carrying values at December 31, 2005 and 2004 of the Wireless debt in the Company’s 
consolidated accounts:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Senior Secured Notes, due 2006 	 					     10.50%	 $	 161,632	 $	 165,572
Senior Secured Notes, due 2010 	 					     Floating 	 	 643,857	 	 665,119
Senior Secured Notes, due 2011 	 					     9.625%	 	 605,875	 	 630,090
Senior Secured Notes, due 2011 	 					     7.625%	 	 461,648	 	 461,925
Senior Secured Notes, due 2012 	 					     7.25%	 	 550,871	 	 569,006
Senior Secured Notes, due 2014 	 					     6.375%	 	 857,172	 	 883,551
Senior Secured Notes, due 2015	 					     7.50% 	 	 644,409	 	 665,488
Senior Secured Debentures, due 2016 					     	 9.75%	 	 193,290	 	 200,349
Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2012 	 					     8.00%	 	 468,709	 	 484,126

Total 							       	 $	 4,587,463	 $	 4,725,226

 
( c ) 	 Cable:

( i ) 	 Bank credit  fac i l i ty :

In June 2005, Cable amended its bank credit facility (the “Bank Credit Facility”). The maximum amount of the facility 
has been reduced by $75.0 million to $1.0 billion comprised of $600.0 million Tranche A and $400.0 million Tranche B. 
The amendment served to extend the maturity dates of both Tranche A and Tranche B from January 2, 2009 to “bullet” 
repayments on July 2, 2010 and eliminate the amortization schedule for Tranche B; reduce interest rates and standby 
fees and relax certain financial covenants. 

At December 31, 2005, $267.0 million (2004 – nil) was outstanding under the Bank Credit Facility. 
The Bank Credit Facility is secured by the pledge of a senior bond issued under a deed of trust which is secured 

by substantially all of the assets of Cable and its wholly owned subsidiary, Rogers Cable Communications Inc. (“RCCI”), 
subject to certain exceptions and prior liens. In addition, under the terms of an inter-creditor agreement, the proceeds 
of any enforcement of the security under the deed of trust would be applied first to repay any obligations outstand-
ing under the Tranche A Credit Facility. Additional proceeds would be applied pro rata to repay all other obligations of 
Cable secured by senior bonds, including the Tranche B Credit Facility and Cable’s senior secured notes and debentures.
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The Bank Credit Facility requires, among other things, that Cable satisfy certain financial covenants, including the 
maintenance of certain financial ratios. The interest rate charged on the Bank Credit Facility ranges from nil to 2.0% per 
annum over the bank prime rate or base rate or 0.625% to 3.25% per annum over the bankers’ acceptance rate or LIBOR.

 
( i i ) 	 Senior  Secured Second Pr ior i ty  Notes ,  due 2005 :

On March 15, 2005, Cable repaid US$291.5 million aggregate principal amount of its 10.0% Senior Secured Second Priority 
Notes due March 15, 2005. 

( i i i ) 	 Senior  Secured Second Pr ior i ty  Notes ,  due 2007 :

Cable’s $450.0 million Senior Secured Second Priority Notes mature on February 6, 2007. The Notes are redeemable at 
Cable’s option, in whole or in part, at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium.

( iv ) 	 Senior  Secured Second Pr ior i ty  Notes ,  due 2011 :

On November 30, 2004, Cable issued $175.0 million Senior Secured Second Priority Notes due on December 15, 2011. These 
Notes are redeemable at Cable’s option, in whole or in part, at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium.

(v ) 	 Senior  Secured Second Pr ior i ty  Notes ,  due 2012 :

Cable’s US$350.0 million Senior Secured Second Priority Notes mature on May 1, 2012. The Notes are redeemable at 
Cable’s option, in whole or in part, at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium.

(v i ) 	 Senior  Secured Second Pr ior i ty  Notes ,  due 2013 :

On June 19, 2003, Cable issued US$350.0 million Senior Secured Second Priority Notes due June 15, 2013. The Notes are 
redeemable at Cable’s option, in whole or in part, at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium.

(v i i ) 	 Senior  Secured Second Pr ior i ty  Notes ,  due 2014 :

On March 11, 2004, Cable issued US$350.0 million Senior Secured Second Priority Notes due March 15, 2014. The Notes are 
redeemable at Cable’s option, in whole or in part, at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium.

 
(v i i i ) 	 Senior  Secured Second Pr ior i ty  Notes ,  due 2015 :

On November 30, 2004, Cable issued US$280.0 million Senior Secured Second Priority Notes, due on March 15, 2015. The 
Notes are redeemable at Cable’s option, in whole or in part, at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium.

( ix ) 	 Senior  Secured Second Pr ior i ty  Debentures ,  due 2032 :

Cable’s US$200.0 million 8.75% Senior Secured Second Priority Debentures mature on May 1, 2032. The debentures are 
redeemable at Cable’s option, in whole or in part, at any time, subject to a certain prepayment premium.

Each of Cable’s Senior Secured Notes and Debentures described above is secured by the pledge of a senior 
bond which is secured by the same security as the security for the Bank Credit Facility described in note 11(c)(i) and rank 
equally in regard to the proceeds of any enforcement of security with the Tranche B Credit Facility.

(x ) 	 Senior  Subordinated Guaranteed Debentures ,  due 2015 :

During 2005, Cable redeemed the US$113.7 million aggregate principal amount outstanding of the 11% Senior 
Subordinated Guaranteed Debentures due 2015 at a redemption price of 105.5% of the aggregate principal amount 
together with accrued and unpaid interest. This resulted in a loss on redemption of debt of $9.8 million including the 
premium on redemption as well as the write-off of the related deferred financing costs.

Interest is paid semi-annually on all of Cable’s notes and debentures.
 

(d ) 	 Media:

Bank credit  fac i l i ty :

In September 2005, Media amended its bank credit facility which is provided by a consortium of Canadian financial insti-
tutions. The maximum amount of the facility has been increased by $100.0 million to $600.0 million. The amendment also 
served to extend the maturity date by four years to September 30, 2010; reduce interest rates and standby fees and relax 
certain financial covenants. 
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At December 31, 2005, Media had $274.0 million (2004 – nil) outstanding under its bank credit facility. Borrowings 
under this facility are available to Media for general corporate purposes. Media’s bank credit facility is available on a 
fully revolving basis until maturity on September 30, 2010 and there are no scheduled reductions prior to maturity.

The interest rates charged on this credit facility range from the bank prime rate or U.S. base rate plus nil 
to 2.0% per annum and the bankers’ acceptance rate or LIBOR plus 1.0% to 3.0% per annum. The bank credit facil-
ity requires, among other things, that Media satisfy certain financial covenants, including the maintenance of certain  
financial ratios.

The bank credit facility is secured by floating charge debentures over most of the assets of Media and three 
of its subsidiaries, Rogers Broadcasting Limited (“RBL”), Rogers Publishing Limited (“RPL”) and Rogers Sportsnet Inc. 
(“Sportsnet”), subject to certain exceptions. Each of RBL, RPL and Sportsnet has guaranteed Media’s present and future 
liabilities and obligations under the credit facility.

(e ) 	 Telecom:

During 2005, Telecom redeemed $237.9 million (US$200.9 million) aggregate principal amount of its 10.625% Senior 
Secured Notes due 2008. Premiums and related expenses aggregated $17.5 million and a loss of $1.5 million, net of the 
adjustment to the fair value of debt on acquisition of $16.0 million, was recorded. As a result, $25.7 million (approximately 
US$22.0 million) aggregate principal amount of these Notes remain outstanding as at December 31, 2005 (note 24). 

 
( f ) 	 Debt repayments:

(i)	 During 2005, the Company redeemed an aggregate US$606.1 million principal amount of Senior 
Secured Second Priority Notes, Senior Secured Notes and Senior Subordinated Guaranteed Debentures by cash and  
converted US$224.8 million face value amount of Convertible Debentures by issuing 7,716,448 Class B Non-Voting shares 
and paying US$0.3 million in cash. The Company also converted the $600.0 million face value of its Convertible Preferred 
Securities and issued 17,142,857 of Class B Non-Voting shares in return. The Company paid aggregate prepayment  
premiums and other expenses of US$20.8 million, wrote off deferred financing costs of $3.0 million and wrote off  
$16.0 million of the fair value increment related to Telecom’s Senior Secured Notes that arose on the acquisition of 
Telecom. As a result, the Company recorded a loss on the repayment of debt of $11.2 million.

(ii)	 During 2004, the Company redeemed an aggregate US$708.4 million and C$300.0 million principal 
amount of Senior Notes and Debentures and repaid $1,750.0 million related to the bridge credit facility established in  
connection with the Company’s acquisition of Wireless. The Company paid aggregate prepayment premiums of  
$49.2 million, and wrote off deferred financing costs of $19.2 million, offset by a $40.2 million gain on the release of the 
deferred transition gain related to the cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements that were unwound during the 
year, resulting in a loss on the repayment of debt of $28.2 million.

(g ) 	We ighted average interest rate:

The Company’s effective weighted average interest rate on all long-term debt, as at December 31, 2005, including the 
effect of all of the derivative instruments, was 7.76% (2004 – 7.98%). 

 
(h ) 	 Pr incipal repayments:

As at December 31, 2005, principal repayments due within each of the next five years and in total thereafter on all long-
term debt are as follows:

2006		 									         	 $	 286,139
2007		 											           451,218
2008												           	 865
2009		 											           760
2010												           	 1,253,904
Thereafter	 								        	 5,700,720



123	 ROGERS 2005 ANNUAL REPORT . NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The provisions of the long-term debt agreements described above impose, in most instances, restrictions on the operations 
and activities of the companies governed by these agreements. Generally, the most significant of these restrictions are 
debt incurrence and maintenance tests, restrictions upon additional investments, sales of assets and payment of dividends.  
In addition, the repayment dates of certain debt agreements may be accelerated if there is a change in control of the 
respective companies. At December 31, 2005, the Company is in compliance with all terms of the long-term debt agreements.  
 

Note 12.	 Derivative instruments:

Details of the liability for derivative instruments is as follows:

	 U.S. $	 Exchange	 Cdn. $	 Carrying	 Estimated
2 0 0 5 	 notional	 rate	 notional	 amount	 fair value

Cross-currency interest rate exchange 
	 agreements accounted for as hedges	 $	 4,190,000	 	 1.3313	 $	 5,577,998	 $	 710,275	 $	 1,307,451
Cross-currency interest rate exchange 
	 agreements not accounted for as hedges	 	 611,830	 	 1.2021	 	 735,479	 	 27,095	 	 27,095
Interest exchange agreements 
	 not accounted for as hedges	 	 –	 	 –	 	 30,000	 	 791	 	 791

		  						      4,801,830	 		   	6,343,477	 	 738,161	 	 1,335,337
Transitional gain	 	 –	 		  	 –	 	 63,388	 	 –

		  						      4,801,830	 		  	 6,343,477	 	 801,549	 	 1,335,337

Less current portion	 	 326,830	 	 1.2045	 	 393,672	 	 14,180	 	 14,180

					     		  $	 4,475,000	 		  $	 5,949,805	 $	 787,369	 $	 1,321,157

	 U.S. $	 Exchange	 Cdn. $	 Carrying	 Estimated
2 0 0 4 	 notional	 rate	 notional	 amount	 fair value

Cross-currency interest rate exchange 
	 agreements accounted for as hedges	 $	 4,473,437	 	 1.3363	 $	 5,977,998	 $	 613,667	 $	 932,538
Cross-currency interest rate exchange 
	 agreements not accounted for as hedges	 	 661,830	 	 1.2183	 	 806,304	 	 10,882	 	 10,882
Interest exchange agreements 
	 not accounted for as hedges	 	 –	 	 –	 	 30,000	 	 2,347	 	 2,347

	 						      	 5,135,267	 		  	 6,814,302	 	 626,896	 	 945,767

Transitional gain	 	 –		  		  –	 	 73,505	 	 –

	 						      	 5,135,267	 		  	 6,814,302	 	 700,401	 	 945,767
Less current portion	 	 283,437	 	 1.4112	 	 400,000	 	 58,856	 	 61,530

		  					     $	 4,851,830	 		  $	 6,414,302	 $	 641,545	 $	 884,237

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company determined that it would not account for its cross-currency interest rate exchange 
agreements as hedges for accounting purposes and consequently began to account for such derivatives on a mark-to-
market basis, with resulting gains or losses recorded in or charged against income.

The Company adjusted the carrying value of these instruments from $338.1 million at December 31, 2003 to 
their fair value of $385.3 million on January 1, 2004. The corresponding transitional loss of $47.2 million was deferred and 
was being amortized to income over the remaining life of the underlying debt instruments.

Effective July 1, 2004, the Company met the requirements for hedge accounting under AcG-13 for certain of 
its derivative instruments and, consequently, on a prospective basis, began to treat approximately US$2,773.4 million 
notional amount of the aggregate US$2,885.3 million, or 96.1% of these exchange agreements, as hedges for accounting  
purposes on US$2,773.4 million of U.S. dollar-denominated debt.
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A transition adjustment arising on the change from mark-to-market accounting to hedge accounting was  
calculated as at July 1, 2004, resulting in a deferred transitional gain of $80.0 million. This transitional gain is being amortized  
to income over the shorter of the remaining life of the debt and the term of the exchange agreements. 

Amortization of the net transitional gain for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $10.8 million (2004 –  
$3.2 million).

On March 15, 2005, a cross-currency swap of US$50.0 million notional amount matured. Cable incurred a net 
cash outlay of $10.5 million upon settlement of this swap. 

Cable repaid its US$291.5 million 10.0% Senior Secured Second Priority Notes at maturity on March 15, 2005. 
Including the $58.1 million net cash outlay on the settlement of the cross-currency interest rate swap of US$283.4 million  
notional amount, Cable paid a total of $409.8 million. 

On November 30, 2004, the Company entered into an additional aggregate US$1,700.0 million notional principal  
amount of cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements that meet the requirements of hedge accounting as hedges 
against foreign exchange fluctuations under AcG-13.

 
Note 13.	 Shareholders’ equity:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Capital stock:
Common shares: 
		  56,233,894 Class A Voting shares (2004 – 56,235,394) 	 					     $	 72,311	 $	 72,313
		  257,702,341 Class B Non-Voting shares (2004 – 218,979,074)	 						      418,695	 	 355,793

Total capital stock	 							       491,006	 	 428,106

Convertible Preferred Securities (notes 2(s)(i) and 13(b))	 						      –	 	 188,000
Contributed surplus	 							       3,638,157	 	 2,288,669
Deficit									        (601,548)	 	 (519,441)

	 												            	 3,036,609	 	 1,957,228

											           		  $	 3,527,615	 $	 2,385,334

(a ) 	 Capital stock:

( i ) 	 Preferred shares :

Rights and conditions:
There are 400 million authorized Preferred shares without par value, issuable in series, with rights and terms of each 
series to be fixed by the Board of Directors prior to the issue of such series. The Preferred shares have no rights to vote at 
any general meeting of the Company.

( i i ) 	 Common shares :

Rights and conditions:
There are 56,240,494 authorized Class A Voting shares without par value. Each Class A Voting share is entitled to 50 votes 
per share. The Class A Voting shares are convertible on a one-for-one basis into Class B Non-Voting shares.

There are 1.4 billion authorized Class B Non-Voting shares with a par value of $1.62478 per share. 
In December 2005, the Company declared a 50% increase to the dividend paid for each outstanding Class A 

Voting share and Class B Non-Voting share. Accordingly, the annual dividend per share increased from $0.10 per share 
to $0.15 per share. During 2005, the Company declared dividends in aggregate of $0.125 per share on each of its Class A 
Voting shares and Class B Non-Voting shares.

The Class A Voting shares may receive a dividend at a semi-annual rate of up to $0.05 per share only after the 
Class B Non-Voting shares have been paid a dividend at a semi-annual rate of $0.05 per share. The Class A Voting and 
Class B Non-Voting shares share equally in dividends after payment of a dividend of $0.05 per share for each class.

( i i i ) 	 Dur ing 2005 ,  the  Company completed the fo l lowing capita l  s tock  t ransact ions :

I.	 �In 2005, the Company issued 8,464,426 Class B Non-Voting shares with a value of $316.0 million in exchange for 
the issued and outstanding common and Class B Non-Voting shares of Call-Net (note 3(a));
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II.	 �During 2005, the Company issued 7,716,448 Class B Non-Voting shares with a value of $271.2 million upon the 
conversion of convertible debt (note 11(a));

III.	 On July 25, 2005, 1,500 Class A Voting shares were converted to 1,500 Class B Non-Voting shares;
IV.	 �On conversion of the Convertible Preferred Securities on October 24, 2005, the Company issued 17,142,857 Class B  

Non-Voting shares with a value of $696.5 million and recorded contributed surplus of $668.6 million for the  
difference between the carrying values of the debt of $508.5 million plus conversion feature of $188.0 million 
and the total par value of the Class B Non-Voting shares of $27.9 million (note 11(a)(iii) and note 13(b)); and

V.	 �During 2005, 5,398,036 Class B Non-Voting shares were issued to employees upon exercise of options for consid-
eration of $106.1 million.

As a result of the above transactions, $1,326.8 million of the issued amounts related to Class B Non-Voting 
shares were recorded in contributed surplus. In addition, $22.7 million was recorded in contributed surplus related to 
stock-based compensation, including the adjustment of $20.5 million to the fair value of the RWCI unvested options and 
the $8.5 million related to the options issued in exchange for Call-Net options (notes 3 and 13(c)).

( iv ) 	 Dur ing 2004 ,  the  Company completed the fo l lowing capita l  s tock  t ransact ions :

I.	 �On December 31, 2004, 28,072,856 Class B Non-Voting shares with a value of $811.9 million were issued in 
exchange for Class B Restricted Voting shares of Wireless (note 3(b));

II.	 �On April 15, 2004, the Company filed a final shelf prospectus in all of the provinces in Canada and in the U.S. 
under which it will be able to offer up to aggregate of US$750 million of Class B Non-Voting shares, preferred  
shares, debt securities, warrants, share purchase contracts or units, or any combination thereof, for a period of 
25 months; 

III.	 �On June 16, 2004, 9,541,985 Class B Non-Voting shares were issued under the shelf prospectus for net cash  
proceeds of $238.9 million; 

IV.	 �4,019,485 Class B Non-Voting shares were issued to employees upon the exercise of stock options for cash of 
$62.3 million; 

V.	 �103,102 Series E Convertible Preferred shares with a value of $1.8 million were converted to 103,102 Class B Non-
Voting shares, and 1,386 Series E Convertible Preferred shares were cancelled upon their expiry in April 2004;

VI.	 �On December 31, 2004, the Company redeemed for cancellation its Series XXVII Preferred shares held by a  
subsidiary company;

VII.	 �On December 1, 2004, the Series XXX Preferred shares held by a subsidiary company were cancelled as a result 
of the windup of the subsidiary company; and 

VIII.	 �On December 31, 2004, the Company redeemed for cancellation its Series XXXI Preferred shares held by a  
subsidiary company.

As a result of the above transactions, $1,046.8 million of the issued amounts related to Class B Non-Voting 
shares was recorded in contributed surplus. In addition, $72.0 million was recorded in contributed surplus related to 
stock-based compensation (note 13(c)).
IX.	 �The Articles of Continuance of the Company under the Company Act (British Columbia) impose restrictions on 

the transfer, voting and issue of the Class A Voting and Class B Non-Voting shares in order to ensure that the 
Company remains qualified to hold or obtain licences required to carry on certain of its business undertakings 
in Canada. 

The Company is authorized to refuse to register transfers of any shares of the Company to any person who is 
not a Canadian in order to ensure that the Company remains qualified to hold the licences referred to above.

(b ) 	 Convertible Preferred Securit ies  and Warrants: 

As part of the issuance of the Convertible Preferred Securities (note 11(a)(iii)), the Company issued 5,333,333 warrants to 
Microsoft, each exercisable into one Class B Non-Voting share. These warrants were recorded as a separate component  
of shareholders’ equity at their fair value of $24.0 million. Upon expiration of these warrants on August 11, 2002,  
$24.0 million was transferred to contributed surplus.
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The balance of $188.0 million represented the value of the conversion feature of the Convertible Preferred 
Securities and was recorded as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. As described in note 11(a)(iii), on  
October 24, 2005, the Company issued 17,142,857 Class B Non-Voting shares and recorded contributed surplus for the 
difference between the carrying values of the debt plus conversion feature and the total par value of the Class B Non-
Voting shares. 

 
( c ) 	 Stock option and share purchase plans:

I . 	 Stock  opt ion p lans :

Details of the RCI stock option plan are as follows:
The Company’s stock option plan provides senior employee participants an incentive to acquire an equity own-

ership interest in the Company over a period of time and, as a result, reinforces executives’ attention on the long-term 
interest of the Company and its shareholders. Under the plan, options to purchase Class B Non-Voting shares of the 
Company on a one-for-one basis may be granted to employees, directors and officers of the Company and its affiliates 
by the Board of Directors or by the Company’s Management Compensation Committee. There are 15 million options 
authorized under the 2000 plan, 12.5 million options authorized under the 1996 plan, and 4.75 million options authorized  
under the 1994 plan. The term of each option is 7–10 years; the vesting period is generally four years but may be adjusted 
by the Management Compensation Committee on the date of grant. The exercise price for options is equal to the fair 
market value of the Class B Non-Voting shares determined as the five-day average before the grant date as quoted on 
The Toronto Stock Exchange. 

On December 31, 2004, all stock options of Wireless were exchanged for options of RCI (note 3(b)).
On July 1, 2005, all stock options of Call-Net were exchanged for fully-vested options of RCI (note 3(a)).
At December 31, 2005, a summary of the RCI option plan is as follows:

		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

			W   eighted		W  eighted
			   average		  average
		  Number of	 exercise	 Number of	 exercise
		  options	 price per share	 options	 price per share

Outstanding, beginning of year	 			  18,075,849 	 $	 18.37	 	18,981,033 	 $	 19.06
Granted	 			   602,534	 	 37.27	 	 303,666	 	 25.88
Exercised	 			  (5,398,036)	 	 18.55	 	(4,019,485)	 	 16.97
Forfeited	 			   (470,197)	 	 21.36	 	(1,154,959)	 	 26.62
Exchanged from Wireless options			   	 –	 	 –	 	 3,965,594	 	 15.48
Exchanged from Call-Net options	 			   429,274	 	 24.37	 	 –	 	 –

Outstanding, end of year	 			  13,239,424	 	 19.24	 	18,075,849	 	 18.37

Exercisable, end of year	 			   9,570,203	 $	 18.75	 	12,184,543	 $	 18.69

At December 31, 2005, the range of exercise prices, the weighted average exercise price per share and the weighted 
average remaining contractual life are as follows:

		  Options outstanding		 Options exercisable

		W  eighted
		  average	W eighted		W  eighted
		  remaining	 average		  average
Range of	 Number	 contractual	 exercise	 Number	 exercise
exercise prices	 outstanding	 life (years)	 price per share	 exercisable	 price per share

$	2.76 – $ 5.00	 	 1,869	 	 3.6	 $	 2.76	 	 1,869	 $	 2.76
$	5.78 – $ 8.92	 	 2,393,115	 	 2.0	 	 6.53	 	 2,360,302	 	 6.52
$	9.38 – $13.17	 	 2,275,434	 	 4.7	 	 11.28	 	 1,658,475	 	 11.80
$	14.83 – $20.59	 	 1,722,454	 	 7.2	 	 16.88	 	 663,156	 	 17.38
$	20.60 – $26.00	 	 4,663,852	 	 6.4	 	 22.98	 	 3,290,935	 	 23.62
$	26.01 – $38.18	 	 2,004,728	 	 4.6	 	 34.50	 	 1,595,466	 	 34.63
$	39.00 – $46.89	 	 177,972	 	 6.9	 	 45.08	 	 –	 	 –

		  						     13,239,424	 	 5.2	 $	 19.24	 	 9,570,203	 $	 18.75
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For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company recorded compensation expense of approximately  
$34.7 million (2004 – $15.1 million), including the Wireless options, related to stock options granted to employees.

The weighted average estimated fair value at the date of the grant for RCI options granted during 2005 was 
$16.09 (2004 – $12.64) per share. No Wireless options were granted in 2004. The fair value of each option granted was 
estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

RCI’s risk-free interest rate	 							       4.00%	 	 4.36%
RCI’s dividend yield	 							       0.27%	 	 0.38%
Volatility factor of the future expected market price of RCI’s Class B Non-Voting shares	 		  42.30%	 	 44.81%
Weighted average expected life of the RCI options							       	 5.4 years	 	 6.0 years

The weighted average estimated fair value at the date of exchange of Wireless options to RCI options was $22.15 per 
share. The weighted average estimated fair value at the date of exchange of Call-Net options to RCI options was $19.79 
per share. The fair value of each RCI option granted upon exchange and included in the purchase price equations was 
estimated at the date of the announcements to acquire the remaining shares of Wireless and Call-Net (note 3). The fair 
value of the unvested options which will be amortized to expense was calculated as at the closing date (note 3(b)). The 
following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes fair value option pricing model:

		  	 	Wireless	 Call-Net

		  	 Vested	 Unvested	V ested
	 	 	 options	 options	 options

Risk-free interest rate	 					     4.12%	 	 4.07%	 	 3.91%
Volatility factor of the future market price of RCI’s Class B Non-Voting shares	 	 43.06%	 	 43.26%	 	 31.50%
Dividend yield	 					     0.35%	 	 0.32%	 	 0.27%
Weighted average expected life of the options	 					    5.33 years	 	5.71 years	 	5.23 years

At December 31, 2004, as a result of the exchange offer, the following Wireless’ stock options were exchanged for  
RCI options:

			   		  Weighted
			   		  average
		  		  Number	 exercise
	 		  	 of options	 price

Options outstanding, beginning of year	 							       4,227,097	 $	 24.22
Granted	 							       –	 	 –
Exercised	 							      (1,875,547)	 	 20.70
Forfeited	 							       (85,496)	 	 25.31
Exchanged for RCI options	 							      (2,266,054)	 	 27.09

Options outstanding, end of year	 							       –		  –

II  . 	 Employee share  accumulat ion p lan:

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company established an employee share accumulation program that allows employees to 
voluntarily participate in a share purchase program. Under the terms of the program, employees of the Company can 
contribute a specified percentage of their regular earnings through regular payroll deductions. The designated admin-
istrator of the plan then purchases, on a monthly basis, Class B Non-Voting shares of the Company on the open market 
on behalf of the employee. At the end of each quarter, the Company makes a contribution of 25% of the employee’s 
contribution in the quarter. The administrator then uses this amount to purchase additional shares of the Company on 
behalf of the employee, as outlined above.

The Company records its contribution as compensation expense, which amounted to $3.0 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2005 (2004 – $1.2 million).
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In addition, employees of Wireless were able to participate in Wireless’ employee share accumulation plan 
until December 31, 2004. The terms were the same as the RCI plan, except the designated administrator of the plan  
purchased Class B Restricted Voting shares of Wireless on the open market on behalf of the employee. On December 31, 
2004, as a result of the Company’s acquisition of 100% of the outstanding Class B Restricted Voting shares of Wireless, 
Wireless employees had the option of using their contributions and Wireless’ contributions to purchase RCI Class B Non-
Voting shares, or to have their contributions refunded.

III   . 	 Restr i c ted share  unit  p lan:

During 2004, the Company established a restricted share unit plan which enables employees, officers and directors 
of the Company to participate in the growth and development of the Company by providing such persons with the  
opportunity, through restricted share units, to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company. Under the terms of the 
plan, restricted share units are issued to the participant and the units issued vest over a period not to exceed three years 
from the grant date.

On the vesting date, the Company, at its option, shall redeem all of the participants’ restricted share units in 
cash or by issuing one Class B Non-Voting share for each restricted share unit. The Company has reserved 2,000,000 Class B  
Non-Voting shares for issuance under this plan.

At December 31, 2005, 297,767 (2004 – 50,916) restricted share units were outstanding. These restricted share 
units vest at the end of three years from the grant date. The Company records compensation expense equally over the 
vesting period, taking into account fluctuations in the market price of the Class B Non-Voting shares of the Company. 
Compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2005 related to these restricted units was $4.3 million (2004 –  
$0.3 million).

Note 14.	I ncome taxes: 

The income tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of future income tax assets and 
liabilities are as follows: 

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Future income tax assets:
		  Non-capital income tax loss carryforwards 	 						      $	 1,393,897	 $	 1,219,699
		  Deductions relating to long-term debt and other transactions denominated 
			   in foreign currencies							        	 86,491	 	 98,523
		  Investments	 							       58,890	 	 64,081
		  Other deductible differences	 							       149,825	 	 172,759
		  Property, plant and equipment and inventory							       	 86,755	 	 –

		  Total future income tax assets	 							       1,775,858	 	 1,555,062
		  Less valuation allowance	 							       617,838	 	 696,833

	 												            	 1,158,020	 	 858,229

Future income tax liabilities:
		  Property, plant and equipment and inventory	 							       –	 	 (35,309)
		  Goodwill and intangible assets 	 							       (679,556)		  (795,603)
		  Other taxable differences	 							       (18,062)	 	 (27,317)

		  Total future income tax liabilities	 							       (697,618)	 	 (858,229)

Net future income tax asset 	 							       460,402	 	 –
Less current portion	 							       (113,150)	 	 –

											           		  $	 347,252	 $	 –

 
In assessing the realizability of future income tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that 
some portion or all of the future income tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of future income tax assets 
is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the years in which the temporary differences are 
deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversals of future income tax liabilities, the character of the income 
tax assets and the tax planning strategies in place in making this assessment. To the extent that management believes 



129	 ROGERS 2005 ANNUAL REPORT . NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

that the realization of future income tax assets does not meet the more likely than not realization criterion, a valuation 
allowance is recorded against the future tax assets.

In making an assessment of whether future income tax assets are more likely than not to be realized,  
management regularly prepares information regarding the expected use of such assets by reference to its internal income 
forecasts. Based on management’s estimates of the expected realization of future income tax assets, during 2005 the 
Company reduced the valuation allowance to reflect that it is more likely than not that certain future income tax assets 
will be realized. Approximately $451.8 million of the future income tax assets recognized in 2005 relate to future income 
tax assets arising on the acquisitions of Fido and Sportsnet (note 6(a)). Accordingly, the benefit related to these assets has 
been reflected as a reduction of goodwill. Any reduction in the valuation allowance related to the remaining unbenefited  
Fido future income tax assets, aggregating $61.4 million at December 31, 2005, will be recorded as a reduction  
to purchased goodwill. 

As a result of the acquisition of Call-Net, the Company acquired tax assets of approximately $389.9 million 
against which a valuation allowance has been recorded. Any reduction in the valuation allowance related to the Call-Net  
future income tax assets will first reduce acquired goodwill, then acquired intangible assets and income tax expense.

The valuation allowance at December 31, 2005 includes $516.7 million of income tax assets primarily relating to 
non-capital loss carryforwards and $101.1 million of income tax assets relating to losses on capital account. 

Total income tax expense (reduction) varies from the amounts that would be computed by applying the statu-
tory income tax rate to income before income taxes for the following reasons:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Statutory income tax rate	 							       36.1%	 	 35.3%

Income tax expense (reduction) on income before income taxes 
	 and non-controlling interest	 						      $	 (15,344)	 $	 5,607 
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
		  Change in the valuation allowance for future income tax assets						     10,880	 	 (13,440)
		  Adjustments to future income tax assets and liabilities for changes 
			   in substantively enacted rates	 							        (23,293)	 	 (920)
		  Non-taxable portion of capital gains							       	 (1,750)	 	 (2,391)
		  Non-deductible foreign exchange on debt and other items						      	 2,167	 	 2,491
		  Non-deductible portion of accreted interest on Convertible Preferred Securities		  	 –	 	 7,387
		  Recovery of prior years’ income taxes							       	 –	 	 (6,660)
		  Non-deductible (non-taxable) amounts from investments accounted for 
			   by the equity method	 							       (1,140)	 	 3,715
		  Stock-based compensation	 							       13,862	 	 5,432
		  Other items	 							       6,907	 	 (7,995)
		  Large corporations tax	 							       9,866	 	 10,221 

Income tax expense 	 						      $	 2,155	 $	 3,447

As at December 31, 2005, the Company has the following non-capital income tax losses available to reduce future years’ 
income for income tax purposes:

Income tax losses expiring in the year ending December 31:
2006		 									         	 $	 479,833
2007				   									         659,371
2008		 											           1,116,873
2009												           	 305,033
2010		 											           197,163
2011												           	 –
2012		 											           –
2013		 											           2,794
2014		 											           706,473
2015												           	 364,616
2016		 											           28,791

		  											           		  $	 3,860,947
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Note 15.	 Loss per share:

The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Numerator:
		  Loss for the year, basic and diluted	 						      $	 (44,658)	 $	 (67,142)

Denominator (in thousands):
		  Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic and diluted					     288,668	 	 240,435

Loss per share:
		  Basic and diluted	 						      $	 (0.15)	 $	 (0.28)

For 2005 and 2004, the effect of potentially dilutive securities, including the Convertible Debentures and the Convertible 
Preferred Securities, were excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share as their effect was anti-dilutive. In 
addition, options totalling approximately 13.2 million (2004 – 18.1 million) that are anti-dilutive are excluded from the 
calculation for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Note 16.	 Pensions: 

The Company maintains both contributory and non-contributory defined benefit pension plans that cover most of its 
employees. The plans provide pensions based on years of service, years of contributions and earnings. The Company 
does not provide any non-pension post-retirement benefits.

Actuarial estimates are based on projections of employees’ compensation levels at the time of retirement. 
Maximum retirement benefits are primarily based upon career average earnings, subject to certain adjustments. The 
most recent actuarial valuations were completed as at January 1, 2004 for certain of the plans and January 1, 2005 for one  
of the plans. The next actuarial valuation for funding purposes must be of a date no later than January 1, 2006 for  
one of the plans. For certain other plans, the next actuarial valuation for funding purposes must be of a date no later 
than January 1, 2007.

The Company also provides supplemental unfunded pension benefits to certain executives. The accrued benefit  
obligation relating to these supplemental plans amounted to approximately $18.0 million at December 31, 2005 (2004 –  
$14.1 million) and related expense for 2005 was $3.4 million (2004 – $2.9 million). 

The estimated present value of accrued plan benefits and the estimated market value of the net assets  
available to provide for these benefits measured at September 30 for the year ended December 31 are as follows:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Plan assets, at fair value	 						      $	 483,822	 $	 402,433
Accrued benefit obligations	 							       574,388	 	 453,318

Deficiency of plan assets over accrued benefit obligations	 						      (90,566)	 	 (50,885)
Employer contributions after measurement date							       	 6,165	 	 4,851
Unrecognized transitional obligation	 							       (38,234)	 	 (48,108)
Unamortized past service	 							       4,145	 	 4,974
Unamortized net actuarial loss	 							       150,601	 	 113,352

Deferred pension asset	 						      $	 32,111	 $	 24,184
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Pension fund assets consist primarily of fixed income and equity securities, valued at market value. The following  
information is provided on pension fund assets measured at September 30 for the year ended December 31:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Plan assets, beginning of year	 						      $	 402,433 	 $	 339,071 
Actual return on plan assets	 							       66,730	 	 43,053
Contributions by employees	 							       13,871	 	 13,237
Contributions by employer	 							       20,152	 	 25,572
Benefits paid	 							       (19,364)	 	 (18,500)

Plan assets, end of year	 						      $	 483,822	 $	 402,433

 
Accrued benefit obligations are outlined below measured at September 30 for the year ended December 31:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Accrued benefit obligations, beginning of year	 						      $	 453,318 	 $	 368,306 
Service cost	 							       15,094	 	 11,746
Interest cost	 							       29,538	 	 24,003
Benefits paid	 							       (19,364)	 	 (18,500)
Contributions by employees	 							       13,871	 	 13,237
Actuarial loss	 							       81,931	 	 54,526

Accrued benefit obligations, end of year	 						      $	 574,388	 $	 453,318

Net plan expense is outlined below:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Plan cost:
		  Service cost	 						      $	 15,094 	 $	 11,746 
		  Interest cost 	 							       29,538	 	 24,003
		  Actual return on plan assets	 							       (66,730)	 	 (43,053)
		  Actuarial loss on benefit obligation	 							       81,931	 	 54,526 

		  Costs							       	 59,833 	 	 47,222 
		  Differences between costs arising in the period and costs recognized in the period 
			   in respect of:
				    Return on plan assets	 							       37,177	 	 17,900
				    Actuarial gain	 							       (74,377)	 	 (49,537)
				    Plan amendments/prior service cost	 							       830	 	 829
				    Transitional asset	 							       (9,875)	 	 (9,875)

Net pension expense	 						      $	 13,588	 $	 6,539

 
(a ) 	 Actuarial assumptions:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Weighted average discount rate for accrued benefit obligations	 	 				    5.25%	 	 6.25%
Weighted average discount rate for pension expense	 						      6.25%	 	 6.25%
Weighted average rate of compensation increase							       	 4.00%	 	 4.00%
Weighted average expected long-term rate of return on plan assets				    	 7.25%	 	 7.25%
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Expected return on assets represents management’s best estimate of the long-term rate of return on plan 
assets applied to the fair value of the plan assets. The Company establishes its estimate of the expected rate of return on 
plan assets based on the fund’s target asset allocation and estimated rate of return for each asset class. Estimated rates 
of return are based on expected returns from fixed income securities which take into account bond yields. An equity 
risk premium is then applied to estimate equity returns. Differences between expected and actual return are included in 
actuarial gains and losses.

The estimated average remaining service periods for the plans range from 9 to 13 years. The Company does not 
have any curtailment gains or losses.

(b ) 	 Allocation of plan assets:

	 	 	 Percentage of	 Percentage of
	 		  plan assets,	 plan assets,	 Target asset
	 		  December 31,	 December 31,	 allocation
Asset category	 		  2005	 2004	 percentage

Equity securities	 					     59.5%	 	 58.9%	 50% to 65%
Debt securities	 					     39.9%	 	 40.2%	 35% to 50%
Other (cash)	 					     0.6%	 	 0.9%	 0% to 1%

		  										          100.0%	 	 100.0%

Plan assets are comprised primarily of pooled funds that invest in common stocks and bonds. The pooled Canadian 
equity fund has investments in the Company’s equity securities comprising approximately 1% of the pooled fund. This 
results in approximately $0.8 million (2004 – $0.7 million) of the plans’ assets being indirectly invested in the Company’s 
equity securities.

The Company makes contributions to the plans to secure the benefits of plan members and invests in permit-
ted investments using the target ranges established by the Pension Committee of the Company. The Pension Committee 
reviews actuarial assumptions on an annual basis. 

( c ) 	 Actual contributions to the plans are as follows:

	 	 	 Employer	 Employee	 Total

2004								       $	 19,423	 $	 13,238	 $	 32,661
2005									        21,466	 	 14,088	 	 35,554

Expected contributions by the Company in 2006 are estimated to be $31.7 million. 
Employee contributions for 2006 are assumed to be at levels similar to 2004 and 2005 on the assumption staff-

ing levels in the Company will remain the same on a year-over-year basis.
 

(d ) 	 Expected cash flows:

Expected benefit payments for fiscal year ending:

2006									        			   $	 24,600
2007		 											           24,300
2008		 											           24,200
2009												           	 24,000
2010		 											           23,900

	 													             		  121,000
Next 5 years	 								        	 124,800

			   											           	 $	 245,800

Blue Jays and Fido each have defined contribution plans with total pension expense of $5.3 million in 2005 (2004 – $0.9 million).  
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Note 17.	 Segmented information:

(a ) 	 Operating segments:

The Company provides wireless services, cable services and, through Media, radio and television broadcasting and the  
publication of magazines and periodicals. All of these operating segments are substantially in Canada. With the acquisition  
of Call-Net in 2005, the Company also provides wireline long distance, data and local telecommunication services 
reported in the Telecom segment. Effective January 1, 2005, Blue Jays Holdco Inc. became a reporting unit of Media and 
as a result, is reported as part of the Media operating segment commencing in 2005 (restated for 2004). Information by 
operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

					     Corporate
					     items and	 Consolidated
2 0 0 5 	W ireless	 Cable	 Media	 Telecom	 eliminations	 Total

Operating revenue	 $	 4,006,658	 $	 2,067,733	 $	 1,097,176	 $	 423,890	 $	 (113,303)	 $	 7,482,154 
Cost of sales	 	 773,215	 	 157,466	 	 157,710	 	 207,757	 	 –	 	 1,296,148
Sales and marketing expenses	 	 603,823	 	 262,764	 	 199,442	 	 56,319	 	 –	 	 1,122,348
Operating, general and 
	 administrative expenses	 	 1,238,964	 	 928,900	 	 612,178	 	 109,272	 	 (35,701)	 	 2,853,613
Integration expenses	 	 53,607	 	 –	 	 –	 	 4,602	 	 8,267	 	 66,476
Management fees	 	 12,025	 	 41,355	 	 15,322	 	 –	 	 (68,702)	 	 –
Depreciation and amortization	 	 615,710	 	 483,946	 	 52,019	 	 70,653	 	 255,683	 	 1,478,011

Operating income (loss)	 	 709,314 	 	 193,302	  	 60,505 	 	 (24,713)	 	 (272,850)	  	 665,558 
Interest on long-term debt	 	 (405,344)	 	 (244,859)	 	 (8,813)	 	 (6,702)	 	 (44,361)	 	 (710,079)
Intercompany: 
		  Interest expense	 	 37,050	 	 (18,796)	 	 (4,337)	 	 (5,760)	 	 (8,157)	 	 –
Loss on repayment of 
	 long-term debt	 	 –	 	 (9,799)	 	 –	 	 (17,460)	 	 16,017	 	 (11,242)
Change in fair value of
	 derivative instruments	 	 (27,324)	 	 2,151	 	 –	 	 –	 	 5	 	 (25,168)
Foreign exchange gain (loss)	 	 25,697	 	 2,373	 	 1,326	 	 10,418	 	 (4,337)	 	 35,477
Investment and other 
	 income (expense)	 	 (5,669)	 	 4,043	 	 2,120	 	 (1,691)	 	 4,148	 	 2,951
Income tax reduction (expense)	 	 84,358	 	 (4,837)	 	 14,298	 	 64	 	 (96,038)	 	 (2,155)

Net income (loss) 
	 for the year	 $	 418,082	 $	 (76,422)	 $	 65,099	 $	 (45,844)	 $	 (405,573)	 $	 (44,658)

Additions to PP&E	 $	 584,922	 $	 676,243	 $	 39,635	 $	 37,352	 $	 15,644	 $	 1,353,796

Goodwill acquired/
	 adjustments (note 6(a))	 $	 (527,044)	 $	 –	 $	 (14,286)	 $	 190,977	 $	 (2,547)	 $	 (352,900)

Goodwill	 $	 1,212,422	 $	 926,445	 $	 705,943	 $	 190,977	 $	 –	 $	 3,035,787

Identifiable assets	 $	 8,792,781	 $	 4,065,782	 $	 1,320,774	 $	 561,716	 $	 (906,764)	 $	13,834,289
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				    Corporate
				    items and	 Consolidated
2 0 0 4 	W ireless	 Cable	 Media	 eliminations	 Total

Operating revenue	 	 	 $	 2,783,525	 $	 1,945,655	 $	 956,962	 $	 (77,893)	 $	 5,608,249 
Cost of sales	 		  	 509,540	 	 145,936	 	 142,381	 	 –	 	 797,857
Sales and marketing expenses		  		  444,379	 	 248,754	 	 190,489	 	 –	 	 883,622
Operating, general and administrative expenses		 	 874,800	 	 842,306	 	 508,720	 	 (37,612)	 	 2,188,214
Integration expenses		  		  4,415	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 4,415
Management fees	 		  	 11,675	 	 38,913	 	 13,661	 	 (64,249)	 	 –
Depreciation and amortization	 		  	 497,674	 	 486,038	 	 67,342	 	 41,497	 	 1,092,551

Operating income (loss)		  		   441,042 	 	 183,708	 	 34,369	 	 (17,529)	 	 641,590 
Interest on long-term debt	 		  	 (219,366)	 	 (247,365)	 	 (14,043)	 	 (95,224)	 	 (575,998)
Intercompany: 
		  Interest expense	 		  	 (7,196)	 	 (552)	 	 (42,225)	 	 49,973	 	 –
		  Dividends		  		  –	 	 –	 	 42,915	 	 (42,915)	 	 –
Loss on repayment of long-term debt		 		  (2,313)	 	 (18,013)	 	 –	 	 (7,884)	 	 (28,210)
Change in fair value of derivative instruments	 	 	 (7,796)	 	 34,570	 	 –	 	 –	 	 26,774
Foreign exchange gain (loss)	 			   (46,714)		  (41,089)	 	 (154)	 	 20,402	 	 (67,555)
Investment and other income (expense)	 		  7,939	 	 (872)	 	 (19,522)	 	 31,740	 	 19,285
Income tax reduction (expense)		  		  (6,487)	 	 (1,196)	 	 (2,606)	 	 6,842	 	 (3,447)
Non-controlling interest		  		  –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (79,581)	 	 (79,581)

Net income (loss) for the year			   $	 159,109	 $	 (90,809)	 $	 (1,266)	 $	 (134,176)	 $	 (67,142)

Additions to PP&E			   $	 439,157	 $	 587,906	 $	 20,322	 $	 7,553	 $	 1,054,938

Goodwill acquired/adjustments (note 6(a))		  $	 1,360,746	 $	 –	 $	 148,530 	 $	 (12,225)	 $	 1,497,051

Goodwill			   $	 1,739,465	 $	 926,445	 $	 720,229	 $	 2,548	 $	 3,388,687

Identifiable assets			   $	 5,054,803	 $	 3,861,925	 $	 1,224,559	 $	 3,131,451	 $	13,272,738

(b ) 	 Product revenue:

Revenue from external customers is comprised of the following:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Wireless:
		  Post-paid (voice and data)	 						      $	 3,383,444	 $	 2,361,128
		  Prepaid 	 							       209,588	 	 116,658
		  One-way messaging	 							       19,628	 	 24,480
		  Equipment sales	 							       393,998	 	 281,259

	 												            	 4,006,658	 	 2,783,525 

Cable:
		  Cable	 							       1,298,956	 	 1,253,053
		  Internet	 							       440,664	 	 378,912
		  Rogers Home Phone	 							       4,938	 	 –
		  Video store operations	 							       326,926	 	 316,954
		  Intercompany eliminations	 							       (3,751)	 	 (3,264)

	 												            	 2,067,733 	 	 1,945,655

Media:
		  Advertising	 							       503,948	 	 470,768
		  Circulation and subscription	 							       137,247	 	 126,852
		  Retail	 							       251,792	 	 230,865
		  Other	 							       55,496	 	 71,278
		  Blue Jays	 							       148,693	 	 57,199

												            		  1,097,176	 	 956,962

Telecom:
		  Consumer	 							       149,010	 	 –
		  Business	 							       274,880	 	 –

												            		  423,890	 	 –
Corporate items and intercompany eliminations							       	 (113,303)	 	 (77,893)

											           		  $	 7,482,154	 $	 5,608,249
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As a result of changes to the Company’s internal management reporting in January 2006, the Company’s reporting  
segments will change.

Note 18.	 Related party transactions:

The Company entered into the following related party transactions: 
(a)	 �The Company has entered into certain transactions in the normal course of business with AWE, a shareholder 

of Wireless until October 13, 2004, and with certain broadcasters in which the Company has an equity interest.
The programming rights acquired from the Blue Jays in 2004 represent the rights acquired from January 1, 

2004 to July 30, 2004, after which time, the Blue Jays were consolidated.
The amounts billed (paid) to AWE represent amounts to October 13, 2004, after which AWE was no longer a 

related party.

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Roaming revenue billed to AWE	 						      $	 –	 $	 12,146 
Roaming expenses paid to AWE	 							       –	 	 (8,977)
Fees paid to AWE for over air activation	 							       –	 	 (31)
Programming rights acquired from the Blue Jays	 	 						      –	 	 (7,972)
Access fees paid to broadcasters accounted for by the equity method	 				    (18,424)	 	 (19,011)

	 											           	 $	 (18,424)	 $	 (23,845)

These transactions are recorded at the exchange amount, being the amount agreed to by the related parties.

(b)	 �The Company has entered into certain transactions with companies, the partners or senior officers of which are  
directors of the Company and/or its subsidiary companies, which are measured at their exchange amounts, being the  
amounts agreed to by the related parties. Total amounts paid by the Company to these related parties are as follows:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Legal services and commissions paid on premiums for insurance coverage	 			   $	 5,358	 $	 4,042
Telecommunication and programming services	 							       1,555	 	 6,340
Interest charges and other financing fees							       	 21,960	 	 37,809

											           		  $	 28,873	 $	 48,191

 
(c)	 �The Company made payments to (received from) companies controlled by the controlling shareholder of the 

Company as follows:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Dividends paid on Class A Preferred shares of Blue Jays Holdco Inc. (note 7(a)) 	 		  $	 –	 $	 2,744
Charges to the Company for business use of aircraft							      	 606	 	 473
Charges by the Company for rent and reimbursement of office and personnel costs	 		  (148)	 	 (125)

											           		  $	 458	 $	 3,092

�During 2005, with the approval of the Board of Directors, the Company entered into an arrangement to sell to the  
controlling shareholder of the Company, for $13 million in cash, the shares in two wholly owned subsidiaries 
whose only asset will consist of tax losses aggregating approximately $100 million. The terms of the transac-
tion were reviewed and approved by a Special Committee of the Board of Directors comprised of independent 
directors. The Special Committee was advised by independent counsel and engaged an accounting firm as 
part of their review to ensure that the sale price was within a range that would be fair from a financial point 
of view. The sale of the tax losses will be completed by mid-2006. For accounting purposes, the Company has 
recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2005 a future tax asset of $13 million, represent-
ing the amount the Company will receive from the controlling shareholder for the tax losses when the sale is 
completed. In addition, a corresponding $13 million was recorded as a reduction of income tax expense in 2005 
in the consolidated statement of income.
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Note 19.	 Financial instruments:

(a ) 	 Fair  values:

The Company has determined the fair values of its financial instruments as follows:
(i)	 �The carrying amounts in the consolidated balance sheets of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 

amounts receivable from employees under share purchase plans, mortgages and loans receivable, bank advances  
arising from outstanding cheques and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair values because 
of the short-term nature of these instruments.

(ii)	 Investments:
	� The fair values of investments that are publicly-traded, are determined by the quoted market values for each 

of the investments (note 7). Management believes that the fair values of other investments are not significantly  
different from their carrying amounts.

(iii)	 Long-term receivables:
	� The fair values of long-term receivables approximate their carrying amounts since the interest rates approximate  

current market rates.
(iv)	 Long-term debt:
	� The fair values of each of the Company’s long-term debt instruments are based on the period-end trading  

values, except as noted below.
(v)	 Derivative instruments:
	� The fair values of the Company’s interest exchange agreements, cross-currency interest rate exchange agree-

ments and other derivative instruments are based on values quoted by the counterparties to the agreements.
The estimated fair values of the Company’s long-term debt and related derivative instruments as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

	 	 Carrying	 Estimated	 Carrying	 Estimated
	 	 amount	 fair value	 amount	 fair value

Liability:
		  Long-term debt	 		  $	 7,739,551	 $	 8,095,057	 $	 8,541,097	 $	 8,861,038(1)

		  Derivative instruments(2)	 			   738,161	 	 1,335,337	 	 626,896	 	 945,767

								        	 $	 8,477,712	 $	 9,430,394	 $	 9,167,993	 $	 9,806,805

(1)	�The fair value of the Convertible Preferred Securities was not readily determinable and are, therefore, included at their carrying value of 
$490.7 million at December 31, 2004.

(2)	Excludes deferred transitional gain of $63.4 million (2004 – $73.5 million). 

 
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market information and information  
about the financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters 
of significant judgment and, therefore, cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could 
significantly affect the estimates.

At December 31, 2005, 85.2% of U.S. dollar-denominated debt (2004 – 81.1%) was protected from  
fluctuations in the foreign exchange between the U.S. and Canadian dollars by the total derivative instruments. 

The credit risk of the interest exchange agreements and cross-currency interest rate exchange 
agreements arises from the possibility that the counterparties to the agreements may default on their respec-
tive obligations under the agreements in instances where these agreements have positive fair value for the 
Company. The Company assesses the creditworthiness of the counterparties in order to minimize the risk of 
counterparty default under the agreements. All of the portfolio is held by financial institutions with a Standard 
& Poor’s rating (or the equivalent) ranging from A+ to AA. The Company does not require collateral or other 
security to support the credit risk associated with the interest exchange agreements and cross-currency interest  
rate exchange agreements due to the Company’s assessment of the creditworthiness of the counterpar-
ties. The obligations under US$4,801.8 million (2004 – US$5,135.3 million) aggregate notional amount of the  
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cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements are secured by substantially all of the assets of the respective 
subsidiary companies to which they relate and generally rank equally with the other secured indebtedness of 
such subsidiary companies.

(vi)	 Other long-term liabilities:
�The carrying amounts of other long-term liabilities approximate fair values as the interest rates approximate 
current rates.

(b ) 	 Other disclosures:

The Company does not have any significant concentrations of credit risk related to any financial asset.
 

Note 20.	 Commitments:

(a)	 �On September 16, 2005, the Company announced a joint venture with Bell Canada to build and manage a 
nationwide fixed wireless broadband network. The companies will jointly and equally fund the initial network 
deployment costs estimated at $200 million over a three-year period. The Company will also contribute its 
broadband wireless spectrum in the 2.3 GHz, 2.5 GHz and 3.5 GHz frequency ranges, subject to approvals from 
Industry Canada. 

(b)	 �RCI enters into agreements with suppliers to provide services and products that include minimum spend  
commitments. The Company has agreements with certain telephone companies that guarantee the long-term 
supply of network facilities and agreements relating to the operations and maintenance of the network. 

(c)	 �In the ordinary course of business and in addition to the amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheets 
and disclosed elsewhere in the notes, the Company has entered into agreements to acquire broadcasting rights 
to programs and films over the next three years at a total cost of approximately $57.7 million. In addition, the 
Company has commitments to pay access fees over the next year totalling approximately $18.4 million.

(d)	 �On February 7, 2005, the Company was awarded a share of the broadcast rights to the 2010 Olympic Winter 
Games and the 2012 Olympic Summer Games at a cost of US$30.6 million.

(e)	 �The Company has a 33.33% interest in each of Tech TV Canada and Biography Channel Canada, which are equity-
accounted investments. The Company has committed to fund its share of the losses and PP&E expenditures 
in these new channels to a maximum of $8.8 million, through equity financing and shareholder loans. As at 
December 31, 2005, the Company has funded a total of $5.9 million.

(f)	 �Pursuant to CRTC regulation, the Company is required to make contributions to the Canadian Television Fund 
(“CTF”), which is a cable industry fund designed to foster the production of Canadian television programming.  
Contributions to the CTF are based on a formula, including gross broadcast revenues and the number of  
subscribers. The Company may elect to spend a portion of the above amount for local television programming  
and may also elect to contribute a portion to another CRTC-approved independent production fund. The 
Company estimates that its total contribution for 2006 will amount to approximately $34.1 million.

(g)	 �In addition to the items listed above, the future minimum lease payments under operating leases for the rental 
of premises, distribution facilities, equipment and microwave towers and commitments for player contracts 
and other contracts at December 31, 2005 are as follows:

Year ending December 31:
2006		 									         	 $	 214,123
2007		 											           187,992
2008												           	 143,284
2009		 											           126,154
2010												           	 90,012
2011 and thereafter	 								        	 80,191

				    											           $	 841,756

Rent expense for 2005 amounted to $194.3 million (2004 – $134.2 million).



138	 ROGERS 2005 ANNUAL REPORT . NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 21.	 Guarantees:

The Company has entered into agreements that contain features which meet the definition of a guarantee under GAAP. 
A description of the major types of such agreements is provided below:

(a ) 	 Business sale and business combination agreements:

As part of transactions involving business dispositions, sales of assets or other business combinations, the Company may 
be required to pay counterparties for costs and losses incurred as a result of breaches of representations and warranties,  
intellectual property right infringement, loss or damages to property, environmental liabilities, changes in laws and 
regulations (including tax legislation), litigation against the counterparties, contingent liabilities of a disposed business 
or reassessments of previous tax filings of the corporation that carries on the business.

The Company is unable to make a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount it could be required 
to pay counterparties. The amount also depends on the outcome of future events and conditions, which cannot be 
predicted. No amount has been accrued in the consolidated balance sheets relating to this type of indemnification or 
guarantee at December 31, 2005 or 2004. Historically, the Company has not made any significant payments under these 
indemnifications or guarantees.

(b ) 	 Sales of services:

As part of transactions involving sales of services, the Company may be required to pay counterparties for costs and 
losses incurred as a result of breaches of representations and warranties, changes in laws and regulations (including tax 
legislation) or litigation against the counterparties.

The Company is unable to make a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount it could be 
required to pay counterparties. No amount has been accrued in the consolidated balance sheets relating to this type of  
indemnification or guarantee at December 31, 2005 or 2004. Historically, the Company has not made any significant  
payments under these indemnifications or guarantees.

( c ) 	 Purchases and development of assets:

As part of transactions involving purchases and development of assets, the Company may be required to pay counterparties  
for costs and losses incurred as a result of breaches of representations and warranties, loss or damages to property, 
changes in laws and regulations (including tax legislation) or litigation against the counterparties.

The Company is unable to make a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount the Company could 
be required to pay counterparties. The amount also depends on the outcome of future events and conditions, which can-
not be predicted. No amount has been accrued in the consolidated balance sheets relating to this type of indemnification  
or guarantee at December 31, 2005 or 2004. Historically, the Company has not made any significant payments under 
these indemnifications or guarantees.

 
(d ) 	Indemn if ications:

The Company indemnifies its directors, officers and employees against claims reasonably incurred and resulting from the 
performance of their services to the Company, and maintains liability insurance for its directors and officers as well as 
those of its subsidiaries.

Note 22.	 Contingent liabilities:

(a)	 �On August 9, 2004, a proceeding under the Class Actions Act (Saskatchewan) was brought against Wireless 
and other providers of wireless communications services in Canada. The proceeding involves allegations by 
Wireless customers of breach of contract, misrepresentation and false advertising with respect to the system 
access fee charged by Wireless to some of its customers. The plaintiffs seek unquantified damages from the 
defendant wireless communications service providers. Wireless believes it has good defences to the allegations.  
The proceeding has not been certified as a class action and it is too early to determine whether the proceeding 
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will qualify for certification as a class action. In addition, on December 9, 2004, Wireless was served with a court 
order compelling it to produce certain records and other information relevant to an investigation initiated by 
the Commissioner of Competition under the misleading advertising provisions of the Competition Act with 
respect to its system access fee.

(b)	 �On April 21, 2004, a proceeding was brought against Fido and its subsidiary, Fido Solutions Inc. and others 
alleging breach of contract, breach of confidence, misuse of confidential information, breach of a duty of 
loyalty, good faith and to avoid a conflict of duty and self-interest, and conspiracy. The plaintiff is seeking 
damages in the amount of $160 million. The proceeding is at an early stage. Wireless believes it has good 
defences to the claim.

(c)	 �The Company believes that it has adequately provided for income taxes based on all of the information that is 
currently available. The calculation of income taxes in many cases, however, requires significant judgment in 
interpreting tax rules and regulations. The Company’s tax filings are subject to audits which could materially 
change the amount of current and future income tax assets and liabilities, and could, in certain circumstances, 
result in the assessment of interest and penalties.

(d)	 �There exist certain other claims and potential claims against the Company, none of which is expected to have a 
material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position of the Company.

Note 23.	 Canadian and United States accounting policy differences:

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with GAAP as applied in 
Canada. In the following respects, GAAP, as applied in the United States, differs from that applied in Canada.

If United States GAAP were employed, loss for the year in each year would be adjusted as follows:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Loss for the year based on Canadian GAAP	 						      $	 (44,658)	 $	 (67,142)
Gain on sale of cable systems (b)	 							       (4,028)	 	 (4,028)
Pre-operating costs (c)	 							       (8,621)	 	 5,348
Equity instruments (d)	 							       15,818	 	 18,526
Capitalized interest, net (e)	 							       2,879	 	 3,061
Financial instruments (h)	 							       (285,775)	 	 (188,420)
Stock-based compensation (i)	 							       14,113	 	 15,091
Income taxes (k)	 							       (2,090)	 	 8,374
Installation revenues, net (l)	 							       1,706	 	 2,744
Loss on repayment of long-term debt (m)							       	 –	 	 (28,760)
Interest expense (n)	 							       (2,499)	 	 –
Non-controlling interest	 							       –	 	 (36,630)
Other								        	 559 	 	 1,211

Loss for the year based on United States GAAP	 						      $	 (312,596)	 $	 (270,625)

Basic and diluted loss per share based on United States GAAP	 					     $	 (1.08)	 $	 (1.13)
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The cumulative effect of these adjustments on the consolidated shareholders’ equity of the Company is as follows:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Shareholders’ equity based on Canadian GAAP						      	 $	 3,527,615	 $	 2,385,334 
Gain on sale and issuance of subsidiary shares to non-controlling interest (a)	 			   46,245	 	 46,245
Gain on sale of cable systems (b)	 							       116,909	 	 120,937
Pre-operating costs (c)	 							       (12,127)	 	 (3,506)
Equity instruments (d)	 							       –	 	 (98,098)
Capitalized interest (e)	 							       43,927	 	 41,047
Unrealized holding gains on investments (f)	 							       139,384	 	 152,267
Acquisition of Cable Atlantic (g)	 							       34,673	 	 34,673
Financial instruments (h)	 							       (533,788)	 	 (248,013)
Minimum pension liability (j)	 							       (20,423)	 	 (20,970)
Income taxes (k)	 							       (253,567)	 	 (253,567)
Installation revenues, net (l)	 							       4,450	 	 2,744
Loss on repayment of long-term debt (m)							       	 (28,760)	 	 (28,760)
Acquisition of Wireless (n)	 							       3,095	 	 2,927
Non-controlling interest effect of adjustments							       	 (95,031)	 	 (95,031)
Other	 								        (15,270)	 	 (15,829)

Shareholders’ equity based on United States GAAP	 						      $	 2,957,332	 $	 2,022,400

The areas of material difference between Canadian and United States GAAP and their impact on the consolidated financial  
statements of the Company are described below:

(a ) 	 Gain on sale and issuance of subsidiary shares to non-controlling interest:

Under United States GAAP, the carrying value of the Company’s investment in Wireless would be lower than the carrying 
value under Canadian GAAP as a result of certain differences between Canadian and United States GAAP, as described 
herein. This results in an increase to the gain on sale and dilution under United States GAAP.

 
(b ) 	 Gain on sale of cable systems:

Under Canadian GAAP, the cash proceeds on the non-monetary exchange of the cable assets in 2000 were recorded as 
a reduction in the carrying value of PP&E. Under United States GAAP, a portion of the cash proceeds received must be 
recognized as a gain in the consolidated statements of income on an after-tax basis. The gain amounted to $40.3 million 
before income taxes.

Under Canadian GAAP, the after-tax gain arising on the sale of certain of the Company’s cable television 
systems in prior years was recorded as a reduction of the carrying value of goodwill acquired in a contemporaneous 
acquisition of certain cable television systems. Under United States GAAP, the Company included the gain on sale of the 
cable television systems in income, net of related future income taxes. 

As a result of these transactions, amortization expense under United States GAAP was increased in subsequent 
years.

( c ) 	 Pre-operating costs:

Under Canadian GAAP, the Company defers the incremental costs relating to the development and pre-operating phases 
of new businesses and amortizes these costs on a straight-line basis over periods up to five years. Under United States 
GAAP, these costs are expensed as incurred.

(d ) 	 Equity instruments:

Under Canadian GAAP, the fair value of the liability component of the Convertible Preferred Securities of $388.0 million at  
the date of issuance was recorded as long-term debt. This liability component was being accreted up to the $600.0 million  
face value of the Convertible Preferred Securities over the term to maturity. This accretion was charged to interest expense. 
Under Canadian GAAP, the value of the conversion feature of $188.0 million was recorded in shareholders’ equity.
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Under United States GAAP, the fair value of the conversion feature was not permitted to be separately recorded. 
The fair value of the liability component of $576.0 million at issuance was recorded outside of shareholders’ equity and 
was being accreted up to the $600.0 million face value of the Convertible Preferred Securities over the term to maturity. 
This accretion was charged to interest expense.

During 2005, the Convertible Preferred Securities were converted to Class B Non-Voting shares (note 11(a)(iii)).

(e ) 	 Capitalized interest:

United States GAAP requires capitalization of interest costs as part of the historical cost of acquiring certain qualifying 
assets that require a period of time to prepare for their intended use. This is not required under Canadian GAAP. 

( f ) 	 Unrealized holding gains and losses on investments:

United States GAAP requires that certain investments in equity securities that have readily determinable fair values 
be stated in the consolidated balance sheets at their fair values. The unrealized holding gains and losses from these  
investments, which are considered to be “available-for-sale securities” under United States GAAP, are included as a  
separate component of shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income, net of related future income taxes.

(g ) 	 Acquis it ion of Cable Atlantic: 

United States GAAP requires that shares issued in connection with a purchase business combination be valued based on the 
market price at the announcement date of the acquisition, whereas Canadian GAAP had required such shares be valued  
based on the market price at the consummation date of the acquisition. Accordingly, the Class B Non-Voting shares 
issued in respect of the acquisition of Cable Atlantic in 2001 were recorded at $35.4 million more under United States 
GAAP than under Canadian GAAP. This resulted in an increase to goodwill in this amount, with a corresponding increase 
to contributed surplus in the amount of $35.4 million. 

 
(h ) 	 F inancial instruments: 

Under Canadian GAAP, the Company accounts for certain of its cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements as 
hedges of specific debt instruments. Under United States GAAP, these instruments are not accounted for as hedges, but 
instead changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments, reflecting primarily market changes in foreign exchange 
rates, interest rates, as well as the level of short-term variable versus long-term fixed interest rates, are recognized in 
income immediately. Foreign exchange translation gains and losses arising from change in period-end foreign exchange 
rates on the respective long-term debt are also recognized in income.

Under United States GAAP, as a result of the adoption of United States Financial Accounting Standard Board’s 
(“FASB”) Statement (“SFAS”) No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (“SFAS 133”) effective  
January 1, 2001, the Company recorded a cumulative transition adjustment representing the adjustment necessary 
to reflect the derivatives at their fair values at that date, net of the offsetting gains/losses on the associated hedged 
long-term debt. In March 2004, $11.4 million of this cumulative transition adjustment was written off as a result of the 
repayment of the long-term debt to which it relates (note 23(m)). 

( i ) 	 Stock-based compensation:

Under Canadian GAAP, effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted the fair value method of recognizing stock-based 
compensation expense. For United States GAAP purposes, the intrinsic value method is used to account for stock-based 
compensation of employees. Compensation expense of $34.7 million (2004 – $15.1 million) recognized under Canadian 
GAAP would not be recognized under United States GAAP for the year ended December 31, 2004. The exercise price of 
stock options is equal to the market value of the underlying shares at the date of grant; therefore, there is no expense 
under the intrinsic value method for United States GAAP purposes for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.

Effective January 1, 2004, the Blue Jays were determined to be a variable interest entity for United States GAAP 
purposes and, as a result, their results were consolidated from that date (note 23(o)). As such, the employees of the Blue 
Jays were considered employees of the Company effective January 1, 2004 for United States GAAP purposes. The intrin-
sic value of the options of Blue Jays’ employees was calculated as at January 1, 2004 as nil. Prior to 2004, the Blue Jays’ 
employees were not considered employees of the Company. 
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Under United States GAAP, unvested options that were issued as consideration for the acquisition of 
the remaining shares of RWCI on December 31, 2004 were revalued at this date with the resulting intrinsic value of  
$38.3 million recorded as unearned compensation cost. Unearned compensation cost is recognized as compensation 
expense over the remaining vesting period. During 2005, under United States GAAP, $20.7 million of compensation 
expense was recorded related to these options.

( j ) 	 Minimum pension l iabil ity:

Under United States GAAP, the Company is required to record an additional minimum pension liability for one of its plans 
to reflect the excess of the accumulated benefit obligation over the fair value of the plan assets. Other comprehensive  
income has been increased by $0.4 million (2004 – charged with $8.5 million), which is net of income taxes of $0.2 million 
(2004 – $4.6 million). No such adjustments are required under Canadian GAAP.

(k ) 	Income  taxes:

Included in the caption “Income taxes” is the tax effect of various adjustments where appropriate. Under Canadian 
GAAP, future income tax assets and liabilities are remeasured for substantively enacted rate changes, whereas under 
United States GAAP, future income tax assets and liabilities are only remeasured for enacted tax rates.

 
( l ) 	Installat ion revenues and costs:

For Canadian GAAP purposes, cable installation revenues for both new connects and re-connects are deferred and  
amortized over the customer relationship period. For United States GAAP purposes, installation revenues are immediately  
recognized in income to the extent of direct selling costs, with any excess deferred and amortized over the customer 
relationship period.

(m) 	 Loss on repayment of long-term debt:

On March 26, 2004, the Company repaid long-term debt resulting in a loss on early repayment of long-term debt of  
$2.3 million. This loss included, among other items, a $40.2 million gain on the realization of the deferred transitional 
gain related to cross currency interest rate exchange agreements which were unwound in connection with the repayment 
of long-term debt. Under United States GAAP, the Company records cross currency interest rate exchange agreements at 
fair value. Therefore, under United States GAAP, the deferred transition gain realized under Canadian GAAP would be 
reduced by $28.8 million, representing the $40.2 million gain net of realization of a gain of $11.4 million, related to the 
deferred transition adjustment that arose on the adoption of SFAS 133 (note 23(h)).

(n ) 	 Acquis it ion of Wireless interest:

At December 31, 2004, the Company acquired the outstanding shares of Wireless not owned by the Company and 
exchanged the outstanding stock options of Wireless for stock options in the Company (note 3(b)). United States 
GAAP requires that the intrinsic value of the unvested options issued be determined as of the consummation date of 
the transaction and be recorded as deferred compensation. Canadian GAAP requires that the fair value of unvested 
options be recorded as deferred compensation. Under United States GAAP, this results in an increase in goodwill in the  
consolidated accounts of the Company of $5.6 million, with a corresponding adjustment to contributed surplus.

Under Canadian GAAP, as part of the purchase price equation, the derivative instruments of Wireless were 
recorded at their fair value at the date of acquisition (note 3(b)). The fair value increment is amortized to interest expense 
over the remaining terms of the derivative instruments. Under United States GAAP, the derivative instruments are 
recorded at fair value. Therefore, under United States GAAP, the fair value increment related to derivative instruments  
is reduced by $20.1 million with an offsetting decrease to goodwill. As a consequence, the amortization of the fair value 
increment is not required under United States GAAP.



143	 ROGERS 2005 ANNUAL REPORT . NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(o ) 	 Blue Jays:

Under United States GAAP, FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, requires the Company 
to consolidate the results of the Blue Jays effective January 1, 2004. Under Canadian GAAP, the Company consolidated 
the Blue Jays effective July 31, 2004. Therefore, the United States GAAP consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 
2004 and net income of the Company for the year then ended would be unchanged from that of Canadian GAAP as the 
Company recorded 100% of the losses of the Blue Jays. Under United States GAAP, consolidation from January 1, 2004 
to July 31, 2004 would result in an increase in revenues of $75.0 million, cost of sales would increase by $70.1 million, 
sales and marketing costs would increase by $3.8 million, operating general and administrative expenses would increase 
by $17.8 million, depreciation and amortization would increase by $5.8 million, operating income would be reduced by 
$22.6 million and losses from equity method investments would decrease by $22.6 million.

(p ) 	 Statements of cash flows:

(i)	 �Canadian GAAP permits the disclosure of a subtotal of the amount of funds provided by operations before 
change in non-cash operating items in the consolidated statements of cash flows. United States GAAP does not 
permit this subtotal to be included.

(ii)	 �Canadian GAAP permits bank advances to be included in the determination of cash and cash equivalents in the 
consolidated statements of cash flows. United States GAAP requires that bank advances be reported as financing  
cash flows. As a result, under United States GAAP, the total increase in cash and cash equivalents in 2004 in  
the amount of $254.3 million reflected in the consolidated statements of cash flows would be decreased by 
$10.3 million and financing activities cash flows would decrease by $10.3 million. The total decrease in cash and 
cash equivalents in 2005 in the amount of $347.9 million reflected in the consolidated statements of cash flows 
would be decreased by $104.0 million and financing activities cash flows would be increased by $104.0 million.

(q ) 	 Statement of comprehensive income:

United States GAAP requires the disclosure of a statement of comprehensive income. Comprehensive income generally 
encompasses all changes in shareholders’ equity, except those arising from transactions with shareholders.

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Net loss based on United States GAAP	 						      $	 (312,596)	 $	 (270,625)
Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes:
		  Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during the year, net of income taxes				   (1,138)	 	 69,586
		  Realized gains included in income, net of income tax	 						      (9,463)	 	 (10,567)
		  Realized losses included in income	 							       –	 	 1,650
		  Minimum pension liability, net of income taxes	 	 						      354	  	 (8,483)

Comprehensive loss based on United States GAAP						      	 $	 (322,843)	 $	 (218,439)

( r ) 	 Other disclosures:

United States GAAP requires the Company to disclose accrued liabilities, which is not required under Canadian GAAP. 
Accrued liabilities included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as at December 31, 2005 were $1,068.6 million 
(2004 – $1,100.9 million). At December 31, 2005, accrued liabilities in respect of PP&E totalled $104.0 million (2004 –  
$116.0 million), accrued interest payable totalled $113.1 million (2004 – $117.6 million), accrued liabilities related to payroll  
totalled $176.6 million (2004 – $173.3 million), and CRTC commitments totalled $40.4 million (2004 – $56.5 million).
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( s ) 	 Pensions:

The Company implemented SFAS No. 132, Employers Disclosures about Pensions and Other Post-retirement Benefits – an 
amendment of FASB Statement No. 87, 88 and 106 in 2004. The following summarizes the additional disclosures required 
and different pension-related amounts recognized or disclosed in the Company’s accounts under United States GAAP:

		  		  2 0 0 5 	 2 0 0 4

Current service cost (employer portion)	 						      $	 15,094 	 $	 11,746 
Interest cost	 							       29,538	 	 24,003
Expected return on plan assets	 							       (29,554)	 	 (25,153)
Amortization:
		  Transitional asset 	 							       (9,875)	 	 (9,875)
		  Realized gains included in income 	 							       830	 	 829
		  Net actuarial loss	 							       7,555	 	 4,989

Net periodic pension cost	 						      $	 13,588	 $	 6,539

Accrued benefit asset	 						      $	 12,944	 $	 3,214
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	 							       19,167	 	 20,970

Net amount recognized in balance sheet	 						      $	 32,111	 $	 24,184

Under United States GAAP, the accrued benefit liability related to the Company’s supplemental unfunded pension benefits  
for certain executives was $15.6 million (2004 – $12.5 million), the intangible asset was $5.0 million (2004 – $6.5 million) 
and the accumulated other comprehensive loss was $1.3 million (2004 – nil).

 
( t ) 	 Recent United States accounting pronouncements:

SFAS 123(R), Share-Based Payment, as revised, is effective for fiscal 2006 of the Company. This revised standard requires 
companies to recognize in the income statement, the grant-date fair value of stock options and other equity-based  
compensation issued to employees. The fair value of liability-classified awards is remeasured subsequently at each report-
ing date through the settlement date while the fair value of equity-classified awards is not subsequently remeasured.  
The alternative to use the intrinsic value method of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion 25, which the Company 
has chosen for United States GAAP purposes, is eliminated with this revised standard. The Company is currently evaluating  
the impact of this revised standard.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4. This 
statement amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing” to clarify the accounting for abnormal 
amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). SFAS 151 requires that those 
items be recognized as current-period charges. In addition, this statement requires that allocation of fixed production  
overheads to costs of conversion be based upon the normal capacity of the production facilities. The provisions of 
SFAS 151 are effective for inventory cost incurred in fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. As such, the Company is 
required to adopt these provisions at the beginning of fiscal 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of 
this revised standard. 

SFAS 153, Exchanges Of Non-Monetary Assets – an Amendment of APB Opinion 29, was issued in December 
2004. APB Opinion 29 is based on the principle that exchanges of non-monetary assets should be measured based on the 
fair value of assets exchanged. SFAS 153 amends APB Opinion 29 to eliminate the exception for non-monetary exchanges 
of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of non-monetary assets that do not 
have commercial substance. The standard is effective for the Company for non-monetary asset exchanges occurring in 
fiscal 2006 and will be applied prospectively. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this revised standard.
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In June 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB 
Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and FASB Statement No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial 
Statements (“SFAS 154”). The Statement applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle, and changes the 
requirements for accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 requires retrospective 
application to prior periods’ financial statements of a voluntary change in accounting principle unless it is impracticable. 
SFAS 154 requires that a change in method of depreciation, amortization, or depletion for long-lived, non-financial 
assets be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate that is affected by a change in accounting principle. Opinion 
20 previously required that such a change be reported as a change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 is effective for 
accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company is 
currently evaluating the impact of the new standard.

Note 24.	 Subsequent events:

On January 3, 2006, the Company redeemed all of Telecom’s remaining 10.625% Senior Secured Notes due 2008. The total 
redemption amount was US$23.2 million including a redemption premium of US$1.2 million. 

On January 4, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of certain real estate assets in Brampton, Ontario, 
Canada for $96.3 million in cash, net of adjustments, and including taxes and title insurance. The total purchase price for 
the acquisition was $99.3 million including a $3.0 million deposit made in 2005.

On January 6, 2006 the Company paid a semi-annual dividend of $23.5 million to the shareholders of record on 
December 28, 2005. 

Upon maturity on February 14, 2006, the Company redeemed its $75.0 million Senior Notes. 
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Peter C. Godsoe, OC (Chair)
Thomas I. Hull
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Ronald D. Besse
Nadir H. Mohamed 
The Hon. David R. Peterson, PC, QC
Melinda M. Rogers
J. Christopher C. Wansbrough (Chair)	

Ronald D. Besse
Peter C. Godsoe, OC
Thomas I. Hull (Chair)
William T. Schleyer
John A. Tory, QC

C. William D. Birchall
Peter C. Godsoe, OC
Thomas I. Hull
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C. William D. Birchall 
Peter C. Godsoe, OC
Edward S. Rogers
Melinda M. Rogers
John A. Tory, QC

Main Responsibilities for the Committee

•	 Reviews the Corporation’s accounting policies and practices;
•	� Reviews the integrity of the Corporation’s financial reporting  

processes and procedures;
•	� Reviews the financial statements provided by the Corporation to the 

public;
•	� Reviews and assesses the systems of internal accounting and financial 

controls;
•	� Assesses the qualifications, independence, appointment and over-

sight of the work of the external auditors;
•	� Assesses the qualifications and performance of the internal auditors; 

and
•	� Ensures compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

•	� Approves definitive terms of transactions previously approved by the 
Board; and

•	 Implements policy initiatives adopted by the Board.

•	� Develops the Corporation’s approach to corporate governance 
issues; and

•	� Recommends to the Board the developments in the areas of corporate 
governance and the Corporate Governance Practices of the Board. 

•	� Responsible for the administration of the Corporation’s pension 
plans; and

•	� Reviews the provisions of the pension plan and the investment  
performance of the pension plan.

•	� Approves the compensation of senior executives and other  
employees above specified remuneration levels;

•	� Reviews and recommends to the Board for approval the 
Corporation’s executive compensation policies;

•	� Reviews the design and competitiveness of the Corporation’s  
compensation and benefit programs; and

•	� Reviews the Corporation’s management development and succession 
planning for its senior executives.

•	� Reviews and reports to the Board or any other committee of the 
Board on certain matters prior to their submission to the Board or 
to any other committee or the filing of any document required to 
implement any such matter with any governmental or regulatory 
authority, including:

	 •	 financings, including the issue of shares;
	 •	 non-budgeted transactions outside the ordinary course of business;
	 •	� alliance, branding, licence, partnership and joint venture  

arrangements;
	 •	� grant or assumption of any right of first negotiation, first offer 

or first refusal or the grant or assumption or issuance of any non-
competition covenant or exclusivity undertaking.

•	� Reviews candidates for appointment as the Chief Financial Officer and 
Chair of the Audit Committee of the Corporation and its subsidiaries.

•	� Responsible for review of proposals for nomination of Directors
•	� Assesses incumbent Directors

Committees of the Board of Directors

The chart below outlines members and the main responsibilities of each committee of the Rogers Communications Inc. 
Board of Directors.

Corporate Governance Overview
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Corporate Office
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Contact Information
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(416) 935-3532
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For media inquiries, please contact:

Jan L. Innes
Vice President, Communications
Corporate and Rogers Media
(416) 935-3525
jan.innes@rci.rogers.com

Taanta Gupta
Vice President, Communications
Rogers Wireless, Cable and Telecom
(416) 935-4727
taanta.gupta@rci.rogers.com

Auditors

KPMG LLP
Toronto, Ontario

Share Information

Listed in Canada on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX)  
under RCI: 
	 Class A Voting shares 	 (CUSIP # 775109101) 
	 Class B Non-Voting shares 	 (CUSIP # 775109200) 

Listed in the U.S. on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) 
under RG: 
	 Class B Non-Voting shares 	 (CUSIP # 775109200)

Dividends*

$0.075 per share semi-annually

Expected Record Date:	 Expected Payment Date:

June 4, 2006	 July 4, 2006
December 13, 2006	 January 2, 2007

*Subject to Board approval

Bond Information

For information on the various outstanding debt issuances  
of the Rogers companies, please visit the Investor Relations 
section of the rogers.com website.

Annual Information Form (AIF)

A copy of the Rogers Communications Inc. AIF is available on 
sedar.com, the Investor Relations section of the rogers.com 
website or on request by writing to the Corporate Office.

Forward-Looking Information

This annual report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of 
the Private Securities Litigation and Reform Act of 1995 regarding the future 
performance of the Company that involve risks and uncertainties. All forward-
looking information is inherently uncertain and actual results may differ  
materially from the assumptions, estimates or expectations reflected or  
contained in the forward-looking information. For a discussion of factors that 
may‑affect actual results, see the “Risks and Uncertainties” and “Cautionary 
Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information” sections of the 2005 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Rogers Communications Inc. Corporate Information

™	 Rogers, Your World Right Now, The Best is Yet to Come, Rogers Cable, Rogers Cable  
	 Design, Rogers Mobius Design, Rogers Video, Rogers Centre, Rogers Centre & Design,  
	 Rogers Digital Phone, Pumpkin Patrol, and Better Choice Bundles are trademarks of  
	 Rogers Communications Inc.

Sportsnet is a trademark of Rogers Sportsnet Inc.

All magazine names are trademarks of Rogers Publishing Limited

The Shopping Channel, OMNI.1 and OMNI.2, plus all Radio names are trademarks of  
Rogers Broadcasting Limited

Toronto Blue Jays Baseball Club, Jays Care Foundation and Blue Jays are trademarks of 
Rogers Blue Jays Baseball Partnership.

® 	 Yahoo!, Yahoo! logos and other Yahoo! product and service names are trademarks and/or  
	 registered trademarks of Yahoo! Inc., used under licence.

BlackBerry and RIM’s family of related marks and designs are the Intellectual properties of 
Research In Motion Limited, used with permission.

©	 2006 Rogers Communications Inc.

Other registered trademarks that appear are the property of the respective owners.
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of which contain 10% post-consumer recycled fibre. 
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